GLOBAL STABLE SOLUTIONS TO THE FREE BOUNDARY ALLEN–CAHN AND BERNOULLI PROBLEMS IN 3D ARE ONE-DIMENSIONAL

HARDY CHAN, XAVIER FERNÁNDEZ-REAL, ALESSIO FIGALLI, AND JOAQUIM SERRA

ABSTRACT. A long-standing conjecture of De Giorgi asserts that every monotone solution of the Allen–Cahn equation in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} is one-dimensional if $n \leq 7$. A stronger version of the conjecture, also widely studied and often called "the stable De Giorgi conjecture", proposes that every stable solution in \mathbb{R}^n must be one-dimensional for $n \leq 7$. To this date, both conjectures remain open for $3 \leq n \leq 7$.

An elegant variant of this problem, advocated by Caffarelli, Córdoba, and Jerison since the 1990s, considers a free boundary version of the Allen–Cahn equation. This variant features a step-like double-well potential, leading to multiple free boundaries. Locally, near each free boundary, the solution satisfies the Bernoulli free boundary problem. However, the interaction of the free boundaries causes the global behavior of the solution to resemble that of the Allen–Cahn equation.

In this paper, we establish the validity of the stable De Giorgi conjecture in dimension 3 for the free boundary Allen–Cahn equation and, as a corollary, we prove the corresponding De Giorgi conjecture for monotone solutions in dimension 4. To obtain these results, a key aspect of our work is to address a classical open problem in free boundary theory of independent interest: the classification of global stable solutions to the one-phase Bernoulli problem in three dimensions. This result, which is the core of our paper, implies universal curvature estimates for local stable solutions to Bernoulli, and serves as a foundation for adapting some classical ideas from minimal surface theory—after significant refinements—to the free boundary Allen–Cahn equation.

Contents

1.	Introduction	_
2.	Overview of the Proofs	7
3.	The Bernoulli Problem: Preliminaries	12
4.	Blow-down of global stable solutions	17
5.	Necks: definition and properties	21
6.	Estimating neck radii from symmetric excess	30
7.	Selection of center and scale	41
8.	Linearization	45
9.	Proofs of Theorem 1.5 and its corollaries	55
10.	The Free Boundary Allen–Cahn	61
Ap	pendix A. Some classical results	74
Ap	pendix B. Linear estimates for the Bernoulli problem	75
Ap	pendix C. Compactness of stable solutions	77
Ap	pendix D. Estimates for positive harmonic functions in a flat-Lipschitz domain	79
Ref	erences	81

1. INTRODUCTION

The study of interfaces arising in nonlinear elliptic partial differential equations (PDEs) is a central theme in mathematical analysis, with significant implications for geometric analysis, mathematical physics, and materials science. Interfaces—often also referred to as free boundaries, minimal surfaces, etc.—appear in models of phase transitions, fluid dynamics, and other phenomena where different states or phases coexist and interact.

A paradigmatic example of a PDE giving rise to interfaces is the classical Allen–Cahn equation. Originally proposed to describe phase separation in metal alloys [3], this equation has achieved mathematical prominence due to its profound connections with minimal surface theory (see, e.g., [17, 28, 73]) and its close relation to several important phase field models—scalar, vectorial, or tensorial. Among the most closely related models are the

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 35R35, 35J61, 35B35, 49Q20.

Key words and phrases. Stable solutions, Allen-Cahn equation, free boundary problems, Bernoulli problem, one-phase problem.

Cahn-Hilliard equation, describing phase separation in binary fluids [21]; the Peierls–Nabarro equation, modeling crystal dislocations [74, 76]; the Ginzburg–Landau theory, addressing superconductivity [46]; and the Ericksen–Leslie model for liquid crystals [38, 62].

Interfaces also appear naturally in the study of free boundary problems such as the Bernoulli or one-phase problem. First studied from a mathematical viewpoint by Alt and Caffarelli in 1981 [4], motivated by models in flame propagation and jet flows [5–7,12], it is related to shape optimization problems, capillary hypersurfaces, and minimal surfaces (among others; see, e.g., [13,24,59,60,83]). Also, it has been investigated as a one-phase problem, a two-phase problem, and in vectorial form [29,37,43].

During the past five decades, substantial progress has been made in understanding the structure of *absolute* energy minimizers for the Allen–Cahn equation, the Bernoulli problem, and related models. However, despite significant efforts, the structure of *stable solutions* remains largely elusive, even in the physically relevant three-dimensional space. Stable solutions are particularly important because they correspond to configurations observed in nature, representing physically stable states. Understanding stable solutions is thus a fundamental challenging open question in the field.

In this paper, we introduce new analytical tools for studying three-dimensional stable solutions, focusing on two fundamental and deeply connected free boundary problems: the Allen–Cahn equation with a "step potential" and the Bernoulli problem.

1.1. The variational model of phase transitions. The theory of minimal surfaces and phase transitions leads to considering energy functionals of the form

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(u;\Omega) = \int_{\Omega} \left\{ \varepsilon |\nabla u|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} W(u) \right\} \, dx,$$

for $u \in H^1(\Omega)$, where $\varepsilon > 0$ is a small parameter, $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a bounded open set, and $W : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is a given (double well) potential. The function u is constrained (via the boundary datum) to satisfy $-1 \leq u \leq 1$, and the potential is such that $W(\pm 1) = 0$ and W(t) > 0 for $t \in (-1, 1)$.

Prominent examples of such potentials W are given by the family of functions $(W_{\alpha})_{0 < \alpha < 2}$,

$$W_{\alpha}(u) := \begin{cases} (1-u^2)^{\alpha} & \text{for } 0 < \alpha \le 2, \\ \mathbb{1}_{(-1,1)}(u) & \text{for } \alpha = 0, \end{cases}$$

which give rise to the energy functionals

$$\mathcal{J}^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon}(u;\Omega) := \int_{\Omega} \left\{ \varepsilon |\nabla u|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} W_{\alpha}(u) \right\} dx, \quad \text{for} \quad \alpha \in [0,2].$$
(1.1)

This family of functionals was investigated by Caffarelli and Córdoba [17] in what is considered one of the foundational papers in the Allen–Cahn literature. The case $\alpha = 2$ corresponds to the classical Allen–Cahn energy [3]—see, e.g., [23] and references therein. The cases $\alpha \in [0, 2)$ are considered, for example, in [17, 18, 35, 56, 65, 84, 85, 88] (and also mentioned in [78–80]).

1.2. De Giorgi conjecture and its stable version. In 1978, De Giorgi stated the following celebrated conjecture [47]:

Every solution $u: \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to [-1,1]$ to the Allen–Cahn equation $\Delta u = u - u^3$ (equivalently, every critical point of the functional \mathcal{J}_1^2 defined in (1.1)) that satisfies $\partial_{n+1}u > 0$ must be one-dimensional¹, at least for $n \leq 7$.

This conjecture, often regarded as a PDE analogue of the classical Bernstein problem for minimal surfaces, has inspired substantial research over the past decades and has been resolved in certain cases: for n = 1 by Ghoussoub and Gui [45], and for n = 2 by Ambrosio and Cabré [8] (see also [2]). In higher dimensions, Savin [78] proved the conjecture for $n \leq 7$ under the additional assumption that u is an energy minimizer. For $n \geq 8$, del Pino, Kowalczyk, and Wei [33] constructed counterexamples showing that the conjecture fails in these dimensions.

It is well-known that solutions that are monotone in some direction are stable, namely, the second variation of \mathcal{J}_1^2 is non-negative (see [2, Corollary 4.3]). Motivated by this fact, a stronger form of De Giorgi's conjecture—often called "the stable De Giorgi conjecture"—asserts the following:

Every stable solution $u: \mathbb{R}^n \to [-1, 1]$ of the Allen-Cahn equation in \mathbb{R}^n must be one-dimensional for $n \leq 7$.

¹That is, $u(x) = \phi(e \cdot x)$ for some $\phi : \mathbb{R} \to [-1, 1]$ and $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$.

It is a known fact that the classical De Giorgi's conjecture for monotone solutions in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} follows from its stable version in \mathbb{R}^{n} .²

The stable form of De Giorgi's conjecture has been proven only in dimension n = 2 in [8,45]. For $3 \le n \le 7$ it remains an open problem, while for $n \ge 8$ counterexamples exist [64,75]. Again, Savin established the result for $n \le 7$ under the additional assumption that u is an energy minimizer [78–80].

It is worth emphasizing that both the De Giorgi's conjecture and its stable form, as well as the implication between them, are expected to hold for general double-well potentials. In fact, the majority of positive or partial results in the literature concerning either conjecture have been established directly in this more general setting.

Let us also mention that, in some applications (see, e.g., [28]), it suffices to classify stable solutions to Allen–Cahn in \mathbb{R}^n satisfying the bounded energy growth condition

$$\sup_{R>0} R^{1-n} \mathcal{J}_1^2(u, R) < +\infty.$$
(1.2)

However, even under this additional assumption—which guarantees, using [51, 82], that blow-downs converge to hyperplanes with integer multiplicity in the appropriate sense³—the stable form of De Giorgi's conjecture has only been verified for n = 3 in [8].

1.3. The connection to minimal surfaces. Modica and Mortola [73] rigorously established in 1977 the profound connection between phase transitions and minimal surfaces. They showed that, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, minimizers of the energy $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$ converge (in L^{1}_{loc} , up to subsequences) to the characteristic functions of sets with minimal perimeter.

Motivated by this result, De Giorgi proposed his conjecture in 1978 [47] as an analog of the classical Bernstein problem for area-minimizing graphs. Similarly, its stable version corresponds to the well-known problem of classifying complete, embedded, two-sided, stable minimal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^n for $n \leq 7$, see [22,25–27,34,44,70,77].

The influence of minimal surface theory is evident in many foundational developments in the study of the Allen–Cahn equation. Some examples are:

- The Caffarelli–Córdoba density estimate for $\{\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in[0,2]}$ [17] mirrors a similar property of minimal surfaces.
- The excess decay results of Savin [78] and Wang [89] for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}^2$ draw inspiration from the cornerstone theorems of De Giorgi and Allard in minimal surfaces.
- Modica's monotonicity formula for the Allen–Cahn equation [71,72] is a clear analogue of Fleming's monotonicity formula for minimal surfaces.
- The half-space theorems for the Allen–Cahn equation [49] are inspired by classical results for minimal surfaces.

It is worth emphasizing that these deep connections and analogies (of which the above points are just a few examples) between minimal surface theory and the class of functionals $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$ are valid for a very general class of double-well potentials W that includes the family $\{W_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in[0,2]}$. This fact has been well known to experts for some time (and has been confirmed in numerous works throughout the literature—see, e.g., [17, 18, 35, 56, 65, 78–80, 84, 85, 88]). In particular, not only have techniques from minimal surface theory been adapted—often with significant modifications—to the study of phase transitions, but there are also striking instances where methods based on Allen–Cahn type equations have led to novel results in geometric analysis (see, for example, [28, 69]).

1.4. Recent progress and challenges in stable phase transitions. In recent years, significant progress has been made in the study of stable solutions to the Allen–Cahn equation: Wang and Wei [90, 91] and Chodosh and Mantoulidis [28] have established key results on interface regularity and sheet separation estimates for stable solutions.

Even more recently, substantial advances have been achieved in understanding stable minimal hypersurfaces. The long-standing question of classifying complete minimal immersed hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^n for $n \leq 7$ —the analog of the stable De Giorgi conjecture—has been resolved in dimensions $n \leq 6$; see [22, 25–27, 70].

However, while the classification of complete stable minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 has been established since the 1980s [34, 44, 77], the stable version of De Giorgi's conjecture in \mathbb{R}^3 remains unresolved. Put simply, despite significant

²Indeed, let $u : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a solution of the Allen–Cahn equation satisfying $\partial_{n+1}u > 0$. First, since u is stable (being monotone), one easily deduces that also the two functions $u_{\pm}(y) = \lim_{x_{n+1} \to \pm \infty} u(y, x_{n+1})$ are stable. Hence, if the conjecture for stable solutions is true in \mathbb{R}^n , then the two limits u_{\pm} must be one-dimensional. One then checks that the one-dimensional solution is unique and increasing, so the functions u_{\pm} are one-dimensional and increasing. This allows one to apply [54, Theorem 1.3] and deduce that u is a minimizer, thus [78] applies and one concludes that also u is one-dimensional.

³More precisely, Hutchinson and Tonegawa [51] showed that diffuse varifolds, constructed from the energy density and gradient direction of solutions to the Allen–Cahn equation, converge as $\varepsilon \to 0$ to stationary integral varifolds, which generalize minimal surfaces and allow for singularities.

progress and the development of sophisticated tools to study stable minimal surfaces and phase transitions, some deeper yet more rudimentary obstacles have prevented a proof of the conjecture in its stable form for decades.

Even after Savin's breakthrough regularity results in 2009 [78], which fully settled the case of minimizers of $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}^{\alpha}$ for all $\alpha \in [0, 2]$, the stable counterpart has remained elusive over the entire range of α (including the endpoint $\alpha = 2$). As we shall discuss now, addressing these challenges requires the creation of new techniques.

A first deep heuristic obstacle is that while the large-scale behavior for *absolute minimizers* of scale-dependent energies (which tend to the perimeter at large scales) mimics that of minimal surfaces, this correspondence does not need to hold for *stable critical points*. As a concrete example, consider the functional

$$\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(E) := \int_{\partial E} \left(1 + \varepsilon^2 \left| \mathrm{II}_{\partial E} \right|^2 \right) d\mathcal{H}^2, \qquad E \subset \mathbb{R}^3, \tag{1.3}$$

where $\Pi_{\partial E}$ denotes the second fundamental form of the boundary of E. One can observe that $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}$ behaves similarly to the perimeter on large scales (or, equivalently, as $\varepsilon \to 0$) and, in fact, it admits a Modica–Mortola-type Γ convergence result. However, one can check that a catenoid of neck size r > 0 is a stable critical point for this functional if and only if $r \leq c \varepsilon$ (where c is a universal constant). Hence, although the minimizers of $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}$ do enjoy an ε -independent regularity theory (much like Savin's theory for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}^{\alpha}$), stable critical points for $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}$ do *not* possess such uniform regularity; see [86] for further discussion.

On a more technical level, whenever one attempts to adapt classification proofs from minimal surfaces to the Allen–Cahn setting, the following recurring difficulty arises: The elegant formulas and identities (e.g. Simons' identity, Gauss–Bonnet, etc.) that are fundamental in minimal surface theory:

- either do not admit "perturbative" analogs for Allen-Cahn;

- or, even in situations where they do, the usefulness of the "generalized identities" is far from clear.

These obstructions underscore why the classification of stable phase transitions remains both challenging and intriguing.

1.5. The Allen–Cahn model with a step potential. Motivated by the challenges described above, the primary objective of this work is to overcome, for the first time, the aforementioned barriers and introduce new methods and tools to prove a classification result for *stable solutions* of a free boundary version of Allen–Cahn. Specifically, we consider stable critical points $u: \mathbb{R}^3 \to [-1, 1]$ of \mathcal{J}_1^0 (i.e., with the step potential W_0). This corresponds to looking at solutions of the free boundary problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u = 0 & \text{in } \{|u| < 1\} \\ |\nabla u| = 1 & \text{on } \partial\{|u| < 1\} \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

(corresponding to the first variation of the functional \mathcal{J}_1^0) that satisfy the stability inequality

$$\int_{\{|u|<1\}} \left(|D^2 u|^2 - |\nabla|\nabla u||^2 \right) \xi^2 \, dx \leq \int_{\{|u|<1\}} |\nabla u|^2 \, |\nabla \xi|^2 \, dx \quad \text{for all } \xi \in C_c^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3) \tag{1.5}$$

(see Definition 10.1 and Lemma 10.2). For simplicity, to give a proper meaning to the equations above, we will assume that the free boundaries $\partial \{|u| < 1\}$ are smooth surfaces and that u is a classical solution of the PDE (namely, $u \in C^2(\{|u| < 1\}) \cap C^1(\overline{\{|u| < 1\}})$). However, these are mere qualitative assumptions (see also Remark 1.8(iii) below).

On a technical level, the case $\alpha = 0$ (and, more generally, when $0 \leq \alpha < 2$) has a substantial difference compared to the classical Allen–Cahn case $\alpha = 2$. Specifically, when $\alpha < 2$, the solutions satisfy a *free boundary problem* rather than a global semilinear PDE. A practical consequence of this distinction is that in a bounded region $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ where the free boundaries are nearly flat, two neighboring "layers" or "sheets" (i.e., distinct connected components of $\{|u| < 1\} \cap \Omega$) do not interact via the PDE and therefore remain entirely independent. In this respect, the situation is more analogous to minimal surfaces, where different sheets do not influence one another. In contrast, for $\alpha = 2$ (the classical Allen–Cahn equation), even nearly flat layers interact through the underlying semilinear PDE. Analyzing these interactions requires sophisticated analytical tools, such as the Toda system, as developed in the works of Wang–Wei [89,90] and Chodosh–Mantoulidis [23].

That said, the primary difficulties in establishing the stable De Giorgi conjecture in \mathbb{R}^3 do not arise (at least not exclusively) from layer interactions, which are now relatively well understood [23,89,90]. Indeed, in this context, the $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}$ example in (1.3) is particularly revealing: despite the absence of interactions between distinct sheets, stability remains compatible with the presence of small necks in solutions. This demonstrates that the main obstructions lie elsewhere.

One of the main purposes of this paper is to shed light on obstructions beyond sheet interactions and develop new techniques to tackle them. In this paper, we will focus on the case $\alpha = 0$, but we believe that combining the ideas developed here with the techniques from [23,89,90] will ultimately pave the way to addressing the case $\alpha = 2$.

1.6. Microscopic necks: a new "enemy." Even if the free boundary formulation avoids certain layer-interaction issues, it gives rise to another profound difficulty: In principle, two nearly flat free boundaries corresponding to u = +1 (or u = -1) could be joined by a *microscopic neck* of size $r \ll 1$. Such a tiny neck contributes only a small amount (proportional to r) to the left-hand side of the stability inequality (1.5); hence, having (possibly many) such microscopic necks might still be compatible with stability.

Concretely, suppose that inside $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ we have $\{u = 1\} \cap B_1 = \emptyset$. Then the function 1 + u is a stable solution of the one-phase Bernoulli problem in B_1 (see below). Yet it is known—see [66]—that certain global Bernoulli solutions (when rescaled) produce free boundaries with necks of arbitrarily small radius $r \ll 1$. Existing examples of this type tend to be *unstable* (albeit with finite Morse index, hence "not too unstable"), but the question remains whether such "microscopic-neck" configurations *could* ever be stable.

A significant portion (circa 80%) of this paper is devoted to investigating these microscopic-neck configurations for the Bernoulli problem and proving that they must be necessarily unstable. This is a delicate problem requiring refined PDE estimates and geometric arguments, which we will describe more thoroughly later. In essence, the challenge is to show that any purportedly stable configuration with infinitely many small necks leads to contradictions with certain integral inequalities or regularity properties.

1.7. The one-phase Bernoulli problem. The one-phase Bernoulli free boundary problem arises from the study of the Alt–Caffarelli energy functional, namely,

$$\mathcal{E}(u;\Omega) = \int_{\Omega} \left\{ |\nabla u|^2 + \mathbb{1}_{\{u>0\}} \right\} \, dx,$$

where $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a bounded open domain, and $u \in H^1(\Omega)$. Here, the function u is constrained to satisfy $u \ge 0$.

First studied in 1981 by Alt and Caffarelli [4], the problem has received a lot of attention to date (see the monographs [20, 87] for a nice introduction). Serving also as a model for semilinear PDEs, the study of the Bernoulli problem has gathered many tools and ideas from the theory of minimal surfaces, to the point where there is a formally established connection between the Bernoulli problem in dimension 2 and minimal surfaces in dimension 3 [83]. This interplay highlights a geometric variational structure in the problem, bridging techniques from elliptic PDEs and geometric analysis.

In this direction, the regularity theory for free boundaries in minimizers mirrors that for minimal surfaces (with a shift in one dimension): a monotonicity formula, paired with a blow-up argument and an improvement of flatness, reduces the study of regular free boundaries to the classification of 1-homogeneous global solutions. The currently known results assert that minimizers have smooth free boundaries up to dimension 4 [19,55], while there are singular solutions in dimension 7 [31]. In dimensions 5 and 6 it remains as a challenging open problem.

Most of the theory for the one-phase problem has been developed for minimizers, such as the study of graphical solutions [31,36], the uniqueness of blow-ups at isolated singular points [37], generic regularity [42], vectorial problems [43], etc. In recent years there has been a shift in trying to understand other solutions that do not necessarily arise as absolute minimizers: the rectifiability of free boundaries for stationary solutions [61], the nondegeneracy of stable solutions [57], the study of solutions in the plane [50, 52, 83] and higher dimensions [66], solutions with infinite topology [10, 53], etc. Even so, some fundamental questions remain open, with one of the most important being:

Do global classical stable solutions of the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n have flat free boundaries, if $n \leq 6$?

It is well known that such a global rigidity result is equivalent to a local regularity property on curvature estimates for the free boundary of stable solutions (see, e.g., [57] or the proof of Corollary 1.7 below). For n = 2, the answer to the previous question is affirmative thanks to a log cut-off argument that works for any semilinear PDE [39,40,57]. For $n \ge 7$, the answer is negative by the recent construction in [32]. One of the main results of the present paper is to positively answer the previous question for n = 3. The other dimensions remain a major open problem.

1.8. Contributions of the paper. Our first main result establishes the validity of the stable De Giorgi conjecture for the functional \mathcal{J}_1^0 when n = 3:

Theorem 1.1. Let $u : \mathbb{R}^3 \to [-1,1]$ be a classical stable critical point of \mathcal{J}_1^0 (i.e., a global classical stable solution of (1.4), see Definition 10.1). Then $D^2u \equiv 0$ in $\{|u| < 1\}$ and u is one-dimensional.

As a first corollary, we obtain the corresponding result for monotone solutions in dimension 4:

Corollary 1.2. Let $u : \mathbb{R}^4 \to [-1,1]$ be a classical solution of (1.4) (see Definition 10.1) satisfying $\partial_4 u > 0$ in $\{|u| < 1\}$. Then $D^2 u \equiv 0$ in $\{|u| < 1\}$ and u is one-dimensional.

Combining Theorem 1.1 with the ε -robust $C^{1,1}$ -to- $C^{2,\alpha}$ estimates for the level sets of solutions to (1.4)—see [9]—we can also show the following:

Corollary 1.3. Let $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ and let $u_{\varepsilon} : B_1 \to [-1,1]$ be a classical stable critical point⁴ of $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}^0$ in B_1 , for $\varepsilon > 0$ universally small. Assume that $\partial\{|u_{\varepsilon}| < 1\} \cap B_{1/2} \neq \emptyset$. Then, the principal curvatures of the level sets of u_{ε} inside $B_{1/2}$ are bounded by a universal constant.

Remark 1.4. As in the Allen–Cahn setting [28,91], once uniform curvature estimates for the level sets of the solutions u_{ε} are established, the main result in [9] implies that their mean curvature goes to zero at an algebraic rate in ε . This reflects the natural expectation that the level sets approximate minimal surfaces in the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

As mentioned above, one of the most delicate estimates is to show that, thanks to stability, the free boundaries satisfy universal curvature bounds. This can be phrased as a regularity result for the Bernoulli problem, which is of independent interest:

Theorem 1.5. Let $u : \mathbb{R}^3 \to [0, \infty)$ be a classical stable solution to the one-phase Bernoulli problem (see Definition 3.1). Then $D^2u \equiv 0$ in $\{u > 0\}$. In particular, the free boundary consists of either one or two hyperplanes.

As a consequence, we obtain two corollaries. The first one is a classification of monotone solutions in \mathbb{R}^4 :

Corollary 1.6. Let $u : \mathbb{R}^4 \to [0, \infty)$ be a classical solution to the one-phase Bernoulli problem (see Definition 3.1) satisfying $\partial_4 u > 0$ in $\{u > 0\}$. Then $D^2 u \equiv 0$ in $\{u > 0\}$ and u is one-dimensional.

The second are curvature estimates for local stable solutions to the Bernoulli problem:

Corollary 1.7. Let $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ and let $u : B_1 \to [0, \infty)$ be a classical stable solution to the one-phase Bernoulli problem (see Definition 3.1). Then $|D^2u| \leq C$ in $\overline{B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}}$, with C universal. In particular, the principal curvatures of the free boundary are universally bounded.

Some comments are in order:

Remark 1.8. (i) Sharpness of the result: For every $n \ge 2$, there exist classical solutions to the one-phase Bernoulli problem with catenoid-like free boundaries that have finite Morse index. In particular, these solutions are stable outside a compact set; see [66, 83]. Moreover, for n = 2, the Morse index has been shown to be exactly 1 [11]. In view of these examples, the stability assumption in Theorem 1.5 is necessary.

(*ii*) The role of n = 3: Concerning Theorem 1.5, the assumption n = 3 is used to exploit a test function introduced by Jerison and Savin in [55] to classify minimizing homogeneous solutions in \mathbb{R}^4 . In view of this connection, it seems likely to us that if one could prove that minimizing homogeneous solutions in \mathbb{R}^{k+1} are flat (which can be true only for $k \leq 5$), then our result could be extended to \mathbb{R}^k . Less crucially, the fact that n = 3 is also used in the classification of blow-downs in Proposition 4.1.

Regarding Theorem 1.1, the dimensional assumption is used both to apply Corollary 1.7 and to exploit an argument from [77] based on Gauss–Bonnet. Still, if one could extend Theorem 1.5 (and thus Corollary 1.7) to higher dimensions, in view of the recent breakthroughs in the classification of stable minimal surfaces [22, 25–27, 70], it seems plausible to us that one could attack Theorem 1.1 in higher dimensions as well.

(iii) About the "classical solution" assumption: Since in \mathbb{R}^3 local minimizers (i.e., solutions that minimize the energy with respect to sufficiently small perturbations⁵) are classical stable solution, Corollaries 1.3 and 1.7 apply to them. More generally, the curvature estimates from Corollaries 1.3 and 1.7, as well as the classification results from Theorems 1.1 and 1.5, apply to all weak solutions that arise as local limits of classical stable solutions. This constitutes the largest class for which such results can be expected to hold⁶.

1.9. **Structure of the paper.** The paper is organized as follows. To better guide the reader through the main arguments and techniques employed in the paper, in the next section we present a detailed overview of the key ideas and structure of the proofs of our main results. Then, Sections 3–9 are dedicated to proving Theorem 1.5 and Corollaries 1.6 and 1.7, which form the backbone of our analysis. Building on these results, Section 10 addresses the proofs of Theorem 1.1 and Corollaries 1.2 and 1.3, which crucially depend on Corollary 1.7.

⁴Notice that u_{ε} is a classical stable critical point of $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}^{0}$ in B_{1} if and only if $u_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon \cdot)$ is a classical stable critical point of \mathcal{J}_{1}^{0} in $B_{1/\varepsilon}$.

⁵That is, a function u that minimizes the energy among all functions $v \in u + H_0^1(B_1)$ with $||v - u||_{H^1(B_1)} < \delta$ for some $\delta > 0$.

⁶For instance, in the Bernoulli problem, the function $\mathbb{R}^2 \ni (x_1, x_2) \mapsto |x_1x_2|$ is a stationary critical point that is stable under domain variations. However, this is a spurious example. In particular, because of our results, it cannot be locally approximated by classical solutions, nor can it arise as a limit of solutions to a regularized problem $-\Delta u + \varepsilon F'(u/\varepsilon) = 0$, where F is a mollified version of the indicator function of $(0, +\infty)$.

Acknowledgments. H. C. was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF grant PZ00P2_202012), and by the Grant CEX2019-000904-S funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and PID2020-113596GB-I00 (Spain). X. F. was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF grant PZ00P2_208930), by the Swiss State Secretariat for Education, Research and Innovation (SERI) under contract number MB22.00034, and by the AEI project PID2021-125021NA-I00 (Spain). A. F. is grateful to the Marvin V. and Beverly J. Mielke Fund for supporting his stay at IAS Princeton, where part of this work has been done. J. S. was supported by the European Research Council under the Grant Agreement No 948029.

2. Overview of the Proofs

We now give a detailed overview of the structure of the proofs and the main ideas involved. The paper is structured following the logical dependencies of the results, and as such, the first part (Sections 3–9) is devoted to showing Theorem 1.5 and Corollaries 1.6 and 1.7.

2.1. The Bernoulli problem: Sections 3–9. The main goal of these sections is to prove Theorem 1.5. The key steps and main components of the proofs, along with their corresponding locations in the paper, are outlined below.

2.1.1. The objects and their properties. In Sections 3–6, we introduce the basic objects of interest and definitions, and all the necessary properties that will be used in a contradiction argument.

1. A useful reduction. In Lemmas 3.2 and 5.1 we show that if there exists a classical stable solution \bar{u} to the Bernoulli free boundary problem in \mathbb{R}^3 with $D^2 \bar{u} \neq 0$, then there must exist a classical stable solution $u : \mathbb{R}^3 \to [0, \infty)$ satisfying the bounds

$$|\nabla u| \le 1$$
 in \mathbb{R}^3 , $|D^2 u| \le 1$ in $\{u > 0\}$, $0 \in FB(u)$, $|D^2 u(0)| = 1$,

where $FB(u) = \partial \{u > 0\}$ denotes the free boundary of u (cf. [57]). Throughout the paper, we will assume that u is as above and our goal will be to reach a contradiction.

2. Preliminary results. In Section 3 we start with some preliminary results on classical solutions to the Bernoulli problem: e.g., some variants of ε -regularity (Lemmas 3.7, 3.8, and 3.11) and a density estimate (Lemma 3.5). Then, in Section 4 we recall and establish some facts about classical stable solutions. For example, it is

well-known that the stability inequality (see (A.1)–(A.2)) can be written in a *Sternberg–Zumbrun* form (as in [81]; cf. Lemma 4.3 below). An immediate consequence is that, for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$ and R > 0, we have

$$R^{2} \oint_{B_{R}(y) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^{2}u|^{2} \, dx \le C$$

where C > 0 is a universal constant.

3. Blow-down to vee. A first consequence of stability is that the blow-down of a non-trivial global solution must be a vee (Proposition 4.1). More precisely, we show that there exists a universal modulus of continuity ω for which the following holds: If $y \in FB(u)$ is such that $|D^2u(y)| \ge 1/\rho > 0$ ($\rho \ge 1$ can be thought of as a radius of curvature), then for all $R \ge 1$ there exists $e = e(y, R) \in \mathbb{S}^2$ such that

$$\left\| u - V_{y,e} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_R(y))} \le \omega(\varrho/R)R,$$

where $V_{y,e}$ is a *vee*, namely, a solution of the form

$$V_{y,e}(x) := |e \cdot (x - y)|.$$

4. Threshold radius, neck centers, neck radii, and ball tree. Given $y \in FB(u)$ we will define its associated threshold radius $r_{\star}(y)$ as follows:

$$r_{\star}(y) := \sup\left\{r > 0 : \int_{B_r(x) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^3 \, dx < \eta_0^3\right\},$$

where $\eta_0 > 0$ will be a (fixed) small universal constant.

In Subsection 5.3 we establish the existence of a discrete set $\mathcal{Z} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ (countable and locally finite), which we refer to as *neck centers*, satisfying the following:

$$|D^2 u(x)| \le \frac{C}{\operatorname{dist}(x,\mathcal{Z})} \quad \forall x \in \{u > 0\}, \quad \text{and} \quad |D^2 u| \le \frac{C}{r_\star(\mathbf{z})} \quad \text{in } B_{r_\star(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \quad \forall \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z},$$

see Lemma 5.6 and Corollary 5.4. The threshold radius at a neck center is called the *neck radius*.

The term "neck" is motivated by the following properties:

• Away from necks, the free boundary consists of two (regular, nearly flat) disconnected sheets, and the positivity set $\{u > 0\}$ consists of two disjoint connected components. (See Lemma 5.14 for a precise statement.)

• Within a ball centered at a neck center with a radius comparable to the neck radius, the positivity set becomes connected through a *neck-like* region. (See Lemma 5.8 for a precise statement.)

In addition, in Lemma 5.7 we show that, when centering at any given neck center and observing at a scale much larger than the neck radius, the solution u becomes arbitrarily close to a vee. These structural properties imply that $\{u > 0\}$ can be covered by a hierarchy of balls organized into a rooted tree structure, which we call the *ball tree*. This covering consists of three types of balls:

- *Branching balls*: regions where the free boundary is concentrated within a thin slit, requiring further subdivision into smaller balls.
- *Neck balls*: regions where the two disconnected positivity components merge, and the free boundary has a radius of curvature comparable to the ball radius.
- Regular balls: regions where the free boundary has two regular nearly flat components.
- See Figure 1 and Proposition 5.12 for further details.
- 5. Symmetric L^2 excess. For $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and R > 0, we introduce the dimensionless quantity

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R) := \min_{e \in \mathbb{S}^2} \sqrt{\frac{1}{R^2} \int_{B_R(\mathbf{z})} |u - V_{\mathbf{z},e}|^2 \, dx.}$$
(2.1)

Small excess, small neck radii: The goal of Section 6 (see Proposition 6.1) is to show that neck radii are controlled by $E_{\mathbf{z}}$. More precisely, we prove that for any $\gamma \in (0, \frac{4}{9})$, $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{Z}$, and R > 0, we have

$$\sup\left\{\frac{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}')}{R} : \mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z})\right\} \le C_{\gamma} \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 8R)^{3\gamma}.$$
(2.2)

Note that, by choosing $\gamma > \frac{1}{3}$, (2.2) implies that neck radii decay superlinearly with the symmetric excess—a crucial insight that lays the groundwork for the rest of the proof.

The proof of (2.2) builds on the Jerison-Savin test function in [55]: there exists a 1-homogeneous function F of the Hessian such that $\mathbf{c} = F(D^2 u)^{1/3}$ is a subsolution of the linearized equation. In particular,

$$\Im(u, B_R(y)) := \int_{B_R(y) \cap \{u > 0\}} \mathbf{c} \Delta \mathbf{c} \, dx + \int_{B_R(y) \cap \partial \{u > 0\}} \mathbf{c}(\mathbf{c}_\nu + H\mathbf{c}) \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \le \frac{C}{R^2} \int_{B_{2R}(y) \cap \{u > 0\}} \mathbf{c}^2 \, dx, \tag{2.3}$$

where H is the mean curvature of the free boundary, and all the integrands are non-negative. This motivates the definition of yet another dimensionless quantity:

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R) := \frac{1}{R} \Im(u, B_R(\mathbf{z}))^3.$$
(2.4)

From here, to establish (2.2), we argue as follows:

- (i) first, we bound the left-hand side of (2.2) by $\rho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 2R)$;
- (ii) then, we bound $\rho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 2R)$ by the right-hand side in (2.2).

Step (i) is done in Proposition 6.2, by estimating $\Im(u, B_{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}))$ from below in a neck ball (Lemma 6.8).

Step (ii) is done in Proposition 6.1, where the stability inequality (2.3) is combined with a new ingredient: a local $L^{\gamma'}$ estimate, with $\gamma' \in (0, 1/2)$, for $D^2 u$ in $B_{2R}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}$ in terms of the excess $\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 4R)$ (see Lemma 6.6). This new delicate estimate strongly relies on the ball tree structure described in point 4 above.

2.1.2. Sketch of the global contradiction argument. Very roughly, our strategy to prove Theorem 1.5 by contradiction in Sections 7–9 can be summarized as follows:

- (i) Assuming the neck set is non-empty, we pick a sequence of carefully chosen balls $B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ —with \mathbf{z}_k neck centers and $R_k \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$ for which $\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 8R_k) =: \varepsilon_k \downarrow 0$.
- (ii) By exploiting some special properties of the balls $B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ we prove the existence of new centers $\mathbf{z}'_k \in B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ and scales $R'_k \ll R_k$ (as $k \to \infty$) such that

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{z}'_{k}}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{R}'_{k}) \leq \varepsilon_{k} (\boldsymbol{R}'_{k}/\boldsymbol{R}_{k})^{\chi}, \quad \text{for some } \chi > 0.$$

$$(2.5)$$

(iii) Then, by using a new *Monneau–Weiss*-like approximate monotonicity formula with logarithmic errors, we show that the smallness of the excess in $B_{R'_k}(\mathbf{z}'_k)$ necessarily propagates to the larger ball, up to logarithmic errors:

$$\varepsilon_k = \boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{z}_k}(u, R_k) \le C \boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{z}'_k}(u, 4R_k) \le C \log(R_k/R'_k) \boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{z}'_k}(u, R'_k) \le C (R'_k/R_k)^{\chi} \log(R_k/R'_k) \varepsilon_k.$$
(2.6)

For k sufficiently large this provides a contradiction, since $R'_k/R_k \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

One of the cornerstones of the strategy outlined above is establishing a geometric excess decay between $B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ and $B_{R'_k}(\mathbf{z}'_k)$. This decay is typically obtained through a linearization procedure, akin to those developed by De Giorgi or Allard for minimal surfaces. In this case, however—as explained further below—the situation is considerably more intricate: for a potentially large subset of center-scale pairs, the linearization approach may not be applicable.

Indeed, given a neck center \mathbf{z} and a scale R > 0, suppose we aim to improve the excess from $B_R(\mathbf{z})$ to $B_{R/4}(\mathbf{z})$. If the neck balls are very small (relative to R) and densely scattered throughout $B_R(\mathbf{z})$ —a scenario that is entirely consistent with the estimate (2.2)—any attempt at linearization within this ball would be futile. A strategy completely different from linearization is required at these scales: we must harness instead the density of neck balls in a way that works to our advantage, enabling some form of improvement that can then be leveraged at smaller scales.

To address this challenge, we develop a new dichotomy-type argument that improves the excess for fundamentally different reasons at scales where linearization is possible and at scales where it is not. Interestingly, we are able to establish such "dichotomic" excess decay only around certain carefully selected neck centers; however, this suffices for our purposes.

We now describe in greater detail the main steps involved in the strategy described above.

6. Careful selection of optimal center and scale. Fix constants $\alpha \in (\frac{3}{4}, 1)$ and $\gamma \in (0, \frac{4}{9})$ such that $3\alpha\gamma > 1$. In Subsection 7.1, by suitably optimizing (with respect to \mathbf{z} and R) the quantity

$$\frac{\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,8R)}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u,2R)^{\alpha}},$$

we will show that there exist sequences $R_k \to \infty$ and $\mathbf{z}_k \in \mathcal{Z}$ such that

$$\varepsilon_k := \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 8R_k) \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty$$

$$(2.7)$$

and for which, in addition, the following crucial property holds:

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,8R) \le 2\varepsilon_k \frac{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R)^{\alpha}}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u,R_k)^{\alpha}} \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}, R \le R_k,$$
(2.8)

see Lemma 7.1. It is worth emphasizing that the decay via dichotomy from the next steps crucially relies on the property (2.8), which holds only because of the careful selection of centers \mathbf{z}_k and scales R_k .

7. Excess improvement when linearization is not possible. For $\zeta \in (0, \frac{1}{4})$ and a given ball $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, we define the following quantity:

$$\boldsymbol{N}(\zeta, B_R(\mathbf{z})) := (\zeta R)^{-3} \bigg| \bigcup_{\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}} B_{\zeta R}(\mathbf{z}') \bigg|, \quad \text{where} \quad \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta} := \Big\{ \mathbf{z}' \in B_R(\mathbf{z}) \cap \mathcal{Z} : r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}') \le \zeta R \Big\}.$$
(2.9)

Essentially, $N(\zeta, B_R(\mathbf{z}))$ is the number of balls of radius ζR needed to cover all neck centers with associated neck radius smaller than ζR . In some sense, the map $\zeta \mapsto N(\zeta, B_R(\mathbf{z}))$ quantifies the effective Minkowski dimension of the neck centers inside $B_R(\mathbf{z})$. This is essential because—as explained above—if neck centers are too densely scattered, any linearization attempt would be futile, and we need a different argument at that scale.

Here a key idea is that—thanks to the careful selection of $B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ —whenever $N(\zeta, B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k))$ is "too large" for some resolution parameter $\zeta \in (0, 1)$, which would obstruct linearization, one can always find a smaller ball of radius ζR_k contained within $B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ that still satisfies the key property (2.8), possibly in an even stronger form.

This observation allows us to show (see Lemma 7.3) the existence of a new ball $B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \subset B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$, and $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k \leq \varepsilon_k$, such that, for some $\beta_0 > 0$ small:

$$\boldsymbol{N}\left(\zeta, B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})\right) < C\zeta^{-\frac{1+\beta_{\circ}}{3}} \quad \text{for all } \zeta \in (0, \frac{1}{4}), \\
\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 8R) \leq 2\left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_{k}}{R}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k} \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z} \quad \text{with } B_{R}(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k}) \text{ and } R \geq \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/\alpha} \widetilde{R}_{k}.$$
(2.10)

Thanks to (2.10), we can show that linearization can be performed within $B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ (see point 8 below), therefore obtaining a geometric decay of the excess.

It is interesting to emphasize that this procedure to pass from $B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ to $B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\mathbf{\tilde{z}}_k)$ involves a change in the center. This is non-standard in excess decay schemes, but it is necessary and effective for our purposes.

8. Linearization regime: splitting of $\{u > 0\}$ and decay of an asymmetric excess. As already mentioned, thanks to (2.10), we can perform a linearization argument inside $B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ to improve the excess, and this can be iterated

for a number of scales comparable to $|\log \tilde{\varepsilon}_k|$. However, for this linearization step, the symmetric excess is not the appropriate quantity to consider, and we will need to define an asymmetric L^1 excess as follows.

First, exploiting the tree structure described in point 4 above, in Subsection 7.2 we construct two disjoint open subsets U_{\pm} such that

$$U_* \subset U := \{u > 0\} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k), \quad * \in \{+, -\}.$$

The sets U_+ and U_- are essentially the two components (roughly half-spaces) in which the positivity set is split when removing all the necks (see Lemma 7.7).

Then, in Section 8 we define the asymmetric excess $A_{\mathbf{z}}(u, R)$ for balls $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ as

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R) := \max_{* \in \{+,-\}} \min_{a \in \mathbb{S}^2, b \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{R|B_R(\mathbf{z})|} \int_{U_* \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})} |u(x) - a \cdot x - b| \, dx.$$
(2.11)

Notice that, since we first minimize in a and b, and only later compute the maximum in *, the 'optimal' approximating planes that achieve the value of the asymmetric excess will have independent coefficients 'on each side'.

Now, for fixed $* \in \{+, -\}$, it is natural to define

$$v_*(x) := \frac{u(x) - a_* \cdot x - b_*}{\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \widetilde{R}_k}, \qquad x \in U_* \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k).$$

In Section 8 we prove that, thanks to (2.10), the function v_* is "approximately" a bounded weak solution of

$$\Delta w = 0 \quad \text{in } B_{\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \{a_* \cdot x + b_* > 0\} \quad \text{with} \quad \partial_{a_*} w = 0 \quad \text{on } B_{\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \{a_* \cdot x + b_* = 0\}$$

(see the proof of Proposition 8.1). For this, the main challenge will be to prove estimates of the type

$$\widetilde{R}_{k}^{p-3} \int_{U_{*} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})/2} |\nabla v_{*}|^{p} dx \lesssim 1 \quad \text{for some } p > 1 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \int_{\partial U_{*} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})/2} |(v_{*})_{\nu}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} \ll 1 \tag{2.12}$$

(see Proposition 8.4 and Lemma 8.10). Although, from a very "low-resolution" perspective, this approach may appear similar to the classical linearization methods of Caffarelli and De Silva [16, 30], the key distinction is that, in our case, the difference in normal derivatives between solutions is small only in an L^p sense, rather than the usual L^{∞} bound used in the viscosity approach. This L^p control is crucial because, at necks, the normal derivative is not small, leading to a large L^{∞} norm. However, since the necks are relatively sparse and very small compared to the scale under consideration, the L^p approach remains effective.

While the previous heuristic explanation justifies the use of L^p topology, the actual proof of the linearization in this setup is much more subtle and requires utilizing all the properties of the ball $B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ described above—see Section 8 for more details.

9. Conclusion. Thanks to the linearization step we establish (2.5) (see Proposition 8.1 and Lemma 9.2), and then we can conclude as in (2.6) using the Monneau–Weiss-type monotonicity formula with a logarithmic error from Lemma 9.1.

Once Theorem 1.5 is established, Corollaries 1.6 and 1.7 follow (see Subsection 9.3).

2.2. The free boundary Allen–Cahn: Section 10. Having now Corollary 1.7 at our disposal, we can proceed to describe the steps of the proof of Theorem 1.1, which is done in Section 10. We argue by contradiction and assume that there exists a classical stable critical point of \mathcal{J}_1^0 in \mathbb{R}^3 , denoted by u, that is not one-dimensional.

- 1. We start by recalling the Sternberg–Zumbrun inequality for stable solutions (Lemma 10.2) and Modica's inequality (Lemma 10.4), both in the context of the free boundary Allen–Cahn. Thanks to Corollary 1.7, we also observe that we have quantitative regularity in the set $\{|u| < 1\}$ (Lemma 10.5). In particular, there are no 'microscopic necks' in the free boundary.
- 2. We fix $\delta_{\circ} > 0$ small and define the set $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ in (10.4) as those points $z \in \{|u| < 1\}$ for which the left-hand side in the Sternberg–Zumbrun inequality (10.2) is larger than δ_{\circ} in a ball $B_2(z)$. We want to show that, even if δ_{\circ} is chosen arbitrarily small, $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ must be empty, which will directly yield our desired result.

To this aim, we define $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$ as the complement⁷ of $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ in $\{|u| < 1\}$, see (10.5). In particular, it corresponds to points around which u has flat level sets (in an L^2 sense). As a consequence, in Lemma 10.6 we prove pointwise curvature bounds of the solution u around points in $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$.

⁷In fact, we need to further divide $\{|u| < 1\} \setminus \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ into two sets, that we denote $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$, according to whether the points are respectively close or far from the free boundary. Using stability (see Section 10.3), an argument similar to the one described in point 3 here allows us to consider only the set $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$ of points not in $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ that are close to the free boundary.

3. The stability inequality in the form of Sternberg–Zumbrun also allows us to show that, for any given $\Lambda > 0$, there exist $z_{\Lambda} \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $R_{\Lambda} > 1$ such that

$$\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) \cap B_{R_{\Lambda} + \Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \subset B_{R_{\Lambda}}(z).$$
(2.13)

That is, we can find arbitrarily thick annuli clean from $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ (even if their radius could be much larger than the thickness). This is done in Lemma 10.8.

4. For $\Lambda > 0$ fixed, given z and R > 0 as in (2.13), the curvature estimates in $\{|u| < 1\} \setminus \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ ensure that the level sets are smooth submanifolds in this region. This makes it conceivable to test stability using a test function related to the intrinsic distance along the level sets $\{u = \lambda\}$ to $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) \cap B_R(z)$ —an approach inspired by Pogorelov's argument [77] for stable minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 .

However, before proceeding in this direction, it is necessary to enlarge the set $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ by evolving it under the vector flow generated by ∇u . Such a redefinition is possible due to the validity of curvature estimates at points on the boundary between $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$. We denote the resulting enlarged set by \mathfrak{B} .

The intrinsic distance function along the level set $\{u = \lambda\}$ is then denoted by $d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}$ (see (10.17)).

5. Using stability again, by means of a cut-off function with gradient supported on suitably chosen dyadic scales, we show that for any $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$ there is some $r \in (\Lambda^{1/4}, \Lambda/8)$ such that

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\{u=\lambda\} \cap \{0 < d^{\lambda}_{\mathfrak{B}} < 2\}) \le \frac{C}{\delta_{\circ}|\log\Lambda|} \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\{u=\lambda\} \cap \{0 < d^{\lambda}_{\mathfrak{B}} < r\})}{r^2}$$
(2.14)

(see Lemmas 10.14 and 10.15). Moreover, we also obtain in Lemma 10.15 a precise doubling property.

6. In Proposition 10.17 we conclude the proof of Theorem 1.1 as follows. First, we use an integrated version of Gauss–Bonnet (see Lemma 10.16) to obtain, roughly, that for any level set $\Sigma_{\mu} = \{u = \mu\}$,

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\mu} \cap \{1 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} < r\}) \leq r\mathcal{H}^{1}(\Sigma_{\mu} \cap \{d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} = 1\}) - \int_{1}^{r} \int_{1}^{s} \int_{1}^{2} \int_{\{\tau < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} < t\}} K_{\Sigma_{\mu}} \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \, d\tau \, dt \, ds + Cr^{2} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\mu} \cap \{1 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} < 2\}),$$

where $K_{\Sigma_{\mu}}$ is the Gauss curvature of Σ_{μ} . From here one finds that, for all $r \in (1, \Lambda/8)$,

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\mu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} < r\}) \leq \frac{1}{4} \int_{\Sigma_{\mu} \setminus \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})} |A_{\Sigma_{\mu}}|^{2} (r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu})^{2}_{+} d\mathcal{H}^{2} + Cr^{2} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\mu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} < 2\}).$$

where $|A_{\Sigma_{\mu}}|^2$ is the sum of the squares of the principal curvatures.

Observe now that, due to the existence of a clean annulus (see (2.13)), $(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu})_{+}^{2}$ is an admissible test function for the stability inequality, which can be restricted to Σ_{μ} (up to a small multiplicative error) in view of the comparison across different level sets (see Lemma 10.12). Hence, thanks to stability, the co-area formula, and (2.14), we find the existence of a level set $\{u = \nu\}$ and $r \in (\Lambda^{1/4}, \Lambda/8)$ for which

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\})}{r^2} \le \frac{1 + C\eta_{\circ}}{2} \cdot \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\})}{r^2} + \frac{C}{\delta_{\circ} |\log \Lambda|} \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\})}{r^2}, \qquad (2.15)$$

where $\eta_{\circ} = o_{\delta_{\circ}}(1)$. Choosing first η_{\circ} small and then Λ large, we deduce that $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\}) = 0$, from which we easily get a contradiction.

Again, once Theorem 1.1 is established, Corollaries 1.2 and 1.3 follow (see Subsection 10.7).

2.3. Notation. Throughout the paper, C > 1 and $c \in (0, 1)$ denote generic constants chosen conveniently large and small, respectively. Dependencies are denoted by subscripts or parentheses.

With $B_r(y)$ we denote the ball of radius r > 0 centered at y. When y = 0, we also write B_r in place of $B_r(0)$. By $B_r(A)$ we denote the *r*-fattening of a set $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, namely $B_r(A) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \text{dist}(x, A) < r\}$, which can also be seen as the Minkowski sum $B_r + A$.

Given three sets $A_1, A_2, A_3 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, we say

 $A_1 \subset A_2$ in $A_3 \stackrel{\text{def}}{\iff} A_1 \cap A_3 \subset A_2 \cap A_3$.

We always assume that a modulus of continuity ω satisfies

$$\omega : [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$$
 is increasing and concave, with $\omega(t) \ge t$ for all $t \ge 0$. (2.16)

Given $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, we denote by $V_{y,e}$ a vee, namely, a function of the form

$$\mathbb{R}^n \ni x \mapsto V_{y,e}(x) := |e \cdot (x - y)|$$

Given a ball $B_r(y)$, a unit vector $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$, and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, we define a *slab* as

$$\operatorname{Slab}(B_r(y), e, \varepsilon) := \{ x \in B_r(y) : |e \cdot (x - y)| \le \varepsilon r \} = B_r(y) \cap \{ V_{y, e} \le \varepsilon r \}.$$

$$(2.17)$$

Finally, \mathcal{H}^k denotes the k-dimensional Hausdorff measure.

3. The Bernoulli Problem: Preliminaries

3.1. The notions of solution. Given $u: B_R \to \mathbb{R}_+ := [0, \infty)$ (where $B_R \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ denotes the ball of radius R > 0 centered at 0), we define the Alt–Caffarelli energy functional by:

$$\mathcal{E}(u; B_R) = \int_{B_R} \left\{ |\nabla u|^2 + \mathbb{1}_{\{u > 0\}} \right\} \, dx.$$

With this definition, critical points of \mathcal{E} solve the so-called one-phase Bernoulli problem.

In this paper we are interested in *classical solutions* of the Bernoulli problem: these are functions $u: B_R \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$\{u > 0\} \text{ is locally a smooth domain in } B_R \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{cases} \Delta u = 0 & \text{ in } B_R \cap \{u > 0\}, \\ |\nabla u| = 1 & \text{ on } B_R \cap \partial \{u > 0\}. \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

The set $\partial \{u > 0\}$ is called the *free boundary* and will also be denoted FB(u). In particular, a classical solution satisfies that $\{u > 0\}$ is locally the subgraph of a smooth function around each free boundary point (up to a rotation).

Classical solutions u are stationary critical points of \mathcal{E} , that is, they satisfy

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} \mathcal{F}(u \circ \Psi_t; B_R) = 0 \quad \text{for every } \Psi_t(x) := x + t\xi(x) \text{ with } \xi \in C_c^\infty(B_R; \mathbb{R}^n).$$
(3.2)

with $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{E}$. Stationary critical points *u* are called *stable* if they have non-negative second (inner) variations, i.e., they satisfy

$$\frac{d^2}{tt^2}\Big|_{t=0} \mathcal{F}(u \circ \Psi_t; B_R) \ge 0, \quad \text{for every } \Psi_t(x) := x + t\xi(x) \text{ with } \xi \in C_c^\infty(B_R; \mathbb{R}^n),$$
(3.3)

for $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{E}$.

In Sections 3–9, a *solution* will always refer to the one-phase Bernoulli (or Alt–Caffarelli) problem. Moreover, we will distinguish among the following notions:

Definition 3.1. Let $n \ge 2$ and $B_R \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. In relation to the one-phase Bernoulli problem (i.e., taking $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{E}$ in (3.2)-(3.3)), we say that $u \in H^1(B_R)$ is:

- a stationary solution (or simply stationary) in B_R if if satisfies (3.2);
- a classical solution or a classical critical point in B_R if it satisfies (3.1) (in particular, it is stationary);
- a stable solution in B_R if it is stationary and satisfies (3.3);
- a classical stable solution or classical stable critical point in B_R if it satisfies (3.1) and (3.3).

If a function satisfies one of the previous definitions for all R > 0, we call it *global*.

3.2. Basic geometric properties of the free boundary. We start by presenting some geometric properties of the free boundary for classical solutions to the Bernoulli problem.

Before that, we recall the following well-known global boundedness of solutions (see, e.g., [57, Proposition A.5]):

Lemma 3.2. Let $n \ge 2$ and let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n . Then $|\nabla u| \le 1$ in \mathbb{R}^n .

A first useful consequence of Lemma 3.2 above is the following dimensional estimate for the area of the free boundary inside a ball:

Lemma 3.3. Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a global classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n . Then, we have that for any R > 0 and $y \in \{u = 0\} \cap B_R$,

$$\mathcal{H}^{n-1}\left(\mathrm{FB}(u) \cap B_{\varrho}(y)\right) \leq C\varrho^{n-1} \quad \text{for all} \quad \varrho \in (0, R/2),$$

for some C depending only on n.

Proof. Since $\Delta u = \mathcal{H}^{n-1}|_{FB(u)}$, it suffices to consider a smooth non-negative cut-off function $\varphi_{\rho} \in C_c^{\infty}(B_{2\rho})$ which satisfies $\varphi_{\rho} \equiv 1$ inside B_{ρ} and $|\nabla \varphi_{\rho}| \leq C \rho^{-1}$ to obtain (recall Lemma 3.2)

$$\mathcal{H}^{n-1}\left(\mathrm{FB}(u)\cap B_{\varrho}(y)\right) \leq \int \varphi_{\rho}\,\Delta u = -\int \nabla\varphi_{\rho}\cdot\nabla u\,dx \leq C\rho^{-1} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}|B_{2\rho}| \leq C\rho^{n-1},$$

as desired.

More generally, we have:

Lemma 3.4 (Area of level sets). Let $n \geq 2$, and let $u : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty)$ be 1-Lipschitz, $\Delta u = 0$ on $\{u > 0\}$, and $|\nabla u| \geq c_{\circ}$ in some $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Then, for any $B_R(x_{\circ}) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and t > 0,

$$c_{\circ}\mathcal{H}^{n-1}\left(B_{R}(x_{\circ})\cap\{u=t\}\cap\Omega\right)\leq CR^{n-1},$$

for some C depending only on n.

Proof. Integrating Δu by parts inside $B_R(x_0) \cap \{u \ge t\}$ (notice that u is harmonic there), we have

$$0 = \int_{B_R(x_\circ) \cap \{u \ge t\}} \Delta u \, dx = \int_{\partial B_R(x_\circ) \cap \{u \ge t\}} \frac{x}{|x|} \cdot \nabla u \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} - \int_{\{u=t\} \cap B_R(x_\circ)} \partial_\nu u \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1},$$

where ν is the normal unit vector to $\{u = t\}$ towards $\{u \ge t\}$ (so $\partial_{\nu} u = |\nabla u|$). Therefore,

$$c_{\circ}\mathcal{H}^{n-1}\left(B_{R}(x_{\circ})\cap\{u=t\}\cap\Omega\right) \leq \int_{\{u=t\}\cap B_{R}(x_{\circ})}\partial_{\nu}u\,d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} = \int_{\partial B_{R}(x_{\circ})\cap\{u\geq t\}}\frac{x}{|x|}\cdot\nabla u\,d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \leq C(n)R^{n-1},$$

we wanted.

as we wanted.

The following is a weak nondegeneracy property:

Lemma 3.5 (Clean ball property). Let $n \ge 2$. There exists $\varepsilon_{\circ} = \varepsilon_{\circ}(n) > 0$ such that the following holds.

Let $\varrho > 0, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_{2\varrho}(y) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Suppose that there is a connected component U of $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{2\rho}(y)$ such that

$$|U \cap B_{2\rho}(y)| \le \varepsilon_{\circ} \varrho^n$$

Then, $U \cap B_{\rho}(y) = \emptyset$.

Proof. Let $\bar{u}(x) := \frac{1}{\rho}(u\mathbb{1}_U)(y+\rho x)$. Notice that \bar{u} is a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in B_2 with $FB(\bar{u}) \cap B_1 \neq \emptyset$ for ε_{\circ} small, with $|\nabla \bar{u}| \leq C$ and C depending only on n (thanks to [20, Lemma 11.19]). Therefore, for all $r \in (0,2)$, the divergence theorem applied to $\nabla \bar{u}$ inside the domain $B_r \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}$ gives

$$\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(\partial\{\bar{u}>0\}\cap B_r) \le C\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(\{\bar{u}>0\}\cap\partial B_r).$$

$$(3.4)$$

We can then use the argument in the classical proof of the density estimate for sets of minimal perimeter to conclude that $\{\bar{u} > 0\} \cap B_1$ is empty, which is equivalent to $U \cap B_{\varrho}(y) = \emptyset$.

More precisely, let $V(r) = |\{\bar{u} > 0\} \cap B_r|$. Then, by coarea, $V(r) = \int_0^r \mathcal{H}^{n-1}(\{\bar{u} > 0\} \cap \partial B_s) ds$. Combining the isoperimetric inequality in \mathbb{R}^n (we denote by c(n) the isoperimetric constant) with (3.4) this implies

$$c(n)V(r)^{(n-1)/n} \leq \operatorname{Per}(\{\bar{u} > 0\} \cap B_r) \leq (C+1)V'(r)$$

for all $r \in (0,2)$. Moreover, by assumption, $V(2) \leq \varepsilon_{\circ}$. Then, a simple ODE analysis reveals that choosing ε_{\circ} small enough forces V(1) = 0, that is, $\{\bar{u} > 0\} \cap B_1 = \emptyset$. \square

Remark 3.6. The previous lemma is actually a nondegeneracy property of the positivity set for classical solutions. Namely, if u is a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem and $x_0 \in \{u > 0\}$, then by Lemma 3.5 applied to the connected component of $\{u > 0\}$ containing x_{\circ} we have that, for any r > 0,

$$|\{u > 0\} \cap B_r(x_\circ)| \ge 2^{-n} \varepsilon_\circ r^n.$$

3.3. Regularity estimates for classical solutions to the Bernoulli problem. In this section we present some basic regularity results for classical solutions. Several of these results actually hold for viscosity solutions, but we will not discuss this here.

The first result is a classical ε -regularity estimate.

Lemma 3.7 (ε -regularity). Let $n \ge 2$. There exists $\varepsilon_{\circ} = \varepsilon_{\circ}(n) > 0$ such that the following holds. Let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. If

$$\|u - x_n\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u \ge 0\})} \le \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_{\circ}, \tag{3.5}$$

then, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $C_{n,k} > 0$, depending only on n and k, such that

$$\|u - x_n\|_{C^k(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C_{n,k} \varepsilon \quad and \quad FB(u) \cap B_{1/2} \text{ is a } C^k \text{ graph, with } C^k \text{-norm bounded by } C_{n,k} \varepsilon.$$

Moreover, u is analytic in $B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}$.

Proof. The regularity of the free boundary as well as the nonlinear bounds (i.e. without the dependence on ε) on the C^k norm of $u - x_n$ follow from the classical improvement of flatness and higher order regularity for the Bernoulli problem (see [30, 58]). The precise linear estimate (i.e., with the bound $C_{n,k}\varepsilon$) stated here follows, e.g., from the recent results in [63] (see Proposition B.6 in Appendix B). Alternatively, see [32, Proposition 5.1] combined with Lemma B.1.

The next result states that a C^2 control follows from L^1 -flatness. The main part of its proof is presented in Appendix B.

Lemma 3.8 (L^1 to C^2 estimate). Let $n \ge 2$. There exists $\varepsilon_{\circ} = \varepsilon_{\circ}(n) > 0$ such that the following holds. Let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with

$$\int_{B_1 \cap \{u>0\}} |u - a \cdot x - b| \, dx \le \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_{\circ} \qquad \text{for some } a \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}, \ b \in \mathbb{R}$$

Then

$$||u - a \cdot x - b||_{C^2(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C_n \varepsilon,$$

for some C_n depending only on n.

Proof. Thanks to Proposition B.5, L^1 -flatness implies L^{∞} -flatness, so the result follows from Theorem B.3 and Proposition B.6. \square

In the next result, we show that a bound on the Hessian implies higher regularity as well, with estimates that are linear once the Hessian is bounded.

Lemma 3.9 (Higher regularity from the Hessian). Let $n \geq 2$, and let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfying

$$\left\|D^2 u\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u>0\})} \le C_0 \tag{3.6}$$

for some $C_0 > 0$. Then, for any $k \ge 2$,

$$\left\|D^{k}u\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2}\cap\{u>0\})} \le C_{n,k}\max\{C_{0}^{k-2},1\}\left\|D^{2}u\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1}\cap\{u>0\})}$$

for some $C_{n,k}$ depending only on n and k.

Proof. Let $\varepsilon = \max\{C_0, 1\}^{-1}\varepsilon_{\circ}$, where ε_{\circ} comes from Lemma 3.7, and let $x_{\circ} \in B_{1/2} \cap \overline{\{u > 0\}}$. We separate into two cases:

• If dist $(x_{\circ}, FB(u)) < \varepsilon/4$, we let $y_{\circ} \in B_{3/4} \cap FB(u)$ be the closest free boundary point to x_{\circ} , and we choose coordinates such that $e_n = \nabla u(y_\circ)$. Then $u_{y_\circ,\varepsilon} = \frac{u(y_\circ + \varepsilon \cdot)}{\varepsilon}$ satisfies

$$u_{y_{\circ},\varepsilon} - x_n \|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u_{y_{\circ},\varepsilon} > 0\})} \le \left\| D^2 u_{y_{\circ},\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u_{y_{\circ},\varepsilon} > 0\})} = \varepsilon \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varepsilon}(y_{\circ}) \cap \{u > 0\})} \le \varepsilon_{\circ}.$$

Thus Lemma 3.7 applies and gives

$$\|u_{y_{\circ},\varepsilon} - x_{n}\|_{C^{k}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u_{y_{\circ},\varepsilon} > 0\})} \le C_{n,k}\varepsilon \|D^{2}u\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1} \cap \{u > 0\})}$$

In particular,

$$|D^{k}u(x_{\circ})| \leq \left\|D^{k}u\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varepsilon/2}(y_{\circ})\cap\{u>0\})} \leq \varepsilon^{1-k} \left\|u_{y_{\circ},\varepsilon} - x_{n}\right\|_{C^{k}(B_{1/2}\cap\{u_{y_{\circ},\varepsilon}>0\})} \leq C_{n,k}\varepsilon^{2-k} \left\|D^{2}u\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1}\cap\{u>0\})}.$$

If dist $(x_{\circ}, \operatorname{FB}(u)) > \varepsilon/4$ or $\operatorname{FB}(u) = \emptyset$, the harmonicity of $D^{2}u$ in $B_{\varepsilon/8}(x_{\circ})$ gives the result.

• If dist $(x_{\circ}, FB(u)) \ge \varepsilon/4$ or $FB(u) = \emptyset$, the harmonicity of D^2u in $B_{\varepsilon/8}(x_{\circ})$ gives the result.

As a consequence, we also obtain linear bounds with respect to the L^1 norm of the Hessian, once it is bounded: **Corollary 3.10** ($\dot{W}^{2,1}$ controls $\dot{W}^{2,\infty}$). Let $n \geq 2$, and let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfying (3.6). Then,

$$\left\|D^{2}u\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2}\cap\{u>0\})} \leq C_{n} \max\left\{C_{0}^{n},1\right\}\left\|D^{2}u\right\|_{L^{1}(B_{1}\cap\{u>0\})},$$

for some C_n depending only on n.

Proof. Combining the interpolation estimates from Lemma A.2 with the regularity estimate in Lemma 3.9, we get

$$\begin{split} \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})}^{n+1} &\leq C \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^1(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \left\| D^3 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})}^n \\ &\leq C \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^1(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \max\left\{ C_0^n, 1\right\} \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})}^n \end{split}$$

Applying this estimate to the rescalings $u_{z,r} = \frac{u(z+r)}{r}$ for $B_r(z) \subset B_1$, it follows that for any $\delta \in (0,1)$ there is $C_{\delta} > 0$ such that

$$r^{n} \left\| D^{2}u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r/2}(z) \cap \{u>0\})} \leq C_{\delta} \max\left\{ C_{0}^{n}, 1\right\} \left\| D^{2}u \right\|_{L^{1}(B_{1} \cap \{u>0\})} + \delta r^{n} \left\| D^{2}u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}(z) \cap \{u>0\})}.$$

By a standard covering argument (e.g. [41, Lemma 2.27]), the result follows.

The following lemma provides an ε -regularity result for solutions that are small in $\dot{W}^{2,n}$.

Lemma 3.11 (ε -regularity for the Hessian). Let $n \ge 2$. There exists $\eta_* = \eta_*(n) > 0$ such that, for all $\eta \le \eta_*$, the following holds.

Let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Then

$$\int_{B_1 \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^n \, dx \le \eta^n \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C_n \eta, \tag{3.7}$$

for some C_n depending only on n. More generally, for r > 0 and $k \ge 2$, we have

$$\int_{B_r \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^n \, dx \le \eta^n \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \left\| D^k u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le \frac{C_{n,k} \eta}{r^{k-1}},\tag{3.8}$$

for some $C_{n,k}$ depending only on n and k.

Proof. We first show (3.7). Let

$$x_0 \in \operatorname*{arg\,max}_{B_1 \cap \{u > 0\}} (1 - |x|) |D^2 u(x)|, \qquad r_0 := 1 - |x_0|, \qquad L_0 := |D^2 u(x_0)|,$$

and we suppose by contradiction that, for some C_* to be chosen later,

$$r_0 L_0 > C_* \eta.$$
 (3.9)

Consider now $v(y) := L_0 u(x_0 + L_0^{-1}y)$. Then v is a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in its domain. Also, since $|x_0 + L_0^{-1}y| \le |x_0| + \frac{r_0}{2} = 1 - \frac{r_0}{2}$ for $|y| \le \frac{r_0 L_0}{2}$, it follows from the definition of x_0 that

$$|D^{2}v(y)| = L_{0}^{-1} \frac{(1 - |x_{0} + L_{0}^{-1}y|)|D^{2}u(x_{0} + L_{0}^{-1}y)|}{1 - |x_{0} + L_{0}^{-1}y|} \le L_{0}^{-1} \frac{r_{0}L_{0}}{r_{0}/2} = 2, \quad \text{for} \quad y \in B_{r_{0}L_{0}/2} \cap \{v > 0\}.$$

This implies that the curvature of the free boundary of v is universally bounded inside $B_{r_0L_0/2}$. Since $0 \in \{v > 0\}$ and $|\nabla v| = 1$ on $\partial \{v > 0\}$, there exist a point \bar{y}_0 and a dimensional constant c_n such that $0 \in B_{c_nr_0L_0}(\bar{y}_0) \subset B_{r_0L_0/2} \cap \{v > 0\}$. Thus $x_0 \in B_{c_nr_0}(\bar{x}_0) \subset B_{r_0/2}(x_0) \cap \{u > 0\}$ with $\bar{x}_0 = x_0 + L_0^{-1}\bar{y}_0$. In particular, we can apply Lemma 3.9 with k = 3 to the function $r_0^{-1}u(x_0 + r_0x)$ to deduce that

$$|D^3 u(x)| \le C_{n,3} \frac{L_0}{r_0} \max\{1, L_0 r_0\}, \quad \text{for} \quad x \in B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0).$$

This implies that there exists a constant $c_* = c_*(n) > 0$ such that

$$|D^{2}u(x)| \ge L_{0} - C_{n,3}\frac{L_{0}}{r_{0}}\max\{1, L_{0}r_{0}\}|x - x_{0}| \ge \frac{L_{0}}{2}, \quad \text{for} \quad x \in B_{c_{n}r_{0}}(\bar{x}_{0}) \cap B_{c_{*}\min\{L_{0}^{-1}, r_{0}\}}(x_{0}),$$

therefore

$$\eta^n \ge \int_{B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)} |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \max\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \max\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \max\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \max\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \max\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \max\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n \, dx \ge 2^{-n} |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \max\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2 u|^n |B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \max\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)|L_0^n |D^2$$

Noticing now that $|B_{c_n r_0}(\bar{x}_0) \cap B_{c_* \min\{L_0^{-1}, r_0\}}(x_0)| \ge c \min\{L_0^{-n}, r_0^n\} \ge cL_0^{-n} \min\{1, C_*^n \eta^n\}$ (recall (3.9)), we obtain

 $\eta^n \ge \hat{c} \min\{1, C^n_* \eta^n\},$

for some dimensional constant $\hat{c} = \hat{c}(n) > 0$. However, choosing C_* large enough so that $\hat{c}C_*^n \ge 2$, this inequality is impossible if η is small enough. Thus (3.9) does not hold, and we obtain (3.7).

Rescaling by a factor of r, we get (3.8) with k = 2. Finally, Lemma 3.9 (together with a covering argument) yields (3.8) for all $k \ge 3$.

3.4. Structural results for classical solutions. Here, we present the mean convexity of the free boundary and the regularity of solutions close to a vee.

Lemma 3.12. Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a global classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n . Let ν denote the inward unit normal vector to $\partial \{u > 0\}$ at a given point, and let

$$v(x) := 1 - |\nabla u(x)|^2 \qquad for \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

$$(3.10)$$

Then v satisfies $0 \le v \le 1$ in \mathbb{R}^n , v = 0 on $\partial \{u > 0\}$, and

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v \leq 0, & \text{in } \{u > 0\} \\ \partial_{\nu} v = -2\partial_{\nu\nu}^2 u & \text{on } \operatorname{FB}(u). \end{cases}$$

In particular, whenever u is not a half-space solution $(x \cdot e)_+$ or a vee $|x \cdot e|$ for some $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, then $H = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}v > 0$ on FB(u), where H denotes the mean curvature of FB(u) at a given point with respect to the outer unit normal $-\nu$. *Proof.* The bound $0 \le v \le 1$ comes from Lemma 3.2. Also, since $\Delta u(x) = 0$ in $\{u > 0\}$, a simple computation yields

$$\Delta v(x) = -2\operatorname{div}(D^2 u(x)\nabla u(x)) = -2|D^2 u(x)|^2 \le 0 \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \{u > 0\}$$

and

$$\partial_{\nu}v(x) = \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) = -2\nabla u(x) \cdot D^2 u(x) \nabla u(x) = -2\partial_{\nu\nu}^2 u(x) \quad \text{for} \quad x \in FB(u).$$

In particular, since v is superharmonic, either $v \equiv 0$ (in which case u is either a half space $(x \cdot e)_+$ or a vee $|x \cdot e|$), or $\partial_{\nu}v(x) > 0$ on $\partial\{u > 0\}$ by Hopf's lemma. Finally, noticing that for $x \in FB(u)$ we have $\partial^2_{\nu(x)\nu(x)}u = -\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \partial^2_{\tau_i(x)\tau_i(x)}u$ for some orthonormal basis $\{\tau_i(x)\}_{1 \leq i \leq n-1}$ of the tangent plane to FB(u) at x, we deduce that

$$H(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \partial_{\tau_i(x)\tau_i(x)}^2 u(x) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\nu(x)} v(x) > 0 \quad \text{for} \quad x \in FB(u),$$

as we wanted.

As a consequence of Lemma 3.5, and thanks to the improvement of flatness, one obtains additional properties needed to upgrade closeness to a vee into regularity:

Lemma 3.13 (Closeness to vee and disconnectedness implies regularity). Let $n \ge 2$. There exists $\varepsilon_{\circ} = \varepsilon_{\circ}(n) > 0$ such that the following holds.

Let u be a global classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n satisfying

$$|u - V_{0,e_n}| \le \varepsilon \varrho \le \varepsilon_{\circ} \varrho \quad in \ B_{2\varrho}, \tag{3.11}$$

where e_n is the n-th vector in the canonical basis. Suppose, in addition, that the two points ϱe_n and $-\varrho e_n$ lie in different connected components of the open set $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{2\varrho}$.

Then

$$\varrho^2 \|D^2 u\|_{L^{\infty}(\{u>0\}\cap B_{\varrho})} \le C\varepsilon \varrho$$

for some C depending only on n. Moreover,

$$\{u > 0\} = \{x_n > g^{(+)}(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1})\} \cup \{x_n < g^{(-)}(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1})\} \quad in \quad B_{\varrho}$$

where $g^{(\pm)}: D_{\varrho} \to \mathbb{R}$ with D_{ϱ} being the lower dimensional ball $\{x_1^2 + \dots + x_{n-1}^2 < \varrho^2\}$ in $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}, g^{(-)} < g^{(+)}, and \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$

$$\|g^{(\pm)}\|_{L^{\infty}(D_{\varrho})} + \varrho^2 \|D^2 g^{(\pm)}\|_{L^{\infty}(D_{\varrho})} \le C\varepsilon \varrho.$$

for some C depending only on n.

Proof. Recalling that $V_{0,e_n}(x) = |x_n|$, it follows from (3.11) that

$$\{u=0\} \cap B_{\varrho} \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x_n| \le \varepsilon \varrho\}.$$

Let U_+ and U_- be the connected components of $B_{2\varrho} \cap \{u > 0\}$ respectively containing the two points $\pm \varrho e_n$. Then they necessarily contain the two sets $\{x \in B_{\varrho} : x_n > \varepsilon \varrho\}$ and $\{x \in B_{\varrho} : x_n < -\varepsilon \varrho\}$ respectively. Also, by assumption $U_+ \cap U_- = \emptyset$.

Let $\bar{u}_{\pm} := u \mathbb{1}_{U_{\pm}}$ and observe that \bar{u}_{\pm} and \bar{u}_{\pm} are classical solutions to the Bernoulli problem in $B_{2\varrho}$ which satisfy

$$\|\bar{u}_{\pm} \mp x_n\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2\rho} \cap \{\bar{u}_{\pm} > 0\})} \le \varepsilon \varrho.$$

In particular, we can apply the classical epsilon-regularity theory in Lemma 3.7 to both \bar{u}_+ and \bar{u}_- and deduce the graphicality (hence ordering) of FB(\bar{u}_{\pm}) and the bound

$$\varrho |D^2 \bar{u}_{\pm}| \le C \varepsilon \qquad \text{in} \quad \{ \bar{u}_{\pm} > 0 \} \cap B_{\varrho}.$$

Moreover, thanks to Lemma 3.5, for ε_{\circ} small enough we have

{

$$u > 0\} \cap B_{\varrho} = \left(\{\bar{u}_{+} > 0\} \cup \{\bar{u}_{-} > 0\}\right) \cap B_{\varrho}$$

or, in other words, $u = \bar{u}_+ + \bar{u}_-$ in B_{ρ} . The lemma now follows by Lemma 3.7 applied both to \bar{u}_+ and \bar{u}_- .

The following is a useful auxiliary lemma (recall the notion of Slab introduced in (2.17)):

Lemma 3.14. Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a global classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n . Suppose that for some $y_1 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $r_1 > 0$, and $\bar{e} \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, we have

$$\|u - V_{y_1,\bar{e}}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_1}(y_1))} \le \varepsilon r_1.$$
(3.12)

Then

$$\{u = 0\} \cap B_{r_1}(y_1) \subset \text{Slab}(B_{r_1}(y_1), \bar{e}, \varepsilon) = \{x \in B_{r_1}(y_1) : |\bar{e} \cdot (x - y_1)| \le \varepsilon r_1\}.$$
(3.13)

Moreover:

(a) For all $y_2 \in \{u = 0\}$ and $r_2 > 0$ such that $B_{r_2}(y_2) \subset B_{r_1}(y_1)$, we have

$$||u - V_{y_2,\bar{e}}||_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_2}(y_2))} \le 2\varepsilon r_1$$

(b) We have

dist
$$(x, \{u=0\}) \leq C_n \varepsilon r_1$$
, for all $x \in \text{Slab}(B_{r_1/2}(y_1), \bar{e}, 2\varepsilon)$,

for some C_n depending only on n (in particular, for n = 3 one can choose $C_3 = 16$).

Proof. Equation (3.13) is an immediate consequence of (3.12). We now prove (a) and (b). (a) It follows from

$$\|u - V_{y_2,\bar{e}}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_2}(y_2))} \le \|u - V_{y_1,\bar{e}}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_1}(y_1))} + \|V_{y_2,\bar{e}} - V_{y_1,\bar{e}}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_2}(y_2))},$$

observing that $||V_{y_2,\bar{e}} - V_{y_1,\bar{e}}||_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_2}(y_2))} \le |\bar{e} \cdot (y_2 - y_1)| = V_{y_1,\bar{e}}(y_2) \le \varepsilon r_1.$

(b) Given $r < r_1/2$, we need to prove the following implication:

$$\{u = 0\} \cap B_r(y) = \emptyset \text{ for some } y \in \text{Slab}(B_\varrho(y_1), \bar{e}, 2\varepsilon) \implies r < C_n \varepsilon r_1.$$
(3.14)

Indeed, $y \in \text{Slab}(B_{r_1/2}(y_1), \bar{e}, 2\varepsilon)$ is equivalent to $|y - y_1| < r_1/2$ and $|(y - y_1) \cdot \bar{e}| \le 2\varepsilon r_1$. Also, since $r < r_1/2$ we have $B_r(y) \subset B_{r_1}(y_1)$. Thus, from (3.12) we obtain

$$u(y) \le V_{y_1,\bar{e}}(y) + \varepsilon r_1 = |\bar{e} \cdot (y - y_1)| + \varepsilon r_1 \le 3\varepsilon r_1$$

On the other hand, still using (3.12) and the triangle inequality, we get

$$\int_{B_r(y)} u(x) \, dx \ge \int_{B_r(y)} \left| \bar{e} \cdot (x - y_1) \right| \, dx - \varepsilon r_1 \ge \int_{B_r(y)} \left| \bar{e} \cdot (x - y) \right| \, dx - 3\varepsilon r_1 = r \int_{B_1} \left| x_1 \right| \, dx - 3\varepsilon r_1 = c_n r - 3\varepsilon r_1.$$

Since $\oint_{B_r(y)} u = u(y)$ (recall that u is harmonic in $B_r(y)$), this proves that $3\varepsilon r_1 \ge c_n r - 3\varepsilon r_1$, or equivalently $r \le \frac{6}{c_n} \varepsilon r_1$, as wanted. (An explicit computation shows that $c_3 = \frac{3}{8}$.)

A variant of Lemma 3.13 that we will also use in the sequel is the following:

Lemma 3.15 (Closeness to vee and bounded Hessian implies regularity). Let $n \ge 2$. Given $C_1 \ge 1$ there exists $\varepsilon_1 > 0$, depending only on n and C_1 , such that the following holds.

Let u be a global classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n . Suppose that $|D^2u| \leq C_1 \varrho^{-1}$ in $B_{2\varrho} \cap \{u > 0\}$ and

$$\left|u - V_{0,e_n}\right| \le \varepsilon \varrho \le \varepsilon_1 \varrho \quad in \ B_{2\varrho},\tag{3.15}$$

where e_n is the n-th vector in the canonical basis. Then, the same conclusions as in Lemma 3.13 hold true.

Proof. On the one hand, the bound on the Hessian implies that the principal curvatures of the free boundary inside $B_{2\varrho}$ are bounded by $CC_1\varrho^{-1}$ (recall that u = 0 and $\partial_{\nu}u = 1$ on FB(u)). On the other hand, (3.15) implies that FB(u) $\cap B_{2\varrho}$ is contained in the slab $|x_n| \leq \varepsilon_1 \varrho$ (and it is non-empty, by Lemma 3.14(b)). The result follows. \Box

4. Blow-down of global stable solutions

The goal of this section is to prove that, in \mathbb{R}^3 , non-flat global stable solutions to the Bernoulli problem look like a vee at large scales. This is the content of the next:

Proposition 4.1 (Blow-down of non-flat solutions). Given $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $R_{\varepsilon} > 0$ depending only on ε such that for any $R \ge R_{\varepsilon}$, the following holds.

Let u be a global classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^3 , and $0 \in FB(u)$. If

$$\|D^2 u\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})} \ge 1, \tag{4.1}$$

then there exists $e_R \in \mathbb{S}^2$ such that

$$\left\| u - |e_R \cdot x| \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_R)} \le \varepsilon R. \tag{4.2}$$

In other words, there exists a universal modulus of continuity ω (of the form (2.16)) such that

$$\left\| u - |e_R \cdot x| \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_R)} \le \omega(R^{-1})R, \quad \text{for all} \quad R > 0.$$

$$\tag{4.3}$$

To prove this result, we will need to develop a variety of tools that are of independent interest.

We first focus on results that are valid for classical stable solutions. We start by recalling the nondegeneracy of stable solutions recently obtained in [57]. It is proved using a De Giorgi iteration with Michael–Simon–Sobolev inequality, where the mean curvature integral is estimated using the stability inequality with test function $|\nabla u|$.

Lemma 4.2 (Nondegeneracy of stable solutions [57]). Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a global classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n . Then, for all $y \in \partial \{u > 0\}$ and r > 0,

$$\oint_{\partial B_r(y)} u \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \ge cr \quad and \quad \mathcal{H}^{n-1}(\partial \{u > 0\} \cap B_r(y)) \ge cr^{n-1},\tag{4.4}$$

for some c > 0 depending only on n.

The following lemma is a direct consequence of a general result first obtained in the semilinear setting by Sternberg–Zumbrun [81].

Lemma 4.3 (Sternberg–Zumbrun inequality). Let $n \ge 2$, R > 0, and let u be a classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_{2R} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Then,

$$\int_{B_R \cap \{u>0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx \le CR^{n-2}, \quad \text{and therefore} \quad \int_{B_R \cap \{u>0\}} |D^2 u|^p \, dx \le CR^{-p} \qquad \text{for any} \quad p \in [0,2]$$

for some C depending only on n.

Proof. Recalling Lemma 3.2, to prove the first inequality we apply Lemma A.3 to $\frac{1}{2R}u(2R \cdot)$ with $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}(B_1)$ non-negative and satisfying $\eta \equiv 1$ in $B_{1/2}$. Then, the second one follows from Hölder's inequality.

We now introduce an important monotone quantity: for $u \in H^1(B_r)$ and $0 \in FB(u)$, the Weiss boundary-adjusted energy (see [92]) is given by

$$\mathbf{W}(u,r) = \frac{1}{r^n} \int_{B_r} (|\nabla u|^2 + \mathbb{1}_{\{u>0\}}) \, dx - \frac{1}{r^{n+1}} \int_{\partial B_r} u^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} = \mathbf{W}(u_r,1), \tag{4.5}$$

where u_r denotes the natural dilation of u, namely

$$u_r(x) := \frac{u(rx)}{r}, \quad \text{ for } r > 0$$

Due to the Weiss monotonicity formula (see [92, Theorem 3.1]), given $u \in H^1(B_R)$ a stationary solution to the Bernoulli problem, then

$$r \mapsto \mathbf{W}(u, r)$$
 is non-decreasing on $(0, R)$

and

$$\partial_r \mathbf{W}(u,r) = \frac{2}{r^{n+2}} \int_{\partial B_r} (u - x \cdot \nabla u)^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} = \frac{2}{r} \int_{\partial B_1} (u_r - x \cdot \nabla u_r)^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \ge 0 \quad \text{for a.e.} \quad r \in (0,R)$$
(4.6)

(see also [87, Section 9]). In particular, any blow-down limit $u_{\infty} = \lim_{r_k \uparrow \infty} u_{r_k}$ satisfies $\mathbf{W}(u_{\infty}, r) = \mathbf{W}(u, \infty)$ (because $\lim_{r_k \uparrow \infty} \mathbf{W}(u, r_k r) = \lim_{r \uparrow \infty} \mathbf{W}(u, r)$). This implies that $r \partial_r \mathbf{W}(u_{\infty}, r) = 0$, thus u_{∞} is 1-homogeneous.

Let us denote

$$\alpha_n := \mathbf{W}((x_n)_+, 1) = 2 \int_{B_1 \cap \{x_n > 0\}} dx - \int_{\partial B_1 \cap \{x_n > 0\}} x_n^2 d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} = \frac{\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})}{2n} = \frac{1}{2}|B_1|.$$
(4.7)

It is clear that $\mathbf{W}(|x_n|, 1) = 2\alpha_n$. As a consequence of the next result, any classical stable solution u to (3.1)–(3.3) in \mathbb{R}^3 with $0 \in FB(u)$ satisfies

$$\alpha_3 \le \mathbf{W}(u, 1) \le 2\alpha_3. \tag{4.8}$$

Lemma 4.4 (Almost homogeneous solutions). For any $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{\alpha_3}{2})$, there exists $\delta \in (0, \frac{\alpha_3}{2})$ such that the following hold.

Let u be a classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^3 such that $0 \in FB(u)$ and

$$\mathbf{W}(u,2) - \mathbf{W}(u,1) < \delta. \tag{4.9}$$

Then, either

$$\|u - e \cdot x\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})} < \varepsilon \quad \text{for some } e \in \mathbb{S}^2 \text{ and } \quad \mathbf{W}(u, 2) < \alpha_3 + \varepsilon, \tag{4.10}$$

or

$$\left\| u - |e \cdot x| \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1)} < \varepsilon \quad \text{for some } e \in \mathbb{S}^2 \text{ and } \quad \mathbf{W}(u, 1) > 2\alpha_3 - \varepsilon.$$

$$(4.11)$$

To prove Lemma 4.4 we will need the following compactness result for sequences of stable solutions.

Lemma 4.5 (Compactness). Let $n \ge 2$, and let $v_k \in C^{0,1}_{loc}(B_k)$ be a sequence of classical stable solutions to the Bernoulli problem in $B_k \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with $0 \in FB(v_k)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then the following hold:

(1) Up to a subsequence, v_k converges to some function v_∞ satisfying $|\nabla v_\infty| \leq 1$ in \mathbb{R}^n , with strong convergence in $(H^1_{\text{loc}} \cap C^{0,\alpha}_{\text{loc}})(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $\alpha \in (0,1)$.

(2) The sets $\overline{\{v_k > 0\}}$, $\{v_k = 0\}$, and the free boundaries $FB(v_k)$, converge locally in the Hausdorff distance in \mathbb{R}^n to their corresponding sets for v_{∞} (up to a subsequence). Specifically,

$$\overline{\{v_k > 0\}} \to \overline{\{v_\infty > 0\}}, \quad \{v_k = 0\} \to \{v_\infty = 0\}, \quad and \quad \operatorname{FB}(v_k) \to \operatorname{FB}(v_\infty), \quad locally.$$

(3) The limit function v_{∞} is a stable solution in the sense of Definition 3.1.

Proof. The proof is postponed to Appendix C.

We can now prove Lemma 4.4.

Proof of Lemma 4.4. We divide the proof into three steps.

Step 1: We argue by contradiction, and assume that there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ and a sequence of classical stable solutions u_k with $0 \in FB(u_k)$ and

$$\mathbf{W}(u_k, 2) - \mathbf{W}(u_k, 1) < \frac{1}{k},\tag{4.12}$$

but

$$\begin{cases} \min_{e \in \mathbb{S}^2} \|u_k - e \cdot x\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})} \ge \varepsilon_0 \quad \text{or} \quad \mathbf{W}(u_k, 2) \ge \alpha_3 + \varepsilon_0, \\ \min_{e \in \mathbb{S}^2} \|u_k - |e \cdot x|\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1)} \ge \varepsilon_0 \quad \text{or} \quad \mathbf{W}(u_k, 1) \le 2\alpha_3 - \varepsilon_0. \end{cases}$$
(4.13)

By Lemma 4.5, along a subsequence we have

$$u_k \to u_\infty$$
 strongly in $(H^1_{\text{loc}} \cap C^0_{\text{loc}})(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

for some global stationary and inner stable solution u_{∞} with $0 \in FB(u_{\infty})$. Taking the limit in (4.12) (using Lemma 4.5) we obtain

$$\mathbf{W}(u_{\infty},2) - \mathbf{W}(u_{\infty},1) = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad r\partial_r \mathbf{W}(u_{\infty},r) = 0 \quad \text{for } r \in (1,2).$$

In particular, u_{∞} is 1-homogeneous in the open annulus $B_2 \setminus \overline{B_1}$, and therefore in B_2 by unique continuation. Up to extending u_{∞} outside of B_2 in a 1-homogenous way we can assume that it is defined in the whole \mathbb{R}^3 . In the next two steps, we will show that there exists $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$ such that

either
$$\begin{cases} u_{\infty} = (e \cdot x)_{+}, \\ \mathbf{W}(u_{\infty}, \cdot) \equiv \alpha_{3}, \end{cases} \text{ or } \begin{cases} u_{\infty} = |e \cdot x|, \\ \mathbf{W}(u_{\infty}, \cdot) \equiv 2\alpha_{3}, \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

which is in direct contradiction with (4.13) in the limit $k \to \infty$ (using again Lemma 4.5).

Step 2: We first prove the validity of (4.14) "up to a multiplicative constant".

Since u_{∞} is 1-homogeneous, $FB(u_{\infty})$ is a cone. Let $y_{\circ} \in S^2 \cap FB(u_{\infty})$, and consider \tilde{u}_{∞} to be any blow-up of u_{∞} at y_{\circ} along a sequence $r_k \downarrow 0$, namely,

$$\tilde{u}_{\infty}(x) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{u_{\infty}(y_{\circ} + r_k x)}{r_k} = \lim_{k \to \infty} u_{\infty} \left(\frac{y_{\circ}}{r_k} + x\right).$$

Then \tilde{u}_{∞} is invariant in the y_{\circ} direction. In particular, \tilde{u}_{∞} is actually a 2-dimensional, 1-homogeneous, non-negative harmonic function. Hence, it must be of the form

$$\tilde{u}_{\infty}(x) = a_{+}(x \cdot e)_{+} + a_{-}(x \cdot e)_{-}$$
 for some $a_{+}, a_{-} \ge 0, e \in \mathbb{S}^{2}$.

Also, up to changing e with -e, we can assume that $a_{-} \leq a_{+}$. We now distinguish two cases.

- If $a_{-} = 0$, since 0 is a free boundary point for \tilde{u}_{∞} it must be $a_{+} > 0$, and since it is a stationary solution then necessarily $a_{+} = 1$.

- On the other hand, if $0 < a_{-} \leq a_{+}$, then by stationarity we must have $a_{+} = a_{-} = \tilde{a}$, and by the uniform 1-Lipschitz bound $\tilde{a} \leq 1$. Observe also that, by the nondegeneracy of classical stable solutions Lemma 4.2, we also have⁸ that $\tilde{a} \geq c > 0$ for some universal c.

As a consequence of this discussion, we have two cases:

• If $\tilde{u}_{\infty}(x) = (x \cdot e_{y_{\infty}})_{+}$ for all $y_{\infty} \in FB(u_{\infty}) \cap \mathbb{S}^{2}$, then the free boundary of u is smooth everywhere outside of the origin,⁹ so u_{∞} is a classical stable solution outside of the origin. Then, the classification of 1homogeneous stable solutions in \mathbb{R}^{3} from [19,55] applies to our solution and implies that $u_{\infty}(x) = (x \cdot e')_{+}$ for some $e' \in \mathbb{S}^{2}$. Hence, we are in the first case of (4.14).

⁸We remark that any function of the form $\tilde{u}_{\infty}(x) = \tilde{a}|x \cdot e|$ for $\tilde{a} \ge 0$ is stationary and stable, according to Definition 3.1.

⁹This follows from the fact that if a stable solution is close to $(x_n)_+$ then it is close to x_n inside its positivity set (see Lemma C.1), so the improvement of flatness in Lemma 3.7 applies. Also, note that blow-ups of limits of classical solutions are themselves limits of classical solutions (by a diagonal argument).

• Alternatively, if $\tilde{u}_{\infty}(x) = \tilde{a}_{y_{\circ}}|x \cdot e_{y_{\circ}}|$ for some $y_{\circ} \in FB(u_{\infty}) \cap \mathbb{S}^2$ and $\tilde{a}_{y_{\circ}} \in (0, 1]$, then $\mathbf{W}(u_{\infty}(\cdot + y_{\circ}), 0^+) = 2\alpha_3$. On the other hand, the Weiss energy is also upper bounded by $2\alpha_3$: indeed, any blow-down of u_{∞} around any point is equal to u_{∞} , which is 1-homogeneous, and for any 1-homogeneous solution v we have $\mathbf{W}(v, r) = \frac{1}{r^n} |\{v > 0\} \cap B_r| \le |B_1| = 2\alpha_3$. Therefore

$$2\alpha_3 = \mathbf{W}(u_{\infty}(\cdot + y_{\circ}), 0^+) \le \mathbf{W}(u_{\infty}(\cdot + y_{\circ}), r) \le \mathbf{W}(u(\cdot + y_{\circ}), \infty) \le 2\alpha_3,$$

which implies that the Weiss energy is constant, so u_{∞} is homogeneous around y_{\circ} . This implies that $u_{\infty}(x) = \tilde{a}|x \cdot e|$ for some $\tilde{a} \in [c, 1]$ and some $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$ such that $e \cdot y_{\circ} = 0$. So, to conclude the proof, we only need to show that $\tilde{a} = 1$. This is the purpose of the next step.

Step 3: It remains to prove that, in the second case, $\tilde{a} = 1$.

Up to subsequences and after a rotation, we know $u_k \to \tilde{a}|x_1|$ strongly in $(H^1_{\text{loc}} \cap C^0_{\text{loc}})(\mathbb{R}^3)$ for some $\tilde{a} \in [c, 1]$. Also, thanks to Lemma 4.3,

$$\int_{B_1 \cap \{u_k > 0\}} |D^2 u_k|^2 \, dx \le C,\tag{4.15}$$

for some C > 0 universal, independent of k.

Now, assume by contradiction that $\tilde{a} < 1$. By harmonic estimates we have

$$u_k \to \tilde{a}|x_1|$$
 in $L^{\infty}(B_1) \cap C^1_{\text{loc}}(B_1 \setminus \{x_1 = 0\})$, for some $0 < c < \tilde{a} < 1$. (4.16)

The proof now follows along the lines of that of Lemma C.1. By Fubini's theorem, we know

$$\int_{B_1 \cap \{u_k > 0\}} |D^2 u_k|^2 \, dx \ge \int_{B_{1/2}'} \int_{[-1/2, 1/2] \cap \{u_k(t, \sigma) > 0\}} |D^2 u_k|^2(t, \sigma) \, dt \, d\sigma \ge \int_{B_{1/2}'} \int_{t_{\sigma,k}}^{1/2} |D^2 u_k|^2(t, \sigma) \, dt \, d\sigma,$$

where $B'_r \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ denotes the ball of radius r in \mathbb{R}^2 and, given $\sigma \in B'_{1/2}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $t_{\sigma,k}$ is the minimal value $t_* \in [-1/4, 1/4]$ (for k large enough) such that $(t_*, 1/2) \subset \{u_k(\cdot, \sigma) > 0\}$.

Let $\Pi_1 : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ denote the orthogonal projection in the last two variables, that is $\Pi_1((x_1, x_2, x_3)) = (x_2, x_3)$, and define

$$A_k := \Pi_1 \big(FB(u_k) \cap ((-1/2, 1/2) \times B'_{1/2}) \big).$$

Also, let $\delta > 0$ be a small fixed constant. Note that $|\nabla u_k|^2 = 1$ on $FB(u_k)$, while $|\nabla u_k(\delta, \sigma)|^2 \leq \frac{1+\tilde{a}^2}{2}$ for $k \gg 1$ large enough (due to (4.16) and harmonic estimates), therefore

$$\int_{t_{\sigma,k}}^{\delta} \left|\partial_1 |\nabla u|^2(t,\sigma)\right| dt \ge 1 - \frac{1+\tilde{a}^2}{2} = \frac{1-\tilde{a}^2}{2} \qquad \text{for all} \quad \sigma \in A_k$$

(note that, if $k \gg 1$, then $t_{\sigma,k} \in (-\delta, \delta)$ for $\sigma \in A_k$). Thus, thanks to the bound $|\nabla |\nabla u_k|^2|^2 \leq 4|D^2 u_k|^2$, Cauchy–Schwarz, and (4.15), this implies that

$$\frac{1-\tilde{a}^2}{2}|A_k| \le \int_{A_k} \int_{t_{\sigma,k}}^{\delta} \left|\partial_1 |\nabla u|^2(t,\sigma) \right| dt \, d\sigma \le C \left(|A_k|\delta\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{B_1 \cap \{u_k>0\}} |D^2 u_k|^2\right)^{1/2} \le C \left(|A_k|\delta\right)^{1/2},$$

which proves

$$|A_k| \le \frac{C\delta}{1 - \tilde{a}^2}.\tag{4.17}$$

Consider now instead $\sigma \in B'_{1/2} \setminus A_k$. Then $t_{\sigma,k} = -\frac{1}{4} \leq \delta$. Also, by (4.16) we know $\partial_1 u_k(-\delta,\sigma) < -\frac{c}{2}$ and $\partial_1 u_k(\delta,\sigma) > \frac{c}{2}$, so that

$$\int_{-\delta}^{\delta} |\partial_{11}^2 u_k(t,\sigma)| dt > c > 0, \quad \text{for } k \text{ large and } \sigma \in B'_{1/2} \setminus A_k.$$

Hence, by $|\partial_{11}^2 u_k|^2 \leq |D^2 u_k|^2$, Cauchy–Schwarz, and (4.15), similarly to before we obtain

$$c|B'_{1/2} \setminus A_k| \le \int_{B'_{1/2} \setminus A_k} \int_{-\delta}^{\delta} \left|\partial_{11}^2 u_k\right|(t,\sigma) dt \, d\sigma \le C \left(|B'_{1/2} \setminus A_k|\delta\right)^{1/2}$$

therefore $|B'_{1/2} \setminus A_k| \leq C\delta$. Combining this bound with (4.17), we get a contradiction for δ sufficiently small. \Box

As a consequence of the previous result, if we can lower bound the Hessian of a solution at one point, then the solution cannot be energetically close to a half-space.

Lemma 4.6 (Lower bound of Weiss energy). Let $\varepsilon_{\circ} = \varepsilon_{\circ}(3)$ and $C_{3,2}$ (i.e., n = 3 and k = 2) be the constants from Lemma 3.7, and set $C_{\circ} := C_{3,2}\varepsilon_{\circ}$. Let $\delta_{\circ} \in (0, \frac{\alpha_3}{2})$ be chosen from Lemma 4.4 with $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{\circ}$.

Let u be a global classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^3 , with $0 \in FB(u)$. If

$$\left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \ge 2C_{\circ},\tag{4.18}$$

then

$$\mathbf{W}(u,2) \ge \alpha_3 + \delta_{\circ}. \tag{4.19}$$

Proof. Recalling that $\mathbf{W}(u, 1)$ is always bounded from below by α_3 (see (4.8)), if (4.19) does not hold then

$$\mathbf{W}(u,2) - \mathbf{W}(u,1) < (\alpha_3 + \delta_\circ) - \alpha_3 = \delta_\circ.$$

$$(4.20)$$

Thus, by Lemma 4.4, either (4.10) or (4.11) holds. The alternative (4.10) can be ruled out, since Lemma 3.7 implies

$$\left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C_{\circ}$$

contradicting assumption (4.18). Thus we are left with the case (4.11), in which case

$$\mathbf{W}(u,2) \ge \mathbf{W}(u,1) > 2\alpha_3 - \varepsilon_{\circ} \ge \alpha_3 + \delta_{\circ},$$

contradicting (4.20).

We can finally upgrade the previous lemma to solutions close to vees and prove Proposition 4.1.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. Let C_{\circ} be as in Lemma 4.6, and recall the notation $u_R(x) = \frac{1}{R}u(Rx)$. Then $u_{2C_{\circ}}$ satisfies

$$\left\| D^2 u_{2C_{\circ}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u_{2C_{\circ}} > 0\})} = 2C_{\circ} \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{C_{\circ}} \cap \{u > 0\})} \ge 2C_{\circ} \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1} \cap \{u > 0\})} \ge 2C_{\circ}$$

therefore

$$\mathbf{W}(u, 4C_{\circ}) = \mathbf{W}(u_{2C_{\circ}}, 2) \ge \alpha_3 + \delta_{\circ}$$

by Lemma 4.6.

Now, given $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\delta_0 := \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ be determined by Lemma 4.4. Also, given $\varepsilon_1 := \delta_0$, let $\delta_1 := \delta(\varepsilon_1)$ be determined by applying Lemma 4.4 one second time.

Let us now apply Lemma 4.4 with ε_1, δ_1 to the functions $u_{2^{k+1}C_0}$ with $k = 1, \ldots, K$ (where $K = K(\varepsilon_1)$ is to be chosen). We first check that the alternative (4.10) does not hold for any k. Indeed, by Lemma 3.7, (4.10) implies

$$\left\|D^{2}u\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2^{k}C_{\circ}}\cap\{u>0\})} = \frac{1}{2^{k+1}C_{\circ}}\left\|D^{2}u_{2^{k+1}C_{\circ}}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2}\cap\{u_{2^{k+1}C_{\circ}}>0\})} \le \frac{C_{\circ}}{2^{k+1}C_{\circ}} < 1,$$

contradicting (4.1). Hence, either

$$\mathbf{W}(u, 2^{k+2}C_{\circ}) - \mathbf{W}(u, 2^{k+1}C_{\circ}) \ge \delta_1 \qquad \text{for all} \quad k = 1, \dots, K,$$

$$(4.21)$$

or, by (4.11), there exist $k \leq K$ such that

$$\mathbf{W}(u, 2^{k+1}C_{\circ}) > 2\alpha_3 - \varepsilon_1. \tag{4.22}$$

If (4.21) holds, then summing over k from 1 to $K := \lfloor \frac{\alpha_3}{\delta_1} \rfloor + 1$ yields

$$\mathbf{W}(u, 2^{K+2}C_{\circ}) \ge \mathbf{W}(u, 4C_{\circ}) + K\delta_1 \ge \alpha_3 + \delta_{\circ} + K\delta_1 \ge 2\alpha_3 > 2\alpha_3 - \varepsilon_1$$

In either case, recalling (4.8) and choosing $R_{\varepsilon} = 2^{K+2}C_{\circ}$, for any $R \ge R_{\varepsilon}$ it holds

$$2\alpha_3 \geq \mathbf{W}(u, R) \geq \mathbf{W}(u, R_{\varepsilon}) > 2\alpha_3 - \varepsilon_1.$$

This implies that $\mathbf{W}(u_R, 2) - \mathbf{W}(u_R, 1) < \varepsilon_1 = \delta(\varepsilon)$ and $\mathbf{W}(u_R, 2) > 2\alpha_3 - \varepsilon_1 > \alpha_3 + \varepsilon$, so by applying Lemma 4.4 again we obtain

$$\left\| u_R - \left| e_R \cdot x \right| \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1)} < \varepsilon$$

for some $e_R \in \mathbb{S}^2$, as desired.

5. Necks: definition and properties

In this section we begin our study of global classical stable solutions. We will need to properly define the "neck" regions (i.e., regions where the free boundary is not flat) and study their properties.

5.1. Reduction. Let us begin with the following reduction lemma. From now on, whenever u is a classical solution and $x_{\circ} \in FB(u)$, we write $D^2u(x_{\circ})$ to denote the limit of D^2u from the positivity set: more precisely, $D^2u(x_{\circ}) :=$ $\lim_{\{u>0\}\ni x\to x_0} D^2 u(x).$

Lemma 5.1 (Reduction). Let $n \ge 2$, and suppose there exists a global classical stable solution v to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^n such that $|D^2v| \neq 0$ in $\{v > 0\}$. Then, there exists a global classical stable solution u such that $0 \in FB(u), |D^2u| \le 1 \text{ in } \overline{\{u > 0\}}, \text{ and } |D^2u|(0) = 1.$

Proof. Notice that v must have a free boundary; indeed, if not, it would be a positive harmonic function, so it would be constant, contradicting the assumption that $|D^2v| \neq 0$.

Let us suppose first $\sup_{\{v>0\}} |D^2 v| = \infty$. Consider $x_k \in B_k \cap \overline{\{v>0\}}$ such that

$$h_k := |D^2 v(x_k)| \left(1 - \frac{|x_k|}{k}\right) = \max_{x \in B_k \cap \{v > 0\}} |D^2 v(x)| \left(1 - \frac{|x|}{k}\right),$$

which satisfies $h_k \geq \frac{1}{2} \max_{B_{k/2}} |D^2 v| \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$. Let $d_k := |D^2 v(x_k)|$ and $\rho_k = 1 - \frac{|x_k|}{k}$, and define the classical stable solutions

$$u_k(y) := d_k v \left(x_k + \frac{y}{d_k} \right) \quad \text{for} \quad y \in B_{d_k \rho_k}$$

We have $0 \in \overline{\{u_k > 0\}}$ and $|D^2 u_k(0)| = 1$. Also, by definition of h_k , for $x = x_k + \frac{y}{d_k} \in \{v > 0\}$ with $|y| < d_k \rho_k$ we have

$$\left| D^2 v\left(x_k + \frac{y}{d_k} \right) \right| \le |D^2 v(x_k)| \frac{1 - \frac{|x_k|}{k}}{1 - \frac{|x_k + y/d_k|}{k}} \le |D^2 v(x_k)| \frac{\rho_k}{\rho_k - \rho_k/k}$$

Therefore,

$$|D^2 u_k(y)| = \frac{1}{d_k} \left| D^2 v\left(x_k + \frac{y}{d_k}\right) \right| \le \frac{1}{1 - 1/k} \quad \text{in} \quad B_{d_k \rho_k} \cap \overline{\{u_k > 0\}}$$

Since $d_k \rho_k = h_k \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$, Lemma 4.5 implies that (up to a subsequence) u_k converges to some global stable solution u with $0 \in \overline{\{u > 0\}}$. Moreover, thanks to the upper bound on the Hessian, the free boundaries are uniformly smooth and $|D^2u| \leq 1$ in $\{u > 0\}$.

We observe that u is a classical stable solution satisfying $|D^2u|(0) = 1$. Indeed, given $x_o \in FB(u)$ and r > 0, the uniform bound $|D^2 u_k| \leq 1$ implies—using the condition $\partial_{\nu} u_k = 1$ on FB (u_k) and Lemma 3.5—that the positivity sets $\{u_k > 0\}$ are locally the union of at most two smooth hypographs (in opposite directions) inside $B_r(x_0)$. Moreover, these hypographs have uniform curvature estimates for their boundaries. Hence, applying the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem, these hypographs converge (up to a subsequence) to smooth hypographs as $k \to \infty$, and the free boundaries $FB(u_k)$ converge smoothly to FB(u). Also, since $|D^2u_k(0)| = 1$ and the free boundaries converge smoothly, the Hessian of u must be nonzero in an open set near 0.

To verify that u is classical we only need to rule out tangency situations: i.e., we must show that the boundaries two locally connected components of $\{u > 0\} \cap B_r(x_{\circ})$ cannot touch. To show this, note that because of Lemma 3.12, each component of $\{u > 0\} \cap B_r(x_0)$ is mean concave. Thus, the presence of a tangency point x_0 would force the mean curvature to be zero at x_0 , and therefore (again by Lemma 3.12) $D^2 u \equiv 0$ in a neighborhood of x_0 . By unique continuation, this would imply $D^2 u \equiv 0$ in all of these two connected components of $\{u > 0\}$, which would imply that u is a vee. However, this contradicts the fact that the Hessian of u is nonzero in an open set near 0. Thus, no tangency point can exist, completing the argument.

Note now that, since u is a classical solution, the bound $|D^2u_k(0)| = 1$ implies in the limit that $|D^2u(0)| = 1$.

It remains to consider the case $M := \sup_{\{v>0\}} |D^2 v| \in (0,\infty)$. In this case, it suffices to choose $x_k \in \{v>0\}$ such that $|D^2v(x_k)| \to M$ and define u as the limit of $u_k(x) := M v \left(x_k + \frac{x}{M}\right)$. Arguing similarly to above, u_k converges locally uniformly to a classical solution u satisfying $|D^2u| \leq 1$ on $\overline{\{u>0\}}$ and $|D^2u|(0) = 1$. Again by the strong maximum principle $(|D^2u|^2 \text{ is subharmonic})$ we obtain $0 \in FB(u)$. \square

5.2. Fixing global assumptions. Let us now fix some global assumptions and variables. Throughout the rest of the paper, and until otherwise stated, we set n = 3 and $u \in \operatorname{Lip}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ to be a fixed global classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^3 , with

$$\in FB(u), \quad |\nabla u| \le 1, \quad |D^2 u(0)| = 1, \quad \text{and} \quad |D^2 u| \le 1 \text{ in } \{u > 0\},$$
(5.1)

(as in Lemma 5.1).

We also fix the global universal constant

0

$$\eta_0 := \eta_*(3) \tag{5.2}$$

where $\eta_*(3)$ the constant in Lemma 3.11 for dimension n = 3.

- 5.3. Definition of neck centers. Given u and η_0 as above, we define the set of neck centers Z as follows.
 - First, for any $y \in FB(u)$, we define its threshold radius as

$$r_{\star}(y) := \inf \left\{ r > 0 : \int_{B_{r}(y) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^{2}u|^{3} \, dx \ge \eta_{0}^{3} \right\}.$$
(5.3)

Observe that, since we are assuming $|D^2u|$ to be globally and universally bounded, we know that

$$r_{\star}(x) \ge r_{\min} = r_{\min}(\eta_0) := c \eta_0 > 0$$
 for all $x \in FB(u)$. (5.4)

• Then, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we define

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_k := \left\{ x \in FB(u) : r_\star(x) \in [r_{\min}2^k, r_{\min}2^{k+1}) \right\}.$$
(5.5)

• Given $\lambda > 0$ and $\mathcal{Y} \subset FB(u)$, we denote

$$\mathcal{B}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{Y}) := \bigcup_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} B_{\lambda r_{\star}(y)}(y) \tag{5.6}$$

(not to be confused with the notation $B_r(A) = A + B_r$ in Section 2.3). Thanks to Vitali's covering lemma, we can consider a countable subset of centers $\mathcal{Z}_0 \subset \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0$ such that

$$B_{r_{\star}(z_1)}(z_1) \cap B_{r_{\star}(z_2)}(z_2) = \varnothing \quad \text{for all} \quad z_1, z_2 \in \mathcal{Z}_0, \quad z_1 \neq z_2,$$

and

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0 \subset \mathcal{B}_1(\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0) \subset \mathcal{B}_4(\mathcal{Z}_0).$$

• Then, for $k \ge 1$, we recursively define

$$\mathcal{Z}'_{k} := \{ x \in \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{k} : B_{4r_{\star}(x)}(x) \cap \mathcal{Z}_{\langle k} = \emptyset \},$$
(5.7)

where we have denoted $\mathcal{Z}_{\langle k} := \bigcup_{i=0}^{k-1} \mathcal{Z}_i$. We take \mathcal{Z}_k to be the centers of a Vitali subcovering of $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{Z}'_k)$, namely, $\mathcal{Z}_k \subset \mathcal{Z}'_k$ is a countable subset such that

$$B_{r_{\star}(z_1)}(z_1) \cap B_{r_{\star}(z_2)}(z_2) = \emptyset \quad \text{for all} \quad z_1, z_2 \in \mathcal{Z}_k, \quad z_1 \neq z_2,$$

and

$$\mathcal{Z}'_k \subset \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{Z}'_k) \subset \mathcal{B}_4(\mathcal{Z}_k)$$

• Finally, we define

$$\mathcal{Z} := \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \mathcal{Z}_k.$$

We call the points in \mathcal{Z} neck centers and denote the points in \mathcal{Z} by \mathbf{z}, \mathbf{z}_k , etc. The threshold radii of neck centers are simply called *neck radii*.

The first observation is that \mathcal{Z} exists:

Lemma 5.2. There holds $r_{\star}(0) \leq C\eta_0$. Consequently, the set of neck centers \mathcal{Z} is nonempty.

Proof. Recalling (5.1)–(5.2), Lemma 3.11 gives $1 = |D^2 u(0)| \le ||D^2 u||_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_{\star}(0)/2} \cap \{u>0\})} \le \frac{C\eta_0}{r_{\star}(0)}$, as desired. \Box

From now on, the set $\mathcal Z$ is fixed as above.

5.4. Basic properties of the neck centers and neck radii. Given the previous definitions, we start to discuss some basic properties of the neck centers.

Lemma 5.3 (Covering omitted neck centers). For any $k \ge 1$, we have

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{$$

Proof. For any $j \ge 1$ and $x \in \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_j \setminus \mathcal{Z}'_j$, it follows from (5.7) that $x \in B_{4r_\star(x)}(\mathcal{Z}_{< j})$. Recalling (5.5), this implies

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_j \setminus \mathcal{Z}'_j \subset B_{4r_{\min} \cdot 2^{j+1}}(\mathcal{Z}_{< j}).$$

Thus, using (5.5) again for all $j \leq k - 1$ (recall (5.6)),

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{$$

The result follows.

Corollary 5.4. For any $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$, we have

$$r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C,$$

for some C universal.

Proof. Let $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_k$. By Lemma 5.3 together with (5.5)–(5.7),

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{< k-1} \subset B_{2^{k+1}r_{\min}}(\mathcal{Z}_{< k-1}) \subset B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathcal{Z}_{< k}) \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}),$$

therefore

$$B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{< k-1} = \varnothing \implies r_{\star}(y) \ge r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})/4 \quad \text{for all} \quad y \in FB(u) \cap B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}).$$
(5.8)

(Here we understand that $\hat{Z}_{\leq k-1} = \emptyset$ if $k-1 \leq 0$.) We now claim that

$$r_{\star}(y) \le 4r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$$
 for all $y \in FB(u) \cap B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}).$ (5.9)

Indeed, if not, then (5.3) yields¹⁰

$$\eta_0^3 = \int_{B_{r_\star(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^3 \, dx \le \int_{B_{4r_\star(\mathbf{z})}(y) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^3 \, dx < \int_{B_{r_\star(y)}(y) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^3 \, dx = \eta_0^3,$$

a contradiction. Hence, (5.9) holds.

After a rescaling (considering $\frac{u(\mathbf{z}+r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})x)}{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}$ instead of u), let us assume $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) = 1$. Then $r_{\star}(x) \in [\frac{1}{4}, 4]$ for all $x \in FB(u) \cap B_2$. Also, by Lemma 3.11, $|D^2u| \leq C\eta_0$ in $\{u > 0\} \cap B_2 \cap \{\text{dist}(\cdot, FB(u)) < \frac{1}{8}\}$. Furthermore, since u is 1-Lipschitz, harmonic estimates imply that $|D^2u| \leq C$ in dist $(\cdot, FB(u)) \geq \frac{1}{8}$. This shows that $|D^2u| \leq C$ in $\{u > 0\} \cap B_2$, which is the desired result (once one rescales the solution back).

We now observe that the threshold radius controls the distance to the set \mathcal{Z} of neck centers:

Lemma 5.5 (r_{\star} controls distance to neck centers). Let $x \in FB(u)$ and \mathcal{Z} be defined as above. Then

dist
$$(x, \mathcal{Z}) \leq 8r_{\star}(x)$$
.

Proof. By construction, there exists $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $x \in \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_k$. If dist $(x, \mathcal{Z}_{\leq k}) < 4r_\star(x)$ then we are done, since $\mathcal{Z}_{\leq k} \subset \mathcal{Z}$. Otherwise, $x \in \mathcal{Z}'_k$ and there exists $\bar{x} \in \mathcal{Z}_k \subset \mathcal{Z}$ such that

dist
$$(x, \mathcal{Z}) \le |x - \bar{x}| \le 4r_{\star}(\bar{x}) \le 4r_{\min}2^{k+1} = 8r_{\min}2^k \le 8r_{\star}(x).$$

Next, we show that the Hessian is controlled by its distance to \mathcal{Z} :

Lemma 5.6 (Global Hessian decay). We have:

$$|D^2 u(x)| \le C \min\left\{\frac{1}{\operatorname{dist}\left(x,\mathcal{Z}\right)}, 1\right\}, \quad \text{for all} \quad x \in \{u > 0\},$$

for some C universal.

Proof. We divide the proof into two cases. Recall that $\eta_0 = \eta_*(3)$, from Lemma 3.11.

Case 1: $x_{\circ} \in \{u > 0\}$ and dist $(x_{\circ}, FB(u)) \leq \frac{1}{25}$ dist (x_{\circ}, \mathcal{Z}) . In this case, choose $y_{\circ} \in FB(u)$ closest to x_{\circ} so that, by triangle inequality,

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{\circ}, \mathcal{Z}) \leq \operatorname{dist}(y_{\circ}, \mathcal{Z}) + |x_{\circ} - y_{\circ}| \leq \operatorname{dist}(y_{\circ}, \mathcal{Z}) + \frac{1}{25} \operatorname{dist}(x_{\circ}, \mathcal{Z}).$$

By Lemma 5.5, this gives the chain of inequalities

$$24|x_{\circ} - y_{\circ}| \leq \frac{24}{25} \operatorname{dist}(x_{\circ}, \mathcal{Z}) \leq \operatorname{dist}(y_{\circ}, \mathcal{Z}) \leq 8r_{\star}(y_{\circ}),$$

and therefore

$$x_{\circ} \in B_{\frac{3}{2}|x_{\circ}-y_{\circ}|}(y_{\circ}) \subset B_{r_{\star}(y_{\circ})/2}(y_{\circ})$$

Now, using (3.8) around y_{\circ} and Lemma 5.5,

$$|D^{2}u(x_{\circ})| \leq \left\| D^{2}u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_{\star}(y_{\circ})/2}(y_{\circ}) \cap \{u>0\})} \leq \frac{C\eta_{0}}{r_{\star}(y_{\circ})} \leq \frac{C\eta_{0}}{\operatorname{dist}(x_{\circ},\mathcal{Z})}$$

¹⁰Here the strict inequality follows from the fact that, if $|D^2u|$ were to vanish in $(B_{r_{\star}(y)}(y) \setminus B_{4r_{\star}(z)}(y)) \cap \{u > 0\}$, then it would be zero inside $B_{4r_{\star}(z)}(y) \cap \{u > 0\}$ by unique continuation.

Case 2: $x_{\circ} \in \{u > 0\}$ and dist $(x_{\circ}, FB(u)) > \frac{1}{25}$ dist (x_{\circ}, \mathcal{Z}) . In this case, we apply harmonic estimates to u inside $B_{\frac{1}{2}\text{dist}(x_{\circ}, FB(u))}(x_{\circ})$. Since $u(x) \leq \text{dist}(x, FB(u))$ (recall that $|\nabla u| \leq 1$), this yields

$$|D^2 u(x_\circ)| \le \frac{C}{\operatorname{dist}(x_\circ, \operatorname{FB}(u))} \le \frac{C}{\operatorname{dist}(x_\circ, \mathcal{Z})}.$$

This proves that $|D^2u(x)| \leq \frac{C}{\operatorname{dist}(x,\mathcal{Z})}$. Recalling that $|D^2u| \leq 1$ (see (5.1)), the result follows.

The next lemma says that, around a neck center and at scales much larger than the neck radius, the solution increasingly resembles a vee:

Lemma 5.7 (Blow-down around neck center). For any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $M = M(\varepsilon) \ge 1$ such that the following holds.

For every $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and every $R \geq Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, we have

$$\min_{e \in \mathbb{S}^2} \left\| u - V_{\mathbf{z},e} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_R(\mathbf{z}))} \le \varepsilon R.$$
(5.10)

In particular (recall (2.1))

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{z}}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{R}) \le \varepsilon. \tag{5.11}$$

More precisely, choosing $M_* := (2|B_1|)^{\frac{1}{3}} \eta_0^{-1} \ge 1$ and ω as in (4.3), the relation between ε and M is implicitly given by

$$\omega(M_*/M) = \varepsilon$$

Proof. Let $u_{\mathbf{z},\rho}(x) := \frac{u(\mathbf{z}+\rho x)}{\rho}$ with $\rho = M_* r_\star(\mathbf{z})$ and $M_* := |B_1|^{\frac{1}{3}} \eta_0^{-1}$. Then $0 \in FB(u_{\mathbf{z},\rho})$ and

$$1 = \eta_0^{-3} \int_{B_{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^3 \, dx \le \|D^2 u\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\rho}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\})}^3 = \|D^2 u_{\mathbf{z},\rho}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u_{\mathbf{z},\rho} > 0\})}^3.$$

By Proposition 4.1, for any r > 0,

 $\min_{e \in \mathbb{S}^2} \left\| u_{\mathbf{z},\rho} - V_{0,e} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r)} \le \omega(r^{-1})r, \quad \text{or equivalently} \quad \min_{e \in \mathbb{S}^2} \left\| u - V_{\mathbf{z},e} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\rho r}(\mathbf{z}))} \le \omega(r^{-1})\rho r,$

In particular, given $\varepsilon > 0$, by choosing M so large that $\omega(M_*/M) < \varepsilon$ we obtain that (5.10) holds for $R \ge Mr_*(\mathbf{z})$.

Up to now, it may not be completely clear why we introduced the notions of neck centers and neck radii. If $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ is a given neck radius, then the previous lemma shows that, for $R \gg r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, the positivity set will be contained in some very thin strip —see Lemma 3.14(b):

$$\{u = 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : |e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z})| = o(R)\}$$

for some $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$ (depending on \mathbf{z} and R).

The next lemma actually shows that neck radii detect 'necks' or 'bridges' of the positivity set $\{u > 0\}$ between the two sides of the set $\{|e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z})| > o(R)\}$. In other words, at scales $R \gg r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}), \{u > 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})$ becomes connected.

Lemma 5.8 (neck centers detect 'necks'). There exists a large universal constant $\overline{M} \ge 1$ such that whenever $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\varrho \ge \overline{M}r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, any two points of $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{\rho}(\mathbf{z})$ can be joined by a continuous path contained in $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{2\rho}(\mathbf{z})$.

Proof. Let $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$ be a small constant that will be fixed later and consider $\bar{M} = M(\bar{\varepsilon})$ given by Lemma 5.7. Then, for any $\rho \geq \bar{M}r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$ we have

$$B_{2\varrho}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u=0\} \subset \{x : |e_{2\varrho,\mathbf{z}} \cdot (x-\mathbf{z})| \le \bar{\varepsilon}\varrho\}$$

Let U_+ and U_- denote the connected components of $B_{2\varrho}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}$ that contain the sets

$$\{x \in B_{2\varrho}(\mathbf{z}) : e_{2\varrho,\mathbf{z}} \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) > \bar{\varepsilon}\varrho\} \quad \text{and} \quad \{x \in B_{2\varrho}(\mathbf{z}) : e_{2\varrho,\mathbf{z}} \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) < -\bar{\varepsilon}\varrho\},$$

respectively. Suppose by contradiction that $U_+ \cap U_- = \emptyset$ and define $\bar{u}_{\pm} := u \mathbb{1}_{U_{\pm}}$. By Lemma 3.5, if $\bar{\varepsilon}$ is chosen small enough, we have $u = \bar{u}_+ + \bar{u}_-$ inside $B_{\varrho}(\mathbf{z})$ (that is, there are no other connected components of $\{u > 0\}$). Thus, Lemma 5.7 and Lemma 3.13 imply

$$\varrho|D^2 u| \le C\overline{\varepsilon} \quad \text{in} \quad \{u > 0\} \cap B_{\varrho/2}(\mathbf{z})$$

In particular

$$\eta_0^3 \le \int_{B_{r_\star(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^3 \le \int_{B_{\varrho/2}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^3 \, dx \le C \bar{\varepsilon}^3,$$

which is a contradiction for $\bar{\varepsilon}$ small enough. This proves that $U_+ = U_-$ are the same connected component of $B_{2\varrho}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}$. Since by Lemma 3.5 we have already seen that any other connected component of $B_{2\varrho}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}$ lies outside of $B_{\varrho}(\mathbf{z})$, we obtain the desired result. \Box

We finish this subsection with the following two related lemmas:

Lemma 5.9. For any $M \geq 1$ the following holds. Given $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $\varrho = Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, for all $\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{\rho}(\mathbf{z})$ we have

$$r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}') \geq \frac{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}{C_M}$$
 and $\|D^2 u\|_{L^{\infty}(\{u>0\}\cap B_{\varrho}(\mathbf{z}))} \leq \frac{C_M}{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})},$

for some C_M depending only on M.

Proof. For $M \leq 2$, the comparability of the neck radii and the Hessian estimate follows from (5.8)–(5.9) and Corollary 5.4, respectively. So let us assume M > 2.

Suppose for the sake of contradiction that there is $\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{\varrho}(\mathbf{z})$ with $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}') < \frac{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}{K}$, for K sufficiently large to be chosen later (depending on M). Then, since $3\varrho = 3Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \ge 6r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \ge 6Kr_{\star}(\mathbf{z}')$, Corollary 5.4 implies that

$$\left\| u - V_{\mathbf{z}',e} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{3\varrho}(\mathbf{z}'))} \leq \varepsilon(K)\varrho/2,$$

for some $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$, where $\varepsilon(K) \downarrow 0$ as $K \uparrow \infty$. Therefore, thanks to Lemma 3.14(a),

$$\left\| u - V_{\mathbf{z},e} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}))} \leq \varepsilon(K)\varrho = \varepsilon(K)Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z}).$$

Thus, recalling Corollary 5.4 and Lemma 3.15, if we choose K large so that $\varepsilon(K)M$ is sufficiently small we get

$$r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})|D^{2}u| \leq \frac{\eta_{0}}{100}$$
 in $B_{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}$.

Integrating in $B_{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}$ we reach a contradiction with the definition of $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$.

The second point is then a consequence of Corollary 5.4 and Lemma 5.6.

Lemma 5.10. There exists $M_{\circ} > 0$ universal such that if $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $R \geq M_{\circ}r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, then $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}') \leq \frac{R}{8}$ for all $\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{3R/4}(\mathbf{z})$.

Proof. Let $\varepsilon_{\circ} > 0$ be a small constant to be fixed, and apply Lemma 5.7 to find $M_{\circ} > 0$ such that, for $R \ge M_{\circ}r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, there exists $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$ such that

$$\|u - V_{\mathbf{z},e}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{R}(\mathbf{z}))} \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{\circ}R \quad \text{and} \quad \|u - V_{\mathbf{z}',e}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{R/4}(\mathbf{z}'))} \leq \varepsilon_{\circ}R,$$
(5.12)

where the second bound follows from Lemma 3.14(a).

Now, assume by contradiction that $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}') \geq \frac{R}{8}$. Then Lemma 5.9 implies that $|D^2u| \leq C/R$ in $B_{2R}(\mathbf{z}') \cap \{u > 0\}$, with C universal. By Lemma 3.15 this gives $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})|D^2u| \leq C\varepsilon_{\circ}$ in $B_{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}$, which integrated over $B_{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z})$ contradicts the definition of $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$ if ε_{\circ} is chosen small enough.

5.5. Ball tree: 'soft' geometric description of the zero set. The goal of this section is to show Proposition 5.12 below, which shall be very useful in the sequel. To state it, we first recall the notion of *rooted tree*:

Definition 5.11 (rooted tree). Let \mathcal{N} be some given a (finite, for simplicity) set. The elements $\nu \in \mathcal{N}$ will be called *nodes*. Suppose that there exist a distinguished node $\nu_0 \in \mathcal{N}$ (the *root*) and a map $p : \mathcal{N} \setminus {\nu_0} \to \mathcal{N}$ (the *predecessor map*) for which the following property holds: for all $\nu \in \mathcal{N}$ there is $\ell \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 1}$ such that $p^{\ell}(\nu) = \nu_0$. We then call the pair (\mathcal{N}, p) a *rooted tree*.

Notice that (\mathcal{N}, p) becomes naturally 'graded' or 'stratified' as follows: $\mathcal{N} = \bigcup_{\ell \ge 0} \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}$ where $\mathcal{N}^{(0)} := \{\nu_0\}$ and $\mathcal{N}^{(\ell)} := \{\nu \in \mathcal{N} : p^{\ell}(\nu) = \nu_0\}$. Notice also that, by definition, p maps $\mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}$ to a subset of $\mathcal{N}^{(\ell-1)}$ (here $\ell \ge 1$).

Given $\nu \in \mathcal{N}$ we put $\operatorname{desc}(\nu) := p^{-1}(\{\nu\})$ and call it the *descendants* of ν . Nodes ν with $\operatorname{desc}(\nu) = \emptyset$ are called *leaves* or *terminal nodes*. Nodes ν with $\operatorname{desc}(\nu) \neq \emptyset$ are called *internal* or *branching nodes*.

Intuitively, a node will be a given large ball. Then, then free boundary inside the node will be covered by the node's descendants in the next (smaller) scales, and such branching taking place in balls that are large with respect to neck radii. In other words, one keeps zooming in until a neck or two regular phases are seen at the threshold scale, while keeping track of the intermediate balls, the closedness of u to a vee as well as the tilting. See Figure 1.

We can now give the following result concerning the geometric structure of $\{u > 0\}$ (recall the definition of Slab in (2.17)):

Proposition 5.12. There exists a small universal constant $\theta_{\circ} > 0$ such that, for any given $\theta \in (0, \theta_{\circ})$, there exists $M = M(\theta) \ge 1$ (large) such that the following holds true.

For any given $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $R > Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, there exist:



FIGURE 1. Illustration of branching structure in ball tree: Proposition 5.12 and Definition 5.13. From left to right: a neck-type terminal ball, a regular terminal ball, and a branching ball.

- A finite collection \mathcal{N} of balls of \mathbb{R}^3 with $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \in \mathcal{N}$.
- A predecessor map $p: \mathcal{N} \setminus \{B_R(\mathbf{z})\} \to \mathcal{N}$ such that (\mathcal{N}, p) is a rooted tree with root $B_R(\mathbf{z})$.
- A map $e: \mathcal{N} \to \mathbb{S}^2$ called polarity map.

The previous objects satisfy the following properties:

- (1) Every ball (or node) $B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}, \ell \geq 0$, has radius $\varrho_{\ell} := \theta^{\ell} R$ and is centered at some point in $\{u = 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})$.
- (2) For every node $B = B_{\varrho}(y) \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}$ (so that $\varrho = \varrho_{\ell}$) we have

$$\left\| u - V_{y,e} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2\varrho}(y))} \le \theta^4 \varrho, \tag{5.13}$$

where e = e(B) is the polarity of B. In particular,

$$\{u=0\} \cap B_{2\varrho}(y) \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : |e \cdot (x-y)| \le \theta^4 \varrho\}.$$
(5.14)

(3) A ball $B = B_{\rho}(y)$ in \mathcal{N} is an internal or branching node whenever

there exists
$$\mathbf{z} \in B_{2\rho}(y) \cap \mathcal{Z}$$
 such that $Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \leq \varrho$. (5.15)

Otherwise, the ball is a terminal node.

- (4) For every branching node $B \in \mathcal{N}$, each of its descendants in desc(B) is centered at some point in $\{u = 0\} \cap \text{Slab}(B, e, \theta^4)$, where e = e(B) is the polarity of B. Moreover, the union of the balls in desc(B) are a "Vitali covering" of $\text{Slab}(B, e, \theta^2)$ (namely, they cover $\text{Slab}(B, e, \theta^2)$ and the balls with the same centers and radii scaled by a factor 1/4 are pairwise disjoint). In particular, the number of balls in desc(B) is bounded by $2^8\theta^{-2}$.
- (5) For any $B' \in \operatorname{desc}(B)$ we have $|\boldsymbol{e}(B) \boldsymbol{e}(B')| \leq \theta^3$.

Proof. We will construct the tree (\mathcal{N}, p) using an iterative procedure. The process begins at the root $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, which will always serve as a branching node. For any given node, we will define the criteria that determine whether it is branching or terminal, along with the procedure for constructing its descendants in the branching case.

This construction is divided into two steps:

Step 1. We present a claim that acts as a fundamental step in the construction process. It governs the selection of the constant M and outlines the procedure for determining descendants from a branching node.

Claim. For any given $\theta > 0$ sufficiently small, there is $M = M(\theta)$ such that the following holds. Suppose that u(y) = 0 and $B = B_{\varrho}(y) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ is some ball such that (5.15) holds. Assume in addition that $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$ is a unit vector such that (5.13) holds. Then, there exists a collection of points $\{y_j\}_{1 \le j \le N}$ in $\{u = 0\} \cap \text{Slab}(B_{\varrho}(y), e, \theta^4)$ satisfying the following properties:

(i) The balls $\{B_{\theta \varrho/4}(y_j)\}_{1 \le j \le N}$ are disjoint. In particular, the number of points N is bounded by $2^8 \theta^{-2}$.

- (ii) The balls $\{B_{\theta\varrho}(y_j)\}_{1 \le j \le N}$ cover $\text{Slab}(B_{\varrho}(y), e, \theta^2)$
- (iii) There exists $\tilde{e} \in \mathbb{S}^2$ with $|e \tilde{e}| \leq \theta^3$ such that for all $1 \leq j \leq N$ we have

$$u(x) - |\tilde{e} \cdot (x - y_j)| \big\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2\theta\varrho}(y_j))} \le \theta^4(\theta\varrho) = \theta^5\varrho,$$
(5.16)

Let us prove this claim. By assumption (5.15), there exists $\mathbf{z} \in B_{2\varrho}(y) \cap \mathcal{Z}$ such that $Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \leq \varrho$. Within the setup of Lemma 5.7, choose $M = M(\theta)$ such that

$$8\omega(M_*/M) \le \theta^6$$

Then, Lemma 5.7 guarantees the existence of $\tilde{e} \in \mathbb{S}^2$ such that

$$\left\| u(x) - |\tilde{e} \cdot (x - \mathbf{z})| \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{4\varrho}(\mathbf{z}))} \le \omega \left(M_* / M \right) 4\varrho \le \frac{1}{2} \theta^6 \varrho.$$

Since changing the sign to \tilde{e} does not change the previous bound, we choose the sign giving $e \cdot \tilde{e} \ge 0$.

Then using Lemma 3.14(a) (with $y_1 = \mathbf{z}, y_2 = y, r_1 = 4\varrho, r_2 = 2\varrho, \varepsilon = \theta^6/8$)

$$\left\| u(x) - \left| \tilde{e} \cdot (x - y) \right| \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2\varrho}(y))} \le \theta^{6} \varrho, \tag{5.17}$$

therefore

$$\{u=0\} \cap B_{2\varrho}(y) \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : |\tilde{e} \cdot (x-y)| \le \theta^6 \varrho\}.$$
(5.18)

Next, define the set $\{y_j\}_{1 \le j \le N}$ as a subset of $\{u = 0\} \cap \text{Slab}(B_{\varrho}(y), \tilde{e}, \theta^6)$ such that the balls $B_{\theta \varrho/4}(y_j)$ are pairwise disjoint. Furthermore, this subset is chosen to be maximal with respect to this disjointness property. Observe also that by (5.14), we have

$$\{y_j\}_{1 \le j \le N} \subset \{u=0\} \cap B_{\varrho}(y) \subset \operatorname{Slab}(B_{\varrho}(y), e, \theta^4)$$

Now, maximality implies (by a usual Vitali-type argument) that the triple balls are a cover:

$$\{u=0\} \cap \operatorname{Slab}(B_{\varrho}(y), \tilde{e}, \theta^{6}) \subset \bigcup_{1 \le j \le N} B_{3\theta\varrho/4}(y_j).$$
(5.19)

Also, by (5.17) and Lemma 3.14(b) we know

dist $(x, \{u=0\}) \le 8\theta^6 \rho$ for all $x \in \text{Slab}(B_{\rho}(y), \tilde{e}, \theta^6)$,

i.e. $\operatorname{Slab}(B_{\varrho}(y), \tilde{e}, \theta^{6}) \subset \{u = 0\} + \overline{B_{8\theta^{6}\varrho}}, \operatorname{upgrading} (5.19)$ to

$$\operatorname{Slab}(B_{\varrho}(y), \tilde{e}, \theta^{6}) \subset \bigcup_{1 \leq j \leq N} B_{4\theta \varrho/5}(y_{j}),$$

provided θ is small so that $3\theta/4 + 8\theta^6 < 4\theta/5$.

Also for θ small enough (such that $2\theta^2 + 4\theta/5 \le 5\theta/6$)

$$\operatorname{Slab}(B_{\varrho}(y), \tilde{e}, 2\theta^2) \subset \bigcup_{1 \le j \le N} B_{5\theta\varrho/6}(y_j).$$
(5.20)

Since the intersections of the balls $B_{\theta\varrho/4}(y_j)$ with the plane $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \tilde{e} \cdot (x-y) = 0\}$ are disjoint disks of radius $\geq \theta\varrho/8$, and they are all contained in $\text{Slab}(B_{(1+\theta/3)\varrho}(y), \tilde{e}, 0)$ a simple comparison of areas gives

$$N(\theta \varrho/8)^2 \le (1+\theta/3)^2 \varrho^2$$

Therefore since $\theta/3 \leq 1$ we obtain $N\theta^2 \leq 2^8$ as claimed. We have thus established (i).

To establish (iii) we observe first that (repeating similar triangle inequality arguments as above) from (5.17) and using $|\tilde{e} \cdot (y_j - y)| \le \theta^6 \rho$ we obtain that (5.16) is automatically satisfied for all j provided $2\theta^6 \le \theta^5$.

Similarly, combining (5.13) and (5.17) using the triangle inequality we obtain

$$\left\| V_{y,e} - V_{y,\tilde{e}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2\varrho}(y))} = \left\| \left| e \cdot (\cdot - y) \right| - \left| \tilde{e} \cdot (\cdot - y) \right| \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2\varrho}(y))} \le (\theta^{4} + \theta^{6})\varrho < 2\theta^{4}\varrho.$$

Recalling $e \cdot \tilde{e} \ge 0$ this implies $|e - \tilde{e}| \le 2\theta^4$, which is less than the claimed θ^3 (θ is small).

Finally, (ii) follows from (5.20) together with $|e - \tilde{e}| \leq \theta^3$. This finishes the proof of the claim.

Step 2. We now use the claim to construct the tree (\mathcal{N}, p) .

We start by defining the root $\mathcal{N}^{(0)} := \{B_R(\mathbf{z})\}$. Since $R > Mr_\star(\mathbf{z})$ by assumption, the conditions of the claim are satisfied for $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, thanks to Lemma 5.7. This allows us to apply the branching procedure from the claim to $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, producing a finite collection of balls $\{B_{\theta R}(y_j)\}_{1 \le j \le N}$, each centered at a point in $\{u = 0\} \cap \text{Slab}(B_R(\mathbf{z}), e, \theta^4)$ and satisfying the covering and disjointness properties of the claim in Step 1.

Next, for each branching node $B_{\varrho}(y) \in \mathcal{N}^{(k)}$ (at level k of the tree), we apply the claim to generate its descendants, forming the next generation of nodes $\mathcal{N}^{(k+1)}$. If a ball satisfies the branching condition (5.15), it branches into a finite collection of descendants, where each ball in the descendant set satisfies the same geometric properties as the

initial node. If a node fails the branching condition, it becomes a terminal node, and no further descendants are generated.

The predecessor map $p: \mathcal{N} \setminus \{B_R(\mathbf{z})\} \to \mathcal{N}$ is defined by setting p(B') = B whenever B' branches out from B. This establishes the rooted tree structure of (\mathcal{N}, p) , where $B_R(\mathbf{z})$ is the root.

The polarity map $e : \mathcal{N} \to \mathbb{S}^2$ is defined iteratively: for the root $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, we assign polarity e given by Lemma 5.7, and for each descendant $B_{\theta\varrho}(y_j)$ of a branching node $B_{\varrho}(y)$, we assign the polarity \tilde{e} from the claim, satisfying $|e(B) - e(B')| \leq \theta^3$ for any descendant B' of B.

Note that for the root $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, we may also arbitrarily assign the polarity -e. Once this sign is chosen, however, the signs of the polarities for all descendants are uniquely determined.

The iterative process continues until all nodes in the tree are either terminal or have their descendants constructed. The covering, disjointness, and approximation properties of the descendants are guaranteed by the claim, which ensures that every ball in \mathcal{N} satisfies the conditions in Proposition 5.12.

Finally, the number of descendants at each branching node is bounded by $2^{8}\theta^{-2}$, and the radii of the balls decrease geometrically by a factor of θ at each generation. This ensures that the process terminates after a finite number of steps (since $r_{\min} > 0$), yielding a well-defined, finite tree structure.

The following definition and lemmas extract the relevant analytic information from the rooted tree constructed in Proposition 5.12 to be used in the following sections:

Definition 5.13. Given $\theta > 0$ (sufficiently small), let $M = M(\theta)$ be the constant provided by Proposition 5.12. Suppose $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $R > Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$. Let (\mathcal{N}, p) denote the ball tree rooted at $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, and let e be the associated polarity map, both as described in Proposition 5.12. We partition \mathcal{N} into two sets:

$$\mathcal{N}=\mathcal{I}\cup\mathcal{T},$$

where \mathcal{I} consists of the *internal nodes* (branching balls), and \mathcal{T} consists of the *terminal nodes* (balls that do not branch further). A terminal ball $B = B_{\rho}(y) \in \mathcal{T}$ is called *regular* if

$$B_{2\varrho}(y) \cap \mathcal{Z} = \emptyset.$$

The set of regular terminal balls will be denoted as \mathcal{T}^{reg} . The non-regular terminal balls will be called *neck balls*. We denote them by $\mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}$, so that $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}^{\text{reg}} \cup \mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}$.

We have the following:

Lemma 5.14. In the setting of Definition 5.13, let $\theta \in (0, \theta_{\circ})$, where $\theta_{\circ} > 0$ is the universal constant provided by Proposition 5.12. For every regular terminal ball $B = B_{\varrho}(y) \in \mathcal{T}^{\text{reg}}$, the set $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{3\rho/2}(y)$ can be written as

$$\{u > 0\} \cap B_{3\rho/2} = B^{(+,3/2)} \cup B^{(-,3/2)}$$

where $B^{(+,3/2)}$ and $B^{(-,3/2)}$ are two disjoint connected components of $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{3\varrho/2}(y)$, characterized by containing the points $y \pm \varrho e$, where e = e(B) is the polarity of B. In addition, we have:

$$|\nabla u(x) - e| \le \theta^3 \quad \forall x \in B^{(+,3/2)} \qquad and \qquad |\nabla u(x) + e| \le \theta^3 \quad \forall x \in B^{(-,3/2)}.$$
(5.21)

Moreover, the two free boundaries $\partial \{u > 0\} \cap \partial B^{(\pm,3/2)}$ are flat $C^{1,1}$ graphs. More precisely, if we choose an Euclidean coordinate system (X_1, X_2, X_3) with origin at y and X_3 pointing in the direction of e, we have

$$B^{(+,3/2)} = \{X_3 > g^{(+)}(X_1, X_2)\} \cap B_{3\varrho/2}(y) \quad and \quad B^{(-,3/2)} = \{X_3 < g^{(-)}(X_1, X_2)\} \cap B_{3\varrho/2}(y),$$

where the functions $g^{(\pm)}: D_{3\varrho/2} \to \mathbb{R}$, with $D_{3\varrho/2}$ being the disk $\{X_1^2 + X_2^2 < (3\varrho/2)^2\}$ in \mathbb{R}^2 , are ordered —that is $g^{(-)} < g^{(+)}$ — and satisfy the estimates:

$$\|g^{(\pm)}\|_{L^{\infty}(D_{3\varrho/2})} + \varrho^2 \|D^2 g^{(\pm)}\|_{L^{\infty}(D_{3\varrho/2})} \le \theta^3 \varrho.$$

Proof. It follows by combining Proposition 5.12 with Lemma 5.6 and Lemma 3.13. Indeed, if $B = B_{\varrho}(y)$ is a regular terminal ball then, by definition, $B_{2\varrho}(y) \cap \mathcal{Z} = \emptyset$. Hence, by Lemma 5.6 we obtain

$$|D^2 u| \le \frac{C_1}{\varrho}$$
 in $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{7\varrho/4}(y)$,

with C_1 universal. Recalling (5.13)—which holds thanks to Proposition 5.12(2)— we can use Lemma 3.15 (with a covering argument) to conclude.

Definition 5.15. For given $B = B_{\varrho}(y) \in \mathcal{N} \setminus \mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}$ we define $B^{(+)}, B^{(-)}$, as follows:

• If $B \in \mathcal{I}$ is an internal ball and e = e(B), we define (the regular regions)

$$B^{(+)} := \{ x \in B_{\varrho}(y) : e \cdot (x - y) > \theta^2 \varrho \}, \quad B^{(-)} := \{ x \in B_{\varrho}(y) : e \cdot (x - y) < -\theta^2 \varrho \}.$$

Similarly, for given $\lambda \in [1, 3/2]$ we define

$$B^{(\pm,\lambda)} := \{ x \in B_{\lambda\varrho}(y) : \pm e \cdot (x-y) > \theta^2 \varrho \}$$

• If $B \in \mathcal{T}^{\operatorname{reg}}$ is a regular terminal ball we define

$$B^{(+)} := B^{(+,3/2)} \cap B, \quad B^{(-)} := B^{(+,3/2)} \cap B,$$

where $B^{(+,3/2)}$ and $B^{(+,3/2)}$ are as in Lemma 5.14. Also, for for given $\lambda \in [1,3/2]$ we define

$$B^{(\pm,\lambda)} := B^{(\pm,3/2)} \cap B_{\lambda\rho}(y).$$

Finally, given a ball tree \mathcal{N} with root $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, we define the two subsets $\Omega^{(+)} = \Omega^{(+)}(B_R(\mathbf{z}))$ and $\Omega^{(-)} = \Omega^{(-)}(B_R(\mathbf{z}))$ as

$$\Omega^{(\pm)} := \bigcup \{ B^{(\pm)} : B \in \mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{T}^{\mathrm{reg}} \}.$$

Remark 5.16 (Reversed polarity map). Notice that if (\mathcal{N}, p) and $e : \mathcal{N} \to \mathbb{S}^2$ are the tree and polarity map constructed in Proposition 5.12, then replacing the map e with -e results in a new polarity map that satisfies exactly the same properties. In other words, we can always change the sign of the polarity at one node (e.g., the root), but this change must be propagated to all other nodes accordingly.

It is also useful to observe that for each ball B the set $B^{(-)}$ defined using the polarity e is the same as $B^{(+)}$ for the polarity -e. Thus, the set $\Omega^{(-)}$ defined using the polarity e is the same as $\Omega^{(+)}$ for the polarity -e.

In the previous definition, we have a lower bound on the gradient inside $\Omega^{(\pm)}$:

Lemma 5.17. In the setting of Definitions 5.13 and 5.15, let $\theta \in (0, \theta_{\circ})$. For all $B \in \mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{T}^{reg}$ we have:

$$|\nabla u(x) - e| \le C\theta^2 \quad \forall x \in B^{(+,3/2)} \quad and \quad |\nabla u(x) + e| \le C\theta^2 \quad \forall x \in B^{(-,3/2)}, \tag{5.22}$$

where e = e(B) and C is universal. In particular, $|\nabla u| \ge \frac{9}{10}$ in $\Omega^{(\pm)}$.

Proof. For $B \in \mathcal{T}^{\text{reg}}$, this is implied by (5.21). For $B = B_{\varrho}(y) \in \mathcal{I}$ this follows from interior estimates for the harmonic function u using that $\|u - V_{y,e}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho}(y))} \leq \theta^{4} \rho$ and $B^{(\pm)} = \{x : \pm e \cdot (x-z) > \theta^{2} \rho\}$.

Notice also that, thanks to the tree structure, $\Omega^{(\pm)}$ cover the whole $\{u > 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})$ except $\mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}$:

Lemma 5.18. In the setting of Definitions 5.13 and 5.15, we have

$$\{u > 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset \Omega^{(+)} \cup \Omega^{(-)} \cup \bigcup \mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}.$$

Proof. We reason by induction using the tree structure. Indeed, let $\mathcal{N} = \bigcup_{\ell \geq 0} \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}$ be as in Definition 5.11 and define

$$\Omega^{(\ell,\pm)} := \bigcup \{ B^{(\pm)} : B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)} \cap (\mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{T}^{\mathrm{reg}}) \}, \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega^{(\leq \ell,\pm)} := \bigcup_{k=0}^{\circ} \Omega^{(k,\pm)}.$$
(5.23)

Then the result follows noticing that

$$B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset \Omega^{(\leq \ell, \pm)} \cup \bigcup \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)} \cup \bigcup \mathcal{T}.$$

which is established for all $\ell \ge 0$ using Proposition 5.12(4) —more precisely, we use that the union of the balls in desc(B) covers all Slab (B, e, θ^2) — and induction.

6. Estimating Neck Radii from symmetric excess

The goal of this section is to estimate the size of neck radii using a test function introduced by Jerison and Savin in [55]. More precisely, given a global classical stable solution $u : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ to Bernoulli satisfying (5.1), following Jerison and Savin we define the functions w and \mathbf{c} as

$$w := F(D^2 u) = f(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) = \sqrt{\sum_{\lambda_i > 0} \lambda_i^2 + 4 \sum_{\lambda_i < 0} \lambda_i^2}, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{c} := w^{1/3} \quad \text{in} \quad \overline{\{u > 0\}}, \quad (6.1)$$

where λ_i are the eigenvalues of $D^2 u$ at a given point. We define (see (2.3))

$$\mathfrak{I}(u,U) := \int_{\{u>0\}\cap U} \mathbf{c}\Delta\mathbf{c}\,dx + \int_{\partial\{u>0\}\cap U} \mathbf{c}(\mathbf{c}_{\nu} + H\mathbf{c})d\mathcal{H}^2, \quad \text{for any open set} \quad U \subset \mathbb{R}^3.$$
(6.2)

We recall that H denotes the mean curvature of the free boundary at a point, and in particular, $H(x) = -\partial_{\nu\nu}^2 u(x) > 0$ for $x \in FB(u)$ (see Lemma 3.12). Notice that, by the stability inequality (2.3), we have

$$\Im(u, B_1) \le C \left\| |D^2 u|^{\frac{2}{3}} \right\|_{L^1(B_2 \cap \{u > 0\})}.$$

In addition, it follows from [55] that the two integrands in the definition of \Im are non-negative. In particular,

$$\Im(u, U') \le \Im(u, U)$$
 for any $U' \subset U.$ (6.3)

Finally, \Im enjoys the following scaling property:

$$\Im(u,U) = r^{\frac{1}{3}} \Im\left(u_{z,r}, \frac{1}{r}(U-z)\right), \quad \text{where} \quad u_{z,r}(x) := \frac{u(z+rx)}{r}, \quad r > 0.$$
(6.4)

For notational convenience, for $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ we define (recall (2.4))

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R) := \frac{1}{R} \Im(u, B_R(\mathbf{z}))^3$$

The goal of this section is to establish the following two propositions. The first one provides a control on ρ_z by the symmetric excess (recall (2.1)):

Proposition 6.1. For any $\gamma \in (0, \frac{4}{9})$ there exists $C_{\gamma} > 0$ such that

 $\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, R) \leq C_{\gamma} \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 4R)^{3\gamma} \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z} \text{ and } R > 0.$

The second proposition gives a control on the neck radii by $\rho_{\mathbf{z}}$:

Proposition 6.2. There exists $C \ge 1$ universal such that, for any $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $R \ge r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$,

$$\frac{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}')}{R} \le C\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 2R) \qquad \text{for all } \mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z}).$$
(6.5)

6.1. Hessian estimates in $L^{\gamma'}$: Proof of Proposition 6.1. We start by proving some estimates for positive harmonic functions in half-balls or flat-Lipschitz domains. The next two results follow from standard arguments, and we present their proofs in Appendix D for the reader's convenience.

Lemma 6.3. Let r > 0, $n \ge 2$, and $w : B_{2r} \cap \{x_n > 0\} \to (0, \infty)$ a positive harmonic function. Then, denoting $x = (x', x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\int_{\{|x'|<3r/2\}} w(x',t) \, dx' \le C \, w(re_n) r^{n-1} \qquad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0,r),$$

where C = C(n) is a dimensional constant.

Lemma 6.4. Let $n \ge 2$ and $w: B_{2r} \cap D \to (0, \infty)$ a positive harmonic function, where $D = \{x_n > \varphi(x')\}$ for some $\varphi: B'_{2r} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ with

$$|\varphi| + r|\nabla\varphi| \le c_{\circ}r.$$

Let $\gamma' \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$. Then, for c_{\circ} small enough depending only on n and γ' , we have

$$r^{2\gamma'-n} \int_{B_r \cap D} |D^2 w|^{\gamma'} \, dx \le C_{n,\gamma'} \, w(re_n)^{\gamma'},\tag{6.6}$$

for some $C_{n,\gamma'}$ depending only on n and γ' .

With these two preliminary results at hand, we now focus on a series of estimates for our solution $u : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ to Bernoulli. First, we prove that L^1 -closeness to a vee implies L^∞ -closeness from below:

Lemma 6.5. Let $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$, $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$, and R > 0. Then, the following implication holds for all $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$:

where $(t)_{-} = \max(-t, 0)$ denotes the negative part of $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and C is universal.

In particular:

$$\frac{1}{R} \oint_{B_R(y)} |u - V_{y,e}| \, dx \le \varepsilon \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad u + C\varepsilon R \ge V_{y,e} \qquad in \quad B_{3R/4}(y).$$

Proof. Throughout the proof, we will assume without loss of generality that $\varepsilon > 0$ is sufficiently small, since otherwise the conclusion is trivially true (for some appropriately large C). Defining

$$v(x) := u(x) - e \cdot (x - y),$$

our goal is to show that

 $v \ge -C\varepsilon R$ in $B_{7R/8}(y)$,

with C universal.

Since $|\nabla u| \leq 1$ we have $|\nabla v_{-}| \leq 2$, so by our assumption and L¹-Lip interpolation¹¹ we have

$$\|v_-\|_{L^{\infty}(B_R(y))} \le CR\varepsilon^{1/4} \le R/8$$

provided ε is small enough. In particular, u > 0 in $D_{R,y} := B_R(y) \cap \{x : e \cdot (x - y) > R/8\}$. Thus v is harmonic and v_- subharmonic in $D_{R,y}$. Hence, since by assumption

$$\int_{D_{R,y}} v_{-} \, dx \le C \varepsilon R,$$

the L^1 to L^∞ estimates for subharmonic functions give

$$v_{-} \leq C \varepsilon R$$
 in $B_{7R/8}(y) \cap \{x : (x-y) \cdot e > R/6\}.$

Since

$$\partial_e v(x) = \partial_e u(x) - 1 \le |\nabla u(x)| - 1 \le 0$$
 in \mathbb{R}^3

(recall that $|\nabla u| \leq 1$), (6.7) follows.

One of the cornerstones of this section is the following result, which strongly relies on the geometric information about $\{u > 0\}$ provided by the tree structure constructed in Proposition 5.12. :

Lemma 6.6. Let n = 3. Given $\gamma' \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$, there exist $M = M(\gamma') \ge 1$ and $C_{\gamma'} \ge 1$ (both large constants depending only on γ') such that the following implication holds for every $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$, $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$, and $R \ge Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$:

$$\frac{1}{R} \oint_{B_{2R}(\mathbf{z})} \left| u - V_{\mathbf{z},e} \right| dx \le \varepsilon \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad R^{\gamma'-3} \int_{B_R(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u>0\}} \left| D^2 u \right|^{\gamma'} dx \le C_{\gamma'} \varepsilon^{\gamma'}. \tag{6.8}$$

Proof. Note that, by Lemma 4.3 with $p = \gamma'$,

$$R^{\gamma'-3} \int_{B_R(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u>0\}} |D^2 u|^{\gamma'} \, dx \le C,$$

with C universal. Hence, to prove the lemma, we may assume without loss of generality that ε is sufficiently small.

As mentioned above, we will rely on the geometric information about $\{u > 0\}$ provided by the tree structure constructed in Proposition 5.12. For a given $\gamma' \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$, we will choose an appropriately small $\theta > 0$ and consider the ball tree from Proposition 5.12. The precise choice of θ in terms of γ' will become clear later in the proof, but we can already note that $\theta \to 0^+$ as $\gamma' \to (\frac{1}{2})^-$.

For $\theta > 0$ small depending on γ' , we use Proposition 5.12 to obtain a ball tree (\mathcal{N}, p) rooted at $B_R(\mathbf{z})$ and polarity map $\mathbf{e} : \mathcal{N} \to \mathbb{S}^2$. Also, we set $M(\gamma')$ equal to $M(\theta)$, the (large) constant from Proposition 5.12.

We divide the proof into three steps:

Step 1: Define the function $v: B_{2R}(\mathbf{z}) \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$v(x) = u(x) - e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}).$$

By Lemma 6.5 we have

$$v \ge -C\varepsilon R$$
 in $B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z})$ and $\{u=0\} \cap B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z}) \subset \text{Slab}(B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z}), e, C\varepsilon)$ (6.9)

with C universal. Since both ε and θ are small enough, we can choose the sign of the polarity $e(B_R(\mathbf{z}))$ so that

$$e \cdot \boldsymbol{e}(B_R(\mathbf{z})) \ge 1 - \frac{1}{100}.$$
(6.10)

For a given ball $B = B_{\rho}(y) \in \mathcal{N}$ we define its 'positive pole' and 'negative pole' as:

$$\mathbf{P}^+(B) := y + \frac{\varrho}{2} \mathbf{e}(B)$$
 and $\mathbf{P}^-(B) := y - \frac{\varrho}{2} \mathbf{e}(B).$

$$\|w\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1})}^{n+1} \leq C(n)\|w\|_{L^{1}(B_{1})}\|\nabla w\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1})}^{n}$$

(6.7)

¹¹Here we use a rescaled version of the classical interpolation inequality

which holds true for all Lipschitz functions w defined in the unit ball of \mathbb{R}^n ; cf. Lemma A.2.

Define $U := B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}$. We claim that, if $w : U \to [0, \infty)$ is a non-negative harmonic function, then

$$\sum_{B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}} w \left(\boldsymbol{P}^+(B) \right) \le (K \theta^{-2})^{\ell} w \left(\boldsymbol{P}^+(B_R(\mathbf{z})) \right), \tag{6.11}$$

where K is a universal constant; and analogously with P^{-} .

Indeed, for any branching ball $B' \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}$, thanks to Harnack's inequality and Proposition 5.12(4) we have

$$\sum_{B \in \operatorname{desc}(B')} w \left(\mathbf{P}^+(B) \right) \le C(\theta \varrho_\ell)^{-3} \sum_{B \in \operatorname{desc}(B')} \int_{B_{\theta \varrho_\ell/8}(\mathbf{P}^+(B))} w \, dx \le C(\theta \varrho_\ell)^{-3} \int_{B_{3\varrho_\ell/2} \cap S(B')} w \, dx,$$

where $\varrho_{\ell} = \theta^{\ell} R$, $S(B') = \{\theta \varrho_{\ell}/16 \le e(B') \cdot (x - \operatorname{cent}(B')) \le 2\theta \varrho_{\ell}\}$, and $\operatorname{cent}(B')$ is the center of B'. Thus, applying Lemma 6.3 (integrated for $t \in \theta \varrho_{\ell}/16, 2\theta \varrho_{\ell}$)) using again the Harnack inequality we obtain

$$\sum_{B \in \operatorname{desc}(B')} w(\mathbf{P}^+(B)) \le K\theta^{-2}w(\mathbf{P}^+(B')).$$

This implies

$$\sum_{B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}} w\big(\boldsymbol{P}^+(B)\big) \le K\theta^{-2} \sum_{B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell-1)}} w\big(\boldsymbol{P}^+(B)\big) \quad \text{for all } \ell \ge 1.$$

from which (6.11) follows.

Step 2: We now show the existence of a constant $C_{\gamma'}$, depending only on γ' , such that:

(a) For every internal or regular terminal ball $B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)} \cap (\mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{T}^{reg})$, we have

$$\int_{B^{(+)}} |D^2 w|^{\gamma'} \, dx \le C_{\gamma'} (\theta^{\ell} R)^{3-2\gamma'} w \left(\mathbf{P}^+(B) \right)^{\gamma'}. \tag{6.12}$$

(b) For every neck-type terminal ball $B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}$, we have

$$\int_{B \cap \{u>0\}} |D^2 w|^{\gamma'} dx \le C_{\gamma'} (\theta^{\ell} R)^{3-2\gamma'} w \left(\mathbf{P}^+(B) \right)^{\gamma'}.$$
(6.13)

Indeed, provided that $\theta > 0$ is chosen small enough, (a) follows from a direct application of Lemma 6.4 to the non-negative harmonic function w in $B^{(+,3/2)}$.

The proof of (b) is much more involved and relies on Lemmas 5.8, 5.9, and 6.4, together with a suitable covering argument and a Harnack chain. We now provide the details of the proof.

Note first that, by the definition of a neck-type terminal ball, given $B = B_{\varrho}(y) \in \mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}$ there exists $\mathbf{z} \in B_{2\varrho}(y) \cap \mathcal{Z}$ with $Mr_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) > \varrho$, $M = M(\theta)$. Thus, setting $\tilde{\varrho} := 4 \max\{M, \bar{M}\}r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$ (where \bar{M} is the universal constant from Lemma 5.8), we have

$$|D^2 u| \le \frac{C(M)}{\tilde{\varrho}} \quad \text{in } B_{3\tilde{\varrho}}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\} \qquad \text{and} \qquad B \subset B_{\tilde{\varrho}}(\mathbf{z}), \tag{6.14}$$

where the Hessian bound follows from Lemma 5.9. As a consequence of this (note that u = 0 and $\partial_{\nu} u = 1$ on $\partial \{u > 0\}$), we deduce the following:

For any given $y' \in B_{2\varrho}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \partial \{u > 0\}$, the connected component of $B_{c\varrho}(y') \cap \{u > 0\}$ whose boundary contains y' satisfies the assumptions of Lemma 6.4 (in an appropriate Euclidean coordinate frame), where c > 0 is a small constant depending only on M (i.e., depending only on γ').

Thanks to this observation, we can argue as follows: first, we cover $B_{2\tilde{\varrho}}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{\text{dist}(\cdot, \partial\{u > 0\} \le c^2 \tilde{\varrho}\}$ by a finite collection of balls $\{B_{c\tilde{\varrho}/10}(y'_j)\}_{1 \le j \le N = N(\gamma')}$ with $y'_j \in B_{2\varrho}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \partial\{u > 0\}$, and for each j we let y''_j to be a point such that $B_{c\tilde{\varrho}/4}(y''_j) \subset B_{c\tilde{\varrho}}(y'_j) \cap \{u > 0\}$.

Then, we cover $B_{2\tilde{\varrho}}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{\text{dist}(\cdot, \{u=0\} > c^2\tilde{\varrho}\} \text{ with finitely many balls } \{B_{c\tilde{\varrho}/8}(\hat{y}''_j)\}_{1 \leq j \leq M} \text{ such that } B_{c\tilde{\varrho}/4}(\hat{y}''_j) \subset \{u>0\} \text{ and the balls } \{B_{c\tilde{\varrho}/4}(\hat{y}''_j)\}_{1 \leq j \leq M} \text{ have bounded overlapping. This guarantees that } M \text{ is bounded by a constant depending only on } c \text{ (and thus only on } \gamma'). Now, by applying Lemma 6.4 inside each of the balls } \{B_{c\tilde{\varrho}/10}(y'_j)\}_{1 \leq j \leq N}, \text{ and interior harmonic estimates inside each of the balls } \{B_{c\tilde{\varrho}/4}(\hat{y}''_j)\}_{1 \leq j \leq N}, \text{ since } \tilde{\varrho} \text{ is comparable to } \theta^{\ell}R \text{ we get}}$

$$\int_{B \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 w|^{\gamma'} dx \le C_{\gamma'} (\theta^{\ell} R)^{3 - 2\gamma'} \left(\sum_{1 \le j \le N} w(y_j'')^{\gamma'} + \sum_{1 \le j \le M} w(\hat{y}_j'')^{\gamma'} \right).$$
(6.15)

We now claim that, for any given point $y'' \in B_{\tilde{\varrho}}(\mathbf{z})$ such that $B_{c\tilde{\varrho}/4}(y'') \subset \{u > 0\}$, we have

$$w(y'') \le C_1 w(\mathbf{P}^+(B)),$$
 (6.16)

where C_1 depends only on γ' . Combining this claim with (6.15), (b) follows immediately. So, we only need to prove (6.16).

To this aim, we first apply Lemma 5.8 to find continuous path $\Gamma: [0,1] \to B_{2\tilde{\rho}(\mathbf{z})} \cap \{u > 0\}$ such that

$$\Gamma(0) = y'', \quad \Gamma(1) = \mathbf{P}^+(B)$$

Next, we show that there exists another continuous path $\widetilde{\Gamma}: [0,1] \to B_{3\tilde{\rho}(\mathbf{z})} \cap \{u > 0\}$ such that

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}(0) = y'', \quad \widetilde{\Gamma}(1) = \mathbf{P}^+(B), \text{ and } \widetilde{\Gamma}(s) + B_{c^4 \widetilde{\varrho}} \subset B_{3 \widetilde{\varrho}(\mathbf{z})} \cap \{u > 0\} \text{ for all } s \in [0, 1].$$

Indeed, we can consider the vector field $F = h(u)\nabla u$, where $h: \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$ is a smooth cut-off such that

$$h(u) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } u \le c^3 \tilde{\varrho}, \\ 0 & \text{if } u \ge c^2 \tilde{\varrho}, \end{cases}$$

and define $\widetilde{\Gamma}(s) := \Phi^F(\Gamma(s), c\widetilde{\varrho})$, where $\Phi^F = \Phi^F(x, t)$ is the flow of F^{12} .

Finally, to establish (6.16), we cover $\widetilde{\Gamma}([0,1])$ by a number \tilde{N} (depending only on γ') of balls of radius $c^4 \tilde{\varrho}/2$. This gives a 'chain of balls' $B_{c^4 \tilde{\varrho}/2}(x_j)$ of length \tilde{N} such that

$$B_{c^4\tilde{\varrho}/2}(x_j) \cap B_{c^4\tilde{\varrho}/2}(x_{j+1}) \neq \emptyset, \quad 1 \le j < N.$$

Then, applying Harnack inequality along the chain of balls $\{B_{c^4\tilde{\varrho}}(x_j)\}_{1\leq j\leq \tilde{N}}$ (which have sufficient overlap between consecutive balls), we obtain (6.16).

Step 3: Consider the function $w = v + C\varepsilon R$. As proved in Step 1, w is non-negative in $B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z})$. We then apply the estimates from Step 2 to w.

More precisely, in $\Omega^{(+)}$ we sum over ℓ the estimate proved in (a), recalling Definition 5.15 and that the number of descendants of each node in \mathcal{N} is bounded by $2^8\theta^{-2}$ and thus $|\mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}| \leq (2^8\theta^{-2})^\ell$. In this way, by the concavity of $t \mapsto t^{\gamma'}$ and (6.11), we obtain:

$$\int_{\Omega^{(+)}} |D^{2}v|^{\gamma'} dx \leq \sum_{\ell \geq 0} \sum_{B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)} \cap (\mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{T}^{\mathrm{reg}})} \int_{B^{(+)}} |D^{2}w|^{\gamma'} dx
\leq C_{\gamma'} R^{3-2\gamma'} \sum_{\ell \geq 0} \theta^{(3-2\gamma')\ell} \sum_{B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}} w \left(\mathbf{P}^{+}(B) \right)^{\gamma'}
\leq C_{\gamma'} R^{3-2\gamma'} \sum_{\ell \geq 0} \theta^{(3-2\gamma')\ell} |\mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}| \left(\frac{1}{|\mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}|} \sum_{B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}} w \left(\mathbf{P}^{+}(B) \right) \right)^{\gamma'}
\leq C_{\gamma'} R^{3-2\gamma'} \sum_{\ell \geq 0} \theta^{(3-2\gamma')\ell} \left((2^{8}\theta^{-2})^{\ell} \right)^{1-\gamma'} (K\theta^{-2})^{\gamma'\ell} w \left(\mathbf{P}^{+}(B_{R}(\mathbf{z})) \right)^{\gamma'}
\leq C_{\gamma'} R^{3-2\gamma'} \sum_{\ell \geq 0} \left(\theta^{1-2\gamma'} K^{\gamma'} 2^{8(1-\gamma')} \right)^{\ell} (C\varepsilon R)^{\gamma'}.$$
(6.17)

In the last line we used that, by the Harnack inequality and (6.9), we have $w(\mathbf{P}^+(B_R(\mathbf{z}))) \leq C\varepsilon R$, where C is universal. Notice that, since $\gamma' < 1/2$, we can choose $\theta = \theta(\gamma')$ sufficiently small so that $\theta^{1-2\gamma'} K^{\gamma'} 2^{8(1-\gamma')} < 1$ and the geometric series above converges to a constant depending only on γ' .

The assumptions of the lemma do not change if we replace e by -e. But, by (6.10), doing so reverses the polarity of the tree and therefore we obtain the same bounds over $\Omega^{(-)}$.

Finally, we obtain a similar estimate for $\sum_{B \in \mathcal{T}^{neck}} \int_B |D^2 v|^{\gamma'} dx$ reasoning exactly as above but using (b) instead of (a). Since $\{u > 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset \Omega^{(+)} \cup \Omega^{(-)} \cup (\bigcup \mathcal{T}^{neck})$ (by Lemma 5.18), the proof is complete.

We can finally prove Proposition 6.1.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. On the one hand, the Hessian estimate in Lemma 6.6 implies:

$$R^{\gamma'} \oint_{B_{2R}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^{\gamma'} \, dx \le C_{\gamma'} \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 4R)^{\gamma'}, \quad \text{for any } \gamma' \in (0, 1/2), \tag{6.18}$$

¹²That is, Φ^F satisfies $\dot{\Phi}^F(x,t) = F(\Phi^F(x,t))$ for t > 0, with $\Phi^F(x,0) = x$.

where $C_{\gamma'}$ is a constant depending on γ' . On the other hand, the Sternberg–Zumbrun stability inequality from Lemma 4.3 gives:

$$R^2 \oint_{B_{2R}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx \le C.$$

Noticing that $\frac{2}{3} = \frac{4}{3(2-\gamma')} \cdot \gamma' + \frac{2-3\gamma'}{3(2-\gamma')} \cdot 2$, we can combine these two inequalities using Hölder's inequality to obtain

$$R^{2/3} \oint_{B_{2R}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{u>0\}} |D^2 u|^{2/3} \, dx \le C_{\gamma} \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 4R)^{\gamma},$$

where $\gamma := \frac{4\gamma'}{3(2-\gamma')} \to \left(\frac{4}{9}\right)^-$ as $\gamma' \to \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^-$.

Finally, applying Jerison–Savin's stability inequality (2.3), and noting that $\mathbf{c}^2 = F(D^2 u)^{2/3} \leq C |D^2 u|^{2/3}$, we get

$$R^{-1/3}\mathfrak{I}(u, B_R(\mathbf{z})) \le C \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 4R)^{\gamma},$$

as desired.

6.2. The left-hand side of Jerison–Savin controls neck radii: Proof of Proposition 6.2. The goal of this subsection is to show the following result, which will imply Proposition 6.2:

Proposition 6.7. There exists a large universal constant $\kappa > 0$ such that the following holds. Let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ with $|\nabla u| \leq 1$ in B_2 and u(0) = 0. If $\|D^2u\|_{L^{\infty}(B_2 \cap \{u>0\})} \leq C_0$ for some $C_0 > 0$, then

$$\|D^2 u\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})}^{\kappa} \le C \mathfrak{I}(u, B_2)$$

for some C depending only on C_0 .

Before proving this result we note that, as its consequence, \Im is bounded from below at *neck balls* (see Section 5.3):

Lemma 6.8. There exists c > 0 universal such that

$$\mathfrak{I}(u, B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z})) \ge c \, r_{\star}^{\frac{1}{3}}(\mathbf{z}) > 0, \qquad for \ all \quad \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$$

Proof. For $r = r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$ define $\tilde{u}(x) = \frac{u(\mathbf{z}+rx)}{r}$. Then, by the definition of neck radius and Corollary 5.4, we have

$$\int_{B_1 \cap \{\tilde{u} > 0\}} |D^2 \tilde{u}|^3 \, dx = \eta_0^3 \quad \text{and} \quad |D^2 \tilde{u}| \le C \quad \text{in} \quad B_2 \cap \{\tilde{u} > 0\},$$

for some C universal. Thus, we can apply Proposition 6.7, and obtain

$$\eta_0^{\kappa} = \|D^2 \tilde{u}\|_{L^3(B_1 \cap \{\tilde{u} > 0\})}^{\kappa} \le C \|D^2 \tilde{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{\tilde{u} > 0\})}^{\kappa} \le C \,\mathfrak{I}(\tilde{u}, B_2) = Cr^{-\frac{1}{3}}\mathfrak{I}(u, B_{2r}(\mathbf{z})),$$

where we have also used (6.4). This is our desired result.

Hence, we can prove Proposition 6.2.

Proof of Proposition 6.2. Suppose first that $R \ge M_{\circ}r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, with M_{\circ} given by Lemma 5.10. By the choice of M_{\circ} we know that $B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}')}(\mathbf{z}') \subset B_{2R}(\mathbf{z})$ for every $\mathbf{z}' \in B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \mathcal{Z}$. Thus, thanks to Lemma 6.8 and the definition of \mathfrak{I} (2.3), we have

 $cr_{\star}^{1/3}(\mathbf{z}') \leq \Im(u, B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}')}(\mathbf{z}')) \leq \Im(u, B_{2R}(\mathbf{z})) \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathbf{z}' \in B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \mathcal{Z},$

as desired.

Suppose now $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \leq R \leq M_{\circ}r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$. On the one hand, Lemma 6.8 gives

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u,2R) = \frac{\Im(u, B_{2R}(\mathbf{z}))^3}{2R} \ge \frac{\Im(u, B_{2r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})}(\mathbf{z}))^3}{2M_{\circ}r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})} \ge c > 0,$$

while on the other hand, thanks to Lemma 5.10,

$$r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}') \leq \frac{1}{4} M_{\circ} r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \leq \frac{1}{4} M_{\circ} R \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathbf{z}' \in B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \mathcal{Z} \subset B_{3M_{\circ} r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})/2}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \mathcal{Z}.$$

This gives the desired result.

The rest of this subsection will now be dedicated to the proof of Proposition 6.7.

6.2.1. The test function revisited. Until the end of the subsection, we assume that

u is a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, with $\Omega = \{u > 0\}.$ (6.19)

We recall that, as a consequence of [55, Theorem 4.1], the function $w = F(D^2u)$ (as defined in (6.1)) satisfies

$$w\Delta w - \frac{2}{3}|\nabla w|^2 \ge 0 \qquad \text{in } \Omega = \{u > 0\},$$

$$w_{\nu} + 3Hw \ge 0 \qquad \text{on } \partial\Omega = \partial\{u > 0\}$$

where ν denotes the inward normal towards $\{u > 0\}$, and H is the mean curvature of $\partial\Omega$. In particular, $\Delta(w^{\alpha}) \ge 0$ in Ω for $\alpha \ge \frac{1}{3}$, and $(w^{\alpha})_{\nu} + Hw^{\alpha} \ge 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ for $0 \le \alpha \le \frac{1}{3}$. We aim to keep track of the remainder in the previous inequalities.

We start with the interior inequality. Notice that the function $f(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) = \sqrt{\sum_{\lambda_i > 0} \lambda_i^2 + 4 \sum_{\lambda_i < 0} \lambda_i^2}$ is convex, therefore $(\lambda_i - \lambda_j)(f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_j}) \ge 0$ (here and in the sequel, $f_{\lambda_i} = \partial_{\lambda_i} f$). We recall that $(\lambda_i)_i$ denote the eigenvalues of $D^2 u$.

Lemma 6.9 (Remainder of interior inequality). Let u be as in (6.19). At all points where $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3$ are not all equal (to 0),

$$w\Delta w - \frac{2}{3}|\nabla w|^2 \ge \frac{2}{3}\sum_{k=1}^3 \frac{\sum_{1\le i< j\le 3, i, j\ne k} (\lambda_i - \lambda_j)(f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_j})}{\sum_{1\le i\le 3, i\ne k} (\lambda_i - \lambda_k)(f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_k})} w_k^2, \qquad in \quad \Omega.$$

Proof. Following the proof of [55, Theorem 4.1], we write

$$w\Delta w \ge \frac{2}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} w_k^2 \frac{nf}{\sum_{i \ne k} (\lambda_i - \lambda_k) (f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_k})} = \frac{2}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} w_k^2 \left(1 + \frac{nf - \sum_{i \ne k} (\lambda_i - \lambda_k) (f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_k})}{\sum_{i \ne k} (\lambda_i - \lambda_k) (f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_k})} \right).$$

From [55, eq. (4.7)], we have that for each $k = 1, \ldots, n$,

$$nf - \sum_{i \neq k} (\lambda_i - \lambda_k) (f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_k}) = \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le n \\ i \le j \le n}} (\lambda_i - \lambda_j) (f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_j}) - \left(\sum_{\substack{1 \le i < k \le n \\ 1 \le k < i \le n}} + \sum_{\substack{1 \le k < i \le n \\ i \le j \le n}} \right) (\lambda_i - \lambda_k) (f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_k})$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le n \\ i, j \neq k}} (\lambda_i - \lambda_j) (f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_j}),$$

Rearranging gives the desired result, in particular for n = 3.

Next, we refine the lower bound on the boundary inequality.

Lemma 6.10 (Remainder of boundary inequality). Let u as in (6.19). Let $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3)$ be the eigenvalues of D^2u evaluated at points on $\partial \{u > 0\}$, and let us write $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) = ((\mu + 1)H, -\mu H, -H)$ for some $\mu \ge -\frac{1}{2}$. Then,

$$w_{\nu} + 3Hw \ge \min\left\{\frac{1}{4}(\mu - 1)^2, 1\right\}Hw$$
 on $\partial\Omega$.

Proof. Recall from [55, Section 4.3] that

$$\frac{w_{\nu}}{Hw} + 3 = 2 - \frac{\sum_{\lambda_i > 0} \lambda_i^3 + 4 \sum_{\lambda_s < 0} \lambda_s^3 + 4H \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k^2}{Hw^2}.$$

We want to find a positive lower bound of the right-hand side, which in both cases we denote by $g(\mu)$.

Suppose first that $\mu \geq 0$. Then, we have

$$g(\mu) = 2 - \frac{(1+\mu)^3 - 4\mu^3 + 4((1+\mu)^2 + \mu^2)}{(1+\mu)^2 + 4\mu^2 + 4} = \frac{(\mu-1)^2(3\mu+5)}{(1+\mu)^2 + 4\mu^2 + 4} \ge \min\left\{\frac{1}{4}(\mu-1)^2, 1\right\}.$$

Suppose now $\mu < 0$. In this case, we get

$$g(\mu) = 2 - \frac{(1+\mu)^3 - \mu^3 + 4((1+\mu)^2 + \mu^2)}{(1+\mu)^2 + \mu^2 + 4} = \frac{5 - 7(1+\mu)\mu}{5 + 2(1+\mu)\mu} \ge 1$$

In both cases, the proof is complete.
Proposition 6.11. Let u be as in (6.19) with $|\nabla u| \leq 1$, $0 \in FB(u)$, and $|D^2u| \leq C_0$ in B_2 . Then

$$\left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})}^2 \le C \max\{C_0^3, 1\} \| H \|_{L^{\infty}(B_2 \cap \operatorname{FB}(u))},$$

for some C > 0 universal.

To show this result, we first prove some preliminary lemmas. The first one shows that the mean curvature controls the L^1 norm of $1 - |\nabla u|^2 \in [0, 1]$:

Lemma 6.12 (Controlling $1 - |\nabla u|^2$). Under the assumptions of Proposition 6.11, let v be defined as in (3.10). Then

$$\int_{B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}} v \, dx \le C \max\left\{C_0^3, 1\right\} \|H\|_{L^{\infty}(B_2 \cap FB(u))}$$

for some universal C.

Proof. For simplicity, let us denote $H_0 := ||H||_{L^{\infty}(B_2 \cap FB(u))}$. We divide $B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}$ into slabs $\mathcal{S}_k := \{y \in B_{1/2} : 2^{-k-1} \le d_y \le 2^{-k}\}, k \ge 1$, where $d_y = \text{dist}(y, FB(u))$. Then:

- Since $|D^2 u| \leq C_0$, we have $|\nabla u| \geq \frac{1}{2}$ in $\{d_y \leq \frac{1}{2C_0}\}$ and the area of $B_{1/2} \cap \{d_y = t\}$ for $t \leq \frac{1}{2C_0}$ is comparable to the area of $B_{1/2} \cap \text{FB}(u)$ (see e.g. [91, eq. (3.4)]), hence universally bounded (see Lemma 3.3). In particular, for $2^{-k} \leq \frac{1}{2C_0}$, S_k can be covered by $C2^{2k}$ balls of radius 2^{-k} .
- For $2^{-k} \ge \frac{1}{2C_0}$, S_k can be (trivially) covered by CC_0^3 balls of radius $\frac{1}{4C_0}$.

We now observe the validity of the following Hopf-type estimate: given $y \in B_{1/2}$, consider the superharmonic function $v_{y,d_y}(z) = v(y + d_y z)$ for $z \in B_1$, and note that B_1 touches $\partial \{v_{y,d_y} > 0\}$ from the interior at some point z_0 . Then, combining Lemma A.1 and Lemma 3.12, we get

$$\int_{B_{d_y/2}(y)} v(x) \, dx = \int_{B_{1/2}} v_{y,d_y}(z) \, dz \le C \, \partial_{\nu} v_{y,d_y}(z_0) \le C d_y H_0.$$

Applying this bound inside each of the balls $B_{d_{y_{k,j}}}(y_{k,j})$ constructed above to cover the slabs \mathcal{S}_k , since $d_{y_{k,j}} = 2^{-k}$ we get

$$\int_{B_{1/2}} v(x) \, dx \le \left(\sum_{2^k = 2C_0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{C2^{2^k}} + \sum_{2^k = 1}^{4C_0} \sum_{j=1}^{CC_0^3}\right) \int_{B_{d_{y_{k,j}/2}(y_{k,j})}} v(x) \, dx \le C \left(\sum_{2^k = 2C_0}^{\infty} 2^{2^k} d_{y_{k,j}}^4 + \sum_{2^k = 1}^{4C_0} C_0^3 d_{y_{k,j}}^4\right) H_0$$
$$\le C \max\left\{C_0^3, 1\right\} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{2^k} 2^{-4k} H_0 \le C \max\left\{C_0^3, 1\right\} H_0.$$

Thanks to the previous lemma, we now show that the mean curvature controls L^2 norm of the Hessian.

Lemma 6.13 (Controlling D^2u). Under the assumptions of Proposition 6.11, we have

$$\int_{B_{1/4} \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx \le C \max\left\{C_0^3, 1\right\} \|H\|_{L^{\infty}(B_2 \cap FB(u))},$$

for some C universal.

Proof. Let $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}(B_{1/2})$ be a non-negative cut-off function satisfying $\eta \equiv 1$ inside $B_{1/4}$, and let v be defined as in (3.10). We compute

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_{1/4} \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx &\leq \int_{B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \eta \, dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}} -\Delta v \cdot \eta \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{1/2} \cap \operatorname{FB}(u)} \partial_\nu v \cdot \eta \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}} v \, (-\Delta \eta) \, dx \\ &\leq C \int_{B_{1/2} \cap \operatorname{FB}(u)} H \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} + C \int_{B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}} v \, dx. \end{split}$$

Combining Lemma 3.3 and Lemma 6.12, the result follows.

We can now proceed with the proof of Proposition 6.11.

Proof of Proposition 6.11. By a scaling and covering argument, Lemma 6.13 holds replacing $B_{1/4}$ with B_1 in the left-hand side. Hence, thanks to Hölder's inequality, we get

$$\left(\int_{B_1 \cap \{u>0\}} |D^2 u| \, dx\right)^2 \le C \int_{B_1 \cap \{u>0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx \le C \max\left\{C_0^3, 1\right\} \|H\|_{L^{\infty}(B_2 \cap FB(u))},$$

with C universal. Recalling Corollary 3.10, this concludes the proof.

6.2.3. Conclusion. We can now finally prove Proposition 6.7.

Proof of Proposition 6.7. Without loss of generality we can assume that

$$C_0 \le \delta_0$$

for some δ_0 small universal constant to be chosen.

In fact, once the result is known when C_0 is sufficiently small, the general case follows by replacing u with $u_r(x) = \frac{1}{r}u(rx)$ with $r = \delta_0/C_0$. Indeed $|D^2u_r| \leq \delta_0$ inside $B_{2/r}$, so applying the result to u_r together with a covering yields the desired estimate for u near the free boundary. Using Proposition 6.11 to relate a Hessian bound on the boundary with a Hessian bound in the interior, yields the desired result (up to redefining κ).

So, from now on, we assume that $||D^2u||_{L^{\infty}(B_2 \cap \{u>0\})} \leq \delta_0$ for some δ_0 sufficiently small, to be fixed later. We divide the proof into five steps.

Step 1: We first perform an expansion of u around the origin.

Since $||D^2u||_{L^{\infty}(B_2 \cap \{u > 0\})} \le \delta_0$, we have

$$0 < H \le C\delta_0 \quad \text{on } B_2 \cap \partial \{u > 0\}.$$
(6.20)

We select a subset on which H satisfies a doubling property as follows. Let

$$2\delta^{3} := \max_{B_{3/2} \cap \partial \{u > 0\}} \left(\frac{3}{2} - |x|\right) H(x) \le C\delta_{0}$$

be attained at x_0 . Then, by (6.20), $r_0 := \frac{3}{2} - |x_0| \ge \frac{1}{C\delta_0} \delta^3 \ge \delta^3$. For $y \in B_{1/2}$, set

$$\bar{u}(y) = \frac{1}{r_0}u(x_0 + r_0y), \qquad \bar{H}(y) = r_0H(x_0 + r_0y) \quad \text{for } y \in \partial\{\bar{u} > 0\}.$$

Note that

$$\bar{H}(0) = 2\delta^3, \qquad \bar{H}(y) \le 4\delta^3 \quad \text{for } y \in B_{1/2}.$$
 (6.21)

In addition, since $|D^2 \bar{u}| \leq C \delta_0$ in B_1 , Lemma 6.13 gives

$$\int_{B_{1/8} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}} |D^2 \bar{u}|^3 \, dx \le C \delta_0 \int_{B_{1/8} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}} |D^2 \bar{u}|^2 \, dx \le C \delta^3,$$

and therefore (recall Lemma 3.11, assuming δ small),

$$|D^k \bar{u}| \le C\delta$$
 in $B_{1/16} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}$, for $k = 2, 3, 4.$ (6.22)

Since $\delta^3 \leq C\delta_0$, in order to have δ sufficiently small it is enough to assume δ_0 small.

Let us use expansions of \bar{u} around 0. Up to a rotation, we also assume $\nu(0) = \nabla \bar{u}(0) = e_3$. Thus, in principal coordinates, we have

$$\bar{u}(x) = x_3 + \sum_{i=1}^3 a_i x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^3 A_{iii} x_i^3 + \sum_{1 \le i \ne j \le 3} A_{iij} x_i^2 x_j + A_{123} x_1 x_2 x_3 + O(|x|^4) \quad \text{in } \{\bar{u} > 0\}.$$
(6.23)

where all the coefficients are bounded, and the big O notation is with universal constants.

Thanks to this expansion, it follows that

$$FB(\bar{u}) = \left\{ x_3 = -\sum_{i=1}^3 a_i x_i^2 + O(|x|^3) \right\} = \left\{ x_3 = -\sum_{i=1}^2 a_i x_i^2 + O(|x|^3) \right\}.$$
(6.24)

Also $a_3 = -\delta^3$ (since $\bar{H}(0) = 2\delta^3$), and the harmonicity of \bar{u} inside $B_1 \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}$ gives

$$0 = \frac{1}{2}\Delta\bar{u} = (a_1 + a_2 - \delta^3) + 3\sum_{i=1}^3 A_{iii}x_i + \sum_{1 \le i \ne j \le 3} A_{iij}x_j + O(|x|^2) \implies \begin{cases} a_1 + a_2 = \delta^3, \\ 3A_{333} + A_{113} + A_{223} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(6.25)

Let us now obtain a relation from the fact that $|\nabla \bar{u}| = 1$ on FB(\bar{u}). Since

$$\nabla \bar{u} = \left(2a_1x_1 + O(|x|^2), \quad 2a_2x_2 + O(|x|^2), \quad 1 + 2a_3x_3 + A_{113}x_1^2 + A_{223}x_2^2 + A_{123}x_1x_2 + O(x_3^2) + O(|x|^3)\right)^{\perp},$$

39

then on FB(\bar{u}) we have (recall (6.24) and that $a_3 = -\delta^3$)

$$(\nabla \bar{u})_3 = \left(1 + 2\delta^3(a_1x_1^2 + a_2x_2^2) + A_{113}x_1^2 + A_{223}x_2^2 + A_{123}x_1x_2 + O(|x|^3)\right),$$

and therefore

$$1 = |\nabla \bar{u}|^2 = 4(a_1^2 x_1^2 + a_2^2 x_2^2) + 1 + 4\delta^3(a_1 x_1^2 + a_2 x^2) + 2A_{113} x_1^2 + 2A_{223} x_2^2 + 2A_{123} x_1 x_2 + O(|x|^3)$$

for $x \in FB(\bar{u})$. Looking at the coefficients of x_1^2 and x_2^2 , we deduce that

$$\bar{u}_{113}(0) = 2A_{113} = -4a_1^2 - 4\delta^3 a_1, \qquad \bar{u}_{223}(0) = 2A_{223} = -4a_2^2 - 4\delta^3 a_2.$$
 (6.26)

Step 2: By analyzing the remainder in the stability inequality, we identify two possible regimes.

More precisely, since the remainder of the boundary inequality in Lemma 6.10 vanishes whenever $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) = (2\bar{H}, -\bar{H}, -\bar{H})$, we analyze two cases depending on the closeness of $D^2\bar{u}(0)$ to diag $(2\bar{H}(0), -\bar{H}(0), -\bar{H}(0))$.

To this aim, let us write the eigenvalues of $D^2 \bar{u}$ on the FB(\bar{u}) as

$$\lambda_1 = (\mu + 1)H, \quad \lambda_2 = -\mu H, \quad \lambda_3 = -H,$$
(6.27)

where $\mu : FB(\bar{u}) \to [-\frac{1}{2}, +\infty)$ is defined as

$$\mu(x) + 1 := \max_{\tau \in \mathbb{S}^2: \tau \cdot \nabla \bar{u}(x) = 0} \frac{\partial_{\tau \tau}^2 \bar{u}(x)}{\bar{H}(x)}$$

Then, thanks to Lemma 6.10, $w := F(D^2 \bar{u})$ satisfies

$$(w^{\frac{1}{3}})_{\nu} + \bar{H}w^{\frac{1}{3}} = \frac{1}{3}w^{-\frac{2}{3}}\left(w_{\nu} + 3\bar{H}w\right) \ge \frac{1}{12}\min\left\{(\mu - 1)^2, 1\right\}\bar{H}w^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$
(6.28)

Consider a small threshold $\varepsilon_{\rm E} \in (0,1)$ to be fixed later. At $0 \in {\rm FB}(\bar{u})$, we will distinguish between two cases:

- (1) $|\mu(0) 1| \ge \varepsilon_{\rm E};$
- (2) $|\mu(0) 1| < \varepsilon_{\rm E}$.

Step 3: Case (1) holds.

We observe first that, in a neighborhood of 0, $\mu(x)$ is a Lipschitz function. More precisely, since $\bar{H}(0) = 2\delta^3$ and $|D^3\bar{u}| \leq C\delta$, we have $\bar{H}(x) \geq \delta^3$ on FB $(\bar{u}) \cap B_{c\delta^2}$ for some c > 0 small. Therefore

$$\nabla_{\tau'} \frac{\partial_{\tau\tau}^2 \bar{u}(x)}{\bar{H}(x)} \bigg| \le C \bigg(\frac{\delta}{\bar{H}(x)} + \frac{\delta^2}{\bar{H}^2(x)} \bigg) \le C \delta^{-4} \quad \text{for all} \quad x \in FB(\bar{u}) \cap B_{c\delta^2}, \quad \tau, \tau' \in \mathbb{S}^2 \cap \nabla \bar{u}(x)^{\perp}$$

This implies that $\mu(x)$ is obtained as the maximum of Lipschitz functions with gradient bounded by $C\delta^{-4}$, thus

$$|\nabla_{\tau'}\mu(x)| \le C\delta^{-4} \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathrm{FB}(\bar{u}) \cap B_{c\delta^2}, \quad \tau' \in \mathbb{S}^2 \cap \nabla \bar{u}(x)^{\perp},$$

for some universal C. Thus, since we are in case (1),

$$|\mu(x) - 1| \ge \frac{\varepsilon_E}{2}, \quad \text{for all} \quad x \in FB(\bar{u}) \cap B_{\delta^5},$$

$$(6.29)$$

where δ is small enough depending on ε_E , which will be fixed universal. Hence, since $w \ge \overline{H}$, thanks to (6.28)–(6.29) we get

$$\Im(\bar{u}, B_1) \ge \Im(\bar{u}, B_{\delta^5}) \ge \int_{\mathrm{FB}(\bar{u}) \cap B_{\delta^5}} w^{\frac{1}{3}} \left((w^{\frac{1}{3}})_{\nu} + \bar{H}w^{\frac{1}{3}} \right) d\mathcal{H}^2 \ge \frac{\varepsilon_E^2}{48} \int_{\mathrm{FB}(\bar{u}) \cap B_{\delta^5}} \bar{H}w^{\frac{2}{3}} d\mathcal{H}^2 \ge c\varepsilon_E^2 \delta^{15}.$$

Step 4: Case (2) holds.

In this case we have that

$$|D^{2}\bar{u}(0) - 2\delta^{3} \operatorname{diag}(2, -1, -1)| \le 2\varepsilon_{E}\delta^{3}.$$
(6.30)

Let $A(x) := \delta^{-3} D^2 \overline{u}(\delta^2 x)$. Then, recalling (6.22),

$$A(0) - 2\operatorname{diag}(2, -1, -1) \le 2\varepsilon_E, \quad \text{and} \quad |DA(x)| + |D^2A(x)| \le C \quad \text{in} \quad B_1 \cap \{\bar{u}(\delta^2 \cdot) > 0\}.$$
(6.31)

In particular, if we denote by $\lambda_1^A(x)$ and $e_1^A(x)$ respectively the largest eigenvalue and the corresponding (unit) eigenvector of A(x), then $\lambda_1^A(x)$ is simple near the origin. Hence, because of (6.31),

$$\nabla \lambda_1^A(x) |+ |D^2 \lambda_1^A(x)| + |De_1^A(x)| \le C \quad \text{for} \quad x \in B_c \cap \{ \bar{u}(\delta^2 \cdot) > 0 \},$$

for some c and C universal. Thus, if we denote by $(\lambda_1(x), \lambda_2(x), \lambda_3(x))$ the eigenvalues of $D^2 \bar{u}(x)$ at $x \in B_{\delta^3} \cap \overline{\{\bar{u} > 0\}}$, with $\lambda_1(x)$ being the largest one, and by $e_1(x)$ the (unit) eigenvector corresponding to $\lambda_1(x)$, then

$$\delta^{-1} |\nabla \lambda_1(x)| + \delta |D^2 \lambda_1(x)| + \delta^2 |De_1(x)| \le C \quad \text{for} \quad x \in B_{c\delta^2} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}.$$
(6.32)

Furthermore, by (6.30) and (6.32),

 $\begin{aligned} |\lambda_1(x) - 4\delta^3| &\leq 4\varepsilon_E \delta^3, \qquad |\lambda_2(x) + 2\delta^3| \leq 4\varepsilon_E \delta^3, \qquad |\lambda_3(x) + 2\delta^3| \leq 4\varepsilon_E \delta^3 \quad \text{for} \quad x \in B_{c\delta^2} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}. \end{aligned}$ (6.33) Recalling the interior inequality from Lemma 6.9, since $ff_{\lambda_1} = \lambda_1, ff_{\lambda_2} = 4\lambda_2, ff_{\lambda_3} = 4\lambda_3, \text{ and } (\lambda_i - \lambda_j)(f_{\lambda_i} - f_{\lambda_j}) \geq 0, \text{ we get (notice } w^{\frac{1}{3}} \Delta w^{\frac{1}{3}} = \frac{1}{3} w^{-\frac{4}{3}} \left(w \Delta w - \frac{2}{3} |\nabla w|^2 \right)) \end{aligned}$

$$\begin{aligned} \Im(\bar{u}, B_{1}) \geq \Im(\bar{u}, B_{\delta^{3}}) \geq \frac{2}{9} \int_{\{\bar{u}>0\} \cap B_{\delta^{3}}} \sum_{\substack{1 \leq k \leq 3, \, i < j \\ \{i, j, k\} = \{1, 2, 3\}}} \frac{(\lambda_{i} - \lambda_{j})(f_{\lambda_{i}} - f_{\lambda_{j}})}{(\lambda_{i} - \lambda_{k})(f_{\lambda_{i}} - f_{\lambda_{k}}) + (\lambda_{j} - \lambda_{k})(f_{\lambda_{j}} - f_{\lambda_{k}})} w_{k}^{2} w^{-\frac{4}{3}} dx \\ \geq \frac{2}{9} \int_{\{\bar{u}>0\} \cap B_{\delta^{3}}} \sum_{\{j, k\} = \{2, 3\}} \frac{(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{j})(\lambda_{1} - 4\lambda_{j})}{(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{k})(\lambda_{1} - 4\lambda_{k}) + 4(\lambda_{j} - \lambda_{k})^{2}} w_{k}^{2} w^{-\frac{4}{3}} dx \\ \geq \frac{2}{9} \int_{\{\bar{u}>0\} \cap B_{\delta^{3}}} \frac{(6 - 8\varepsilon_{E})(12 - 20\varepsilon_{E})}{(6 + 8\varepsilon_{E})(12 + 20\varepsilon_{E}) + 256\varepsilon_{E}^{2}} (w_{2}^{2} + w_{3}^{2}) w^{-\frac{4}{3}} dx \geq \frac{1}{9} \int_{\{\bar{u}>0\} \cap B_{\delta^{3}}} w^{-\frac{4}{3}-2} dx, \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.34)$$

for ε_E small universal, where we have denoted

$$g = w^{2}(w_{2}^{2} + w_{3}^{2}) = w^{2}(|\nabla w|^{2} - w_{1}^{2}) = \frac{1}{4}\left(\left|\nabla(w^{2})\right|^{2} - \left(e_{1}(x) \cdot \nabla(w^{2})\right)^{2}\right)$$

Notice that the function g is well-defined, since the eigenvector $e_1(x)$ is simple around 0. Let us show it is Lipschitz. Indeed, since $w^2(x) = 4|D^2\bar{u}(x)|^2 - 3\lambda_1^2(x)$, it follows from (6.22) and (6.32) that

$$|\nabla(w^2)| + |D^2(w^2)| \le C\delta^2$$
 in $B_{c\delta^2} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\},\$

and hence, using (6.32) again,

$$|\nabla g| \le C\delta^2 \quad \text{in} \quad B_{c\delta^2} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}.$$
(6.35)

We now want to evaluate ww_3 at the origin using that, at 0, we can take e_3 as an eigenvector (with eigenvalue $-2\delta^3$).

Recalling (6.26) and observing that $2a_1 = \lambda_1(0)$ and $2a_2 = \lambda_2(0)$, it follows that

$$\bar{u}_{113}(0) = -\lambda_1(0)^2 - 2\delta^3\lambda_1(0), \qquad \bar{u}_{223}(0) = -\lambda_2(0)^2 - 2\delta^3\lambda_2(0)$$

Given that we are in Case (2), this implies that

$$|\bar{u}_{113}(0) + 24\delta^6| + |\bar{u}_{223}(0)| \le C\varepsilon_E \delta^6.$$

Since $w^2 = f^2 = \lambda_1^2 + 4\lambda_2^2 + 4\lambda_3^2$ and $ww_3 = \sum_{i=1,2,3} f f_{\lambda_i} \bar{u}_{ii3}$ (see [55, Section 4.1 and Eq. (4.4)]) we get

$$ww_{3} = \sum_{i=1,2,3} ff_{\lambda_{i}}\bar{u}_{ii3} = \sum_{i=1,2} (ff_{\lambda_{i}} - ff_{\lambda_{3}})\bar{u}_{ii3} = (\lambda_{1} - 4\lambda_{3})\bar{u}_{113} + (4\lambda_{2} - 4\lambda_{3})\bar{u}_{223}$$
$$= [12 + O(\varepsilon_{E})]\delta^{3} \cdot [-24 + O(\varepsilon_{E})]\delta^{6} + O(\varepsilon_{E})\delta^{3} \cdot O(\varepsilon_{E})\delta^{6} = [-288 + O(\varepsilon_{E})]\delta^{9} \le -2\delta^{9} \quad \text{at} \quad y = 0,$$

for ε_E small universal. In particular,

$$g(0) \ge (ww_3)^2(0) \ge 4\delta^{18}$$

Together with (6.35), this implies

$$g \ge \delta^{18} \quad \text{in} \quad B_{c\delta^{16}} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\}.$$

Inserting this estimate in (6.34) we obtain (notice also $w \leq C\delta$)

$$\Im(\bar{u}, B_1) \ge \Im(\bar{u}, B_{c\delta^{16}}) \ge \frac{1}{9} \int_{\{\bar{u}>0\}\cap B_{c\delta^{16}}} g w^{-\frac{4}{3}-2} \, dx \ge \delta^{15+16\cdot3}.$$

Step 5: We can now conclude the proof.

By Steps 3 and 4 we get that, in all cases,

$$\mathfrak{I}(\bar{u}, B_1) \ge \delta^{63}.\tag{6.36}$$

We finally have all the ingredients to proceed with the proof of Proposition 6.7. Indeed, using the notation from the previous steps, we have

$$\Im(u,B_1) \geq \Im(u,B_{r_0}(x_0)) = r_0^{\frac{1}{3}} \Im(\bar{u},B_1) \geq \delta^{64}$$

where we used (6.4), (6.36), and the fact that $r_0 \ge \delta^3$. Thus, by the definition of δ and Proposition 6.11 we obtain (after a covering argument)

$$C\mathfrak{I}(u,B_1)^{\frac{1}{64}} \ge \max_{x \in B_{4/3} \cap \partial\{u > 0\}} H(x) \ge C^{-1} \left\| D^2 u \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap\{u > 0\})}^2,$$

as desired (in particular, we may take $\kappa = 128$).

7. Selection of center and scale

In the present section (and until the end of Section 9), we fix the following universal constants:

$$\gamma := \frac{11}{25} = \frac{4}{9} - \frac{1}{225}, \qquad \alpha := \frac{39}{50} = \frac{3}{4} + \frac{3}{100}, \qquad \beta_{\circ} := \frac{1}{20}.$$
(7.1)

We remark that

$$3\alpha\gamma = 1 + \frac{37}{1250} > 1.$$

7.1. Selection of center and scale. We now set up the contradiction argument that will yield the desired result.

For $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $R \geq r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$, recall $\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, R)$ and $\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, R)$ defined in (2.1) and (2.4). By Propositions 6.1 and 6.2, we have

$$\frac{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}')}{R} \le C\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 2R) \le C\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 8R)^{3\gamma} \quad \text{for any} \quad \mathbf{z}' \in B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \mathcal{Z}, \quad R \ge r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}).$$
(7.2)

In this section, it will be convenient to introduce the following definition: for given R > 0, we define

$$\mathcal{Z}_R := \{ \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z} : r_\star(\mathbf{z}) \le R \},\tag{7.3}$$

which is nonempty for large R due to Lemma 5.2.

The next lemma provides suitable centers and scales where we can start our argument:

Lemma 7.1. There exist sequences $R_k > 0$ and $\mathbf{z}_k \in \mathcal{Z}_{R_k}$, with $R_k \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$, such that

$$\frac{r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}_k)}{R_k} \le \varrho_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 2R_k) \to 0 \quad and \quad \varepsilon_k := \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 8R_k) \to 0 \qquad as \quad k \to \infty,$$
(7.4)

and

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,8R) \le 2 \frac{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u,2R)^{\alpha}}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u,2R_{k})^{\alpha}} \varepsilon_{k} \qquad \text{for all} \quad \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_{R}, \ R \le R_{k}.$$
(7.5)

Proof. Let us define the quotient

$$F_u(R) := \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_R} \frac{\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 8R)}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 2R)^{\alpha}}.$$

Notice that, because of (7.2) and (5.4), $F_u(R) \leq \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_R} (R/r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}))^{\alpha} \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 8R) \leq CR^{\alpha}$ (here we use that $\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, \cdot)$ is always bounded, since $|\nabla u| \leq 1$). So F_u is well-defined.

Also, thanks to (7.2) and Lemma 5.7 (recall that $3\alpha\gamma > 1$),

$$\limsup_{R \to \infty} F_u(R) \ge \limsup_{R \to \infty} \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_R} \frac{\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 8R)}{C^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 8R)^{3\alpha\gamma}} \ge \frac{1}{C^{\alpha}} \limsup_{R \to \infty} \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_R} \omega \left(\frac{M_* r_*(\mathbf{z})}{8R}\right)^{1-3\alpha\gamma} = +\infty.$$
(7.6)

Consider now the 'nondecreasing envelope' of F_u , namely

$$\widetilde{F}_u(R) := \sup_{R' \le R} F_u(R')$$

and choose a monotone increasing sequence $R_k \to \infty$ such that, for each k, there exists $\mathbf{z}_k \in \mathcal{Z}_{R_k}$ satisfying

$$\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{F}_{u}(R_{k}) \leq \frac{\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u, 8R_{k})}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u, 2R_{k})^{\alpha}} \leq \widetilde{F}_{u}(R_{k})$$

$$(7.7)$$

and let $\varepsilon_k := \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 8R_k).$

Notice that the numerator in (7.7) is always bounded using $|\nabla u| \leq 1$. Thus, the only way $\widetilde{F}_u(R_k)$ may diverge is if the denominator in (7.7) converges to zero. But then the numerator must converge to zero as well since, by Lemma 5.7 and (7.2), $E_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 8R_k) \leq \omega(r_\star(\mathbf{z}_k)/8R_k) \leq \omega(C\varrho_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 2R_k)) \to 0$. This shows (7.4).

In addition, by the definition of F_u we have

$$\frac{\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,8R)}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u,2R)^{\alpha}} \leq \widetilde{F}_{u}(R_{k}) \leq 2\frac{\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u,8R_{k})}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u,2R_{k})^{\alpha}} = \frac{2\varepsilon_{k}}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u,2R_{k})^{\alpha}} \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_{R}, R \leq R_{k},$$

so (7.5) follows.

Given $\zeta \in (0,1)$ and a ball $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, recalling (7.3) we define

$$\boldsymbol{N}(\zeta, B_R(\mathbf{z})) := (\zeta R)^{-3} \bigg| \bigcup_{\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}} B_{\zeta R}(\mathbf{z}') \bigg|, \quad \text{where} \quad \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta} := \mathcal{Z}_{\zeta R} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z}).$$
(7.8)

This is roughly the number of balls of radius ζR needed to cover $\mathcal{Z}_{\zeta R} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})$. More precisely, we have the following:

Lemma 7.2. There exists $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta} \subset \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}$, with $\# \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta} \leq C N(\zeta, B_R(\mathbf{z}))$ for some C universal, such that

$$\bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}}B_{\zeta R}(\mathbf{z}')\subset\bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}}B_{2\zeta R}(\mathbf{z}')$$

Proof. Applying Besicovitch covering theorem to the family of balls $\{B_{\zeta R}(\mathbf{z}')\}_{\mathbf{z}'\in\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}}$, we can find a subcovering $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}$ of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}$ with bounded overlapping, thus $\#\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta} \leq C N(\zeta, B_R(\mathbf{z}))$. Also,

$$\bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}} B_{2\zeta R}(\mathbf{z}') = \bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}} B_{\zeta R}(\mathbf{z}') + B_{\zeta R} \supset \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta} + B_{\zeta R} = \bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{z},R}^{\zeta}} B_{\zeta R}(\mathbf{z}').$$

Starting from Lemma 7.1, we can define new sequences $\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $\tilde{R}_k > 0$ satisfying the following:

Lemma 7.3. Let R_k and \mathbf{z}_k be the sequences given by Lemma 7.1. There exist $\tilde{\zeta}_k \in (0,1]$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ such that, setting

$$\widetilde{R}_k := \widetilde{\zeta}_k R_k \quad and \quad \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k := \widetilde{\zeta}_k^{\alpha\beta_\circ} \varepsilon_k$$

we have $\widetilde{R}_k \to \infty$, $\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \to 0$, and the following properties hold:

$$B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k}) \subset B_{R_{k}}(\mathbf{z}_{k}), \qquad \frac{\varrho_{\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k}}(u, 2R_{k})}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u, 2R_{k})} \leq \widetilde{\zeta}_{k}^{\beta_{\circ}}, \tag{7.9}$$

and

$$N(\zeta, B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)) \le C\zeta^{-\frac{1+\beta_0}{3}} \quad for \ all \ \zeta \in (0, 1).$$

$$(7.10)$$

Moreover, for all k sufficiently large, we have:

$$r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \leq C\widetilde{R}_{k}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{3\gamma} \leq \frac{\widetilde{R}_{k}}{10}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/\alpha} \qquad for \ all \quad \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{3\widetilde{R}_{k}/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k});$$
(7.11)

and

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,8R) \leq 2\left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_{k}}{R}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k} \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z} \quad \text{with } B_{R}(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k}) \text{ and } R \geq \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/\alpha} \widetilde{R}_{k}.$$
(7.12)

Here, the constant C is universal and N is given by (7.8)

Proof. We divide the proof into two steps.

Step 1: We first construct $\tilde{\zeta}_k$, show that $\tilde{R}_k \to \infty$, and prove (7.9) and (7.10). Define

$$\zeta_k := \inf \left\{ \zeta > 0 : \text{ there exists } \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_{\zeta R_k} \text{ s.t. } B_{\zeta R_k}(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k) \text{ and } \frac{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 2\zeta R_k)}{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 2R_k)} \le \zeta^{\beta_o} \right\}.$$

Notice that $\zeta = 1$ and $\mathbf{z}_k = \mathbf{z}$ is always an admissible choice, therefore $\zeta_k \leq 1$. Also, since $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}) \geq r_{\min} > 0$ for all $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ (recall (5.4)), we must have $\zeta_k \geq c/R_k > 0$.

Now, by the definition of ζ_k , there exists $\tilde{\zeta}_k \in [\zeta_k, \min\{2\zeta_k, 1\}]$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k \in \mathcal{Z}_{\tilde{R}_k} \cap B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ (where $\tilde{R}_k := \tilde{\zeta}_k R_k$) such that (7.9) holds. Also, recalling (7.2) and that $r_{\min} > 0$, since $\varrho_{\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k}(u, 2\tilde{R}_k) \leq \varrho_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 2R_k) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ we deduce that $\tilde{R}_k \to \infty$. Furthermore $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k \leq \varepsilon_k \to 0$.

We now prove (7.10). Notice that by the definition of ζ_k and the inclusion in (7.9), we must have

$$\frac{\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 2t\tilde{R}_k)}{\varrho_{\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k}(u, 2\tilde{R}_k)} > t^{\beta_{\circ}} \qquad \text{for all } t \in (0, 1), \ \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_{t\tilde{R}_k}, \ B_{t\tilde{R}_k}(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$$

or equivalently, recalling (2.4),

$$\frac{\Im(u, B_{2t\tilde{R}_k}(\mathbf{z}))}{\Im(u, B_{2\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k))} > t^{\frac{1+\beta_0}{3}} \qquad \text{for all } t \in (0, 1), \ \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_{t\tilde{R}_k}, \ B_{t\tilde{R}_k}(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k).$$
(7.13)

Now, for k fixed and $\zeta \in (0,1)$, define $\mathcal{A}_{\zeta} := \mathcal{A}_{\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k,\tilde{R}_k}^{\zeta}$ (recall (7.8)), so that in the definition of $N(\zeta, B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\mathbf{z}_k))$, we are considering the covering $\{B_{\zeta \tilde{R}_k}(\mathbf{z}') : \mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{A}_{\zeta}\}$. Then, by Besicovitch covering theorem there exists a universal constant C_3 such that, for C_3 distinct subfamilies $\mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(1)}, \ldots, \mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(C_3)} \subset \mathcal{A}_{\zeta}$, we have

$$\bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\mathcal{A}_{\zeta}}B_{\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}')\subset\bigcup_{j=1}^{C_{3}}\bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)}}B_{2\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}'),\tag{7.14}$$

and, for each $j \in \{1, \ldots, C_3\}$, the family $\{B_{\zeta \widetilde{R}_k}(\mathbf{z}') : \mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)}\}$ consists of disjoint balls. Thus

$$\Im(u, B_{2\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})) \geq \Im\left(u, \bigcup_{\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)}} B_{\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}')\right) \geq \sum_{\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)}} \Im\left(u, B_{\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}')\right) \geq \#\mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)} \cdot \min_{\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)}} \Im\left(u, B_{\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}')\right),$$

for every $j \in \{1, \ldots, C_3\}$. Also, because of (7.13),

$$\min_{\mathbf{z}'\in\mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)}}\Im\left(u,B_{\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}')\right)\geq(\zeta/2)^{\frac{1+\beta_{0}}{3}}\Im(u,B_{2\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})),$$

therefore

$$#\mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)} \le C\zeta^{-\frac{1+\beta_0}{3}} \quad \text{for every } j \in \{1, \dots, C_3\},$$

for some universal constant C. Thus, choosing $\mathcal{A}_{\zeta} := \bigcup_{j=1}^{C_3} \mathcal{A}_{\zeta}^{(j)}$, it follows from (7.14) that

$$\bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\mathcal{A}_{\zeta}} B_{\zeta\tilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}') \subset \bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\zeta}} B_{2\zeta\tilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}') \quad \text{with} \quad \#\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\zeta} \leq C\zeta^{-\frac{1+\beta_{0}}{3}}, \tag{7.15}$$

and

$$\left|\bigcup_{\mathbf{z}'\in\mathcal{A}_{\zeta}}B_{\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\mathbf{z}')\right|\leq C(2\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k})^{3}\#\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\zeta}\leq C(\zeta\widetilde{R}_{k})^{3}\zeta^{-\frac{1+\beta_{0}}{3}}$$

Thus, (7.10) holds.

Step 2: We now prove (7.11) and (7.12).

Note that, by the monotonicity of \mathfrak{I} (see (6.3)) and the definition of ϱ (see (2.4)), for all $\overline{R} > 0$ and $\mathbf{z} \in B_{\overline{R}}(\overline{\mathbf{z}})$ such that $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\overline{R}}(\overline{\mathbf{z}})$ we have

$$R\,\varrho_{\mathbf{z}}(u,2R) \le \overline{R}\,\varrho_{\overline{\mathbf{z}}}(u,2\overline{R})$$

Combined with (7.5), this gives

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,8R) \leq 2\left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}_R \text{ and } R \leq \widetilde{R}_k, \text{ with } B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k).$$
(7.16)

Then, using (7.2) and (7.16) with $\mathbf{z} = \widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k \in \mathcal{Z}_{\widetilde{R}_k}$ and $R = \widetilde{R}_k$, (7.11) follows (recall that $3\gamma \alpha > 1$). Consequently, noticing that

$$\mathcal{Z}_R \cap B_{3\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) = \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{3\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \quad \text{for all } R \ge \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha} \widetilde{R}_k, \tag{7.17}$$

(7.16) implies (7.12).

7.2. Definition of U_+ and U_- . Recall the sets $\Omega^{(\pm)}$ introduced in Lemma 7.4. Our first goal is showing the following lemma—a structural property that says that the sets $\Omega^{(\pm)} = \Omega^{(\pm)} \subset \{u > 0\}$ are connected, disjoint open sets of $\{u > 0\}$ (roughly, two half-spaces in $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, which only miss $\mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}$):

Lemma 7.4. Let (\mathcal{N}, p) be the tree provided by Proposition 5.12 with root $B_R(\mathbf{z})$, and let $\Omega^{(\pm)} = \Omega^{(\pm)}(B_R(\mathbf{z}))$ be as in Definition 5.15.

Then there exists $\theta'_{\circ} > 0$ universal such that, for all $\theta \in (0, \theta'_{\circ})$, $\Omega^{(+)}$ and $\Omega^{(-)}$ are disjoint, open, connected, and satisfy

$$\{\pm e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) > \theta^4 R\} \subset \Omega^{(\pm)} \subset \{\pm e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) > -\theta^4 R\} \quad in \quad B_R(\mathbf{z})$$

where e is the polarity of the root. Moreover, their union covers $\{u > 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})$ minus the union of 'neck-type' terminal balls:

$$(\{u > 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})) \setminus \bigcup \mathcal{T}^{\operatorname{neck}} \subset \Omega^{(+)} \cup \Omega^{(-)}.$$

The proof of Lemma 7.4 relies crucially on the following result:

Lemma 7.5. Under the same assumptions as in Lemma 7.4, define $F := \nabla u|_{\{u>0\}}$ and denote by $\Phi^F = \Phi^F(x,t)$ the associated flow (with maximal domain):

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\Phi}^{F}(x,t) = F(\Phi^{F}(x,t))) & for \ t > 0, \\ \Phi^{F}(x,0) = x. \end{cases}$$
(7.18)

For any given $B \in \mathcal{N} \setminus \{B_R(\mathbf{z})\}$ and $x \in B^{(+,5/4)}$ there exists $\tau > 0$ such that $\Phi^F(x,t) \in B^{(+,3/2)}$ for $t \in [0,\tau]$ and

$$\Phi^F(x,\tau') \in p(B)^{(+,5/4)}, \text{ for some } \tau' \in (0,\tau)$$

(Recall that p(B) is the predecessor of B.) The same statement holds with + replaced by -.

Proof. We can always assume that $\theta \in (0, \theta_{\circ})$, where θ_{\circ} is as in Proposition 5.12. Given some ball $B = B_{\varrho}(y) \in \mathcal{N}$ with polarity e and its predecessor $p(B) = B_{\varrho'}(y')$ —thus $\varrho = \theta \varrho'$ with polarity e', by Proposition 5.12 we know that

$$y \in B_{\varrho'}(y') \cap \{x : |e \cdot (x - y')| \le \theta^4 \varrho'\}, \qquad |e - e'| \le \theta^3.$$
 (7.19)

Combining this with Lemma 5.17 one can easily see that (for θ universally small) the integral curves of ∇u starting at $B^{(+,5/4)}$ meet $p(B)^{(+,5/4)}$ for some universal time before leaving $B^{(+,3/2)}$.

We can now show Lemma 7.4.

Proof of Lemma 7.4. We will exploit the tree structure to reason by induction. Note that the covering property follows from Lemma 5.18.

Set $\mathcal{N} = \bigcup_{\ell \ge 0} \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}$ as in Definition 5.11, and let $\Omega^{(\le \ell, \pm)}$ as in Lemma 5.18 (see (5.23)). We need to show that the sets $\Omega^{(+)}$ and $\Omega^{(-)}$ are disjoint, connected, and open.

The openness directly follows because each set is a finite union of open sets, intersected with an open ball.

For the connectedness, will show by induction over $\ell = 0, 1, 2, ...$ that the two sets $\Omega^{(\leq \ell, +)}$ and $\Omega^{(\leq \ell, -)}$ are connected. Since the tree is finite, these two sets will eventually coincide with $\Omega^{(+)}$ and $\Omega^{(-)}$. Since the root is always internal (see Proposition 5.12), $\Omega^{(\leq 0,+)}$ and $\Omega^{(\leq 0,-)}$ coincide respectively with $B^{(+)}$ and $B^{(-)}$ as in Definition 5.15 (with *B* being the root and *e* its polarity). Each of these two sets is connected (and they are disjoint). Now assuming that $\Omega^{(\leq \ell-1,\pm)}$ are connected open sets for some $\ell \geq 1$, the result follows by induction from the following observation, which is a consequence of Proposition 5.12 (for θ small): for any given $B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)} \cap (\mathcal{I} \cup \mathcal{T}^{\text{reg}})$ we have

$$B^{(\pm)} \cap \Omega^{(\leq \ell - 1, \pm)} \neq \emptyset.$$

Since for any $B \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell)}$ we have $p(B) \in \mathcal{N}^{(\ell-1)} \cap \mathcal{I}$, we obtain $p(B)^{(\pm)} \subset \Omega^{(\leq \ell-1,\pm)}$, so the connectedness follows.

To show that $\Omega^{(+)}$ and $\Omega^{(-)}$ are disjoint we use Lemma 7.5 iteratively. Indeed, if $\bar{x} \in \Omega^{(+)} \cap \Omega^{(-)}$, repeated iterations of Lemma 7.5 for both + and - (notice that the flow is always well defined, since the value of u increases along it) imply that

$$\Phi(\bar{x}, T_{+}) \in B_{5R/4}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{ e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) > \theta^{2}R \} \quad \text{and} \quad \Phi(\bar{x}, T_{-}) \in B_{5R/4}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{ e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) < -\theta^{2}R \}$$

for some $T_{\pm} > 0$, where $e = e(B_R(\mathbf{z}))$. In addition, $\Phi(\bar{x}, t) \in B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z})$ for all $t < \max\{T_+, T_-\}$. Assume now, without loss of generality, that $T_+ < T_-$. Then, since $\Phi(\bar{x}, T_+) \in B_{5R/4}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) > \theta^2 R\}$ and ∇u is very close to e (see (5.22)), for $t \ge T_+$ the flow goes outside of $B_{3R/2}(\mathbf{z})$ without crossing $\{e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) = 0\}$, a contradiction to the fact that $\Phi(\bar{x}, T_-) \in B_{5R/4}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) < -\theta^2 R\}$. Hence, $\Omega^{(+)}$ and $\Omega^{(-)}$ are disjoint.

We can now define the sets U_{\pm} and U_0 .

Definition 7.6. Given $\theta > 0$ universal such that Lemma 7.4 holds, let \widetilde{R}_k and $\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k$ be given by Lemma 7.3, and let $\Omega^{(\pm)} = \Omega^{(\pm)}(B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k))$ be the two open connected subdomains of $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ constructed in Definition 5.15. Fix a subset $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \subset \mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k,\widetilde{R}_k}^{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}}$ with $\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} = \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$ as in Lemma 7.2 such that

$$\left(\mathcal{Z} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})\right) + B_{\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{R}_{k}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/\alpha}} \subset \bigcup_{\mathbf{z}\in\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/\alpha}}(\mathbf{z}), \qquad \#\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \leq C\widetilde{\varepsilon_{k}}^{-\frac{1+\beta_{0}}{3\alpha}}$$
(7.20)

(note that $\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k,\widetilde{R}_k}^{\widetilde{\zeta}} = \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ by (7.17)), and define

$$U_{0} := \bigcup_{\mathbf{z} \in \tilde{\mathcal{A}}} B_{\tilde{R}_{k} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/\alpha}}(\mathbf{z}), \qquad U_{+} := \left(\Omega^{(+)} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_{k}/2}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})\right) \setminus \overline{U_{0}}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad U_{-} := \left(\Omega^{(-)} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_{k}/2}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})\right) \setminus \overline{U_{0}}.$$
(7.21)

We note that since $\Omega^{(+)} \cap \Omega^{(-)} = \emptyset$ by Lemma 7.4, the sets U_+ and U_- are disjoint open subsets of $B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$. We also remark that the sets $\Omega^{(\pm)}$, U_{\pm} , and U_0 depend on k, but we drop this dependence in our notation for the sake of readability.

The following observations on U_+, U_- will be used several times in the sequel:

Lemma 7.7. Let $\Omega^{(\pm)} = \Omega^{(\pm)}(B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k))$ and U_{\pm} be as in Definition 7.6 above. Then:

(i) The (disjoint open) sets U_+ and U_- satisfy

$$U_{+} \cup U_{-} = \left(\{ u > 0 \} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k}) \right) \setminus \overline{U_{0}}$$

$$(7.22)$$

and

$$\left((\partial U_+ \cup \partial U_-) \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \right) \setminus \overline{U_0} \subset \partial \{u > 0\}.$$
(7.23)

(ii) For all $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $R \geq \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha} \tilde{R}_k$ such that $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\tilde{R}_k/2}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ there is $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$ such that

$$\left\{\pm e \cdot (x-\mathbf{z}) > C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k (\tilde{R}_k/R)^{\alpha} R\right\} \subset U_{\pm} \subset \left\{\pm e \cdot (x-\mathbf{z}) > -C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k (\tilde{R}_k/R)^{\alpha} R\right\} \qquad in \quad B_R(\mathbf{z}), \tag{7.24}$$

for some C universal.

Proof. (i) We first show that the union of all neck balls of $\mathcal{N} = \mathcal{N}(B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k))$ that intersect $B_{\tilde{R}_k/2}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ is contained in U_0 , namely,

$$\bigcup \left\{ B \in \mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}} : B \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \neq \emptyset \right\} \subset U_0.$$

$$(7.25)$$

To prove this, let $B = B_{\varrho}(y) \in \mathcal{T}^{\text{neck}}$ with $B \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/2}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \neq \emptyset$. On the one hand, by definition¹³ of neck ball, we have $y \in B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \{u = 0\}, \ \varrho \leq \theta \tilde{R}_k, B_{2\varrho}(y) \cap \mathcal{Z}$ is nonempty, and for every $\mathbf{z} \in B_{2\varrho}(y) \cap \mathcal{Z}$ it holds $\varrho < M(\theta)r_\star(\mathbf{z})$. On the other hand, picking an arbitrary $\mathbf{z} \in B_{2\varrho}(y) \cap \mathcal{Z}$, (7.11) implies that $r_\star(\mathbf{z}) \leq C \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{3\gamma} \ll \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$. Thus, we conclude that $\varrho \ll \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$ as $k \to \infty$, and therefore $B \subset U_0$ (recall (7.21)). This proves (7.25).

Recall now that, by Lemma 5.18, $\Omega^{(+)}$, $\Omega^{(-)}$, and the neck balls cover all of $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$. Thus (7.25) implies (7.22), from which (7.23) is a direct consequence.

(ii) Let C_* be a large universal constant to be chosen later. Notice that (7.24) becomes trivially true at scales $R < C_* \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$ with $C = C_*^{\alpha}$, so we can assume $R \ge C_* \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$.

From (7.12) and Lemma 6.5 we know that, for some $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$

$$\{u=0\}\cap B_R(\mathbf{z})\subset \mathrm{Slab}\Big(B_R(\mathbf{z}), e, C_1(\widetilde{R}_k/R)^{\alpha}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k\Big).$$

with $C_1 > 1$ universal. Hence, recalling (7.21) and that $R \geq \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$, we obtain

$$(\{u=0\} \cup U_0) \cap B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset \mathrm{Slab}\Big(B_R(\mathbf{z}), e, 2C_1(\widetilde{R}_k/R)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k\Big)$$

This will imply (7.24), provided we can show that both U_+ and U_- must intersect the set

$$(\{u > 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})) \setminus \operatorname{Slab}\left(B_R(\mathbf{z}), e, 2C_1(\widetilde{R}_k/R)^{\alpha}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k\right)$$

for $R \geq C_* \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$. To show this we recall that, by the proof of (i), the radii of the neck balls are much smaller than $\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha} \widetilde{R}_k$. Thus, if C_* is sufficiently large (depending on the parameter θ in the construction of the ball tree), there exist balls $B \in \mathcal{N}$ (in particular, centered at points of $\{u = 0\}$) that:

- are either regular terminal or interior;

- are fully contained in $B_R(\mathbf{z})$;

- and their radius is larger than cR, for some $c = c(\theta) > 0$.

Reasoning with these balls (and recalling Definition 5.15 and Proposition 5.12), we deduce that both $B^{(+)}$ and $B^{(-)}$ (and therefore both U_+ and U_-) must intersect $\{u > 0\} \cap B_R(\mathbf{z}) \setminus \text{Slab}(B_R(\mathbf{z}), e, 2C_1(\tilde{R}_k/R)^{\alpha} \tilde{\varepsilon}_k)$. This concludes the proof.

8. LINEARIZATION

In this section, we fix the sets $U_{\pm} \subset B_{\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ and U_0 from Definition 7.6, where \widetilde{R}_k and $\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k$ are given by Lemma 7.3. We define the asymmetric excess $\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, R)$ for balls $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ as follows (see (2.11)):

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R) := \max_{* \in \{+,-\}} \min_{a \in \mathbb{S}^{2}, b \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{R|B_{R}(\mathbf{z})|} \int_{U_{*} \cap B_{R}(\mathbf{z})} |u(x) - a \cdot x - b| \, dx, \\
= \max_{* \in \{+,-\}} \min_{a \in \mathbb{S}^{2}, \bar{b} \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{R|B_{R}(\mathbf{z})|} \int_{U_{*} \cap B_{R}(\mathbf{z})} |u(x) - a \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \bar{b}| \, dx.$$
(8.1)

In this section (and for the following ones) we also fix (in addition to the constants in (7.1)) the constant

$$\chi := \frac{1}{500}.$$
(8.2)

The goal of this section is to show the following result on the decay of the excess, with a two-scale behaviour depending on the size of the radius. More precisely, we first prove that up to some mesoscopic scale (depending on $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k$) there is a $C^{1,1/3}$ improvement in flatness, while until a second smaller mesoscopic scale there is a sort of "preservation on average" of the L^{∞} norm.

 $^{^{13}}$ See Proposition 5.12 and Definition 5.13

Proposition 8.1. Let \widetilde{R}_k and $\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k$ be given by Lemma 7.3, and let $R_k^{\flat} := \widetilde{c}_k^{\chi} \widetilde{R}_k$. Then, for every $\mathbf{z} \in B_{\widetilde{R}_k/16}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \mathcal{Z}$,

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R) \leq \left(\frac{R}{\widetilde{R}_k}\right)^{1/3} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \quad \text{for all} \quad R \in \left[R_k^\flat, \widetilde{R}_k/C\right]$$
(8.3)

for some C > 0 universal. Moreover, there exist $a^{\flat}_{+}, a^{\flat}_{-} \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and $b^{\flat}_{+}, b^{\flat}_{-} \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\oint_{U_* \cap B_r(\mathbf{z})} |u - a_*^{\flat} \cdot x - b_*^{\flat}| \, dx \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1 + \chi/3} R_k^{\flat} \qquad for \quad * \in \{+, -\}, \qquad for \ all \quad r \in [\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1 + 2\chi} \tilde{R}_k, R_k^{\flat}], \tag{8.4}$$

with C > 0 universal.

To prove this proposition, we will need several preliminary results that we now present.

8.1. Linearization: auxiliary results. We start by proving the following:

Lemma 8.2. For $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ with $R \geq \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha} \widetilde{R}_k$, we have

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\mathbf{z}}(u, 8R) \leq C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k$$

where C is universal.

Proof. Fix $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and $R \geq \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha} \tilde{R}_k$ such that $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\tilde{R}_k/2}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$. Also, define $\eta = \left(\frac{\tilde{R}_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha} \tilde{\varepsilon}_k$. On the one hand, by (7.12) and Hölder's inequality, we obtain

$$\int_{B_R(\mathbf{z})} |u - V_{\mathbf{z},e}| \, dx \le C\eta R^4. \tag{8.5}$$

On the other hand, by (7.24),

$$D_{\pm} := \left(U_{\pm} \setminus \{ \pm e \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) > C\eta R \} \right) \cap B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset \text{Slab}(B_R(\mathbf{z}), e, C\eta) \,.$$

$$(8.6)$$

(We notice that in the proof of (7.24), the vector e is given by Lemma 6.5, from which we deduce that the unit vectors e in (8.5) and (8.6) are indeed the same.)

Also, since $u(\mathbf{z}) = 0$ (because $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$), from the gradient bound $|\nabla u| \leq 1$ we obtain

$$\sup_{B_R(\mathbf{z})} |u - V_{\mathbf{z},e}| \le CR.$$
(8.7)

Combining (8.5), (8.6), and (8.7), we get

$$\int_{U_{\pm}} |u(x) \mp (e \cdot x)| \, dx \le C\eta R^4 + C|D_{\pm}|R \le C\eta R^4$$

thus $A_{\mathbf{z}}(u, R) \leq C\eta$, as wanted.

We next state an abstract lemma that will be applied in the context of Lemma 7.3. It provides pointwise gradient and flux bounds in a linearization regime.

Proposition 8.3 (Linearization). There exist $a_+ \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and $b_+ \in \mathbb{R}$ such that, denoting $v(x) := u(x) - a_+ \cdot x - b_+$, we have

$$\frac{1}{\widetilde{R}_k} \oint_{B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap U_+} |v| \, dx \le C \, \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k,$$

for some C universal. Moreover, for all $\bar{x} \in \overline{U_+} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k/4}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$,

$$|\nabla v(\bar{x})| = |\nabla u(\bar{x}) - a_+| \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{\operatorname{dist}\left(\bar{x}, \mathcal{Z}\right)}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k.$$

In particular, for all $\bar{x} \in \partial U_+ \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/4}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ with dist $(\bar{x}, \mathcal{Z}) \geq \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$, we have $\bar{x} \in FB(u)$ and

$$|\partial_{\nu} v(\bar{x})| = |1 - a_{+} \cdot \nu(\bar{x})| \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_{k}}{\operatorname{dist}\left(\bar{x}, \mathcal{Z}\right)}\right)^{2\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2}$$

where $\nu(\bar{x})$ is the inward unit normal vector to FB(u), and the constant C is universal

The same statement holds with a_+, b_+, U_+ replaced by a_-, b_-, U_- .

Proof. By Lemma 8.2 we have

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R) \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k, \tag{8.8}$$

as long as $B_R(\mathbf{z}) \subset B_{\widetilde{R}_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ and $R \geq \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha} \widetilde{R}_k$. In particular, choosing $\mathbf{z} = \widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k$ and $R = \widetilde{R}_k$ and using the definition of the asymmetric excess in (8.1), it follows that there exist $a_+ \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and $b_+ \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\frac{1}{R^4} \int_{U_* \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})} |u(x) - a_+ \cdot x - b_+| \, dx \le C \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k,\tag{8.9}$$

so the first inequality in the statement of the proposition holds.

Now, fix $\bar{x} \in \overline{U_+} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/4}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ and define $\rho := |\bar{x} - \mathbf{z}(\bar{x})| \leq \frac{\tilde{R}_k}{4}$, where $\mathbf{z}(\bar{x}) \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/2}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ is such that dist $(\bar{x}, \mathcal{Z}) = \rho$. Since $|\nabla u(\bar{x}) - a_+| \leq 2$, our desired estimate is trivially true if $\rho \leq C_* \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$, so we can assume $\rho \geq C_* \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$ for a universal $C_* \geq 2$. Moreover, since $r_*(\mathbf{z}(\bar{x})) \leq \frac{1}{10} \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$ (by (7.11)), we have $\overline{B_{\rho/2}(\bar{x})} \cap \overline{U_0} = \emptyset$.

Now, on the one hand, set $\rho_j := 2^j \rho$ with $0 \le j \le j_{\max} := \lfloor \log_2(\frac{\tilde{R}_k}{2\rho}) \rfloor$. Then (8.8) gives the existence of $a_j \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and $b_j \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\frac{2}{\rho_j} \oint_{B_{\rho_j/2}(\bar{x})\cap U_+} |u(x) - a_j \cdot x - b_j| \, dx \le \frac{C}{2\rho_j} \oint_{B_{2\rho_j}(\mathbf{z}(\bar{x}))\cap U_+} |u(x) - a_j \cdot x - b_j| \, dx \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{\rho_j}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \tag{8.10}$$

for $0 \le j \le j_{\text{max}}$. Hence, if we set $a_{j_{\text{max}+1}} = a_+$ and $b_{j_{\text{max}+1}} = b_+$, it follows from the bounds above and (8.9) that

$$|a_j - a_{j-1}| \le \frac{C}{\rho_j} \oint_{B_{\rho_j(\mathbf{z}(\bar{x}))} \cap U_+} |(a_j - a_{j-1}) \cdot x| \, dx \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{\rho_j}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k, \qquad 1 \le j \le j_{\max} + 1$$

(note that, because of (7.24), at the scales of interest U_+ is roughly a half-space).

On the other hand, since $B_{\rho/2}(\bar{x}) \cap \overline{U_0} = \emptyset$, it follows from (7.25) that $u|_{U_+}$ is a (classical) solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_{\rho/2}(\bar{x})$. Hence, by (8.10) for j = 0, we can apply a rescaled version of Lemma 3.8 to obtain

$$|\nabla u(\bar{x}) - a_0| \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{\rho}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k, \quad \text{in } U_+ \cap B_{\rho/4}(\bar{x}).$$

Summing up,

$$|\nabla u(\bar{x}) - a_+| \le C \sum_{j=1}^{j_{\max}+1} \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{\rho_j}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{\rho}\right)^{\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k$$

This proves the desired bound on ∇v .

Finally, assume $\bar{x} \in \partial U_+ \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/4}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ with dist $(\bar{x}, \mathcal{Z}) \geq \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$. Thanks to (7.23), since $\bar{x} \notin U_0$ then $\bar{x} \in FB(u)$. Thus, since a_+ and $\nabla u(\bar{x})$ are unit vectors, we get

$$|1 - a_+ \cdot \nabla u(\bar{x})| = \frac{1}{2} |a_+ - \nabla u(\bar{x})|^2 \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{\rho}\right)^{2\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^2,$$

as desired.

Proposition 8.4. Let v be as in Proposition 8.3. For any given $\beta \in [0,1]$ satisfying $12\alpha\beta < 5 - \beta_{\circ}$, we have

$$\int_{(\partial U_+ \cup \partial U_-) \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/8}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)} |\partial_{\nu}v|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \le C \, \tilde{R}_k^2 \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{4\beta},$$

where ν is the unit inward normal vector and C depends only on β .

Remark 8.5. Recalling (7.1), one can choose $\beta := \frac{2+\delta_0}{4}$ with $\delta_0 := \frac{1}{10}$.

Proof. We prove it for U_+ , the same proof works for U_- . Observe that, for $\bar{x} \in FB(u)$, Proposition 8.3 implies that

$$|\partial_{\nu} v(\bar{x})| \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{\operatorname{dist}(\bar{x}, \mathcal{Z})}\right)^{2\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^2 \quad \text{for} \quad \bar{x} \in \partial U_+ \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k/4}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \left\{\operatorname{dist}(\cdot, \mathcal{Z}) \ge \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}\right\}.$$

In particular, since $|\partial_{\nu} v(\bar{x})| \leq 2$, for any $\beta \in [0, 1]$ we have

$$\left|\partial_{\nu}v(\bar{x})\right| \leq 2\left|\partial_{\nu}v(\bar{x})\right|^{\beta} \leq C\left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_{k}}{\operatorname{dist}\left(\bar{x},\mathcal{Z}\right)}\right)^{2\alpha\beta} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2\beta} \quad \text{for} \quad \bar{x} \in \partial U_{+} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_{k}/4}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k}) \cap \left\{\operatorname{dist}(\cdot,\mathcal{Z}) \geq \widetilde{R}_{k}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/\alpha}\right\}.$$
(8.11)

Now, for each $t \in (0, R_k)$, consider the sets

$$D_t := \bigcup_{\mathbf{z}' \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)} B_t(\mathbf{z}') \cap \partial U_+ \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k/8}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k).$$

Notice that, by the definition of U_0 (cf. Definition 7.6), for $t \ge \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$ the set D_t covers $\overline{U}_0 \cap \partial U_+$. In particular, if $\tilde{t} := \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$ then $D_t \setminus D_{\tilde{t}} \subset FB(u)$ (see (7.23)). Hence, by (7.10), Lemma 7.2, and the perimeter bound from Lemma 3.3, we obtain

$$\mathcal{H}^2(D_t \setminus D_{\tilde{t}}) \le Ct^2(t/\widetilde{R}_k)^{-\frac{1+\beta_0}{3}} \quad \text{for} \quad t \ge \tilde{t}.$$

In addition, again by (7.23), $\mathcal{H}^2(D_{\tilde{t}}) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(FB(u) \cap D_{\tilde{t}}) + \mathcal{H}^2(\partial U_0)$. Thus, arguing as above,

$$\mathcal{H}^2(D_{\tilde{t}}) \le C(2\tilde{t})^2 (2\tilde{t}/\widetilde{R}_k)^{-\frac{1+\beta_0}{3}} + C\tilde{t}^2 (\tilde{t}/\widetilde{R}_k)^{-\frac{1+\beta_0}{3}} \le C\tilde{t}^2 (\tilde{t}/\widetilde{R}_k)^{-\frac{1+\beta_0}{3}}$$

Hence, combining the last two estimates, we conclude that

$$\mathcal{H}^2(D_t) \le Ct^2(t/\widetilde{R}_k)^{-\frac{1+\beta_0}{3}} \quad \text{for} \quad t \ge \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}.$$
(8.12)

This allows us to obtain the desired estimate, using the following standard 'layer cake' formula:

If $(E_t)_{t\in[a,b]}$ is an increasing collection of (measurable) sets with $t \mapsto \mathcal{H}^k(E_t)$ continuous, $f : E_b \to [0,\infty)$ is integrable and satisfies $0 \leq f \leq g(t)$ in $E_b \setminus E_t$ and $0 \leq f \leq g(a)$ in E_a , where $g \in C^1([a,b])$ is nonincreasing, then

$$\int_{E_b} f \, d\mathcal{H}^k \le \int_a^b \mathcal{H}^k(E_t) \, |g'(t)| \, dt + \mathcal{H}^k(E_b) \, g(b) + \mathcal{H}^k(E_a) \, g(a).$$

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{a=1}^{2^{1/\alpha}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n}$$

Using this formula with $E_t = D_t$, $a = \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha}$, $b = \widetilde{R}_k$, $f = |\partial_\nu v|^2$, and $g(t) = \min\left\{\left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{t}\right)^{\alpha\nu} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{4\beta}, 1\right\}$ (see (8.11)), thanks to (8.12) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial U_{+}\cap B_{\tilde{R}_{k}/8}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_{k})} |\partial_{\nu}v|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} &\leq C \int_{\tilde{R}_{k}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/\alpha}}^{R_{k}} \mathcal{H}^{2}(D_{t}) \left| \frac{d}{dt} \left(\left(\frac{\tilde{R}_{k}}{t} \right)^{4\alpha\beta} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{4\beta} \right) \right| dt + C \tilde{R}_{k}^{2} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{4\beta} + C \tilde{R}_{k}^{2} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\frac{5-\beta_{0}}{3\alpha}} \\ &\leq C \tilde{R}_{k}^{4\alpha\beta + \frac{1+\beta_{0}}{3}} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{4\beta} \int_{0}^{\tilde{R}_{k}} t^{2-\frac{1+\beta_{0}}{3} - 4\alpha\beta - 1} dt + C \tilde{R}_{k}^{2} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{4\beta} + C \tilde{R}_{k}^{2} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\frac{5-\beta_{0}}{3\alpha}} \\ &\leq C_{\beta} \tilde{R}_{k}^{2} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{4\beta} \end{split}$$

provided that $2 - \frac{1+\beta_{\circ}}{3} - 4\alpha\beta - 1 > -1$, that is, $4\alpha\beta < 5/3 - \beta_{\circ}/3$.

8.2. The compactness argument. We now present two abstract compactness results that will be used to show Proposition 8.1:

Lemma 8.6. Let $n \ge 2$ and p > 1. For any $\eta > 0$ there exists $\delta = \delta(\eta, n, p) > 0$ such that the following holds. Let $\Omega_{\delta} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a Lipschitz and locally piecewise smooth domain, and let $v \in H^1(B_1)$ satisfy

$$\Delta v = 0 \quad in \quad \Omega_{\delta} \cap B_1 \qquad and \qquad \|v\|_{W^{1,p}(\Omega_{\delta} \cap B_1)} \le 1.$$

Suppose that

$$B_1 \cap \{x_n \ge \delta\} \subset \Omega_{\delta}, \qquad \Omega_{\delta} \cap B_1 \subset \{x_n \ge -\delta\}, \qquad and \qquad \int_{\partial \Omega_{\delta} \cap B_1} |v_{\nu}| \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \le \delta_{\delta}$$

where ν is the inwards unit normal to $\partial\Omega_{\delta}$. Then there exists $w: B_1 \to \mathbb{R}$, harmonic in B_1 and even in x_n , such that

$$\int_{\Omega_{\delta} \cap B_1} |v - w| \, dx \le \eta$$

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that the statement does not hold. Then there exists some $\eta_{\circ} > 0$ such that, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there is some v_k and Ω_k with

$$\Delta v_k = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega_k \cap B_1 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \|v_k\|_{W^{1,p}(\Omega_k \cap B_1)} \le 1,$$

and

$$B_1 \cap \{x_n \ge 1/k\} \subset \Omega_k, \qquad \Omega_k \cap B_1 \subset \{x_n \ge -1/k\}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \int_{\partial \Omega_k \cap B_1} |(v_k)_{\nu}| \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \le \frac{1}{k},$$

such that

$$\int_{\Omega_k \cap B_1} |v_k - w| \, dx > \eta_{\circ} > 0 \quad \text{for all } w \text{ harmonic in } B_1 \text{ and even in } x_n.$$

Notice first that, by harmonic estimates, up to subsequences we have that v_k converges locally uniformly in $\{x_n > 0\} \cap B_1$ to some function v_{∞} which satisfies

$$\Delta v_{\infty} = 0$$
 in $\{x_n > 0\} \cap B_1$ and $\|v_{\infty}\|_{W^{1,p}(\{x_n > 0\} \cap B_1)} \le 1.$

We now want to show that $\partial_n v_{\infty} = 0$ on $\{x_n = 0\} \cap B_1$. To this aim, let $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(B_1)$ and $\mu > 0$ (small) be fixed. For $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ with $k > 1/\mu$ and $\Omega_{\infty} := \{x_n > 0\}$,

$$\left|\int_{\Omega_k \cap B_1} \nabla v_k \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx\right| \le \left|\int_{\{x_n > \mu\} \cap B_{1-\mu}} \nabla v_k \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx\right| + \left|\int_{A_{\mu}^k} \nabla v_k \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx\right|,$$

where $A_{\mu}^{k} := (\Omega_{k} \cap B_{1}) \setminus (\{x_{n} > \mu\} \cap B_{1-\mu})$. In particular, since $|A_{\mu}| \leq C\mu$, by Hölder's inequality with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$ we get

$$\left| \int_{A_{\mu}^{k}} \nabla v_{k} \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx \right| \leq \| \nabla v_{k} \|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{k} \cap B_{1})} \| \nabla \varphi \|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1})} |A_{\mu}^{k}|^{\frac{1}{p'}} \leq C \| \nabla \varphi \|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1})} \mu^{\frac{1}{p'}}.$$

$$(8.13)$$

We compute now

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\{x_n > 0\} \cap B_1} \nabla v_{\infty} \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx \right| &\leq \left| \int_{\{x_n > \mu\} \cap B_{1-\mu}} \nabla v_{\infty} \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx \right| + C \| \nabla \varphi \|_{L^{\infty}(B_1)} \mu^{\frac{1}{p'}} \\ &\leq \left| \int_{\{x_n > \mu\} \cap B_{1-\mu}} \nabla v_k \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx \right| + C \| \nabla \varphi \|_{L^{\infty}(B_1)} \left(\| \nabla v_k - \nabla v_{\infty} \|_{L^{\infty}(\{x_n > \mu\} \cap B_{1-\mu})} + \mu^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right) \\ &\leq \left| \int_{\Omega_k \cap B_1} \nabla v_k \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx \right| + C \| \nabla \varphi \|_{L^{\infty}(B_1)} \left(\| \nabla v_k - \nabla v_{\infty} \|_{L^{\infty}(\{x_n > \mu\} \cap B_{1-\mu})} + 2\mu^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right), \end{aligned}$$

where, in the last inequality, we have used (8.13). By the assumption on v_k for $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we know

$$\left|\int_{\Omega_k \cap B_1} \nabla v_k \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx\right| = \left|\int_{\partial \Omega_k \cap B_1} \nu \cdot \nabla v_k \, \varphi \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}\right| \le \frac{\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1)}}{k}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\left| \int_{\{x_n>0\}\cap B_1} \nabla v_\infty \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx \right| \leq \frac{\|\varphi\|_{L^\infty(B_1)}}{k} + C \|\nabla \varphi\|_{L^\infty(B_1)} \left(\|\nabla v_k - \nabla v_\infty\|_{L^\infty(\{x_n>\mu\}\cap B_{1-\mu})} + 2\mu^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right).$$

Letting $k \to \infty$, since $v_k \to v_\infty$ smoothly in the interior of $\{x_n > 0\} \cap B_1$ (by harmonic estimates) we deduce that

$$\left| \int_{\{x_n > 0\} \cap B_1} \nabla v_\infty \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx \right| \le C \| \nabla \varphi \|_{L^\infty(B_1)} \mu^{\frac{1}{p'}},$$

and so, by the arbitrariness of $\mu > 0$,

$$\int_{\{x_n>0\}\cap B_1} \nabla v_\infty \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx = 0 \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in C_c^\infty(B_1).$$

This is the weak formulation of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v_{\infty} = 0 & \text{ in } \{x_n > 0\} \cap B_1, \\ \partial_n v_{\infty} = 0 & \text{ on } \{x_n = 0\} \cap B_1. \end{cases}$$

In particular, v_{∞} extends evenly to a harmonic function \bar{v}_{∞} defined in the whole B_1 . Also, for any $\mu > 0$ we have

$$\int_{\{x_n > \mu\} \cap B_{1-\mu}} |v_k - \bar{v}_\infty| \, dx \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty.$$

Hence, since $||v_k||_{L^p(\Omega_\delta \cap B_1)} \leq 1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$, again by Hölder inequality we get

$$\int_{A_{\mu}^{k}} |v_{k} - \bar{v}_{\infty}| \, dx \le C \|v_{k} - \bar{v}_{\infty}\|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{k} \cap B_{1})} |A_{\mu}^{k}|^{p'} \le C \mu^{p'}.$$

Hence, choosing μ small enough so that $C\mu^{p'} \leq \frac{\eta_0}{2}$, we reach a contradiction for k large enough.

From the previous compactness result, we obtain the following global version:

Lemma 8.7. Let $n \ge 2$, p > 1, and $d \ge 0$. For any $\eta > 0$ there exists $\delta = \delta(\eta, n, p, d)$ small such that the following holds.

Let $\Omega_{\delta} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a Lipschitz and locally piecewise smooth domain, and let $v \in H^1(B_{1/\delta})$ satisfy

$$\Delta v = 0 \quad in \quad \Omega_{\delta} \cap B_{1/\delta}, \quad and \quad \left(\oint_{\Omega_{\delta} \cap B_{\rho}} |v|^p \, dx \right)^{1/p} + \rho \left(\oint_{\Omega_{\delta} \cap B_{\rho}} |\nabla v|^p \, dx \right)^{1/p} \le \rho^{d+1/2} \quad for \quad 1 \le \rho \le \frac{1}{\delta}.$$

Suppose that

$$\begin{aligned} \{\tilde{e}_{\rho} \cdot x \ge \rho\delta\} \subset \Omega_{\delta} \subset \{\tilde{e}_{\rho} \cdot x \ge -\rho\delta\} \quad in \quad B_{\rho}, \qquad for \quad 1 \le \rho \le \frac{1}{\delta}, \\ \frac{1}{\rho^{n-2}} \int_{\partial\Omega_{\delta} \cap B_{\rho}} |v_{\nu}| \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \le \delta\rho^{d+1/2} \qquad for \quad 1 \le \rho \le \frac{1}{\delta}, \end{aligned}$$

where ν is the outwards unit normal to $\partial\Omega_{\delta}$, for some $\tilde{e}_{\rho} \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ depending on ρ . Then there exists a harmonic polynomial p_d of degree at most d such that

$$\int_{\Omega_{\delta} \cap B_1} |v - p_d| \, dx \le \eta$$

where p_d is even in the \tilde{e}_1 direction and satisfies $||p_\delta||_{L^1(B_1)} \leq |B_1|$.

Proof. We argue by compactness/contradiction. Suppose that the statement is not true, so that there is a sequence v_k satisfying the previous hypotheses for $\delta_k \downarrow 0$ but the conclusion fails for a certain $\eta = \eta_0 > 0$.

Applying Lemma 8.6 inside each ball B_{ρ} with $1 \leq \rho \leq \frac{1}{\delta_k}$ and a standard diagonal argument, we obtain that v_k converges in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to some harmonic function v_{∞} , even with respect to $\{\tilde{e}_1 \cdot x = 0\}$. Also, v_{∞} satisfies the growth bound

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |v| \, dx \le \rho^{d+1/2} \qquad \text{for all } \rho \ge 1.$$

By the Liouville theorem, v_{∞} must be a harmonic polynomial of degree $\leq d$, thus reaching a contradiction for k large enough. Finally, the bound $\|p_{\delta}\|_{L^{1}(B_{1})} \leq |B_{1}|$ comes from the growth bound with $\rho = 1$.

In analogy with Lemmas 6.3–6.4, we also have the following general estimates for monotone harmonic functions:

Lemma 8.8. Suppose that $n \ge 2$ and $w : B_2 \cap \{x_n > 0\} \to (0, \infty)$ is a harmonic function satisfying $\partial_n w \le 0$ in $B_2 \cap \{x_n > 0\}$. Then, denoting $x = (x', x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}$, for every $q \in (1, \infty)$ we have

$$\int_{\{|x'|<3/2\}} |\nabla w|^q (x',t) \, dx' \le C t^{(n-1)(1-q)} \int_{B_2 \cap \{x_n \ge 1/4\}} |\nabla w|^q \, dx \qquad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0,1),$$

where C depends only on n and q.

Proof. Denote $B_r^+ = B_r \cap \{x_n > 0\} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $B'_r = \{x' : |x'| < r\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$. By harmonic estimates and Poincaré inequality,

$$\|w - c\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{7/4} \cap \{x_n \ge 1/3\})} \le C \|w - c\|_{L^q(B_2 \cap \{x_n \ge 1/4\})} \le C \|\nabla w\|_{L^q(B_2 \cap \{x_n \ge 1/4\})},$$

where $C = C(n,q) \ge$ is a constant. Now, up to replacing w by

$$\frac{w-c}{2C_q \|\nabla w\|_{L^q(B_2 \cap \{x_n \ge 1/4\})}} + \frac{1}{2},$$

we can assume that $0 \le w \le 1$ inside $B_{7/4} \cap \{x_n \ge 1/3\}$. Thus, since $\partial_n w \le 0$, it follows that $w(e_n) \le 1$ and $w \ge 0$ in $B_{3/2}^+$, and under these assumptions we need to prove that

$$\int_{\{|x'|<3/2\}} |\nabla w|^q(x',t) \, dx' \le C_q t^{(n-1)(1-q)}.$$

To this aim, set $w_n := \partial_n w$. By standard Poisson kernel bounds, since w is harmonic with $w(e_n) \leq 1$ and $w \geq 0$ in $B_{3/2}^+$, it follows that $||w(x',0)||_{L^1(B'_{5/4})} \leq C$. Similarly, since w_n is harmonic with $|w_n(e_n)| \leq C$ and $w_n \leq 0$ in $B_{3/2}^+$, we also get $||w_n(x',0)||_{L^1(B'_{5/4})} \leq C$.

Now, let us denote respectively by \bar{w} and \bar{w}_n , the harmonic extensions inside $\{x_n > 0\}$ of $w(\cdot, 0)\mathbb{1}_{B'_{4/3}}$ and $w_n(\cdot, 0)\mathbb{1}_{B'_{4/3}}$. Then, by boundary Harnack, we have $\left\|\frac{w-\bar{w}}{x_n}\right\|_{C^1(B^+_{\pi/3})} \leq C$. In particular,

$$\|w - \bar{w}\|_{C^{1}(B^{+}_{5/4})} + \|w_{n} - \bar{w}_{n}\|_{L^{\infty}(B^{+}_{5/4})} \le C.$$
(8.14)

Now, the Poisson representation for the half-space $\{x_n > 0\} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ reads

$$\bar{w}(\cdot,t) = P(\cdot,t) *_{x'} \bar{w}(\cdot,0), \quad \bar{w}_n(\cdot,t) = P(\cdot,t) *_{x'} \bar{w}_n(\cdot,0), \qquad P(x',t) := c_n \frac{t}{(|x'|^2 + t^2)^{n/2}}.$$

Thus, recalling that $\|\bar{w}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^q + \|\bar{w}_n(\cdot,0)\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^q \leq C$, by Young's inequality and a direct computation we get

$$\|\bar{w}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^q + \|\bar{w}_n(\cdot,t)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^q \le C \|P(\cdot,t)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^q \le C_q t^{(n-1)(1-q)} \qquad \forall q \ge 1.$$
thanks to (8.14)

In particular, thanks to (8.14),

$$\|w(\cdot,t)\|_{L^q(B'_{5/4})}^q + \|w_n(\cdot,t)\|_{L^q(B'_{5/4})}^q \le C_q t^{(n-1)(1-q)}$$

Finally, since $\bar{w}_n(\cdot,t) = -(-\Delta)_{x'}^{1/2} \bar{w}(\cdot,t)$, by $W^{1,q}$ estimates¹⁴ for $(-\Delta_{x'})^{1/2}$ imply that

$$\nabla' \bar{w}(\cdot, t) \|_{L^q(B_1')}^q \le C_q \| w(\cdot, t) \|_{L^q(B_{5/4}')}^q + \| w_n(\cdot, t) \|_{L^q(B_{5/4}')}^q \le C_q t^{(n-1)(1-q)} \qquad \forall q \in (1, \infty).$$

Using again (8.14), we get the desired bound on ∇w .

As shown in Appendix D, Lemma 8.8 implies the following result in flat-Lipschitz domains:

Lemma 8.9. Let $n \ge 2$ and fix $q \in (1, \frac{n}{n-1})$. Assume that $w : B_{2r} \cap D \to (0, \infty)$ is a positive harmonic function inside $D = \{x_n > \varphi(x')\}$, where $\varphi : B'_{2r} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies

$$|\varphi| + r|\nabla\varphi| \le c_{\circ}r$$

Assume, in addition, that $\partial_n w \leq 0$ in $B_{2r} \cap D$. Then, for c_{\circ} small enough depending only on n and q, we have

$$\int_{B_r \cap D} |\nabla w|^q \, dx \le C_q \int_{B_{2r} \cap \{x_3 \ge r/4\}} |\nabla w|^q \, dx$$

where C_q depends only on n and q.

To show Proposition 8.1, we will need to apply Lemma 8.7 to a suitable sequence. The following result will ensure that the sequence satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 8.7:

Lemma 8.10. Let $p \in [1, \frac{3}{2}]$ and $\bar{\gamma} = \frac{1}{10}$. There exists ε_{\circ} depending only on p such that if $0 < \tilde{\varepsilon}_k < \varepsilon_{\circ}$ the following holds for any $\mathbf{z} \in B_{\tilde{R}_k/8}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \mathcal{Z}$.

Let $a_+ \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and $b_+ \in \mathbb{R}$ be given by Proposition 8.3, and assume that for some $\delta > 0$ and $R \in (\widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\bar{\gamma}}, \widetilde{R}_k/8)$ we have

$$\frac{1}{R} \oint_{U_+ \cap B_R(\mathbf{z})} |u - a \cdot x - b| \, dx \leq \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \delta, \qquad \text{for some } a \in \mathbb{S}^2 \text{ with } |a - a_+| \leq \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/2} \text{ and } b \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then

$$\frac{1}{R^p} \oint_{U_+ \cap B_{R/2}(\mathbf{z})} |u - a \cdot x - b|^p \, dx + \oint_{U_+ \cap B_{R/2}(\mathbf{z})} |\nabla u - a|^p \, dx \le C \bigg((\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \delta)^p + \frac{R_k}{R} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\bar{\gamma}} \bigg),$$

where C depends only on p.

Proof. Up to a rotation, we can assume that $a_+ = e_3$. We write $v = u - x_3 - b$ and divide the proof into two steps. **Step 1:** we prove the $\dot{W}^{1,p}$ bound.

We begin by noticing that if $u(x) \geq \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\bar{\gamma}}$ then¹⁵ dist $(x, \mathcal{Z}) \geq \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\frac{2}{1+\alpha}} \gg \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}$ as long as $1+\bar{\gamma} < \frac{2}{1+\alpha}$ (the chosen value $\bar{\gamma} = \frac{1}{10}$ works since $\alpha = \frac{39}{50}$). Thus, thanks to Proposition 8.3,

$$|\nabla u - e_3| \le C \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\frac{1-\alpha}{1+\alpha}} \ll 1 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega^{\bar{\gamma}}_+ \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/4}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k), \quad \text{where} \quad \Omega^{\bar{\gamma}}_+ := U_+ \cap \left\{ u \ge \tilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\bar{\gamma}} \right\}.$$
(8.15)

Note that (8.15) implies that $\partial_{\tilde{\epsilon}}u > 0$ in $\Omega_{+}^{\tilde{\gamma}}$ as long as $\tilde{\epsilon} \cdot e_3 \geq \tilde{\epsilon}_k^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2}} \gg C \tilde{\epsilon}_k^{\frac{1-\alpha}{1+\alpha}}$. Hence, noticing that $\{u = \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\epsilon}_k^{1+\tilde{\gamma}}\} \cap \partial U_+ \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/5}(\mathbf{z}) = \emptyset$, we deduce that $\partial \Omega_+^{\tilde{\gamma}} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/5}(\mathbf{z})$ is an $\tilde{\epsilon}_k^{\frac{1-\alpha}{2}}$ -Lipschitz graph both in the e_3

$$\|u\|_{W^{1,p}(B_{1/2})} \le C_{d,p} \left(\|f\|_{L^p(B_1)} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|u(y)|}{1+|y|^{d+1}} \, dy \right).$$

¹⁵Recall that $|\nabla u| \leq 1$ in \mathbb{R}^3 and $\mathcal{Z} \subset \{u = 0\}$.

¹⁴Combining classical Calderón–Zygmund estimates for the Riesz transform with interior estimates for $\frac{1}{2}$ -harmonic functions, one obtains the following: If $(-\Delta)^{1/2}u = f$ in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with $f \in L^p(B_1)$ and $p \in (1, \infty)$, then

direction and in the *a* direction (recall that, by assumption, $|a - e_3| = |a - a_+| \leq \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/2}$). In particular, for any $y_{\circ} \in \partial \Omega_+^{\bar{\gamma}} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/8}(\mathbf{z})$ we have (using $\bar{\gamma} < \frac{1-\alpha}{2}$)

$$\{x_3 \ge \rho \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\bar{\gamma}}\} \subset \Omega_+^{\bar{\gamma}} - y_\circ \subset \{x_3 \ge -\rho \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\bar{\gamma}}\} \quad \text{in} \quad B_\rho, \quad \text{for any} \quad \rho \in (0, \widetilde{R}_k/8).$$

$$(8.16)$$

We divide the set $U_+ \cap B_{R/2}(\mathbf{z})$ into two regions:

$$U_{+} \cap B_{R/2}(\mathbf{z}) = A_{1} \cup A_{2}, \quad \text{where} \quad A_{1} := \Omega_{+}^{\tilde{\gamma}} \cap B_{R/2}(\mathbf{z}), \quad A_{2} := (U_{+} \setminus \Omega_{+}^{\tilde{\gamma}}) \cap B_{R/2}(\mathbf{z}). \tag{8.17}$$

Now, we first use Lemma 8.9 in A_1 (recall A_1 is a flat-Lipschitz domain in the e_3 direction, and notice that $\partial_3 v \leq |\nabla u| - 1 \leq 0$) with a covering argument to obtain

$$\int_{A_1} |\nabla v|^p \, dx \le C \int_{B_{2R/3}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{(x-\mathbf{z}) \cdot e_3 \ge R/12\}} |\nabla v|^p \, dx \le C \int_{B_{2R/3}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{(x-\mathbf{z}) \cdot a \ge R/15\}} |\nabla v|^p \, dx \le CR^3(\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \delta)^p,$$

where the last inequality follows by interior harmonic estimates and the L^1 -smallness assumption of v inside $U_+ \cap B_R(\mathbf{z}) \supset B_{2R/3}(\mathbf{z}) \cap \{(x - \mathbf{z}) \cdot a \ge R/20\}$.

Concerning A_2 , Lemma 3.4 together with the coarea formula and the fact that the gradient is lower bounded in $\Omega^{(\pm)} \supset U_{\pm}$ (see Lemma 5.17) imply that $|A_2| \leq CR^2 \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\bar{\gamma}}$. Hence, since $|\nabla v| \leq 2$,

$$\int_{A_2} |\nabla v|^p \, dx \le C R^2 \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\bar{\gamma}}$$

This proves the desired bound on $|\nabla v|^p$.

Step 2: We now prove the L^p bound.

As before, consider the sets A_1 and A_2 as in (8.17). Notice first that, since $|\nabla v| \leq 2$, by the L^1 bound of v in $B_R(\mathbf{z})$ we deduce that $|v| \leq CR$ in A_2 . Hence,

$$\int_{A_2} |v|^p \, dx \le CR^p |A_2| \le CR^{p+2} \widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\gamma}.$$

On the other hand, since A_1 is a Lipschitz domain, by Sobolev embedding (see, for example, [1, Theorem 3]) and Hölder inequality we get

$$\begin{split} \left(\int_{A_1} |v|^p \, dx \right)^{1/p} &\leq \left(\int_{A_1} |v|^{3/2} \, dx \right)^{2/3} \leq C \int_{A_1} |v| \, dx + CR \int_{A_1} |\nabla v| \, dx \\ &\leq C \int_{A_1} |v| \, dx + CR \left(\int_{A_1} |\nabla v|^p \, dx \right)^{1/p} \qquad \text{whenever} \quad 1 \leq p \leq \frac{3}{2}. \end{split}$$

Thus, using Step 1 and the assumption on v, we get the desired estimate.

8.3. Proof of Proposition 8.1. We conclude by proving the main result of this section.

Proof of Proposition 8.1. We split the proof into two steps.

Step 1: We first show an algebraic decay of A from scale \widetilde{R}_k to scale R_k^{\flat} (with given center \mathbf{z}). More precisely, we start by showing

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R) \leq C_{\circ} \left(\frac{R}{\widetilde{R}_{k}}\right)^{1/2} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}, \quad \text{for all} \quad R \in \left[R_{k}^{\flat}, \widetilde{R}_{k}/16\right], \quad (8.18)$$

for some C_{\circ} universal. Note that (8.3) follows directly from this bound, choosing $C = C_{\circ}^{6}$.

Let us denote $R_{\ell} := 2^{-\ell} \tilde{R}_k$, and let $\ell_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ be a large constant to be fixed. Thanks to Lemma 8.2, up to choosing C_{\circ} sufficiently large (depending only on ℓ_0), we can assume that (8.18) holds for $R = R_4, R_5, R_6, R_7, \ldots, R_{\ell_0}$.

We now argue by induction and prove the following: if (8.18) holds for $R = R_4, R_5, R_6, R_7, \ldots, R_\ell$ for some $\ell \ge \ell_0$ such that $2^{-\ell} \ge \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi}$, then (8.18) holds for $R_{\ell+1}$. This will imply the desired bound.

To prove the inductive step, we will apply Lemma 8.7 to a suitable function. Recall that A_z is given by the maximum of two integrals, one inside U_+ and one inside U_- (see (8.1)). Here we just prove the estimate for U_+ , since the case of U_- is completely analogous.

Fix $\mathbf{z} \in B_{\widetilde{R}_k/16}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \mathcal{Z}$. By the inductive hypothesis, for all $m = 4, 5, 6, \ldots, \ell$ there exist $a_m \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and $b_m \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\frac{1}{|B_{R_m}|} \int_{U_+ \cap B_{R_m}(\mathbf{z})} |v_m| \, dx \le C_{\circ} 2^{-m/2} R_m \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k, \qquad \text{where} \quad v_m(x) := u(x) - a_m \cdot x - b_m. \tag{8.19}$$

Then, by the triangle inequality (similarly to Proposition 8.3, using that $U_+ \cap B_\rho(\mathbf{z})$ is roughly a half-space at scales $\rho \gg \tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha} \ge r_\star(\mathbf{z})$) we get

$$R_m|a_m - a_{m+1}| + |b_m - b_{m+1}| \le CC_{\circ} 2^{-m/2} R_m \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k.$$

In particular, this implies that for any $4 \le \ell_1 \le \ell_2 \le \ell$ we have

$$|a_{\ell_1} - a_{\ell_2}| \le CC_0 2^{-\ell_1/2} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k, \qquad |b_{\ell_1} - b_{\ell_2}| \le CC_0 2^{-\ell_1/2} R_{\ell_1} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k.$$
(8.20)

Furthermore, if we consider the function $v(x) = u(x) - a_+ \cdot x - b_+$ provided by Proposition 8.3, by the very same reason we also have

 $|a_{\ell_1} - a_+| \le CC_\circ \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \qquad \text{for any} \quad 4 \le \ell_1 \le \ell.$ (8.21)

Fix now p > 1 satisfying $\frac{1+\bar{\gamma}-\chi}{p} \ge 1 + \frac{\chi}{2}$ (for instance, one can choose $p = 1 + \frac{1}{20}$), and recall that by assumption $2^{-\ell} \ge \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi}$. Then, thanks to (8.19), we can apply Lemma 8.10 with $\delta = C_0 2^{-m/2}$ to deduce that, for any $4 \le m \le \ell$,

$$\frac{1}{R_m^p} \oint_{U_+ \cap B_{R_m/2}(\mathbf{z})} |v_m|^p \, dx + \oint_{U_+ \cap B_{R_m/2}(\mathbf{z})} |\nabla v_m|^p \, dx \le (CC_\circ 2^{-m/2} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k)^p.$$

Using (8.20), this implies that

$$\frac{1}{R_m^p} \oint_{U_+ \cap B_{R_m/2}(\mathbf{z})} |v_\ell|^p \, dx + \oint_{U_+ \cap B_{R_m/2}(\mathbf{z})} |\nabla v_\ell|^p \, dx \le (\tilde{C}C_\circ 2^{-m/2}\tilde{\varepsilon}_k)^p \qquad \forall m \in \{\ell - \ell_0, \dots, \ell\},$$

for some \tilde{C} universal. Hence, if we define $\tilde{v}_{\ell}(x) := (\tilde{C}C_{\circ}2^{-\ell/2}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_k)^{-1}v_{\ell}(\mathbf{z}+R_{\ell}x)$, we get

$$\left(\int_{R_{\ell}^{-1}(U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{\rho/2}} |\nabla \tilde{v}_{\ell}|^{p} dx\right)^{1/p} \leq \rho^{1/2}, \quad \left(\int_{R_{\ell}^{-1}(U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{\rho/2}} |\tilde{v}_{\ell}|^{p} dx\right)^{1/p} \leq \rho^{3/2}, \quad \text{for } \rho \in \{2^{0}, 2^{1}, 2^{2}, \dots, 2^{\ell_{0}}\}.$$

$$(8.22)$$

On the other hand, Proposition 8.4 and Remark 8.5 yield

$$\int_{\partial U_+ \cap B_{R_4}(\mathbf{z})} |\partial_\nu v|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \le C \, \widetilde{R}_k^2 \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\delta_\circ}$$

Also, by the triangle inequality and (8.21),

$$|1 - \nu \cdot a_{\ell}|^{2} = \frac{1}{4} |\nabla u - a_{\ell}|^{4} \le |\nabla u - a_{+}|^{4} + (CC_{\circ}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k})^{4} = 4|1 - \nu \cdot a_{+}|^{2} + (CC_{\circ}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k})^{4} \quad \text{on} \quad FB(u),$$

therefore

$$|\partial_{\nu}v_{\ell}|^2 \le 4|\partial_{\nu}v|^2 + (CC_{\circ}\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k)^4 \quad \text{on} \quad FB(u).$$

Recalling that $\mathcal{H}^2(\partial U_0) \leq C \widetilde{R}_k^2 \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\frac{5-\beta_0}{3\alpha}} \leq C \widetilde{R}_k^2 \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\delta_0}$ (see (8.12)) and that $\mathcal{H}^2(\partial U_+ \cap B_{R_4}(\mathbf{z})) \leq C \widetilde{R}_k^2 + \mathcal{H}^2(\partial U_0 \cap B_{R_k/2}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)) \leq C \widetilde{R}_k^2$ (see Lemma 3.3 and (7.21)), we then obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial U_{+}\cap B_{R_{4}}(\mathbf{z})} &|\partial_{\nu}v_{\ell}|^{2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \leq C\widetilde{R}_{k}^{2} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2+\delta_{\circ}} + \int_{\partial U_{+}\cap B_{R_{4}}(\mathbf{z}) \setminus \partial U_{0}} &|\partial_{\nu}v_{\ell}|^{2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \\ &\leq C \, \widetilde{R}_{k}^{2} \left(\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2+\delta_{\circ}} + C_{0}^{4} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{4} \right) + 4 \int_{\partial U_{+}\cap B_{R_{4}}(\mathbf{z}) \setminus \partial U_{0}} &|\partial_{\nu}v|^{2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \leq C \, \widetilde{R}_{k}^{2} \left(\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2+\delta_{\circ}} + C_{0}^{4} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{4} \right) + . \end{split}$$

By Hölder's inequality, using again $\mathcal{H}^2(\partial U_+ \cap B_{R_4}(\mathbf{z})) \leq C\widetilde{R}_k^2$, this implies

$$\int_{\partial U_{+}\cap B_{R_{4}}(\mathbf{z})} |\partial_{\nu}v_{\ell}| \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \leq C \, \widetilde{R}_{k}^{2} (\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\delta_{\circ}/2} + C_{\circ}^{2} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2}) \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \int_{R_{\ell}^{-1}(\partial U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{2\ell-4}} |\partial_{\nu}\tilde{v}_{\ell}(x)| \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \leq C 2^{5\ell/2} (\widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\delta_{\circ}/2} + C_{\circ}^{2} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}).$$

Hence, taking $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k$ small enough depending on C_\circ so that $C_\circ^2 \tilde{\varepsilon}_k \leq \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/2}$, since $2^\ell \leq (\tilde{\varepsilon}_k)^{-\chi}$ and $\delta_\circ/2 - 5\chi/2 \geq \delta_\circ/4$ we get

$$\int_{R_{\ell}^{-1}(\partial U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{\rho}} |\partial_{\nu} \tilde{v}_{\ell}(x)| \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \leq C \, 2^{5\ell/2} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\delta_{\circ}/2} \leq C \, 2^{5\ell/2} \rho^{5/2} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\delta_{\circ}/2} \leq C \rho^{5/2} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\delta_{\circ}/4}, \qquad \text{for } \rho \in [1, 2^{\ell_{0}-4}].$$

$$(8.23)$$

To go further, we note that (7.12) and Lemma 7.7(ii) imply the existence of a vector $e_R = e_{R,\mathbf{z}} \in \mathbb{S}^2$ such that

$$\int_{B_R(\mathbf{z})} |u - V_{\mathbf{z}, e_R}| \, dx \le C \left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha} R \,\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k \tag{8.24}$$

(where Hölder's inequality is used) and

$$\left\{e_R \cdot x > C\left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha} R\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k\right\} \subset U_+ - \mathbf{z} \subset \left\{e_R \cdot x \ge -C\left(\frac{\widetilde{R}_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha} R\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k\right\} \quad \text{in} \quad B_R.$$

(As already noted in the proof of Lemma 8.2, e_R is the same for both estimates.) Thus, if we denote $\rho = 2^{\ell} R \widetilde{R}_k^{-1}$ and $\tilde{e}_{\rho} = e_{2^{-\ell}\rho \widetilde{R}_k}$, as long as $2^{-\ell} \geq \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi} \gg \tilde{\varepsilon}_k$ we have that the domain $R_{\ell}^{-1}(U_+ - \mathbf{z})$ satisfies

$$\left\{\tilde{e}_{\rho}\cdot x \ge C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1-\alpha\chi}\rho\right\} \subset R_{\ell}^{-1}(U_{+}-\mathbf{z}) \subset \left\{\tilde{e}_{\rho}\cdot x \ge -C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1-\alpha\chi}\rho\right\} \quad \text{in} \quad B_{\rho}, \quad \text{for} \quad 1 \le \rho \le 2^{\ell_{0}}.$$
(8.25)

Also, by (8.24) with $R = R_{\ell}$, we have

$$\int_{B_R(\mathbf{z})} \left| u - |\tilde{e}_1 \cdot (x - \mathbf{z})| \right| dx \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1 - \alpha \chi} R_\ell$$

and in particular, because of (8.19), it follows that $|a_{\ell} - \tilde{e}_1| \leq CC_o \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1-\alpha\chi} \leq CC_o \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/2}$. Thanks to (8.22), (8.23), and (8.25), we can now apply Lemma 8.7 with d = 1 to \tilde{v}_{ℓ} . As a consequence, given $\eta > 0$ fixed (to be chosen universally), for $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k$ small enough and ℓ_0 large enough we have

$$\int_{R_{\ell}^{-1}(U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{1/2}} \left| \tilde{v}_{\ell} - a \cdot x - b \right| dx \le \eta$$

for some $a \in \mathbb{R}^2$ with $a \cdot \tilde{e}_1 = 0$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}$, with $|a| + |b| \leq C$. In terms of u, this gives

$$R_{\ell}^{-3} \int_{U_{+} \cap B_{R_{\ell}/2}(\mathbf{z})} \left| u(x) - a_{\ell} \cdot x - b_{\ell} - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}a \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \right| \, dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \left| dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \right| \, dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \left| dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \right| \, dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \left| dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \right| \, dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) + \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \left| dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) - \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}b \right| \, dx \leq \tilde{C}C_{\circ}R_{\ell}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) + \tilde{C}C_{\circ}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}2^{-\ell/2}\eta \cdot (x - \mathbf{z}) + \tilde{C}C_{\circ}\tilde{$$

Let us denote $b_{\ell+1} := b_\ell + \tilde{C}C_\circ R_\ell \tilde{\varepsilon}_k 2^{-\ell/2} b + \tilde{C}C_\circ \tilde{\varepsilon}_k 2^{-\ell/2} a \cdot \mathbf{z}$, as well as $\tilde{a}_{\ell+1} = a_\ell + \tilde{C}C_\circ \tilde{\varepsilon}_k 2^{-\ell/2} a$ and $a_{\ell+1} = \frac{\tilde{a}_{\ell+1}}{|\tilde{a}_{\ell+1}|}$. Then, thanks to the fact that $|a_{\ell} - \tilde{e}_1| \leq C C_{\circ} \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/2}$ and $a \cdot \tilde{e}_1 = 0$ we deduce that $|a \cdot a_{\ell}| \leq C C_{\circ} \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/2}$ and thus $|\tilde{a}_{\ell+1} - a_{\ell+1}| \leq C C_{\circ}^2 \tilde{c}_k^{3/2} 2^{-\ell/2}$. Combining all together, we obtain

$$\int_{U_+\cap B_{R_\ell/2}(\mathbf{z})} |u(x) - a_{\ell+1} \cdot x - b_{\ell+1}| \, dx \le CC_\circ R_\ell \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k 2^{-\ell/2} \left(\eta + C_\circ \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/2}\right).$$

We now choose η small so that $C\eta \leq \frac{1}{4}$, which in turn fixes ℓ_0 , C_{\circ} , and an upper bound for $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k$. Then, choosing $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k$ small enough so that $CC_{\circ} \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1/2} \leq \frac{1}{4}$, we get (8.18), as desired. This concludes the proof of (8.3).

Step 2: We now show (8.4) for * = +; the same proof holds for * = -. Recall that $R_k^{\flat} = \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi} \tilde{R}_k$. Then, for $\mathbf{z} \in B_{\widetilde{B}_k/8}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \mathcal{Z}$ fixed, we define $w := u - a_+^{\flat} \cdot x - b_+^{\flat}$, where $a_+^{\flat} \in \mathbb{S}^2$ and $b_+^{\flat} \in \mathbb{R}$ are such that

$$\int_{U_+\cap B_{R_k^\flat}(\mathbf{z})} |u-a_+^\flat\cdot x-b_+^\flat| \, dx \le C \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{z}}(u,R_k^\flat) \le \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^\flat$$

To prove (8.4), we will show that, for some small universal constant $\bar{\beta} > 0$, it holds that

for all
$$r \in [\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+2\chi} \tilde{R}_k, R_k^{\flat}]$$
 there exists $c = c(r)$ such that $\int_{U_+ \cap B_r(\mathbf{z})} |w - c| \, dx \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat} (r/R_k^{\flat})^{\bar{\beta}}$. (8.26)

Notice that this directly yields the desired result by adding a geometric series, since by the triangle inequality, we have $|c(r_1) - c(r_2)| \leq C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat}(r_1/R_k^{\flat})^{\bar{\beta}}$ for all $r_2 \in (r_1/2, r_1)$ and $r_1 \in [\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+2\chi} \tilde{R}_k, R_k^{\flat}]$ (and we may take $c(R_{h}^{\flat}) = 0).$

The first key observation is that, by Proposition 8.4, arguing as in Step 1 we get

$$\int_{\partial U_{+} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_{k}/16}(\mathbf{z})} |\partial_{\nu}w|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} \leq C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2+\delta_{o}} \tilde{R}_{k}^{2} \implies \int_{\partial U_{+} \cap B_{r}(\mathbf{z})} |\partial_{\nu}w|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} \leq C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2+2\chi} (R_{k}^{\flat})^{2} (r/R_{k}^{\flat})^{2\bar{\beta}} \tag{8.27}$$

for all $r \in [\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+2\chi} \tilde{R}_k, R_k^{\flat}]$, provided that $\delta_{\circ} > 4\chi + 2\bar{\beta}(1+2\chi)$ (this is true, for example, choosing $\bar{\beta} \leq \frac{1}{50}$).

Set $r_{\ell} := 2^{-\ell} R_k^{\flat}$. As in Step 1, we can assume that (8.26) holds for $r = r_0, r_1, r_2, r_3, \ldots, r_{\ell}$ for some $\ell \ge \ell_0$, and we will show its validity for $r_{\ell+1}$ as well, as long as $2^{-\ell} \ge \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+2\chi}$.

Again as in Step 1, by assumption there exist $c_m \in \mathbb{R}$ such that, if we define $w_m(x) = w(x) - c_m$, then

$$\int_{U_+\cap B_{r_m}(\mathbf{z})} |w_m| \, dx \le C 2^{-\bar{\beta}m} \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat}, \qquad |c_m - c_\ell| \le C_{\bar{\beta}} 2^{-\bar{\beta}m} \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat}, \qquad \text{for all } 0 \le m \le \ell. \tag{8.28}$$

Thus, applying Lemma 8.10 with $R = r_m$ and $\delta = C 2^{-\bar{\beta}m} \tilde{\epsilon}_k^{\chi/3} R_k^{\flat}/r_m$ and using the induction hypothesis, for any $2 \le m \le \ell$ we get

$$\int_{U_+\cap B_{r_m/2}(\mathbf{z})} |w_m|^p \, dx + r_m^p \int_{U_+\cap B_{r_m/2}(\mathbf{z})} |\nabla w_m|^p \, dx \le C \left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^\flat 2^{-\bar{\beta}m}\right)^p,$$

for some p > 1 and $\bar{\beta} > 0$ sufficiently small (more precisely, we need $\bar{\beta}p \leq p-1$ and $\frac{1+\bar{\gamma}-\chi}{p} > 1+\frac{\chi}{3}$). By the triangle inequality and (8.28), the same holds for w_{ℓ} . Thus, if we define

$$\tilde{w}_{\ell}(x) := \frac{w_{\ell}(\mathbf{z} + r_{\ell}x)}{2C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3}R_{k}^{\flat}2^{-\bar{\beta}\ell}},$$

since $\bar{\beta} < 1/2$ we get

$$\left(\int_{r_{\ell}^{-1}(U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{\rho/2}} |\tilde{w}_{\ell}|^{p} dx\right)^{1/p} + \rho \left(\int_{r_{\ell}^{-1}(U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{\rho/2}} |\nabla \tilde{w}_{\ell}|^{p} dx\right)^{1/p} \le \rho^{1/2} \quad \text{for } \rho \in \{2^{0}, 2^{1}, 2^{2}, \dots, 2^{\ell_{0}}\}.$$
(8.29)

Also, by (8.27) and Hölder inequality, we have

$$\frac{1}{\rho} \int_{r_{\ell}^{-1}(\partial U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{\rho}} |\partial_{\nu}\tilde{w}_{\ell}(x)| \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \leq C \, \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\chi/3} \qquad \text{for } \rho \in [1, 2^{\ell_{0}}].$$

$$(8.30)$$

Finally, since $r_{\ell} \geq \tilde{c}_k^{1+2\chi} \tilde{R}_k \gg r_{\star}(\mathbf{z})$ (see (7.11)), as in Step 1 we obtain

$$\{\tilde{e}_{\rho} \cdot x \ge o_{\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}}(1)\rho\} \subset r_{\ell}^{-1}(U_{+} - \mathbf{z}) \subset \{\tilde{e}_{\rho} \cdot x \ge -o_{\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}}(1)\rho\} \quad \text{in} \quad B_{\rho}, \quad \text{for} \quad \rho \ge 1,$$

$$(8.31)$$

and $|a_{+}^{\flat} - \tilde{e}_{1}| = o_{\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}}(1)$, where $o_{\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}}(1) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

Thanks to (8.29), (8.30), and (8.31), we can apply Lemma 8.7 with d = 0 to obtain that, for any $\eta > 0$, there exist $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k$ small enough and ℓ_0 large enough such that

$$\int_{r_{\ell}^{-1}(U_{+}-\mathbf{z})\cap B_{1/2}} |\tilde{w}_{\ell}-c| \, dx \le \eta,$$

for some $c \in \mathbb{R}$. Similarly to Step 1, after rescaling we deduce that (8.28) holds for $m = \ell + 1$, for some suitable $c_{\ell+1} \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|c_{\ell+1} - c_{\ell}| \leq C 2^{-\bar{\beta}\ell} \tilde{\epsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat}$. This proves (8.26), concluding the proof.

9. Proofs of Theorem 1.5 and its corollaries

In this section, we prove Theorem 1.5 and Corollaries 1.6 and 1.7. As we shall see, Theorem 1.5 follows from Proposition 8.1 together with a contradiction argument.

9.1. Remainder involving symmetric excess. Recall that the Weiss energy W was introduced in (4.5). We will need two new quantities, M and T, that we now define.¹⁶

Recalling that $u_r(x) = r^{-1}u(rx)$, given $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ we define

$$\mathbf{M}(u, r, e) := \frac{1}{r^{n+1}} \int_{\partial B_r} (u - |e \cdot x|)^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}, \quad \text{so that} \quad \mathbf{M}(u, r, e) = \mathbf{M}(u_r, 1, e) = \int_{\partial B_1} (u_r - |e \cdot x|)^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}, \quad (9.1)$$

and

$$\mathbf{T}(u,r,e) := \frac{1}{r^{n+2}} \int_{B_r} (u - |e \cdot x|)^2 \, dx, \quad \text{so that} \quad \mathbf{T}(u,r,e) = \mathbf{T}(u_r,1,e) = \int_{B_1} (u_r - |e \cdot x|)^2 \, dx. \tag{9.2}$$

Note that $\partial_r \left(r^{n+2} \mathbf{T}(u, r, e) \right) = r^{n+1} \mathbf{M}(u, r, e)$, therefore

$$r_2^{n+2}\mathbf{T}(u, r_2, e) - r_1^{n+2}\mathbf{T}(u, r_1, e) = \int_{r_1}^{r_2} s^{n+1}\mathbf{M}(u, s, e) \, ds \qquad \text{for all } 0 < r_1 < r_2.$$
(9.3)

While the quantities \mathbf{M} and \mathbf{T} are not necessarily monotone,¹⁷ we can still find nice relations between them and \mathbf{W} that will be crucial for our argument.

 $^{^{16}}$ The letter **M** is motivated by the analogies of our quantity with the so-called Monneau energy, which plays a crucial role in obstacle problems. However, contrary to that setting, now **M** is not a monotone quantity.

¹⁷The fact that we can exploit non-monotone quantities is rather remarkable, since usually the lack of monotonicity formulas makes this type of quantities useless. In this respect, our argument is very robust and we expect it to be useful in several other problems.

Lemma 9.1. For any $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, it holds

$$\partial_r \mathbf{W}(u,r) \ge 2r \left(\partial_r \sqrt{\mathbf{M}(u,r,e)}\right)^2.$$

Consequently, for any r > 0 and $\eta \in (0, 1)$,

$$\mathbf{M}(u, r, e) \le |\log \eta| \left(\mathbf{W}(u, r) - \mathbf{W}(u, \eta r) \right) + 2\mathbf{M}(u, \eta r, e)$$

and

$$\mathbf{T}(u,r,e) \le \frac{|\log(\eta)|}{n+2} (\mathbf{W}(u,r) - \mathbf{W}(u,\eta r)) + \frac{2}{n+2} \mathbf{M}(u,\eta r,e) + \eta^{n+2} \mathbf{T}(u,\eta r,e)$$

Proof. Since $u_r - x \cdot \nabla u_r = -r \partial_r u_r$, we have $\partial_r \mathbf{W}(u, r) = 2r \int_{\partial B_1} (\partial_r u_r)^2 d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$ (recall (4.6)). By Cauchy–Schwarz,

$$\partial_r \mathbf{M}(u, r, e) = 2 \int_{\partial B_1} (u_r - |e \cdot x|) \partial_r u_r \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$$

$$\leq 2 \sqrt{\int_{\partial B_1} (u_r - |e \cdot x|)^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}} \sqrt{\int_{\partial B_1} (\partial_r u_r)^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1}} = 2 \sqrt{\mathbf{M}(u, r, e)} \frac{\partial_r \mathbf{W}(u, r)}{2r}.$$

Rearranging the terms, we get the first inequality.

Now, we integrate the first inequality between ηr and r, we multiply the result by $\int_{\eta r}^{r} \frac{d\rho}{\rho} = |\log \eta|$, and then we apply Hölder inequality:

$$|\log \eta| \left(\mathbf{W}(u,r) - \mathbf{W}(u,\eta r)\right) \ge 2 \left(\int_{\eta r}^{r} \frac{d\rho}{\rho}\right) \int_{\eta r}^{r} \rho \left(\partial_{\rho} \sqrt{\mathbf{M}(u,\rho,e)}\right)^{2} d\rho \ge 2 \left(\int_{\eta r}^{r} \partial_{\rho} \sqrt{\mathbf{M}(u,\rho,e)} d\rho\right)^{2}.$$

This gives

$$\frac{1}{2}|\log \eta| \left(\mathbf{W}(u,r) - \mathbf{W}(u,\eta r)\right) \ge \left(\sqrt{\mathbf{M}(u,r,e)} - \sqrt{\mathbf{M}(u,\eta r,e)}\right)^2 \ge \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{M}(u,r,e) - \mathbf{M}(u,\eta r,e),$$

which proves the second inequality.

Finally, using (9.3) with $r_2 = r$ and $r_1 = \eta r$, by the second inequality we get

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{T}(u,r,e) &\leq r^{-n-2} \int_{\eta r}^{r} s^{n+1} \mathbf{M}(u,s,e) ds + \eta^{n+2} \mathbf{T}(u,\eta r,e) \\ &\leq r^{-n-2} \int_{\eta r}^{r} s^{n+1} \left(\log\left(\frac{s}{\eta r}\right) \left(\mathbf{W}(u,s) - \mathbf{W}(u,\eta r)\right) + 2\mathbf{M}(u,\eta r,e) \right) ds + \eta^{n+2} \mathbf{T}(u,\eta r,e). \end{aligned}$$

Since $\log\left(\frac{s}{\eta r}\right) \leq |\log \eta|$ and $\mathbf{W}(u, s) \leq \mathbf{W}(u, r)$ for $s \in [\eta r, r]$ (recall that $\mathbf{W}(u, \cdot)$ is non-decreasing), we can bound the term above by

$$\left(|\log(\eta)|(\mathbf{W}(u,r)-\mathbf{W}(u,\eta r))+2\mathbf{M}(u,\eta r,e)\right)r^{-n-2}\int_{\eta r}^{r}s^{n+1}\,dx+\eta^{n+2}\mathbf{T}(u,\eta r,e),$$

from which the third inequality follows easily.

It will now be convenient to allow the center of the different quantities to vary. To this aim, we denote

$$\mathbf{W}_{x_{\circ}}(u,r) = \mathbf{W}(u(\cdot - x_{\circ}), r), \quad \mathbf{M}_{x_{\circ}}(u,r,e) = \mathbf{M}(u(\cdot - x_{\circ}), r, e), \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{T}_{x_{\circ}}(u,r,e) = \mathbf{T}(u(\cdot - x_{\circ}), r, e).$$

We want to show the existence of a free boundary point where the Weiss energy is close to its maximum while **T** and **M** are very small, all in terms of ε_k . In this result, it will be crucial that we can prove a bound in $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k$ with a power strictly larger than 2.

Lemma 9.2. Let α_3 be as in (4.7). Then, in the setting of Proposition 8.1 and for $k \gg 1$, there exists $\bar{y} \in B_{\tilde{R}_k/32}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap FB(u)$ such that

$$2\alpha_3 - \mathbf{W}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16) \leq \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\chi/2} \qquad and \qquad \mathbf{T}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/4, e) + \mathbf{M}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/4, e) \leq \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\chi/2}$$

for some $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$.

Proof. Recall that $R_k^{\flat} = \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi} \tilde{R}_k$. We divide the proof into three steps.

Step 1: Given any $\mathbf{z} \in B_{\tilde{R}_k/16}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \mathcal{Z}$, we start by proving some controls on the vectors a_{\pm}^{\flat} and the constants b_{\pm}^{\flat} from Proposition 8.1 (whose dependence on \mathbf{z} is omitted).

Up to a translation, we can assume that $\mathbf{z} = 0$. By (8.4), if we set $r_k^{\flat} := \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+2\chi} \tilde{R}_k$, then

$$\int_{U_* \cap B_r} |u - a_*^{\flat} \cdot x - b_*^{\flat}| \, dx \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat} \quad \text{for any} \quad r \in [r_k^{\flat}, R_k^{\flat}], \quad * \in \{+, -\}.$$

$$(9.4)$$

Since $u - a_*^{\flat} \cdot x$ is 2-Lipschitz and vanishes at 0, (9.4) with $r = r_k^{\flat}$ implies

$$|b_*^{\flat}| \le 2r_k^{\flat} + C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat} \le C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat} \quad \text{for} \quad * \in \{+, -\}.$$

$$(9.5)$$

Furthermore, since $R_k^{\flat} \gg r_{\star}(0)$, Lemma 5.7 implies that u is L^{∞} -close to a vee $V_{0,e}$ in $B_{R_k^{\flat}}$. By the L^1 -closeness condition (9.4), we must have $|a_+^{\flat} - e| \ll 1$ (up to replacing e by -e). Consequently, u > 0 in the region $B_{R_k^{\flat}} \cap \{a_+^{\flat} \cdot x > R_k^{\flat}/16\}$, where it is harmonic. Thus, by L^1 -to- L^{∞} estimates for harmonic functions, we have $|u - a_+^{\flat} \cdot x - b_+^{\flat}| \leq C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat}$ in $B_{3R_k^{\flat}/4} \cap \{a_+^{\flat} \cdot x \geq R_k^{\flat}/8\}$. This, together with $a_+^{\flat} \cdot \nabla(u - a_+^{\flat} \cdot x - b_+^{\flat}) \leq 0$ and the bound on b_+^{\flat} , gives

$$u(x) \ge a_+^{\flat} \cdot x + b_+^{\flat} - C\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat} \ge a_+^{\flat} \cdot x - C\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} R_k^{\flat} \qquad \text{in} \quad B_{R_k^{\flat}/2}.$$

By symmetry, the same bound holds for a^{\flat}_{-} , therefore

. .

$$u(x) \ge \max\{a_{+}^{\flat} \cdot x, a_{-}^{\flat} \cdot x\} - C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat} \quad \text{in} \quad B_{R_{k}^{\flat}/2}.$$
(9.6)

Next, we note that the closeness of u to a vee implies that $|a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}| \ll 1$, and we want to quantify this. To this aim, we first note that

$$\inf_{\substack{B_{R_k^{\flat}/2} \cap \{e \cdot x \ge R_k^{\flat}/8\}}} u = 0 \quad \text{for any } e \perp a_+^{\flat}.$$

$$(9.7)$$

Indeed, since the sum of radii of the balls forming U_0 is bounded by $C\widetilde{R}_k \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1/\alpha} \widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{-\frac{1+\beta_0}{3\alpha}} \ll R_k^{\flat}$ (recall (7.20)), it follows from Lemma 7.7 that we can always find free boundary points inside $B_{R_k^{\flat}/2} \cap \{e \cdot x \ge R_k^{\flat}/8\}$.

Now, assume that $|a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}| > 0$ (otherwise there is nothing to prove) and consider the vector $e = \frac{a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}}{|a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}|} - \frac{1}{2}|a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}|a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}| \ll 1$, e is almost unitary and almost parallel to $a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}$. Also, one can readily check that $e \cdot a_{+}^{\flat} = 0$. Thus, (9.6) yields

$$u(x) \ge \frac{(a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}) \cdot x}{2} - C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat} \ge c |a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}| R_{k}^{\flat} - C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat} \quad \text{in} \quad B_{R_{k}^{\flat}/2} \cap \{e \cdot x \ge R_{k}^{\flat}/8\},$$

for some universal constant c > 0. Combining this bound with (9.7), this proves that $|a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}| \leq C \tilde{\epsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat}$. In particular, recalling (9.5), we conclude that

$$|a_{+}^{\flat} + a_{-}^{\flat}| \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\pm 1 + \chi/3} \quad \text{and} \quad |b_{+}^{\flat}| + |b_{-}^{\flat}| \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{\pm 1 + \chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat}.$$

$$(9.8)$$

Step 2: We now show the existence of a point $\bar{y} \in B_{\tilde{R}_k/32}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap FB(u)$ whose distance from \mathcal{Z} is comparable to R_k^{\flat} .

Indeed, recalling that $r_{\star}(\mathbf{z}') \ll R_k^{\flat}$ for all $\mathbf{z}' \in B_{\tilde{R}_k/32}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$, it follows from (7.10) and Lemma 7.2 that the set $\mathcal{Z} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/64}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ can be covered by $C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{-\frac{(1+\beta_0)\chi}{3}}$ balls of radius $\frac{1}{4}R_k^{\flat}$. Hence, recalling Definition 7.6, we also have

$$\overline{U_0} \cap B_{\widetilde{R}_k/64}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^N B_{\frac{3}{4}R_k^\flat}(\mathbf{z}_i) =: S,$$

for some $\mathbf{z}_i \in \mathcal{Z}$, where $N \leq C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{-\frac{(1+\beta_0)\chi}{3}}$. Notice now that, thanks to Lemma 7.7, $(FB(u) \cup U_0) \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/32}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ is contained inside a strip $W := \operatorname{Slab}\left(B_{\tilde{R}_k/32}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k), e, \tilde{\varepsilon}_k\right)$ of width $\tilde{R}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k \ll R_k^{\flat}$. In addition, again by Lemma 7.7, $FB(u) \cup (S \cap W)$ separates $\{u > 0\} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/64}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ into two disjoint regions. By projecting these sets onto the hyperplane $\{e \cdot (x - \tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) = 0\}$, we see that the area contributed by $S \cap W$ is of order $(R_k^{\flat})^2 \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{-\frac{(1+\beta_0)\chi}{3}} \ll \tilde{R}_k^2$, which means in particular that one can always find a point $\bar{y} \in \partial S \cap FB(u) \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/32}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$. In particular, by the construction, it follows that

$$\bar{y} \in \operatorname{FB}(u) \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/32}(\widetilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap \left\{ \frac{1}{2} R_k^{\flat} \le \operatorname{dist}\left(\cdot, \mathcal{Z}\right) \le \frac{3}{4} R_k^{\flat} \right\}.$$

Let $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{\tilde{R}_k/16}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k)$ be such that dist $(\bar{y}, \mathcal{Z}) = |\bar{y} - \mathbf{z}|$. After a translation, we assume $\mathbf{z} = 0$ (so we are putting ourselves in the setting of Step 1). From (9.4) we know that

$$\int_{U_{\pm}\cap B_{R_{k}^{\flat}/8}(\bar{y})} |u - a_{\pm}^{\flat} \cdot x - b_{\pm}^{\flat}| \, dx \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat},\tag{9.9}$$

where a_{\pm}^{\flat} and b_{\pm}^{\flat} satisfy (9.8). Notice also that, by assumption, there are no neck centers \mathcal{Z} in $B_{R_k^{\flat}/4}(\bar{y})$; therefore, $\partial U_{\pm} \subset FB(u)$ and $U_{\pm} \cup U_{\pm} = \{u > 0\}$ inside $B_{R_k^{\flat}/8}(\bar{y})$, and the restriction of u to U_{\pm} is a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem inside $B_{R_k^{\flat}/8}(\bar{y})$. Consequently, we can apply Lemma 3.8 (rescaled) to such restrictions to obtain

$$|u-a_{\pm}^{\flat}\cdot x-b_{\pm}^{\flat}| \le C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3}R_{k}^{\flat} \quad \text{and} \quad |\nabla u-a_{\pm}^{\flat}| \le C\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} \quad \text{in} \quad U_{\pm} \cap B_{R_{k}^{\flat}/16}(\bar{y}).$$

In particular, applying the first bound above with $x = \bar{y} \in FB(u)$ it follows that $|a_{\pm}^{\flat} \cdot \bar{y} + b_{\pm}^{\flat}| \leq C \tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat}$, that combined with the bounds above implies

$$|u-a_{\pm}^{\flat}\cdot(x-\bar{y})| \le C\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3}R_k^{\flat} \quad \text{and} \quad |\nabla u-a_{\pm}^{\flat}| \le C\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} \quad \text{in} \quad U_{\pm}\cap B_{R_k^{\flat}/16}(\bar{y})$$

Combining this estimate with (9.8), we conclude that

$$\{\pm a_{\pm}^{\flat} \cdot x \ge C \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat}\} \subset U_{\pm} - \bar{y} \subset \{\pm a_{\pm}^{\flat} \cdot x \ge -C \widetilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{1+\chi/3} R_{k}^{\flat}\} \quad \text{in} \quad B_{R_{k}^{\flat}/16},$$

i.e., the two free boundaries are $C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3}$ -flat at scale $R_k^{\flat}/16$ and are at distance $C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3}R_k^{\flat}$ from each other.

Since $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k \ll 1$ for k sufficiently large, combining all these estimates together we get the desired bounds on $\mathbf{M}_{\bar{y}}$ and $\mathbf{T}_{\bar{y}}$ with $e = a_+^{\flat}$.

Step 3: Let $\bar{u}(x) := \frac{16}{R_k^b} u\left(\bar{y} + \frac{R_k^b}{16}x\right)$ be defined in B_1 . By Step 2 we know that $\{\bar{u} > 0\}$ has two flat connected components \bar{U}_{\pm} and that, after a rotation

$$|\bar{u} \mp x_3| \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3}, \qquad |\nabla \bar{u} \mp e_3| \le C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3} \qquad \text{in} \quad \bar{U}_{\pm} \cap B_1,$$

$$(9.10)$$

and

$$\left\{\pm x_3 \ge C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3}\right\} \subset \bar{U}_{\pm} \subset \left\{\pm x_3 \ge -C\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{1+\chi/3}\right\} \quad \text{in} \quad B_1.$$

$$(9.11)$$

Let \bar{u}^{\pm} denote the restrictions of \bar{u} to \bar{U}_{\pm} , so that $\bar{u} = \bar{u}^+ + \bar{u}^-$ and

$$\mathbf{W}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16) = \mathbf{W}(\bar{u}, 1) = \mathbf{W}(\bar{u}^+, 1) + \mathbf{W}(\bar{u}^-, 1).$$

Now, given any solution w to the Bernoulli problem in B_1 , let $\Omega := \{w > 0\}$, so that w = 0 on $\partial\Omega$ and ∇w coincides with the inner unit normal. Then, using integration by parts, on the one hand we have

$$\mathbf{W}(w,1) = \int_{\partial B_1} (x \cdot \nabla w - w) w \, d\mathcal{H}^2 + |\Omega \cap B_1|,$$

and, on the other hand (here we use that, on $\partial\Omega$, w = 0 and ∇w coincides with the inner unit normal),

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_1} x \cdot \nabla w \, x_3 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 - \int_{\partial \Omega \cap B_1} x_3 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 = \int_{\Omega \cap B_1} \nabla w \cdot \nabla x_3 \, dx = \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_1} w x \cdot \nabla x_3 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 = \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_1} w x_3 \, d\mathcal{H}^2$$

Combining these two identities, we deduce that

$$\mathbf{W}(w,1) = \int_{\partial B_1} (x \cdot \nabla w - w)(w - x_3) \, d\mathcal{H}^2 + \int_{\partial \Omega \cap B_1} x_3 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 + |\Omega \cap B_1|$$

Notice that, applying the divergence theorem to the vector field x_3e_3 inside a Lipschitz domain A, it follows that

$$|A \cap B_1| = \int_{A \cap B_1} \operatorname{div}(x_3 e_3) \, dx = \int_{\partial A \cap B_1} x_3 e_3 \cdot \nu \, d\mathcal{H}^2 + \int_{\overline{A} \cap \partial B_1} x_3^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^2$$

Applying this estimate both with $A = B_1 \setminus \Omega$ and $A = B_1^- := B_1 \cap \{x_3 \leq 0\}$, we obtain

$$\int_{\partial\Omega\cap B_1} x_3 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 - |B_1 \setminus \Omega| + |B_1^-| = \int_{\partial\Omega\cap B_1} x_3(1 - e_3 \cdot \nu) \, d\mathcal{H}^2 - \int_{\overline{(B_1 \setminus \Omega)}\cap\partial B_1} x_3^2 d\mathcal{H}^2 + \int_{\{x_3 \le 0\}\cap\partial B_1} x_3^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^2,$$

where ν is the inner unit normal to Ω , and therefore

$$\left| \int_{\partial\Omega\cap B_1} x_3 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 + |\Omega\cap B_1| - \frac{1}{2} |B_1| \right| \le \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial\Omega\cap B_1} |x_3| \, |\nu - e_3|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 + \int_{(\overline{(B_1\setminus\Omega)}\Delta\{x_3\le 0\})\cap\partial B_1} x_3^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^2.$$

Applying this bound with $w = \bar{u}_+$ and $\Omega = \bar{U}_+$, recalling (9.10) and (9.11) we get

$$\int_{\partial \bar{U}_+ \cap B_1} x_3 \, d\mathcal{H}^2 + |\Omega \cap B_1| = \frac{1}{2} |B_1| + O\left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{3(1+\chi/3)}\right)$$

thus

$$\mathbf{W}(\bar{u}^+, 1) = \int_{\partial B_1} (x \cdot \nabla \bar{u}^+ - \bar{u}^+)(\bar{u}^+ - x_3) \, d\mathcal{H}^2 + \frac{1}{2}|B_1| + O\left(\hat{\varepsilon}_k^{3(1+\chi/3)}\right) \, d\mathcal{H}^2$$

Thanks again to (9.10) and (9.11), we see that the integrand above is bounded by $C \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{2(1+\chi/3)}$. This implies that

$$\mathbf{W}(\bar{u}^{+},1) = \frac{1}{2}|B_{1}| + O\left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2(1+\chi/3)}\right) \implies \mathbf{W}_{\bar{y}}(u,R_{k}^{\flat}/16) = \mathbf{W}(\bar{u},1) = |B_{1}| + O\left(\tilde{\varepsilon}_{k}^{2(1+\chi/3)}\right),$$

so the desired bound follows.

9.2. Proof of Theorem 1.5. We are now ready to prove our main result.

Proof of Theorem 1.5. We assume the statement to be false. After the reduction provided by Lemma 5.1, we can assume u to have a globally bounded Hessian. Then, we can define the neck centers \mathcal{Z} as done in Subsection 5.3, and this set is non-empty because of Lemma 5.2.

We define the symmetric excess $E_{\mathbf{z}}(u, R)$ at any $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{Z}$ and R > 0 as in (2.1). By Lemma 7.1, there exist $R_k \to \infty$ and $\mathbf{z}_k \in \mathcal{Z}$ such that

$$\varepsilon_k = \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}_k}(u, 8R_k) \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty.$$

Moreover, by Lemma 7.3, there are $\tilde{R}_k = \tilde{\zeta}_k R_k \to \infty$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k \in \mathcal{Z} \cap B_{R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k)$ such that (7.12) holds, with $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k = \tilde{\zeta}_k^{\alpha\beta_\circ}\varepsilon_k$ and $\tilde{\zeta}_k \in (0, 1]$.

Now, by (4.8), the monotonicity of the Weiss energy, and Lemma 9.2 (using the notation there, as well), there exists a point $\bar{y} \in B_{\tilde{R}_k/32}(\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_k) \cap FB(u)$ such that

$$|B_1| - \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\chi/2} \le \mathbf{W}_{\bar{y}}(u, r) \le |B_1| \qquad \text{for all } r \ge R_k^{\flat}/16$$

Thus, combining this bound with Lemmas 9.2 and 9.1, we get (for $e \in \mathbb{S}^2$ as in Lemma 9.2)

$$\mathbf{T}_{\bar{y}}(u, 32R_k, e) \le |\log(CR_k/R_k^{\flat})|\hat{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\chi/2} + \mathbf{M}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e) + \mathbf{T}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e) \le C|\log(\tilde{\zeta}_k \hat{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi})|\hat{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\chi/2} + \mathbf{M}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e) + \mathbf{T}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e) \le C|\log(\tilde{\zeta}_k \hat{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi})|\hat{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\chi/2} + \mathbf{M}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e) + \mathbf{T}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e) \le C|\log(\tilde{\zeta}_k \hat{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi})|\hat{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\chi/2} + \mathbf{M}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e) + \mathbf{T}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e) \le C|\log(\tilde{\zeta}_k \hat{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi})|\hat{\varepsilon}_k^{2+\chi/2} + \mathbf{M}_{\bar{y}}(u, R_k^{\flat}/16, e)$$

where we used that $R_k^{\flat} = \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi} \tilde{R}_k = \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi} \tilde{\zeta}_k R_k$. Now, recalling recalling $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k = \tilde{\zeta}_k^{\alpha\beta_{\circ}} \varepsilon_k$, it follows that $|\log(\tilde{\zeta}_k \tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi})|\tilde{\varepsilon}_k^{\chi/3} \to 0$ as $\varepsilon_k \to 0$. Hence, in particular,

$$\mathbf{\Gamma}_{\bar{y}}(u, 32R_k, e) \le \varepsilon_k^{2+\chi/6} \quad \text{for } k \gg 1$$

(Here is the only place in the paper where we are using that $\beta_{\circ} > 0$.) Since $B_{8R_k}(\mathbf{z}_k) \subset B_{32R_k}(\bar{y})$, for k sufficiently large we get

$$\varepsilon_{k} = \boldsymbol{E}_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u, 8R_{k}) \le \left(\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{z}_{k}}(u, 8R_{k}, e)\right)^{1/2} \le \left(\left(\frac{32}{8}\right)^{5} \mathbf{T}_{\bar{y}}(u, 32R_{k}, e)\right)^{1/2} \le 2^{5} \varepsilon_{k}^{1+\chi/12}, \tag{9.12}$$

a contradiction.

Remark 9.3. The conditions to be satisfied by all the constants appearing throughout the paper are:

$$3\alpha\gamma > 1, \qquad 12\alpha\beta < 5 - \beta_{\circ}, \qquad \delta_{\circ} = 2(2\beta - 1) > 0, \qquad \bar{\gamma} < \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha}, \qquad \frac{3}{4} < \alpha < \frac{5 - \beta_{\circ}}{6}, \qquad p < 1 + \bar{\gamma},$$

as well as

$$4\chi + 2(1+2\chi)\bar{\beta} < \delta_{\circ}, \qquad \bar{\beta} < \frac{p-1}{p}, \qquad \chi < \frac{1+\bar{\gamma}-p}{1+p}, \qquad \frac{\delta_{\circ}}{8} \ge \frac{5\chi}{2}.$$

One possible choice is:

$$\beta_{\circ} = \frac{1}{20}, \quad \beta = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{40}, \quad \alpha = \frac{39}{50}, \quad \gamma = \frac{11}{25}, \quad p = \frac{21}{20}, \quad \bar{\beta} = \frac{1}{40}, \quad \delta_{\circ} = \frac{1}{10}, \quad \chi = \frac{1}{500}, \quad \bar{\gamma} = \frac{1}{10}.$$

9.3. **Proofs of Corollaries 1.6 and 1.7.** Corollaries 1.6 and 1.7 are now rather standard consequences of Theorem 1.5. We sketch their proofs here for the reader's convenience:

Proof of Corollary 1.6. Let u be a global classical solution of the Bernoulli problem in \mathbb{R}^4 satisfying $\partial_{x_4} u > 0$ in $\{u > 0\}$. We start by noticing that u is stable. Indeed, for every smooth compactly supported function ξ , let $\operatorname{spt}(\xi) \subset K = K' \times [-C, C]$ for some compact set $K' \subset \mathbb{R}^3$. Then, whenever $K \cap \{u > 0\} \neq \emptyset$ we have

$$\inf_{K \cap \{u>0\}} \partial_4 u \ge c(u, K) > 0$$

(see, for instance, [36, Lemma 4.1]), which shows that translations of the graph of u in the x_4 direction locally foliate the graph of u. It is then a standard fact that this property implies the minimality of u with respect to sufficiently small variations and, therefore, its stability (for a detailed proof of this fact see, for instance, [2, Proof of Theorem 4.5]).¹⁸

Suppose now, by contradiction, that $D^2 u \neq 0$ in $\{u > 0\}$. By Lemma 5.1, there exists a (classical) stable solution (which, as an abuse of notation, we still denote u) satisfying

$$|D^2 u| \le 1$$
 in $\{u > 0\}$ and $|D^2 u(0)| = 1$.

Also, as one can easily check, the proof Lemma 5.1 provides a new function that will still satisfy monotonicity but in the weaker form $\partial_{x_4} u \ge 0$. Moreover, up to restricting u to a single connected component of $\{u > 0\}$, we can assume without loss of generality that $\{u > 0\}$ has one connected component.

We now consider the two limits

$$\underline{u} = \underline{u}(x_1, x_2, x_3) := \lim_{x_4 \to -\infty} u$$
 and $\overline{u} = \overline{u}(x_1, x_2, x_3) := \lim_{x_4 \to +\infty} u.$

Thanks to the bound $|D^2 u| \leq 1$ (which also gives uniform curvature bounds on the free boundary), $\underline{u} \leq u$ is either identically zero or is a classical stable solution of Bernoulli in \mathbb{R}^3 (cf. proof of Lemma 5.1). Analogously, $\overline{u} \geq u$ is either identically $+\infty$ or is a classical stable solution of Bernoulli in \mathbb{R}^3 .

Applying Theorem 1.5 to both \underline{u} and \overline{u} we obtain that, if they are not constant (respectively equal to 0 or $+\infty$), then $\{\underline{u}=0\}$ and $\{\overline{u}=0\}$ are either a half-space or a slab (i.e., the region between two parallel hyperplanes). Since $0 \le u \le \overline{u}$, in this second scenario also $\{u > 0\}$ would be disconnected, contradicting our setup. Thus:

(i) \underline{u} is either zero, or a 1D monotone minimizer (so, of the form $(x \cdot e - a)_+$), or a maximum of two minimizers with disjoint support;

(ii) \overline{u} is either a 1D monotone minimizer or $+\infty$.

This ensures that \underline{u} and \overline{u} are, respectively, lower and upper barriers for minimizers (since minimizers cannot cross). Thus, since the family of translated graphs $\{x_5 = u(x + te_4)\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$ foliates the region

$$\{(x, x_5) \in \mathbb{R}^4 \times [0, +\infty) : \underline{u}(x) \le x_5 \le \overline{u}(x)\},\$$

a standard foliation argument (see [54, Proof of Theorem 1.3]) implies that u must be energy-minimizing in every compact subset of \mathbb{R}^4 . But then it follows from the regularity theory for minimizers for the Bernoulli problem (e.g. using [30, 55]) that D^2u is identically zero in $\{u > 0\}$, contradicting $|D^2u(0)| = 1$.

Corollary 1.7 will be obtained as a particular case of the following more technical proposition that will be useful in the sequel as well. A direct proof of the fact that Theorem 1.5 implies Corollary 1.7 is essentially contained in [57]. However, the current proof of [57, Theorem 1.2] relies on [20, Lemma 1.21] (see the discussion before [57, Proposition A.4]), whose proof is incomplete. We fix this gap in our Lemma 4.5.

Proposition 9.4. Let u be a classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^4$ satisfying $\partial_4 u \geq 0$ in B_1 . Then $|D^2 u| \leq C$ in $\overline{B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\}}$, for some C universal.

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of Lemma 5.1 and assume by contradiction that the statement does not hold. Then, there exists a sequence u_k of classical stable solutions to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^4$, with $0 \in FB(u_k)$, $\partial_4 u_k \geq 0$, and such that

$$h_k := |D^2 u_k(x_k)| \left(\frac{3}{4} - |x_k|\right) = \max_{x \in B_{3/4} \cap \partial\{u_k > 0\}} |D^2 u_k(x)| \left(\frac{3}{4} - |x|\right) \to \infty \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty.$$

¹⁸An alternative way to obtain the stability inequality from a positive (sub-)solution of the linearized equation is as follows: if $\psi > 0$ satisfies $\Delta \psi = 0$ in $\{u > 0\}, \psi_{\nu} + H\psi = 0$ on FB(u), then for $\phi \in C_c^{0,1}(\mathbb{R}^4)$, testing against ϕ^2/ψ gives

$$\int_{\{u>0\}} |\nabla\phi|^2 \, dx - \int_{\operatorname{FB}(u)} H\phi^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^3 = \int_{\{u>0\}} \left(|\nabla\phi|^2 - \nabla \cdot \frac{\phi^2 \nabla\psi}{\psi} \right) \, dx = \int_{\{u>0\}} \left| \nabla\phi - \frac{\phi \nabla\psi}{\psi} \right|^2 \, dx \ge 0$$

Set $d_k := D^2 u_k(x_k)$ and $\rho_k = \frac{3}{4} - |x_k|$, and define the classical stable solution

$$\tilde{u}_k(x) := d_k u_k(x_k + x/d_k) \quad \text{for} \quad x \in B_{d_k \rho_k/2}.$$

Since $d_k \rho_k \to \infty$, proceeding as in Lemma 5.1 we can take the limit of \tilde{u}_k (up to subsequences) to find a global classical stable solution \tilde{u}_{∞} , with $0 \in FB(u_{\infty})$, $\partial_4 \tilde{u}_{\infty} \ge 0$, $|D^2 \tilde{u}_{\infty}(0)| = 1$, and $|D^2 \tilde{u}_{\infty}| \le 1$ in $\{\tilde{u}_{\infty} > 0\}$.

Up to restricting \tilde{u}_{∞} to one connected component of $\{\tilde{u}_{\infty} > 0\}$, we can assume that $\{\tilde{u}_{\infty} > 0\}$ has a single connected component. Then, by the strong minimum principle, either $\partial_4 \tilde{u}_{\infty} \equiv 0$ (in which case we contradict Theorem 1.5) or $\partial_4 \tilde{u}_{\infty} > 0$ (contradicting Corollary 1.6).

We can now prove our second corollary.

Proof of Corollary 1.7. It suffices to extend our function to $B_1 \times \mathbb{R} \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}$ by taking it constant in the last variable, and then apply Proposition 9.4.

10. The Free Boundary Allen-Cahn

10.1. **Preliminaries.** The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 1.1. To show it, we will combine the curvature estimates obtained for the free boundary in the Bernoulli problem (see Corollary 1.7) with the Sternberg–Zumbrun stability inequality (see Lemma 10.2 below). This will allow us to extend Pogorelov's argument [77] for stable minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 to our setting.

Before beginning with the proof, let us give the definition of classical solution, in analogy with Definition 3.1. Consider the energy \mathcal{J}_1^0 from (1.1). We call $u: B_R \to [-1, 1]$ a *classical solutions* of \mathcal{J}_1^0 if

$$\{|u|<1\} \text{ is locally a smooth domain in } B_R \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{cases} \Delta u=0 & \text{ in } B_R \cap \{|u|<1\}, \\ |\nabla u|=1 & \text{ on } B_R \cap \partial \{|u|<1\}. \end{cases}$$
(10.1)

The set $\partial \{u > 0\}$ is called the *free boundary* and will also be denoted FB(u). In particular, a classical solution satisfies that $\{u > 0\}$ is locally the subgraph of a smooth function around each free boundary point (up to a rotation).

Classical solutions u are stationary critical points of \mathcal{J}_1^0 , in the sense that they satisfy (3.2) with $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{J}_1^0$; and stationary critical points u are called *stable* if they have non-negative second (inner) variations, i.e., they satisfy (3.3) with $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{J}_1^0$.

From now on, a solution will refer, unless otherwise stated, to the free boundary Allen–Cahn energy \mathcal{J}_1^0 .

Definition 10.1. Let $n \ge 2$ and R > 0. In relation to the free boundary Allen–Cahn, i.e., choosing $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{J}_1^0$ in (3.2)–(3.3), we say that $u \in H^1(B_R)$ with $B_R \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is:

- a classical solution or classical critical point in B_R if it satisfies (10.1) (in particular, it satisfies (3.2));
- a classical stable solution or classical stable critical point in B_R if it is a classical solution and satisfies (3.3).

If a function satisfies one of the previous definitions for all R > 0, we call it *global*.

The Sternberg–Zumbrun stability inequality for the free boundary Allen–Cahn is the following:

Lemma 10.2 (Sternberg–Zumbrun stability inequality). Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a classical stable critical point of \mathcal{J}_1^0 (see (1.1)) in \mathbb{R}^n . Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \zeta^2 \, dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u|^2 |\nabla \zeta|^2 \, dx \qquad \text{for all} \quad \zeta \in C_c^{0,1}(\mathbb{R}^n), \tag{10.2}$$

where

$$|\mathcal{A}(u)|^{2}(x) := \begin{cases} |A(u(x))|^{2} + |\nabla_{T} \log |\nabla u(x)||^{2} & \text{if } |u| < 1 \text{ and } |\nabla u(x)| \neq 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Here, A(u(x)) denotes the second fundamental form of the level set $\{u = u(x)\}$ at the point x (therefore, $|A(u(x))|^2$ is the sum of the squares of the principal curvatures) and ∇_T denotes the tangential gradient to the level sets.

Proof. As in the case of Bernoulli case, it follows from (A.3) using the identity in [81, Lemma 2.1]. \Box

Remark 10.3. Notice that, by approximation and smoothly extending and cutting off inside $\{|u| = 1\}$, it suffices in (10.2) to consider test functions with $\zeta \in C_c^{0,1}(\overline{\{|u| < 1\}})$.

As a first observation, we have Modica's inequality (in analogy with its smooth counterpart [71]):

Lemma 10.4 (Modica's inequality). Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a classical solution of \mathcal{J}_1^0 in \mathbb{R}^n . Then Modica's inequality takes the form

$$|\nabla u|^2 \le 1. \tag{10.3}$$

Proof. The global Lipschitz bound with a dimensional constant C holds by the same proof as for the Bernoulli problem, see for example [20, Lemma 11.19]. Let us now prove that this constant can be chosen to be 1.

By contradiction, assume that

$$\sup_{u} |\nabla u| = 1 + \kappa > 1,$$

for some $\kappa \in (0, C-1]$. Then, since $|\nabla u|^2$ is subharmonic inside $\{|u| < 1\}$, and $|\nabla u| = 1$ on the free boundary, the maximum principle implies that there exists a sequence $z_i \in \{|u| < 1\}$, with $|z_i| \to \infty$ as $i \to \infty$, such that $|\nabla u(z_i)| \uparrow 1 + \kappa$. Let $y_i \in \partial\{|u| < 1\}$ satisfy dist $(z_i, \partial\{|u| < 1\}) = |z_i - y_i| =: \tau_i$. Notice that, since $|u| \le 1$, harmonic estimates imply that $|\nabla u| \le C \operatorname{dist}(\cdot, \partial\{|u| < 1\})^{-1}$, so τ_i is necessarily bounded (but it could go to zero).

Up to taking a subsequence and replacing u with -u, we can assume that $u(y_i) = -1$ for all i. Then, if we define

$$v_i(x) := \frac{u(z_i + \tau_i x) + 1}{\tau_i} \ge 0,$$

it follows that v_i satisfies

 $\Delta v_i = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad v_i > 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad B_1, \qquad \sup_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla v_i| = 1 + \kappa, \qquad |\nabla v_i(0)| \uparrow_i 1 + \kappa, \qquad |\nabla v_i| = 1 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \{v_i > 0\}.$

Also, up to a rotation, we can assume that $z_i - y_i = \tau_i e_n$, therefore $v_i(-e_n) = 0$.

Then, up to a subsequence, the functions v_i converge locally uniformly in \mathbb{R}^n to a $(1 + \kappa)$ -Lipschitz function v_{∞} that is harmonic in B_1 and satisfies $|\nabla v_{\infty}(0)| = 1 + \kappa$, $v_{\infty} \ge 0$ in B_1 , and $v_{\infty}(-e_n) = 0$. Thus, by the strong maximum principle, $|\nabla v_{\infty}| \equiv 1 + \kappa$ in B_1 , and therefore $v_{\infty}(x) = (1 + \kappa)(x_n + 1)$ in B_1 . By unique continuation, it follows that $v_{\infty}(x) = (1 + \kappa)(x_n + 1)$ in $\{-1 \le x_n \le 1\}$.

Thus, we have proved that the non-negative functions v_i converge locally uniformly to $(1 + \kappa)(x_n + 1)$ inside $\{-1 < x_n < 1\}$. Consider now the harmonic sub-barrier

$$\psi_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(x) := (1 + \frac{\kappa}{2})(x_n + 1) + \varepsilon \left((x_n + 1)^2 - \frac{1}{n-1}(x_1^2 + \dots + x_{n-1}^2) \right).$$

For ε sufficiently small (depending only on κ) and for *i* large enough (depending on ε and κ), we see that $v_i \ge \psi_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(x - se_n)$ on $\partial B_2(-e_n)$ for all $s \in [0, 1]$, and $\psi_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(x - e_n) \le v_i$ in $B_2(-e_n)$.

We now perform a sliding argument and let s decrease from 1 until $\psi_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(x - se_n)$ touches v_i from below. By the previous considerations and the maximum principle, the touching point must be on the free boundary of v_i . But this is a contradiction, since $|\nabla v_i| = 1$ on the free boundary while $|\nabla \psi_{\kappa,\varepsilon}| \ge \partial_n \psi_{\kappa,\varepsilon} \ge 1 + \frac{\kappa}{2} - C_n \varepsilon > 1$ for ε small enough, depending only on n and κ .

The stability inequality (10.2) will now be used in four ways:

- (1) With a Euclidean log-cut-off in \mathbb{R}^3 , showing that the amount of "bad regions" is sublinear. This results in a clean annulus (see Lemma 10.8).
- (2) With a Euclidean Lipschitz cut-off, ensuring good estimates in the clean annulus (see Proposition 10.9).
- (3) With an intrinsic log-cut-off on a level set, a 2-surface, bounding the average area near the "bad region" (see Lemma 10.14).
- (4) With an intrinsic "tent" function of the form $(r d_{\mathfrak{B}})_+$, in an integral way (see (10.30)), allowing us to close a Gauss–Bonnet type estimate (see Lemma 10.16).

10.2. **Definition of B.** From now on, we will assume that n = 3 and u is a global classical stable solution to the free boundary Allen–Cahn in \mathbb{R}^3 according to Definition 10.1. We start with the following universal derivative bounds, which follow from the curvature bounds on the free boundary of stable solutions of the one-phase Bernoulli problem.

Lemma 10.5 (Regularity). For any $k \ge 2$ there exists a constant $C_k > 0$, depending only on k, such that $|D^k u| \le C_k$ inside $\{|u| < 1\}$.

Proof. Fix $x_{\circ} \in \partial \{|u| < 1\}$ and, up to replacing u with -u, assume that $u(x_{\circ}) = -1$. Thanks to Lemma 10.4 we know that $|\nabla u| \le 1$, therefore $u \le 0 < 1$ in $B_1(x_{\circ})$. This implies that u + 1 is a classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1(x_{\circ})$ (see Definition 3.1), so we can apply Corollary 1.7 and Lemma 3.9 to deduce that $|D^k u| \le C_k$ in $B_{1/2}(x_{\circ}) \cap \{u+1>0\}$. Repeating this argument at every free boundary point, we obtain $|D^k u| \le C_k$ inside $\{0 < \text{dist}(\cdot, \{|u| = 1\}) < 1/2\}$. Finally, the bound inside $\{|u| < 1\}$ follows by interior regularity estimates for harmonic functions.

Motivated by Lemma 10.2, given $\delta_{\circ} \in (0, 1)$ we define

$$\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) := \left\{ z \in \{ |u| < 1\} : \int_{B_2(z)} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \, dx > \delta_{\circ} \right\} \neq \emptyset.$$

$$(10.4)$$

Note that Theorem 1.1 is equivalent to showing that $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) = \emptyset$ for any $\delta_{\circ} > 0$. So, by contradiction, we assume that there exists $\delta_{\circ} \in (0,1)$ small (to be fixed later) such that $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) \neq \emptyset$, and define

$$\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) := \left\{ z \in \{ |u| < 1\} \setminus \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) : \operatorname{dist}\left(z, \{ |u| = 1\}\right) \le 8 \right\}$$

$$(10.5)$$

and

$$\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ}) := \{ |u| < 1 \} \setminus (\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) \cup \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}))$$

The following result says that the set $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$ locally looks like arbitrarily flat strips:

Lemma 10.6 (Curvature bound in $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$). Given $\eta_{\circ} \in (0, 1)$, there exists $\delta_{\circ} = \delta_{\circ}(\eta_{\circ}) > 0$ such that if $x_{\circ} \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$, then

$$|D^2u| \le \eta_\circ \quad in \quad B_{3/2}(x_\circ) \cap \{|u| < 1\},\$$

and ∇u almost achieves equality in Modica's inequality (10.3):

$$1 - \eta_{\circ} \le |\nabla u| \le 1 \qquad in \ \{|u| < 1\} \cap B_{3/2}(x_{\circ}).$$
(10.6)

In particular, for all $\lambda \in (-1,1)$, the level set $\{|u| = \lambda\} \cap B_{3/2}(x_{\circ})$ is a smooth surface with curvature bounded by η_{\circ} .

Proof. Translating if necessary, we can assume $x_{\circ} = 0$. We show first the bound on the Hessian.

As in the proof of Lemma A.3, $|D^2u|^2 \leq 3|\mathcal{A}(u)|^2|\nabla u|^2$ wherever u is harmonic. Thus,

$$\int_{B_2 \cap \{|u| < 1\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx \le 3\delta$$

Also, thanks to Lemma 10.5, $|D^3u| \leq C$ in $B_{3/2} \cap \{|u| < 1\}$, and the free boundaries have bounded curvature and they are uniformly separated. So, by Lemma A.2 applied to $|D^2u|$ we get

$$|D^2 u| \le C\delta_{\circ}^{1/8} \quad \text{in } B_{3/2} \cap \{|u| < 1\}.$$
(10.7)

This proves the first bound in the statement.

For the second one, we proceed by contradiction and compactness. Let u_k be a sequence of (nonconstant) stable critical points of \mathcal{J}_1^0 in \mathbb{R}^3 for which $0 \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_k)$ with $\delta_k = \frac{1}{k}$, but $|\nabla u_k(x_k)| < 1 - \eta_\circ$ for some $x_k \in \{|u_k| < 1\} \cap B_{3/2}$. Note that, as a consequence of 10.7,

$$\|D^2 u_k\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{3/2} \cap \{|u_k| < 1\})} \le Ck^{-1/8} \to 0, \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty.$$
(10.8)

Thanks to Lemma 10.5, up to a subsequence the functions u_k converge to u_∞ , which is a classical stable solution satisfying (because of (10.8) and unique continuation) $|D^2 u_\infty| \equiv 0$ in any connected component of $\{|u_\infty| < 1\}$ touching $B_{3/2}$. Also, there exists a point $x_\infty \in \{|u_\infty| < 1\} \cap \overline{B_{3/2}}$ such that $|\nabla u_\infty(x_\infty)| \leq 1 - \eta_\circ$. Since $|\nabla u_\infty| = 1$ on the free boundary, this implies that every connected component of $\{|u_\infty| < 1\}$ touching $B_{3/2}$ cannot have any boundary, therefore the only option is that $\{|u_\infty| < 1\} = \mathbb{R}^3$. By the convergence of u_k to u_∞ , this implies that u_k has no free boundary point inside B_{16} for k large, a contradiction to the fact that $0 \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_\circ)$.

Remark 10.7. As a consequence of the previous result, inside $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$ the integral curves of ∇u are almost straight and $|\nabla u|$ is very close to 1. Hence, by looking how the value of u changes along integral curves of ∇u , for any point $z \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$ it holds dist $(z, \{|u| = 1\}) \leq 1 - |u| + o_{\delta_{\circ}}(1) \leq 2$, where $o_{\delta_{\circ}}(1) \downarrow 0$ as $\delta_{\circ} \downarrow 0$. In particular, by the definition of $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$, it follows that $|z_g - z_w| \geq 6$ for any $(z_g, z_w) \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \times \mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$. Hence, these two sets are separated and since $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$ is far from the free boundaries, it must always be surrounded by $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$.

Now, given $\alpha > 0$ we define

$$\mathcal{S}^*_{\alpha}(\delta_{\circ}) := \bigcup_{z \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})} B_{\alpha}(z) = \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) + B_{\alpha}.$$

Then, given $x \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathcal{S}_{4}^{*}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $\lambda \in [-1, 1]$, we define the π_{λ} "projection" as the point on $\Sigma_{\lambda} := \{u = \lambda\}$ obtained from flowing x perpendicularly to the level sets until it intersects Σ_{λ} . That is, let $n_{x} : [-1, 1] \to \{|u| < 1\}$ be defined by

$$\dot{n}_x(t) = \frac{\nabla u(n_x(t))}{|\nabla u(n_x(t))|^2}, \qquad n_x(u(x)) = x,$$
(10.9)

and set

$$\pi_{\lambda}(x) := n_x(\lambda). \tag{10.10}$$

Notice that, if $x \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathcal{S}_{4}^{*}(\delta_{\circ})$, then Lemma 10.6 and Remark 10.7 imply that $1 - \eta_{\circ} \leq |\nabla u| \leq 1$ in $B_{4}(x) \cap \{|u| < 1\}$, so the map above is well defined (provided δ_{\circ} is sufficiently small so that $\eta_{\circ} \leq 1/2$).

Finally, we define

$$\mathfrak{B}_*(\delta_\circ) := \mathcal{S}_4^*(\delta_\circ) \cup \bigcup_{x \in \partial \mathcal{S}_4^*(\delta_\circ) \cap \mathcal{G}(\delta_\circ)} \{n_x(t) : t \in [-1,1]\} = \mathcal{S}_4^*(\delta_\circ) \cup \bigcup_{x \in \partial \mathcal{S}_4^*(\delta_\circ) \cap \mathcal{G}(\delta_\circ)} \{\pi_\lambda(x) : \lambda \in [-1,1]\}.$$

In other words, we add to $\mathcal{S}_4^*(\delta_\circ)$ the image of $\partial \mathcal{S}_4^*(\delta_\circ) \cap \mathcal{G}(\delta_\circ)$ through the flow ∇u across the level sets. Observe that, by construction and thanks to Lemma 10.6,

$$\mathfrak{B}_*(\delta_\circ) \subset \mathcal{S}_8^*(\delta_\circ). \tag{10.11}$$

Moreover, $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathfrak{B}_{*}(\delta_{\circ})$ is "invariant" under the flow of ∇u , that is,

if $x \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathfrak{B}_{*}(\delta_{\circ})$, then $\pi_{\lambda}(x)$ is well defined and $\pi_{\lambda}(x) \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathfrak{B}_{*}(\delta_{\circ})$ for all $\lambda \in [-1, 1]$.

Now, thanks to the stability of u, we can prove that for any $\Lambda > 0$ (large) we can find an annulus $B_{R+\Lambda}(z) \setminus B_R(z)$ of width Λ , with $z \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$, which does not intersect $\mathcal{S}_{8}^{*}(\delta_{\circ})$.

Lemma 10.8 (Existence of a clean annulus). Let $\delta_{\circ} > 0$ be sufficiently small so that $\eta_{\circ} \leq 1/2$. For every $\Lambda > 0$ there exist $z \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and R > 1 such that

$$\mathfrak{B}_*(\delta_\circ) \cap B_{R+\Lambda}(z) \subset \mathcal{S}^*_8(\delta_\circ) \cap B_{R+\Lambda}(z) \subset B_R(z).$$

Proof. The first inclusion follows from (10.11).

For the second inclusion, assume by contradiction that it does not hold. Then, there exists $\Lambda > 0$ such that for every $\bar{z} \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $k \ge 1$, there is $z \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ with $B_8(z) \cap B_{(k+1)\Lambda}(\bar{z}) \setminus B_{k\Lambda}(\bar{z}) \neq \emptyset$. In particular

$$B_{(k+1)\Lambda+8}(\bar{z}) \setminus B_{k\Lambda-8}(\bar{z}) \supset B_8(z) \implies |\mathcal{S}_8^*(\delta_\circ) \cap (B_{(k+1)\Lambda+8}(\bar{z}) \setminus B_{k\Lambda-8}(\bar{z}))| \ge |B_8| \qquad \forall k \ge \frac{8}{\Lambda},$$

from which we easily deduce that

$$\mathcal{S}_{8}^{*}(\delta_{\circ}) \cap B_{R}(\bar{z})| \ge c\frac{R}{\Lambda} \qquad \text{for all} \quad R > 1, \ \bar{z} \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}), \tag{10.12}$$

for some c > 0 universal.

On the other hand, applying the stability inequality (10.2) with $\zeta \in C_c^{\infty}(B_{2R}(\bar{z}))$ such that $\zeta \equiv 1$ in $B_R(\bar{z})$ and $|\nabla \zeta| \leq \bar{C}/R$ in \mathbb{R}^3 , recalling that $|\nabla u| \leq 1$ we get

$$\int_{B_R(\bar{z})} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \le CR$$

Now, recalling the definition of $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$, a covering argument implies that the left-hand side above is bounded from below by $c\delta_{\circ}|\mathcal{S}_{8}^{*}(\delta_{\circ}) \cap B_{R-8}(\bar{z})|$ for all R > 9. Therefore, we have proved that

$$\mathcal{S}_8^*(\delta_\circ) \cap B_R(\bar{z})| \le C\delta_\circ^{-1}R \qquad \text{for all} \quad R > 1, \ \bar{z} \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_\circ), \tag{10.13}$$

with C universal.

Now, given $\bar{z} \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and R large, for $t \geq 1$ we define

$$A_{R,\bar{z}}^t := \bigcup \left\{ B_t(z) : \ z \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_\circ), \ B_8(z) \cap B_R(\bar{z}) \neq \varnothing \right\}$$

Then, for any $t \in [4, R]$, by Vitali's covering lemma we can find a disjoint subcollection of balls of radius t/4, centered at some $z \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$, such that the balls of radius 2t cover $A_{R,\bar{z}}^t$. Since:

(i) each disjoint ball of radius t/4 contains at least $c\Lambda^{-1}t$ mass from $S_8^*(\delta_\circ)$ (by (10.12));

(ii) these balls are all contained inside $B_{2R}(\bar{z})$;

(iii) and $|S_8^*(\delta_\circ) \cap B_{2R}(\bar{z})| \le C\delta_\circ^{-1}R$ (by (10.13));

it follows that the number of disjoint balls of radius t/4 is bounded by $C(\delta_{\circ}t)^{-1}\Lambda R$ with C universal. In particular, since the balls of radius 2t cover $A_{R,\bar{z}}^t$, we get

$$|A_{R,\bar{z}}^t| \le (\text{number of disjoint balls}) \times |B_{2t}| \le C\delta_{\circ}^{-1}\Lambda Rt^2 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in [4, R].$$

Note that, for $t \in (0, 4]$, we can simply use the bound $|A_{R,\bar{z}}^t| \leq C \delta_{\circ}^{-1} R$.

Now, consider R > 1 large (to be fixed later), set $d(x) := \text{dist}(x, A_{R,\bar{z}}^8)$, and define the test function:

$$\zeta(x) = \left(1 - \frac{\log(1 + d(x))}{\log(1 + R)}\right)_+, \quad \text{which satisfies} \quad |\nabla\zeta(x)| = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{(1 + d(x))\log(1 + R)} & \text{if } 0 < d \le R, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Applying the stability inequality with $\zeta(x)$ and $R \gg 1$, we estimate the two terms as follows:

• by a covering argument, the definitions of $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $\mathcal{S}_{8}^{*}(\delta_{\circ})$, and (10.12), we can bound the left-hand side:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \zeta^2 \, dx \ge \int_{A_{R,\bar{z}}^8} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \ge c\delta_\circ |\mathcal{S}_8^*(\delta_\circ) \cap B_R(\bar{z})| \ge c\delta_\circ \Lambda^{-1}R;$$

• by the "layer-cake formula" and since $|\nabla u| \leq 1$, we can bound right-hand side:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla \zeta|^2 \, dx \le C \int_0^R \frac{1}{(1+t)^2 \log^2(1+R)} \frac{d(C\Lambda R t^2)}{dt} dt \le C\Lambda \frac{R}{\log R}$$

For R large enough, this provides the desired contradiction, proving the lemma.

Now, for a given $\delta_{\circ} > 0$ small and $\Lambda > 1$ large, let $z_{\Lambda} \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $R_{\Lambda} > 1$ be given by Lemma 10.8, and define the sets

$$\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{B}(\delta_{\circ}, \Lambda) := \mathfrak{B}_{*}(\delta_{\circ}) \cap B_{R_{\Lambda} + \Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}), \qquad \mathcal{S}_{\alpha} = \mathcal{S}_{\alpha}(\delta_{\circ}, \Lambda) := \bigcup_{z \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) \cap \mathfrak{B}(\delta_{\circ}, \Lambda)} B_{\alpha}(z). \tag{10.14}$$

Note that, since $\mathcal{S}_4^*(\delta_\circ) \subset \mathfrak{B}_*(\delta_\circ) \subset \mathcal{S}_8^*(\delta_\circ)$, it follows from Lemma 10.8 that $\mathcal{S}_4 \subset \mathfrak{B} \subset \mathcal{S}_8$. We now start our analysis.

10.3. A first case: annulus formed of $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$. With $\delta_{\circ} > 0$ (small) and $\Lambda > 1$ (large) fixed, we recall that $z_{\Lambda} \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $R_{\Lambda} > 1$ are given by Lemma 10.8. Since dist $(\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ}), \{|u| = 1\} \cup \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})) \ge 6$ (by the definition of $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$ and Remark 10.7), Lemma 10.8 implies that

either
$$B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \setminus B_{R_{\Lambda}}(z_{\Lambda}) \subset \mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ}),$$
 (10.15)

or
$$B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \setminus B_{R_{\Lambda}}(z_{\Lambda}) \subset \{|u|=1\} \cup \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}).$$
 (10.16)

We want to prove that the first case cannot occur.

Proposition 10.9. There exists Λ_0 sufficiently large, depending only on δ_{\circ} , such that if $\Lambda > \Lambda_0$ then (10.16) holds.

In order to prove it, we will use the following:

Lemma 10.10. Let $\delta_{\circ} > 0$ and $\Lambda \geq 64$, and let \mathfrak{B} and \mathcal{S}_8 be as in (10.14). Then

$$\int_{\mathfrak{B}} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \ge c\delta_{\circ} |\mathcal{S}_8| \ge c\delta_{\circ} |\mathfrak{B}|,$$

for a universal constant c.

Proof. Recall that $S_2 \subset \mathfrak{B} \subset S_8$. Let $\tilde{S}_2 \subset S_2$ be the union of a maximally disjoint family of N balls of radius 2 centered at $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) \cap \mathfrak{B}$ such that the balls with radius $2 \cdot 3 + 6$ cover $S_8 = S_2 + B_6$. In particular, we know that $N|B_2| \leq |S_2| \leq |S_8| \leq N|B_{12}|$. Moreover, by the definition of $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$,

$$\int_{\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{2}(\delta_{\circ})} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^{2} |\nabla u|^{2} \, dx > N\delta_{\circ} \ge c |\mathcal{S}_{8}|\delta_{\circ} \ge c |\mathfrak{B}|\delta_{\circ}.$$

This yields the result.

We can now prove that (10.15) does not occur.

Proof of Proposition 10.9. We argue by contradiction and assume (10.15) holds. Then, |u| < 1 (and so it is harmonic) inside $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ}) \supset B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \setminus B_{R_{\Lambda}}(z_{\Lambda})$. Also, since dist $(\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ}), \{|u| = 1\} \cup \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})) \ge 6$, we have $\partial \mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ}) \subset \partial \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ (i.e., $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$ is surrounded by $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$). In particular, thanks to Lemma 10.8, the following Lipschitz function is compactly supported inside $B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda/2}(z_{\Lambda})$ (note $|\nabla \zeta| \neq 0$ only in $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$):

$$\zeta(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in (\mathfrak{B} \cup \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \cup \{|u| = 1\}) \cap B_{R_{\Lambda}}(z_{\Lambda}), \\ (1 - \frac{2}{\Lambda} \text{dist} (x, \mathfrak{B}))_{+} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Now, consider the set S_t as in (10.14) and note that $|S_t(\delta_\circ)| \leq Ct^3|\mathfrak{B}|$ for $t \geq 2$. Also, by harmonic estimates, $|\nabla u| \leq \frac{C}{t}$ inside $\{|\nabla \zeta| \neq 0\} \cap B_{R_{\Lambda} + \Lambda/2}(z_{\Lambda}) \setminus S_t(\delta_\circ)$. Hence, since $|\nabla \text{dist}(\cdot, \mathfrak{B})| = 1$, by the layer-cake formula we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla u|^2 |\nabla \zeta|^2 \, dx \le \frac{C}{\Lambda^2} \left(|\mathcal{S}_2(\delta_\circ)| + \int_2^{\Lambda/2} t^{-2} \frac{d(Ct^3|\mathfrak{B}|)}{dt} \, dt \right) \le \frac{C|\mathfrak{B}|}{\Lambda}.$$

Thus, by the stability inequality (10.2), the bound above, Lemma 10.10, and (10.2), we obtain

$$c|\mathfrak{B}|\delta_{\circ} \leq \int_{\mathfrak{B}} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 dx \leq \frac{C|\mathfrak{B}|}{\Lambda}.$$

 \square

This provides the desired contradiction for Λ sufficiently large (depending on δ_{\circ}).

Thanks to the previous proposition, we now on we will assume that (10.16) holds.

10.4. The intrinsic distance projection. Define

$$\Sigma_{\lambda}^{\mathcal{G}} := \Sigma_{\lambda} \cap \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) = \{ u = \lambda \} \cap \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}), \quad \text{for} \quad \lambda \in (-1, 1).$$

Also, recall (10.10). We have the following result about the comparability of the length of curves when projected onto different level sets:

Lemma 10.11. For any $\varepsilon_{\circ} > 0$ there exists $\delta_{\circ} > 0$ such that the following holds.

Given $\lambda \in (-1,1)$ and a Lipschitz curve $\gamma_{\lambda} : [0,1] \to \Sigma_{\lambda}^{\mathcal{G}} \setminus \mathfrak{B}_{*}(\delta_{\circ})$, define $\bar{\gamma}_{\mu} : [0,1] \to \Sigma_{\lambda}^{\mathcal{G}} \setminus \mathfrak{B}_{*}(\delta_{\circ})$ as $\bar{\gamma}_{\mu}(t) := \pi_{\mu}(\gamma_{\lambda}(t))$, $\mu \in [-1,1]$. Then,

$$(1 - \varepsilon_{\circ})$$
Length $(\bar{\gamma}_{\mu}) \leq$ Length $(\gamma_{\lambda}) \leq (1 + \varepsilon_{\circ})$ Length $(\bar{\gamma}_{\mu}) \quad \forall \mu \in [-1, 1].$

Proof. This is a direct consequence of the smallness of the curvature of the level sets given by Lemma 10.6. \Box

Next, given $\lambda \in [-1, 1]$, we define the intrinsic distance along Σ_{λ} in the set $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$ as follows:

$$d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}: B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \cap \{|u|<1\} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}, \qquad d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}(x) := \begin{cases} \operatorname{dist}_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}(\pi_{\lambda}(x),\mathfrak{B}) & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathfrak{B}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(10.17)

where $\operatorname{dist}_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}$ is the intrinsic distance inside the surface Σ_{λ} , and $z_{\Lambda} \in \mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ and $R_{\Lambda} > 1$ are given by Lemma 10.8. (We have omitted in $d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}$ the dependence on δ_{\circ} and Λ for the sake of readability.) Note that $\{d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} > 0\}$ is disjoint from $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$. The next result shows how $\operatorname{dist}_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}$ changes when varying λ .

Lemma 10.12 (Comparison across levels). Let $\delta_{\circ} > 0$ and $\Lambda > 0$. Let $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{B}(\delta_{\circ}, \Lambda)$ be as in (10.14), with $d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}$ as in (10.17). Then, for any $\lambda, \mu \in (-1, 1)$ and $0 < r < \Lambda/8$, it holds:

• For any $p \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists δ_{\circ} small enough depending only on p such that,

$$\left(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}\right)_{+} \leq \left(2^{1/p}r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu}\right)_{+}, \quad in \quad B_{R_{\Lambda} + \Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \cap \{|u| < 1\}$$

• Let ε_{\circ} be as in Lemma 10.11. Then

$$\left|\nabla d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}\right| \leq 1 + \varepsilon_{\circ}, \quad in \quad B_{R_{\Lambda} + \Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \cap \{|u| < 1\} \cap \{d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < \Lambda/4\}.$$

Proof. Let $x \in B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \cap \{|u| < 1\} \cap \{d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < \Lambda/4\}$. We can assume that $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathfrak{B}$, otherwise $d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu}(x) = 0$ for all μ and the result holds.

Now, for $0 < d^{\lambda}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x) < r \leq \Lambda/8$, it follows from Lemma 10.8 that $x \in B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda/6}(z_{\Lambda})$. Also, by Lemma 10.11 and the definition of $\mathfrak{B}_{*}(\delta_{\circ})$, we have $d^{\lambda}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x) \geq (1-\varepsilon_{\circ})d^{\mu}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x)$. Thus,

$$(r - d^{\lambda}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x))_{+} \leq (r - (1 - \varepsilon_{\circ})d^{\mu}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x))_{+} \leq \left(r - d^{\mu}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x) + \frac{\varepsilon_{\circ}}{1 - \varepsilon_{\circ}}d^{\lambda}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x)\right)_{+} \leq \left((1 + 2\varepsilon_{\circ})r - d^{\mu}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x)\right)_{+} \leq (2^{1/p}r - d^{\mu}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x))_{+}$$

for ε_{\circ} small enough, depending only on p.

The second part is a consequence of Lemma 10.11. Indeed, recalling the validity of (10.16), the distance to \mathfrak{B} (when nonzero) is achieved along curves fully contained inside $B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda/2}(z_{\Lambda}) \cap \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathfrak{B}$ (recall Lemma 10.8). So, we can apply Lemma 10.11 to deduce that π_{λ} is $(1 + \varepsilon_{\circ})$ -Lipschitz near the support of minimizing curves. Since the intrinsic distance is always 1-Lipschitz, the result follows.

10.5. Consequences of stability. Recall that, thanks to Proposition 10.9, we can assume that (10.16) holds. We now show some first consequences of stability.

Lemma 10.13. Let
$$\delta_{\circ} > 0$$
 and $\Lambda \ge 64$, and let \mathfrak{B} and \mathcal{S}_8 be as in (10.14). Then, for any $\lambda \in (-1,1)$ we have $C|\mathfrak{B}| \ge \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\lambda} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < 2\}) \ge c \int_{\mathfrak{B}} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 dx \ge c' \delta_{\circ} |\mathcal{S}_8| \ge c' \delta_{\circ} |\mathfrak{B}|,$

where C, c, and c' are positive universal constants.

Proof. The third and fourth inequalities are from Lemma 10.10.

For the second one, we apply the stability inequality (10.2) with $\zeta(x) = (2 - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}(x))_+$ (recall Remark 10.3), which is compactly supported in $B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda/2}(z_{\Lambda})$ by Lemma 10.8. Then, thanks to Lemmas 10.4 and 10.12 and we get

$$4\int_{\mathfrak{B}} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\mathcal{A}(u)|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \zeta^2 \, dx \leq \int_{\{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < 2\}} |\nabla u|^2 |\nabla \zeta|^2 \, dx \leq C |\{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < 2\} \cap \{|u| < 1\}|.$$

Observing that $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\lambda} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < 2\})$ is comparable to $|\{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < 2\} \cap \{|u| < 1\}|$ (by the curvature estimates on the level sets and lower bound on $|\nabla u|$ from Lemma 10.6), we get the second inequality. Finally, since $|\{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < 2\} \cap \{|u| < 1\}| \le |\mathcal{S}_{16}| \le C|\mathcal{S}_2| \le C|\mathfrak{B}|$, also the first inequality follows. \Box

We now start bounding level sets near \mathfrak{B} :

Lemma 10.14 (Stability near \mathfrak{B} , intrinsic). Let $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$, $\delta_{\circ} > 0$, $\Lambda \ge 64$, and $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{B}(\delta_{\circ}, \Lambda)$ as in (10.14). Consider the following set of "indicator functions" on \mathbb{N} :

$$\Xi(\Lambda) := \left\{ \xi : \mathbb{N} \to \{0,1\} : such \ that \quad \{\xi = 1\} \subset \left[\frac{1}{4}\log_2\Lambda, \log_2\Lambda - 5\right] \qquad and \qquad \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \xi(k) = \left\lceil \frac{1}{4}\log_2\Lambda \right\rceil \right\}.$$
(10.18)

Then

$$\mathcal{H}^2\big(\Sigma_\lambda \cap \{0 < d^\lambda_{\mathfrak{B}} < 2\}\big) \le \frac{C}{\delta_\circ |\log \Lambda|^2} \min_{\xi \in \Xi(\Lambda)} \sum_k \xi(k) \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_\lambda \cap \{2^k \le d^\lambda_{\mathfrak{B}} < 2^{k+1}\})}{2^{2k}}, \tag{10.19}$$

for a universal constant C.

Proof. Let $\psi : \mathbb{R} \to [0,1]$ be a smooth nonincreasing function satisfying $\psi(t) = 1$ for $t \leq 1$, $\psi(t) = 0$ for $t \geq 2$, and $|\psi'| \leq 2$. Given $\xi \in \Xi(\Lambda)$ fixed, we consider the stability inequality (10.2) with

$$\zeta(x) := \frac{1}{\sum_k \xi(k)} \sum_k \xi(k) \psi(2^{-k} d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}(x))$$

(recall Remark 10.3). Notice that ζ is supported in $\{d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} \leq \Lambda/16\} \subset B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda/8}(z_{\Lambda})$ (by Lemma 10.8 and (10.16)), and it is constantly equal to 1 on $\{d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < \Lambda^{1/4}\}$.

Now, thanks to Lemma 10.12, the right-hand side of the stability inequality (10.2) can be bounded by

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla\zeta|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \, dx &\leq \int_{\{|u|<1\}} |\nabla\zeta|^2 \, dx \leq \int_{B_{R_\Lambda + \Lambda/4}(z_\Lambda) \setminus \mathfrak{B}} |\nabla\zeta|^2 \, dx \\ &\leq \frac{(1+\varepsilon_\circ)^2}{(\sum_k \xi(k))^2} \sum_k \frac{\xi(k)}{2^{2k}} \int_{B_{R_\Lambda + \Lambda/4}(z_\Lambda) \setminus \mathfrak{B}} |\psi'(2^{-k} d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}(x))|^2 \, dx. \end{split}$$

(Here we used that, for each $t \ge 0$, $\psi'(2^{-k}t)$ is non-zero for a single $k = k(t) \in \mathbb{N}$.)

Recalling Lemma 10.6, we now consider adapted coordinates $(y,t) \in \Sigma_{\lambda} \times [-1,1] \longleftrightarrow x = n_y(t) \in \Sigma_t$ (recall (10.9)), so that $dx \leq (1 + C\eta_{\circ}) dt d\mathcal{H}_y^2$. Thus

$$\int_{B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda/4}(z_{\Lambda})\backslash\mathfrak{B}} |\psi_{\Lambda}'(2^{-k}d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}(x))|^{2} dx \leq (1+C\eta_{\circ}) \int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{\lambda}\cap(B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda/4}(z_{\Lambda})\backslash\mathfrak{B})} |\psi_{\Lambda}'(2^{-k}d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}(y))|^{2} d\mathcal{H}_{y}^{2} dt$$
$$\leq 4(1+C\eta_{\circ})\mathcal{H}^{2} \left(\Sigma_{\lambda}\cap\{2^{k}\leq d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}<2^{k+1}\}\right),$$

where we used that $|\psi'| \leq 2$. Thus, for δ_{\circ} universally small enough (so that both ε_{\circ} and η_{\circ} are small), we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla \zeta|^2 |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \le \frac{C}{|\log \Lambda|^2} \sum_k \xi(k) \frac{\mathcal{H}^2\left(\Sigma_\lambda \cap \{2^k \le d_{\mathfrak{B}}^\lambda < 2^{k+1}\}\right)}{2^{2k}}.$$

Combining this estimate with (10.2) and Lemma 10.13, the result follows.

Next, we prove a doubling property:

Lemma 10.15 (Doubling). Given $\delta_{\circ} > 0$ small, there exists $\Lambda_0 \ge 64$, depending only on δ_{\circ} , such that the following holds whenever $\Lambda \ge \Lambda_0$.

Let $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{B}(\delta_{\circ}, \Lambda)$ be as in (10.14), $\Xi(\Lambda)$ as in (10.18), and fix $p \ge 16$. Then, for any given $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$ there exists $r \in (\Lambda^{1/4}, \Lambda/8)$ such that the following two inequalities hold simultaneously:

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}\left(\Sigma_{\lambda} \cap \left\{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < 2^{1/p}r\right\}\right) \leq 2\mathcal{H}^{2}\left(\Sigma_{\lambda} \cap \left\{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < r\right\}\right)$$
(10.20)

and

$$\frac{1}{|\log_2 \Lambda|} \min_{\xi \in \Xi(\Lambda)} \sum_k \xi(k) \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_\lambda \cap \{2^k \le d_{\mathfrak{B}}^\lambda < 2^{k+1}\})}{2^{2k}} \le 16 \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_\lambda \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^\lambda < r\})}{r^2}.$$
 (10.21)

Proof. Fix $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$ and define

$$\Theta(r) := \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_\lambda \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^\lambda < r\}).$$

Note that, by the curvature estimates of the level sets and lower bound on $|\nabla u|$ from Lemma 10.6, $\Theta(r)$ is comparable to $|\{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < r\} \cap \{|u| < 1\}|$. Hence, recalling (10.14) and noticing that $|\{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda} < r\} \cap \{|u| < 1\}| \leq |\mathcal{S}_{r+2}| \leq C|\mathcal{S}_r|$, by the Euclidean cubic volume growth of balls and Lemma 10.13 we get

$$\Theta(r) \le C|\mathcal{S}_r| \le C|\mathcal{S}_4|r^3 \le C\delta_{\circ}^{-1}\Theta(2)r^3 \quad \text{for all } 4 \le r \le \Lambda/2.$$
(10.22)

Recalling the definition of $\Xi(\Lambda)$ in (10.18), we define

$$K := \mathbb{N} \cap \left[\frac{1}{4}\log_2 \Lambda, \log_2 \Lambda - 5\right], \qquad a(k) := \frac{\Theta(2^{k+1}) - \Theta(2^k)}{2^{2k}} \quad \text{for} \quad k \in K$$

Let M be the median value of a within K,

$$M := \operatorname{median}(\{a(k) : k \in K\})$$

and note that, from the definition of $\Xi(\Lambda)$, we have

$$\frac{1}{\log_2 \Lambda} \min_{\xi \in \Xi(\Lambda)} \sum_k \xi(k) \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_\lambda \cap \{2^k \le d_{\mathfrak{B}}^\lambda < 2^{k+1}\})}{2^{2k}} = \frac{1}{\log_2 \Lambda} \min_{\xi \in \Xi(\Lambda)} \sum_k \xi(k) a(k) < M$$
(10.23)

Define $K' := \{k \in K : a(k) \ge M\}$ and notice that

$$M \le a(k) \le \frac{\Theta(2^{k+1})}{2^{2k}} \le 16 \frac{\Theta(r)}{r^2} \quad \text{for all } k \in K' \text{ and } r \in [2^{k+1}, 2^{k+2}].$$
(10.24)

Hence, to show that (10.20) and (10.21) hold simultaneously at some scale $r \in (\Lambda^{1/4}, \Lambda/8)$, we only need to find an r as in (10.24) for which (10.20) holds.

To prove it, we will consider r as in (10.24) of the form $r = 2^{\ell/p}$ for $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$. So, we define

$$L := \{\ell \in \mathbb{N} : \ell/p \in [k+1, k+2) \text{ for some } k \in K'\},\$$

and we notice that

$$\#L \ge p \, \#K' \ge \frac{p}{2} \#K \ge \frac{p}{4} \log_2 \Lambda. \tag{10.25}$$

To conclude the proof, we claim that there exists $\ell \in L$ such that $\Theta(2^{(\ell+1)/p}) \leq 2\Theta(2^{\ell/p})$. Indeed, if the claim were false, we would have that $\Theta(2^{(\ell+1)/p}) > 2\Theta(2^{\ell/p})$ for all $\ell \in L$. Thus, since since $\ell \mapsto \Theta(2^{\ell/p})$ is nondecreasing, setting $\ell_* := p(\lceil \log_2 \Lambda \rceil - 4)$ we would get

$$\Theta(2^{\ell_*/p}) > 2^{\#L}\Theta(2) > (2^{\ell_*/p})^{p/4}\Theta(2) \ge (2^{\ell_*/p})^4\Theta(2),$$

where we used (10.25) and that $p/4 \ge 4$. This quartic growth contradicts the cubic growth bound in (10.22) if $2^{\ell_*/p} \sim \Lambda$ is large enough, depending only on δ_{\circ} , so the claim holds.

10.6. Integrated Gauss–Bonnet result. Our next result is an estimate on the areas of sublevel sets of the distance to a compact set. Here we crucially use the fact that we consider 2-dimensional surfaces, since we exploit Gauss–Bonnet on level sets of the distance. Our proof is inspired by a classical argument of Pogorelov [77], but requires a much more refined analysis due to potential singularities of the distance function. We recall that the distance function to a set is always semiconcave (namely, in any chart, it can be written as the sum of a concave and a smooth function), see [68], therefore its distributional Riemannian Hessian is a measure whose singular part is negative definite.

Lemma 10.16. Let Σ be a smooth 2-dimensional Riemannian surface, $\mathcal{K} \subset \Sigma$, and $d_{\mathcal{K}} := \operatorname{dist}_{\Sigma}(\cdot, \mathcal{K})$, where $\operatorname{dist}_{\Sigma}$ is the intrinsic distance on Σ . Then, for a.e. $r_1, r_2 > 0$ such that $r_2 > 2r_1$ and $\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_2\} \Subset \Sigma$ (namely, $\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_2\}$ is compactly contained in Σ), we have

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_2\})}{r_2 - r_1} \le \mathcal{H}^1(\{d_{\mathcal{K}} = r_1\}) - \int_{r_1}^{r_2} \int_{r_1}^{s} \int_{1}^{2} \int_{\{\tau r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < t\}} K_{\Sigma} \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \, d\tau \, dt \, ds + \frac{1}{r_1} \int_{\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < 2r_1\}} (\Delta d_{\mathcal{K}})_a \, d\mathcal{H}^2,$$

where $(\Delta d_{\mathcal{K}})_a$ denotes the absolutely continuous part of the (Riemannian) Laplacian of $d_{\mathcal{K}}$, and K_{Σ} is the Gauss curvature.

Proof. Throughout the proof, all the differential operators are the Riemmanian ones on Σ . We divide the proof into two steps:

Step 1: Assume first that $\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_2\}$ is connected and $\{d_{\mathcal{K}} > r_2\} \neq \emptyset$. Since $|\nabla d_{\mathcal{K}}| = 1$ a.e., by the coarea formula we have

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_2\}) = \int_{r_1}^{r_2} \mathcal{H}^1(\{d_{\mathcal{K}} = s\}) \, ds.$$

We now observe that, for a.e. $s, \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}}$ is \mathcal{H}^1 -a.e. equal to the outer normal of $\{d_{\mathcal{K}} < s\}$, hence

$$\mathcal{H}^1(\{d_{\mathcal{K}} = s\}) - \mathcal{H}^1(\{d_{\mathcal{K}} = r_1\}) = \int_{\partial\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < s\}} \nu \cdot \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}} \, d\mathcal{H}^1 = \int_{\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < s\}} \Delta d_{\mathcal{K}} \, d\mathcal{H}^2$$

where $\Delta d_{\mathcal{K}}$ is the distributional Laplacian. Recalling that the distance function is always locally semiconcave, $\Delta d_{\mathcal{K}}$ is a locally finite measure whose positive part has bounded density with respect to \mathcal{H}^2 .

This implies that, for a.e. $r_1 < r_2$,

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\{r_{1} < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_{2}\}) = (r_{2} - r_{1})\mathcal{H}^{1}(\{d_{\mathcal{K}} = r_{1}\}) + \int_{r_{1}}^{r_{2}} \int_{\{r_{1} < d_{\mathcal{K}} < s\}} \Delta d_{\mathcal{K}} \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \, ds.$$

Now, given a smooth function $\varphi: \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}$, consider the expression

$$\int_{\{r_1 < \varphi < s\}} |\nabla \varphi| \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla \varphi}{|\nabla \varphi|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^2 = \int_{r_1}^s \int_{\{\varphi = t\}} \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla \varphi}{|\nabla \varphi|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^1 dt,$$

where the equality follows by the coarea formula. We observe that, by Sard's Theorem, for a.e. t the level set $\{\varphi = t\}$ is a smooth curve without critical points of φ , and $\operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla\varphi}{|\nabla\varphi|}\right)$ corresponds to its geodesic curvature. Assume, moreover, that $\{r_1 < \varphi < r_2\} \in \Sigma$. Then, by Gauss–Bonnet, for any $\tau \in [1, 2]$ it holds

$$\int_{\{\varphi=t\}} \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla\varphi}{|\nabla\varphi|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^1 = -\int_{\{\tau r_1 < \varphi < t\}} K_{\Sigma} d\mathcal{H}^2 + \int_{\{\varphi=\tau r_1\}} \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla\varphi}{|\nabla\varphi|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^1 + 2\pi\chi(\{\tau r_1 < \varphi < t\}).$$

Averaging this bound with respect to $\tau \in [1, 2]$, this proves that

$$\int_{\{r_1 < \varphi < s\}} |\nabla \varphi| \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla \varphi}{|\nabla \varphi|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^2 \leq -\int_{r_1}^s \int_1^2 \int_{\{\tau r_1 < \varphi < t\}} K_{\Sigma} d\mathcal{H}^2 d\tau dt
+ (s - r_1) \int_1^2 \int_{\{\varphi = \tau r_1\}} \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla \varphi}{|\nabla \varphi|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^1 d\tau + 2\pi \int_{r_1}^s \int_1^2 \chi(\{\tau r_1 < \varphi < t\}) d\tau dt. \quad (10.26)$$

We are now going to apply this identity to a smoothed version of the distance function, and then let the regularization parameter go to zero. More precisely, fix a compact neighborhood of $\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < s\}$ and cover it with a finite atlas $\{(U_m, \phi_m)\}_{m=1}^N$. Then consider a partition of unity $\{\psi_m\}_{m=1}^N$ subordinate to this atlas, and fix $\rho : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty)$ a smooth compactly supported mollifier. Then, for $\eta > 0$, set $\rho_\eta(z) := \eta^{-n} \rho(z/\eta)$, we define the following local smoothing operator for functions $f : \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}$:

$$f \mapsto [f]_{\eta}(x) := \sum_{m=1}^{N} \psi_m(x) ((f \circ \phi_m^{-1}) * \rho_\eta) (\phi_m(x)).$$

While this regularization does not commute with derivatives, it does in the limit. More precisely we recall that, in local coordinates, the Hessian of a function f is given by $(D^2 f)_{ij} = \partial_{ij}^2 f - \Gamma_{ij}^k \partial_k f$, where Γ_{ij}^k are the Christoffel symbols of the Riemannian metric g on Σ , and we adopt the Einstein convention of summation over repeated indices. Hence, when locally mollifying in charts as done above, for any given smooth $h: U_m \to \mathbb{R}, x \in \phi_m(U_m)$ and $\eta > 0$ sufficiently small, we have

$$(D^{2}(h*\rho_{\eta}))_{ij}(x) - (D^{2}h)_{ij}*\rho_{\eta}(x) = \int_{\phi_{m}(U_{m})} \left[\Gamma_{ij}^{k}(y) - \Gamma_{ij}^{k}(x)\right] \partial_{k}h(y)\rho_{\eta}(x-y) \, dy.$$

Now, if we define $\varphi_{\eta} := [d_{\mathcal{K}}]_{\eta}$, applying the formula above to $h = d_{\mathcal{K}} \circ \phi_m^{-1}$, $m = 1, \ldots, N$, since $d_{\mathcal{K}}$ is 1-Lipschitz it follows easily that

$$(D^{2}\varphi_{\eta})_{ij} = [(D^{2}d_{\mathcal{K}})_{ij}]_{\eta} + O(\eta).$$
(10.27)

Now, since $\varphi_{\eta} \to d_{\mathcal{K}}$ locally uniformly and $\Delta \varphi_{\eta} \rightharpoonup^* \Delta d_{\mathcal{K}}$ in the sense of measures, using (10.26) with $\varphi = \varphi_{\eta}$, for a.e. $r_1 < s$ we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < s\}} \Delta d_{\mathcal{K}} \, d\mathcal{H}^2 &= \lim_{\eta \to 0} \int_{\{r_1 < \varphi_\eta < s\}} \Delta \varphi_\eta \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \\ &\leq \limsup_{\eta \to 0} \int_{\{r_1 < \varphi_\eta < s\}} |\nabla \varphi_\eta| \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^2 + \limsup_{\eta \to 0} \int_{\{r_1 < \varphi_\eta < s\}} \left\langle D^2 \varphi_\eta \cdot \frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|}, \frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|} \right\rangle d\mathcal{H}^2 \\ &\leq -\int_{r_1}^s \int_1^2 \int_{\{\tau r_1 < \varphi < t\}} K_\Sigma \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \, d\tau \, dt + (s - r_1) \limsup_{\eta \to 0} \int_1^2 \int_{\{\varphi_\eta = \tau r_1\}} \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^1 \, d\tau \\ &+ 2\pi \limsup_{\eta \to 0} \int_{r_1}^s \int_1^2 \chi(\{\tau r_1 < \varphi_\eta < t\}) \, d\tau \, dt + \limsup_{\eta \to 0} \int_{\{r_1 < \varphi_\eta < s\}} \left\langle D^2 \varphi_\eta \cdot \frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|}, \frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|} \right\rangle d\mathcal{H}^2. \end{split}$$

Recall now that $\chi = 2 - 2g - b$ for surfaces with b boundary components and genus g. Hence, since by assumption $\{d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_2\}$ is connected and $\{d_{\mathcal{K}} > r_2\} \neq \emptyset$, it follows that $g \ge 0$ and $b \ge 2$, and therefore $\chi(\{\tau r_1 < \varphi_\eta < t\}) \le 0$ for η sufficiently small.

Also, as discussed before, the semiconcavity of $d_{\mathcal{K}}$ implies that $D^2 d_{\mathcal{K}}$ is a matrix-valued measure whose singular part is negative. Hence, if $D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}}$ denotes the absolutely continuous part of the Hessian, recalling (10.27) we get

$$\limsup_{\eta \to 0} \int_{\{r_1 < \varphi_\eta < s\}} \left\langle D^2 \varphi_\eta \cdot \frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|}, \frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|} \right\rangle d\mathcal{H}^2 \leq \limsup_{\eta \to 0} \int_{\{r_1 < \varphi_\eta < s\}} [(D_a^2 d_\mathcal{K})_{ij}]_\eta \cdot \frac{\partial_i \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|} \frac{\partial_j \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|} d\mathcal{H}^2$$

Since $[(D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}})_{ij}]_{\eta} \to (D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}})_{ij}$ in L^1_{loc} (because $(D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}})_{ij}$ is a locally integrable function) and $\nabla \varphi_{\eta} \to \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{H}^2$ -a.e., by dominated convergence we deduce that the limsup in the right-hand side above is equal to

$$\int_{\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < s\}} \left\langle D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}} \cdot \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}}, \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}} \right\rangle d\mathcal{H}^2.$$

Also, because $D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}} \cdot \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}} = (\frac{1}{2} \nabla |\nabla d_{\mathcal{K}}|^2)_a = 0$ a.e. (where the subscript *a* denotes the absolutely continuous part, and the derivative is zero because $|\nabla d_{\mathcal{K}}|^2 = 1$ a.e.), the integral above is zero. Hence, we proved that

$$\int_{\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < s\}} \Delta d_{\mathcal{K}} \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \leq -\int_{r_1}^s \int_1^2 \int_{\{\tau r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < t\}} K_{\Sigma} \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \, d\tau \, dt + (s - r_1) \limsup_{\eta \to 0} \int_1^2 \int_{\{\varphi_\eta = \tau r_1\}} \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^1 \, d\tau$$
$$= -\int_{r_1}^s \int_1^2 \int_{\{\tau r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < t\}} K_{\Sigma} \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \, d\tau \, dt + (s - r_1) \limsup_{\eta \to 0} \frac{1}{r_1} \int_{\{r_1 < \varphi_\eta < 2r_1\}} |\nabla \varphi_\eta| \, \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|}\right) d\mathcal{H}^2,$$

where the last identity follows by the coarea formula. Finally, arguing exactly as before, we have

$$|\nabla\varphi_{\eta}|\operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla\varphi_{\eta}}{|\nabla\varphi_{\eta}|}\right) = \left\langle D^{2}\varphi_{\eta} \cdot \frac{\nabla^{\perp}\varphi_{\eta}}{|\nabla\varphi_{\eta}|}, \frac{\nabla^{\perp}\varphi_{\eta}}{|\nabla\varphi_{\eta}|}\right\rangle \leq \left[(D_{a}^{2}d_{\mathcal{K}})_{ij}\right]_{\eta} \cdot \frac{(\nabla^{\perp}\varphi_{\eta})^{i}}{|\nabla\varphi_{\eta}|} \frac{(\nabla^{\perp}\varphi_{\eta})^{j}}{|\nabla\varphi_{\eta}|} + O(\eta),$$

and therefore

$$\limsup_{\eta \to 0} \frac{1}{r_1} \int_{\{r_1 < \varphi_\eta < 2r_1\}} |\nabla \varphi_\eta| \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{\nabla \varphi_\eta}{|\nabla \varphi_\eta|} \right) d\mathcal{H}^2 \leq \frac{1}{r_1} \int_{\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < 2r_1\}} \left\langle D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}} \cdot \nabla^\perp d_{\mathcal{K}}, \nabla^\perp d_{\mathcal{K}} \right\rangle d\mathcal{H}^2.$$

Noticing that

$$(\Delta d_{\mathcal{K}})_a = \left\langle D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}} \cdot \nabla^{\perp} d_{\mathcal{K}}, \nabla^{\perp} d_{\mathcal{K}} \right\rangle + \left\langle D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}} \cdot \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}}, \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}} \right\rangle = \left\langle D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}} \cdot \nabla^{\perp} d_{\mathcal{K}}, \nabla^{\perp} d_{\mathcal{K}} \right\rangle$$

(recall that $\langle D_a^2 d_{\mathcal{K}} \cdot \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}}, \nabla d_{\mathcal{K}} \rangle = 0$ a.e.), the result follows.

Step 2: In the general case, we can treat each connected component of $\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_2\}$ separately. More precisely, given a connected component C of $\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r_2\}$ and $r_1 < r_2$, fix $r'_2 \in (r_1, r_2)$ and consider a smooth submanifold Σ'_C such that $\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r'_2\} \cap C \in \Sigma'_C \in C$. Then, we first apply Step 1 with $\{r_1 < d_{\mathcal{K}} < r'_2\} \cap C$ inside Σ'_C (note that $\{d_{\mathcal{K}} > r'_2\} \cap \Sigma'_C \neq \emptyset$) and finally we take the limit as $r'_2 \uparrow r_2$. This concludes the proof.

10.7. **Proof of Theorem 1.1 and its corollaries.** We can now proceed with the proof of our main result that, as explained before, directly implies Theorem 1.1.

Proposition 10.17. For every $\delta_{\circ} \in (0,1)$, the set $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ is empty.

Proof. Since the sets $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ})$ are monotonically decreasing, it suffices to prove the result for all δ_{\circ} sufficiently small.

So, assume by contradiction that $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) \neq \emptyset$, then for $\Lambda > 64$ we construct the set $\mathfrak{B} \neq \emptyset$ as in (10.14). Also, by choosing Λ sufficiently large (depending on δ_{\circ}), we can assume (10.16) holds (recall Proposition 10.9).

Now, let Σ denote one of the level sets of u inside $B_{R_{\Lambda}+\Lambda}(z_{\Lambda}) \cap \mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ}) \setminus \mathfrak{B}$ (note that this is a smooth surface), and apply Lemma 10.16 with $\mathcal{K} = \mathfrak{B}$, $r_1 \in (1/4, 2)$, and $r_2 = r < \Lambda/8$ (recall \mathfrak{B} surrounds $\mathcal{W}(\delta_{\circ})$ and separates it from $\mathcal{G}(\delta_{\circ})$ on Σ). Since $(\text{Hess } d_{\mathfrak{B}})_a(\nabla^{\perp} d_{\mathfrak{B}}, \nabla^{\perp} d_{\mathfrak{B}}) \leq C$ on $\{r_1 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < 2r_1\}$ by the semiconcavity of the distance (see for instance [68]), for a.e. $r_1 < r$ we have

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\{r_{1} < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < r\}) \leq (r - r_{1})\mathcal{H}^{1}(\{d_{\mathfrak{B}} = r_{1}\}) - \int_{r_{1}}^{r} \int_{r_{1}}^{s} \int_{1}^{2} \int_{\{\tau r_{1} < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < t\}} K_{\Sigma} \, d\mathcal{H}^{2} \, d\tau \, dt \, ds + C(r - r_{1})^{2} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\{r_{1} < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < 2r_{1}\}).$$
(10.28)

Since $\int_{r_1}^r \int_{r_1}^s \mathbb{1}_{\{d_{\mathfrak{B}} < t\}} dt \, ds = \frac{1}{2}(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}})_+^2$ for $r_1 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}$ and $|K_{\Sigma}| \le \frac{1}{2}|A_{\Sigma}|^2$ (where $|A_{\Sigma}|^2$ denotes the sum of squares of principal curvatures), using Fubini we get

$$-\int_{r_1}^r \int_{r_1}^s \int_1^2 \int_{\Sigma \cap \{\tau r_1 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < t\}} K_{\Sigma} \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \, d\tau \, dt \, ds \leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{r_1}^r \int_{r_1}^s \int_{\Sigma \cap \{r_1 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < r\}} |A_{\Sigma}|^2 \, \mathbb{1}_{\{d_{\mathfrak{B}} < t\}} \, d\mathcal{H}^2 \, dt \, ds$$
$$= \frac{1}{4} \int_{\Sigma \cap \{r_1 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < r\}} |A_{\Sigma}|^2 (r - d_{\mathcal{B}})^2_+ \, d\mathcal{H}^2.$$

Thanks to this bound, averaging (10.28) over $r_1 \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$, since $\int_{1/2}^1 \mathcal{H}^1(\Sigma \cap \{d_{\mathfrak{B}} = r_1\}) dr_1 = \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma \cap \{1/2 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < 1\})$ we obtain

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma \cap \{1 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < r\}) \leq \frac{1}{4} \int_{\Sigma \setminus \mathfrak{B}} |A_{\Sigma}|^{2} (r - d_{\mathfrak{B}})^{2}_{+} d\mathcal{H}^{2} + Cr^{2} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < 2\})$$

for a.e. $r \in (1, \Lambda/8)$, which also implies (up to replacing C with C + 1 in the right-hand side)

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < r\}) \leq \frac{1}{4} \int_{\Sigma \setminus \mathfrak{B}} |A_{\Sigma}|^{2} (r - d_{\mathfrak{B}})^{2}_{+} d\mathcal{H}^{2} + Cr^{2} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}} < 2\}).$$

Now choose $\nu \in (-1, 1)$ such that

$$\int_{\Sigma_{\nu}} |A_{\Sigma_{\nu}}|^2 \left(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu}\right)_+^2 d\mathcal{H}^2 \leq \int_{-1}^1 \int_{\Sigma_{\lambda}} |A_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}|^2 \left(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}\right)_+^2 d\mathcal{H}^2 d\lambda$$

and apply the bound above to the level set $\Sigma = \Sigma_{\nu}$. Then, thanks to Lemma 10.14 we get

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\})}{r^{2}} \leq \frac{1}{4r^{2}} \int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{\lambda}} |A_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}|^{2} \left(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}\right)_{+}^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} d\lambda + C\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < 2\})$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{4r^{2}} \int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{\lambda}} |A_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}|^{2} \left(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}\right)_{+}^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} d\lambda + \frac{C}{\delta_{\circ} |\log \Lambda|^{2}} \min_{\xi \in \Xi(\Lambda)} \sum_{k} \xi(k) \frac{\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{2^{k} \leq d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < 2^{k+1}\})}{2^{2k}}. \quad (10.29)$$

Note now that, thanks to Lemma 10.12 with p = 16, the coarea formula, and Lemma 10.6, for any $\mu \in (-1, 1)$ it holds

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{\lambda} \setminus \mathfrak{B}} |A_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}|^{2} \left(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}\right)_{+}^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} d\lambda \leq \int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{\lambda} \setminus \mathfrak{B}} |A_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}|^{2} \left(2^{1/p}r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu}\right)_{+}^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} d\lambda$$
$$\leq \left(1 + C\eta_{\circ}\right) \int_{\{|u| < 1\} \setminus \mathfrak{B}} |A(u)|^{2} |\nabla u|^{2} \left(2^{1/p}r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu}\right)_{+}^{2} dx,$$

for some universal C. Next, we apply the stability inequality (10.2) with test function $(2^{1/p}r - d^{\mu}_{\mathfrak{B}}(x))_+$ (which is admissible for $r \leq \Lambda/8$, due to Lemma 10.8 for $r \leq \Lambda/8$ and (10.16), recall also Remark 10.3), giving

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{\lambda}} |A_{\Sigma_{\lambda}}|^{2} \left(r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\lambda}\right)_{+}^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{2} d\lambda \leq (1 + C\eta_{\circ}) \int_{\{|u| < 1\}} |\nabla u|^{2} \left| \nabla \left(2^{1/p} r - d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} \right)_{+} \right|^{2} dx \\
\leq (1 + C(\eta_{\circ} + \varepsilon_{\circ})) \left| \{|u| < 1\} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} < 2^{1/p} r\} \right| \\
\leq 2(1 + C(\eta_{\circ} + \varepsilon_{\circ})) \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\mu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\mu} < 2^{1/p} r\}),$$
(10.30)

for some universal C (that can be different line to line). In the last inequality we have again used the flatness of level sets given by Lemma 10.6.

Combining this bound with (10.29), we obtain

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\})}{r^2} \leq \frac{1 + C(\eta_{\circ} + \varepsilon_{\circ})}{4} \cdot \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < 2^{1/p}r\})}{r^2} + \frac{2C}{\delta_{\circ} |\log \Lambda|^2} \min_{\xi \in \Xi(\Lambda)} \sum_k \xi(k) \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{2^k \le d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < 2^{k+1}\})}{2^{2k}}.$$
(10.31)

Recalling Lemma 10.15, this implies the existence of $r \in (\Lambda^{1/4}, \Lambda/8)$ such that

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\})}{r^2} \le \frac{1 + C(\eta_{\circ} + \varepsilon_{\circ})}{2} \cdot \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\})}{r^2} + \frac{C}{\delta_{\circ} |\log \Lambda|} \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\})}{r^2}.$$
(10.32)

Fixing η_{\circ} and ε_{\circ} (and thus δ_{\circ}) sufficiently small so that $C(\eta_{\circ} + \varepsilon_{\circ}) < \frac{1}{4}$, and then fixing Λ sufficiently large so that $\frac{C}{\delta_{\circ} |\log \Lambda|} \leq \frac{1}{8}$ and Proposition 10.9 holds, we deduce $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\}) = 0$. This means that $\Sigma_{\nu} \cap \{0 < d_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\nu} < r\} = \emptyset$ for some $\nu \in (-1, 1)$, and therefore for all $\nu \in (-1, 1)$ (this follows, for instance, by Lemma 10.11).

Since Λ (and therefore r) can be chosen arbitrarily large, we have shown that $\{|u| < 1\}$ has a bounded connected component \mathcal{C} that is contained inside $\mathfrak{B} \subset B_R(z)$. However this is impossible, as one can show, for instance, by taking a test function ζ in (10.2) such that $\mathcal{C} \subset \{\zeta \equiv 1\}$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\nabla \zeta) \subset \{|u| = 1\}$. This contradiction proves that $\mathcal{X}(\delta_o) = \emptyset$, as desired.

Thanks to this last result, our main theorem follows immediately:

Proof of Theorem 1.1. Thanks to Proposition 10.17, the sets $\mathcal{X}(\delta_{\circ}) = \emptyset$ are empty for every $\delta_{\circ} > 0$. Recalling their definition, this implies that locally either $\mathcal{A}(u) \equiv 0$ or $\nabla u \equiv 0$. Thus, by unique continuation, either the solution is constant, or all level sets are flat and the solution is one-dimensional.

Next, we want to prove Corollary 1.2. The following lemma will be useful:

Lemma 10.18. Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a global classical solution to the free boundary Allen–Cahn problem in \mathbb{R}^n (see Definition 10.1). Given V any connected component of $\{|u| < 1\}$, there is a unique global classical solution to the free boundary Allen–Cahn problem \tilde{u} such that:

- $\tilde{u} = u$ in V;

- \tilde{u} restricted to $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{V}$ takes values in $\{\pm 1\}$.

Proof. The only delicate part is to show that we can assign a constant value (either +1 or -1) to each connected component W of $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{V}$ in a way that it agrees with u on ∂W . Although intuitive, to rigorously justify it, we use that the two free boundaries $\Gamma_{\pm} := \partial V \cap \{u = \pm 1\}$ are smooth submanifolds of \mathbb{R}^n (in particular, they are oriented and embedded). We want to show that, given a connected component W of $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{V}$, the boundary ∂W is either fully contained in Γ_+ (and then we assign +1 to u in W) or in Γ_- (and then we assign -1).

Assume by contradiction the existence of two points $p_{\pm} \in \Gamma_{\pm}$ such that $\hat{p}_{\pm} := p_{\pm} - t\nu(p_{\pm}) \in W$ for t > 0 small enough, where ν is the inward unit normal to V. Since W is open and connected, there is a smooth curve γ_1 joining \hat{p}_+ and \hat{p}_- that does not intersect ∂W —in particular, it does not intersect Γ_+ . On the other hand, since V is open and connected, there is another curve γ_2 contained in V and joining the two points $\tilde{p}_{\pm} = p_{\pm} + t\nu(p_{\pm}) \in V$ (for tsmall) that does not intersect ∂V —in particular, it does not intersect Γ_+ . But then the concatenation of γ_1 and γ_2 with the two segments $\tilde{p}_+\hat{p}_+$ and $\tilde{p}_-\hat{p}_-$ would give a closed curve intersecting Γ_+ exactly once (notice that the segment \tilde{p}_-p_- intersects Γ_- and not Γ_+). However, by the invariance of the mod 2 self-intersection number (see, e.g., [48, Chapter 2]), any closed curve has to intersect Γ_+ an even number of times (being homologous to zero in $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -homology), a contradiction.

The proof of Corollary 1.2 now follows through rather standard arguments, which we sketch for the reader's convenience:

Proof of Corollary 1.2. By Lemma 10.18 we can assume that $\{|u| < 1\}$ is connected. Similarly to the proof of Corollary 1.6 (see Subsection 9.3), thanks to the monotonicity assumption, the solution is stable and we have universal curvature estimates for the free boundary (see Proposition 9.4), so the limits

$$\underline{u}(x_1, x_2, x_3) := \lim_{x_4 \to -\infty} u$$
 and $\overline{u}(x_1, x_2, x_3) := \lim_{x_4 \to +\infty} u.$

are classical stable solutions in \mathbb{R}^3 . Thus, by Theorem 1.1, \underline{u} and \overline{u} depend only on one Euclidean variable.

We now claim u is an energy minimizer. Indeed, since u is monotone in the x_4 direction, there are three cases to consider (up to rotation in the first three variables and replacing $u(x', x_4)$ by $-u(x', -x_4)$, if needed):

(i) $\underline{u} \equiv -1$ and $\overline{u} \equiv +1$;
(ii) $\underline{u} \equiv -1$ and $\overline{u} = \overline{h}(x_1)$ for some $\overline{h} : \mathbb{R} \to [-1, 1]$ not constant;

(iii) $\underline{u} = \underline{h}(x_1)$ and $\overline{u} = \overline{h}(x_1)$ for some $\underline{h}, \overline{h} : \mathbb{R} \to [-1, 1]$ not constant.

Now, the assumption that $\{|u| < 1\}$ is connected and $-1 \le u \le u \le \overline{u} \le 1$ imply that $\{\underline{u} = 1\}$ cannot contain a slab $\{a \le x_1 \le b\}$ with $a \le b$ finite, as otherwise we would have that u = 1 in such a slab, thus disconnecting $\{|u| < 1\}$. Symmetrically, there cannot be a slab $\{a \le x_1 \le b\}$ where $\overline{u} = -1$.

It follows that, in the previous possible scenarios: either \underline{u} is a minimizer (identically -1, or a 1D monotone solution) or a maximum of two minimizers, and \overline{u} is either a minimizer (identically +1, or a 1D monotone solution) or a minimum of two minimizers. This ensures that \underline{u} and \overline{u} are, respectively, lower and upper barriers for minimizers. Therefore, since the family of translated graphs $\{x_5 = u(x + te_4)\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$ foliates the region

$$\{\underline{u}(x) \le x_5 \le \overline{u}(x)\} \subset \mathbb{R}^4 \times [-1, +1],$$

via a standard foliation argument (see [54, Proof of Theorem 1.3]) it follows that u must be an energy minimizer in every compact subset of \mathbb{R}^4 , as claimed. Thanks to the energy minimality, we can apply [85, Theorem 3] to conclude that u is one-dimensional.

Finally, we provide the proof of Corollary 1.3, relying on the $C^{1,1}$ to $C^{2,\alpha}$ estimate established in [9]. Notably, the estimate in [9] is significantly more elementary than its Allen–Cahn counterpart in [28,91], as it does not need to account for sheet interactions.

Proof of Corollary 1.3. We claim that

$$\sup_{B_{3/4} \cap \{|u_{\varepsilon}| < 1\}} \varepsilon |D^2 u_{\varepsilon}| \le C, \tag{10.33}$$

with a universal constant C. Note that since $|u_{\varepsilon}| \leq 1$ and $|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}| = 1/\varepsilon$ on $\partial \{|u_{\varepsilon}| < 1\}$, the estimate (10.33) provides universal curvature bounds for the free boundary and all level sets of u_{ε} within $B_{3/4}$, for ε sufficiently small.

To prove (10.33), we argue by contradiction, combining the $C^{1,1}$ -to- $C^{2,\alpha}$ estimates from [9] with Theorem 1.1. This approach is a standard scaling-compactness argument analogous to the curvature estimate proofs in [23,91]. Indeed, suppose—for the sake of contradiction—that there exists a sequence u_k of classical stable critical points of $\mathcal{J}^0_{\varepsilon_k}$ in B_1 for some $\varepsilon_k \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$\sup_{B_1 \cap \{|u_k| < 1\}} \varepsilon_k |D^2 u_k(x)| (1 - |x|) \ge k \longrightarrow \infty.$$

Let x_k be a point where the maximum is attained and set

$$h_k := \varepsilon_k |D^2 u_k(x_k)| (1 - |x_k|) = \max_{x \in B_1 \cap \overline{\{|u_k| < 1\}}} \varepsilon_k |D^2 u_k(x)| (1 - |x|) \to \infty, \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty.$$

Let $d_k := \varepsilon_k |D^2 u_k(x_k)|$ and $\rho_k = 1 - |x_k|$, so that $h_k = d_k \rho_k$ and $d_k \to \infty$. Notice that, by Lemma 10.5 applied to $u_{\varepsilon_k}(\varepsilon_k \cdot)$, we have $\varepsilon_k d_k \leq C$ with C universal.

Now, choose any sequence $\tau_k \downarrow 0$ such that $\tau_k h_k \to \infty$ and define

$$\widetilde{u}_k(y) := u_k\left(x_k + \frac{y}{d_k}\right) \quad \text{for} \quad y \in B_{\tau_k d_k \rho_k}.$$

Then \tilde{u}_k is a classical stable critical point of $\mathcal{J}^0_{\tilde{\varepsilon}_k}$ in $B_{\tau_k d_k \rho_k}$, where $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k = \varepsilon_k d_k \leq C$, with $0 \in \overline{\{|\tilde{u}_k| < 1\}}$ and $\tilde{\varepsilon}_k |D^2 \tilde{u}_k(0)| = 1$. Also, by definition of h_k , for $x = x_k + \frac{y}{d_k} \in \{u_k > 0\}$ with $|y| < \tau_k d_k \rho_k$ we have

$$\varepsilon_k \left| D^2 u_k \left(x_k + \frac{y}{d_k} \right) \right| \le \varepsilon_k |D^2 u_k(x_k)| \frac{1 - |x_k|}{1 - |x_k + y/d_k|} \le d_k \frac{\rho_k}{\rho_k - \tau_k \rho_k}$$

Therefore,

$$\widetilde{\varepsilon}_k |D^2 \widetilde{u}_k(y)| = \frac{\varepsilon_k}{d_k} \left| D^2 u_k \left(x_k + \frac{y}{d_k} \right) \right| \le \frac{1}{1 - \tau_k} \quad \text{for} \quad y \in B_{\tau_k d_k \rho_k} \cap \overline{\{\widetilde{u}_k > 0\}}.$$

By construction, the radius of the ball $\tau_k d_k \rho_k = \tau_k h_k$ goes to infinity as $k \to \infty$.

We now distinguish two cases:

- (a) If $\lim_{k\to\infty} \tilde{\varepsilon}_k = 0$, then using the $C^{1,1}$ -to- $C^{2,\alpha}$ estimates in [9]—similarly to [28,91]—we obtain that the free boundaries of \tilde{u}_k converge (with local graphical C^2 convergence) to a complete stable minimal surface in the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^3 with non-zero second fundamental form at the origin. This contradicts the classical classification of stable minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 (see [34, 44, 77]), stating that such surfaces must be flat.
- (b) Otherwise, up to passing to a subsequence, we have $\tilde{\varepsilon} := \lim_{k \to \infty} \tilde{\varepsilon}_k > 0$. Then the functions $\tilde{u}_k(\tilde{\varepsilon} \cdot)$ must converge—similar to the proof of Lemma 5.1—to a classical stable critical point of \mathcal{J}_1^0 in the whole \mathbb{R}^3 with nonzero Hessian at the origin, contradicting Theorem 1.1.

This completes the proof.

Remark 10.19. With arguments similar to the ones above, one could also show the following Riemannian version of Corollary 1.3:

Let g be a Riemannian metric on the Euclidean ball $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, and assume that $\|g\|_{C^2(B_1)} + \|g^{-1}\|_{C^2(B_1)} \leq M$. Let $u_{\varepsilon}: B_1 \to [-1, 1]$ be a classical stable critical point of

$$\mathcal{J}_{g,\varepsilon}^{0}(u;B_{1}) = \int_{B_{1}} \left\{ \varepsilon g^{ij} \partial_{i} u \partial_{j} u + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathbb{1}_{(-1,1)}(u) \right\} d\mathrm{vol}_{g}, \qquad \varepsilon \in (0,1).$$

Then the principal curvatures of the level sets of u_{ε} are bounded in $B_{1/2}$ by a constant depending only on M.

APPENDIX A. SOME CLASSICAL RESULTS

We begin by recalling the following quantitative version of Hopf's lemma.

Lemma A.1 (Hopf). Suppose $B_1(e_n)$ touches $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ from the interior at 0. Suppose

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u \geq 0 & in B_1(e_n), \\ u > 0 & in B_1(e_n), \\ u(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then there exist dimensional constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that

$$\partial_{\nu} u(0) \ge c_1 \inf_{B_{1/2}(e_n)} u \ge c_2 \oint_{B_{1/2}(e_n)} u \, dx.$$

Here ν is the inward unit normal of Ω (as consistent with the Bernoulli problem).

Proof. Define

$$\Gamma_n: B_1(e_n) \setminus \{e_n\} \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad \Gamma_n(x) := \begin{cases} -\frac{\log |x-e_n|}{\log 2} & \text{if } n = 2, \\ \frac{|x-e_n|^{2-n}-1}{2^{n-2}-1} & \text{if } n \ge 3, \end{cases}$$

so that

$$\Delta \Gamma_n = 0 \quad \text{in } B_1(e_n) \setminus \{e_n\}, \qquad \Gamma_n|_{\partial B_1(e_n)} = 0, \qquad \Gamma_n|_{\partial B_{1/2}(e_n)} = 1.$$

Then $v(x) = \left(\inf_{\partial B_{1/2}(e_n)} u\right) \Gamma_n(x)$ is a lower barrier for u inside $B_1(e_n) \setminus B_{1/2}(e_n)$, thus $\partial_{\nu} u(0) \ge \partial_{\nu} \Gamma_n(0) = c(n) \inf_{\partial B_{1/2}(e_n)} u$. This proves the first inequality. The second follows from the mean value inequality for super-harmonic functions.

We also present a useful interpolation inequality between L^1 and Lip:

Lemma A.2 (Interpolation). Let $n \ge 2$, and let $\Omega := \{(x', x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R} : x_n > \phi(x')\}$ with $\phi(0) = 0$ and $|\nabla \phi| \le C_{\circ}$. Let $u \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Omega \cap B_1)$. Then,

$$u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega \cap B_{1})}^{n+1} \leq C\|u\|_{L^{1}(\Omega \cap B_{1})}\|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega \cap B_{1})}^{n}$$

for some C depending only on n and C_{\circ} . In particular, for any $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega\cap B_1)} \le C_{\varepsilon} \|u\|_{L^1(\Omega\cap B_1)} + \varepsilon \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega\cap B_1)},$$

for some $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ depending only on n, C_{\circ} , and ε .

Proof. Let $h = ||u||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega \cap B_1)}$, $V = ||u||_{L^1(\Omega \cap B_1)}$, $L = ||\nabla u||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega \cap B_1)}$, and let $x_o \in \Omega \cap B_1$ be such that $|u(x_o)| \ge \frac{h}{2}$. Then, since u is L-Lipschitz, we have

$$|u(x)| \ge \frac{h}{2} - L|x - x_{\circ}|.$$

In particular, denoting $r = \frac{h}{4L}$, we have $|u| \ge \frac{h}{4}$ in $B_r(x_{\circ})$ and therefore

$$V = \int_{\Omega \cap B_1} |u| \ge \int_{B_r(x_\circ) \cap \Omega} |u| \ge \frac{h}{4} |B_r(x_\circ) \cap \Omega| \ge chr^n = c4^{-n} \frac{h^{n+1}}{L^n},$$

which gives the first result. The second estimate then follows from Young's inequality.

In the following result, we will use the stability inequality for classical solutions to the Bernoulli problem in B_1 , which reads as

$$\int_{\partial\{u>0\}} H\xi^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \le \int_{\{u>0\}} |\nabla\xi|^2 \, dx, \quad \text{for all} \quad \xi \in C_c^\infty(B_1), \ \xi \ge 0, \tag{A.1}$$

(see [19, Lemma 1]). We recall that H denotes the mean curvature of the free boundary, and $H(x) = -\partial_{\nu\nu}^2 u(x)$ for $x \in FB(u)$, where ν is the inward unit normal vector field to FB(u) (cf. Lemma 3.12).

Setting $\xi = \mathbf{c}\eta$ in (A.1) and integrating by parts, we get the following equivalent formulation:

$$\int_{\{u>0\}} \mathbf{c}\Delta \mathbf{c} \,\eta^2 \, dx + \int_{\partial\{u>0\}} \mathbf{c}(\mathbf{c}_{\nu} + H\mathbf{c})\eta^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \le \int_{\{u>0\}} \mathbf{c}^2 |\nabla \eta|^2 \, dx, \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathbf{c}, \eta \in C_c^{\infty}(B_1), \ \mathbf{c} \ge 0.$$
(A.2)

One can then prove the following version consequence of the stability inequality.

Lemma A.3 (Sternberg–Zumbrun inequality). Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Then

$$\int_{B_1 \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \eta^2 \, dx \le n \int_{B_1} |\nabla u|^2 |\nabla \eta|^2 \, dx \quad \text{for all} \quad \eta \in C_c^\infty(B_1).$$

Proof. The proof follows along the lines of [40, Theorem 1.9] (cf. [14, 39, 81] for the semilinear case), using the stability condition (A.2) with $\mathbf{c} = |\nabla u|$. More precisely, by harmonicity of u we have

$$|\nabla u|\Delta|\nabla u| = \frac{1}{2}\Delta(|\nabla u|^2) - |\nabla|\nabla u||^2 = |D^2 u|^2 - |\nabla|\nabla u||^2 \quad \text{inside } \{u > 0\} \cap \{|\nabla u| > 0\}.$$

Setting $\nu = \frac{\nabla u}{|\nabla u|}$ (which is the inward unit normal of super-level sets of u and extends the inward unit normal on FB(u) to $\overline{\{u > 0\}} \cap \{|\nabla u| > 0\}$), we note that

$$\nabla |\nabla u| = \frac{(\nabla |\nabla u|^2 \cdot \nu)\nu}{2|\nabla u|} = (\partial_{\nu\nu}^2 u)\nu, \quad \text{therefore} \qquad \partial_{\nu} |\nabla u| = -H \quad \text{on } \partial\{u > 0\}.$$

Thus, thanks to (A.2), we have

$$\int_{B_1} |\nabla u|^2 |\nabla \eta|^2 \, dx \ge \int_{B_1 \cap \{u > 0\} \cap \{|\nabla u| > 0\}} \left(|D^2 u|^2 - |\nabla |\nabla u||^2 \right) \eta^2 \, dx \quad \text{for any} \quad \eta \in C_c^\infty(B_1). \tag{A.3}$$

Notice that, since u is harmonic in $\{u > 0\}$, the set $\{|\nabla u| = 0\} \cap \{u > 0\}$ has zero measure (by unique continuation) and therefore the right integral above is in fact inside $B_1 \cap \{u > 0\}$. Now, given any point $x_o \in \{u > 0\}$, up to a rotation we can assume then $\nabla u(x_o) = e_1 |\nabla u(x_o)|$. Then, at such point, the previous integrand equals

$$\left(|D^2 u|^2 - \left|\nabla |\nabla u|\right|^2\right)(x_\circ) = \sum_{i,j=1}^n (\partial_{ij}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 - (\partial_{11}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 = \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\(i,j)\neq(1,1)}}^n (\partial_{ij}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 + \sum_{i,j=1}^n (\partial_{ij}^2 u(x_\circ))^2$$

Notice that, by harmonicity,

$$(\partial_{11}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 = \left(\partial_{22}^2 u(x_\circ) + \partial_{33}^2 u(x_\circ) + \dots + \partial_{nn}^2 u(x_\circ)\right)^2 \\ \leq (n-1) \left((\partial_{22}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 + (\partial_{33}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 + \dots + (\partial_{nn}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 \right),$$

and so, for any $\tau \in [0, 1]$,

$$\sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\(i,j)\neq(1,1)}}^{n} (\partial_{ij}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 \ge (1-\tau) \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\(i,j)\neq(1,1)}}^{n} (\partial_{ij}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 + \frac{\tau}{n-1} (\partial_{11}^2 u(x_\circ))^2.$$

Choosing $\tau = \frac{n-1}{n}$, this proves that

$$\left(|D^2 u|^2 - \left|\nabla |\nabla u|\right|^2\right)(x_\circ) \ge \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i,j=1}^n (\partial_{ij}^2 u(x_\circ))^2 = \frac{1}{n} |D^2 u(x_\circ)|^2.$$

Combining this inequality with (A.3), we get the desired result.

APPENDIX B. LINEAR ESTIMATES FOR THE BERNOULLI PROBLEM

In this appendix, we prove some linear estimates for the Bernoulli or one-phase problem that are useful throughout the work. In the following, we keep in mind the equivalence:

Lemma B.1. Let $n \ge 2$, $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, and let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ with $0 \in FB(u)$. Then, the following are equivalent for any $\varepsilon_{\circ} = \varepsilon_{\circ}(n)$ small enough:

- (i) $|u e \cdot x| \leq \varepsilon_{\circ}$ in $B_1 \cap \{u > 0\};$
- (*ii*) $(e \cdot x \varepsilon_{\circ})_{+} \leq u \leq (e \cdot x + \varepsilon_{\circ})_{+}$ in B_{1} .

Proof. All implications are elementary, except that (i) implies $u \ge (e \cdot x - \varepsilon_{\circ})_{+}$ in B_1 . By contradiction, we would have $u \equiv 0$ in $B_1 \cap \{|x \cdot e| \ge \varepsilon_{\circ}\}$. However, since $0 \in FB(u)$, this contradicts Lemma 3.5 (or Remark 3.6) if ε_{\circ} is small enough.

Remark B.2. In the previous statement, the hypothesis $0 \in FB(u)$ can be replaced, e.g., with $B_{7/8} \cap \{u > 0\} \neq \emptyset$.

Theorem B.3. Given $n \ge 2$, there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ small enough depending only on n such that the following holds. Let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, and suppose that

$$\|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})} \le \varepsilon_{\circ} \quad for \ some \quad e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}, \ b \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then, for any $\alpha \in (0,1)$ we have

$$\|\nabla u - e\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u>0\})} + [\nabla u]_{C^{\alpha}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u>0\})} \le C\|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1} \cap \{u>0\})},$$

for some constant C depending only on n and α .

Proof. Denote $\varepsilon := \|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})} \le \varepsilon_{\circ}$. If there are no free boundary points in $B_{3/4}$ we are done, either by harmonic estimates if u > 0 in $B_{3/4}$, or because $u \equiv 0$ in $B_{3/4}$. Thus, let us assume $x_{\circ} \in B_{3/4} \cap FB(u)$, and consider $\bar{u}(x) = 8u\left(x_{\circ} + \frac{x}{8}\right)$, which is a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in B_1 such that

 $\|\bar{u} - e \cdot (8x_{\circ} + x) - 8b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\})} \le 8\varepsilon \le 8\varepsilon_{\circ}.$

In particular, since $\bar{u}(0) = 0$, we have $|8e \cdot x_{\circ} + 8b| \leq 8\varepsilon$, and therefore

$$\|\bar{u} - e \cdot x\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\})} \le 16\varepsilon \le 16\varepsilon_{\circ}.$$

Recalling Lemma B.1, for ε_{\circ} small enough we can iteratively apply [30, Lemma 4.1] (cf. [30, Proof of Theorem 1.1]) to get

$$[\nabla \bar{u}]_{C^{1,\alpha}(B_{1/2} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\})} \le C\varepsilon.$$

In particular, setting $z_{\circ} := \frac{1}{4}e$,

$$\|\nabla \bar{u} - \nabla \bar{u}(z_{\circ})\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C\varepsilon$$

Since the free boundary is flat, we can use harmonic estimates for $\bar{u} - e \cdot x$ in $B_{1/8}(z_{\circ})$, to deduce

$$|\nabla \bar{u}(z_{\circ}) - e| \le C \|\bar{u} - e \cdot x\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/8}(z_{\circ}))} \le C\varepsilon.$$

Combining this bound with the above estimate at z_{\circ} , we obtain

$$\|\nabla \bar{u} - e\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\})} \le \|\nabla \bar{u} - \nabla \bar{u}(z_{\circ})\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{\bar{u} > 0\})} + |\nabla \bar{u}(z_{\circ}) - e| \le C\varepsilon.$$

By rescaling back and a covering argument, we get the desired result.

Remark B.4. Since u is Lipschitz, the estimate

$$\|\nabla u - e\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C \|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1} \cap \{u > 0\})},$$

holds with $C = 2\varepsilon_{\circ}^{-1}$ when the right-hand side is not smaller than ε_{\circ} .

By a standard interpolation argument, we can now show that L^1 -flatness implies L^{∞} -flatness:

Proposition B.5. Let $n \ge 2$, and let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. There exists a dimensional constant C such that, for any $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C \|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{1}(B_{1} \cap \{u > 0\})}$$

for some constant C depending only on n.

 r^{r}

Proof. From Theorem B.3 and Remark B.4), we know that for any $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\|\nabla u - e\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C \|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1} \cap \{u > 0\})}$$

Combining this bound with the interpolation Lemma A.2, for any $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, $b \in \mathbb{R}$, and $\delta > 0$,

$$\|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C_{\delta} \|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{1}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} + \delta \|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1} \cap \{u > 0\})}$$

for some $C_{\delta} > 0$. Now, for any $B_r(z) \subset B_1$ applying this estimate to $u_{r,z} = \frac{u(z+r)}{r}$ with b replaced by $\frac{b+e\cdot z}{r}$, we deduce that

$$||u - e \cdot x - b||_{L^{\infty}(B_{r/2}(z) \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C_{\delta} ||u - e \cdot x - b||_{L^{1}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})} + \delta r^{n} ||u - e \cdot x - b||_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}(z) \cap \{u > 0\})}.$$

Now, choosing δ sufficiently small, we can apply a standard covering trick to reabsorb the L^{∞} -term in the right-hand side (see, for example, [41, Lemma 2.27]) and we deduce that, for any $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}$, it holds

$$\|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/4} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C \|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{1}(B_{1/2} \cap \{u > 0\})}.$$

After a final covering and scaling argument, this proves our desired result.

Finally, exploiting the recent results in [63], one obtains the linear estimates for higher-order derivatives of solutions to the Bernoulli problem:

Proposition B.6. Let $n \ge 2$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$. There exists $\varepsilon_{\circ} = \varepsilon_{\circ}(n) > 0$ small enough such that the following holds. Let u be a classical solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, and let us suppose that

 $\|u - e \cdot x - b\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})} \le \varepsilon_{\circ} \quad \text{for some} \quad e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}, \ b \in \mathbb{R}.$

Then, we have

$$||D^{k}u||_{L^{\infty}(B_{1/2}\cap\{u>0\})} \le C||u-e\cdot x-b||_{L^{\infty}(B_{1}\cap\{u>0\})},$$

for some constant C depending only on n and k.

Proof. Let us denote $\varepsilon := ||u - e \cdot x - b||_{L^{\infty}(B_1 \cap \{u > 0\})} \le \varepsilon_{\circ}$. The proof follows by tracking the dependence on ε in [63, Theorem 1.31] (with right-hand side f = 0). More precisely, after a translation, rotation, and a covering argument, thanks to Theorem B.3 we can assume that

$$||u - x_n||_{C^{1,1/2}(B_{5/6} \cap \{u > 0\})} \le C\varepsilon_1$$

where $\{u > 0\}$ coincides inside $B_{5/6}$ with the epigraph $\{x_n > \varphi(x')\}$, where φ is uniformly $C^{1,1/2}$. From this point, the proof follows by induction as in [63, Theorem 1.31]. Namely, by repeated applications of [63, Theorem 1.29] we deduce that, for any $k \ge 2$,

$$\|u - x_n\|_{C^{k,1/2}(\Omega \cap B_{\rho_k})} \le C_k \varepsilon, \qquad \text{for some radii} \quad \frac{1}{2} < \rho_{k+1} < \rho_k < 1,$$

red result.

which gives the desired result.

APPENDIX C. COMPACTNESS OF STABLE SOLUTIONS

In this appendix we show the compactness of sequences of stable solutions to the Bernoulli problem, as stated in Lemma 4.5. Before that, we need an auxiliary lemma:

Lemma C.1. Let $n \ge 2$, $\delta > 0$, and let u be a classical stable solution to the Bernoulli problem in $B_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ with $0 \in FB(u)$. Assume, in addition:

$$\begin{cases} u > 0 & \text{in } B_2 \cap \{x_n > \delta\} \\ u \le \delta & \text{in } B_2 \cap \{x_n < -\delta\} \end{cases}$$

Then u = 0 in $B_1 \cap \{x_n < -C\delta\}$, where C is a dimensional constant.

Proof. Combining our assumption with Lemma 4.2, it follows that the free boundary of u is contained in a strip $\{-C_0\delta \leq x_n \leq \delta\}$ inside $B_{7/4}$, with C_0 dimensional. Hence, to prove the result, we assume by contradiction that

$$0 < u \le \delta \qquad \text{inside} \quad \{x_n < -C_0\delta\} \cap B_1. \tag{C.1}$$

By Lemma 4.2 and Lipschitz estimates (see, e.g., [20, Lemma 11.19]), we have $\sup_{B_1} u \ge c_1 > 0$ and $|\nabla u| < C_2$ in $B_{3/2}$, where c_1 and C_2 are dimensional constants. Hence, there exists $y \in B_1$ such that $\min_{B_{r/2}(y)} u \ge c_1/2$ where $r = c_1/C_2 > 0$. Assuming that δ is sufficiently small (if not, we take $C = 1/\delta$ in the conclusion) and recalling that $u \le \delta$ in $B_2 \cap \{x_n < -\delta\}$, it follows that $y_n > r/4$.

Since $\Delta u = 0$ in $B_2 \cap \{x_n > \delta\} \subset \{u > 0\}$, by Harnack's inequality we obtain

$$u \ge c > 0$$
 in $B_{7/4} \cap \{x_n > 1/8\}$

and therefore, by a standard barrier argument,

$$u(x) \ge c(x_n - \delta) > 0 \qquad \text{for all } x \in B_{3/2} \cap \{x_n > \delta\}.$$
 (C.2)

We now want to exploit Lemma A.3. Recall that, by contradiction, we are assuming (C.1). Thus, by Fubini's theorem we have

$$\int_{B_1 \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx \ge \int_{B_{1/2}'} \int_{[-1/2, 1/2] \cap \{u(\sigma, t) > 0\}} |D^2 u|^2(\sigma, t) \, dt \, d\sigma \ge \int_{B_{1/2}'} \int_{-1/2}^{t_\sigma} |D^2 u|^2(\sigma, t) \, dt \, d\sigma,$$

where:

- $B'_r \subset \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ denotes the ball of radius r in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} ;

- given $\sigma \in B'_{1/2}$, t_{σ} denotes the maximal value $t_* \in [-1/4, 1/4]$ such that $(-1/2, t_*) \subset \{u(\sigma, \cdot) > 0\}$. Now, let $\Pi_n : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ denote the orthogonal projection onto the first n-1 variables, and define

$$A := \Pi_n \big(FB(u) \cap (B'_{1/2} \times (-1/2, 1/2)) \big) \subset B'_{1/2} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$$

Notice now that, by (C.1) and harmonic estimates, there exists $\overline{C} > 1$ dimensional such that $|\nabla u(\sigma, -\overline{C}\delta)|^2 \leq 1/2$ for all $\sigma \in B'_{1/2}$. Also, for $\sigma \in A$, we have $-C_0\delta \leq t_{\sigma} \leq \delta$. Hence, since $|\nabla u|^2 = 1$ on FB(u) and $|\nabla |\nabla u|^2 \leq 2|D^2u|$, it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2}|A| \le \int_A \int_{-\overline{C}\delta}^{t_\sigma} |\partial_n|\nabla u|^2(\sigma,t) \Big| dt \, d\sigma \le 2 \int_A \int_{-\overline{C}\delta}^{\delta} |D^2 u| dt \, d\sigma.$$

Thus, applying Cauchy–Schwarz and Lemma A.3, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}|A| \le C(|A|\delta)^{1/2} \left(\int_{B_1 \cap \{u > 0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2} \le C(|A|\delta)^{1/2} \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad |A| \le C\delta$$

On the other hand, for $\sigma \in B'_{1/2} \setminus A$ we have $t_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{4} \ge \delta^{1/2}$. Thus, from (C.2) and the fact that $0 \le u \le \delta$ for $\{x_n < -\delta\}$, for δ sufficiently small we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{-\delta^{1/2}}^{\delta^{1/2}} |\partial_{nn}^2 u(\sigma,t)| dt &\geq \left| \frac{u(\sigma,\delta^{1/2}) - u(\sigma,-C\delta)}{\delta^{1/2} + C\delta} - \frac{u(\sigma,-C\delta) - u(\sigma,-\delta^{-1/2})}{-C\delta + \delta^{1/2}} \right| \\ &\geq \left(\frac{c(\delta^{1/2} - \delta) - \delta}{2\delta^{1/2}} - \frac{\delta - 0}{\frac{1}{2}\delta^{1/2}} \right) \geq \frac{c}{4}. \end{split}$$

Hence, arguing similarly to before, we get

$$\frac{c}{4}|B'_{1/2} \setminus A| \leq \int_{B'_{1/2} \setminus A} \int_{-\delta^{1/2}}^{\delta^{1/2}} |\partial_{nn}^2 u(\sigma,t)| dt \leq C \left(|B'_{1/2} \setminus A|\delta^{1/2}\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{B_1 \cap \{u>0\}} |D^2 u|^2 \, dx\right)^{1/2} \leq C \left(|B'_{1/2} \setminus A|\delta^{1/2}\right)^{1/2},$$

which proves that $|B'_{1/2} \setminus A| \leq C \delta^{1/2}$. Combining the bounds that we have obtained, we get $|B'_{1/2}| \leq |A| + |B'_{1/2} \setminus A| \leq C(\delta + \delta^{1/2})$, a contradiction for δ small enough.

We can now give the proof of Lemma 4.5. This fixes a small gap in [57, Theorem 1.2], since the authors rely on [20, Lemma 1.21] and the proof there is incomplete, as one can see by comparing their argument with ours below.

Proof of Lemma 4.5. We prove the three points separately.

(1) Since $\|\nabla v_k\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{k/2})} \leq C$ (by Lipschitz regularity of classical solutions, see e.g. [20, Lemma 11.19]), for any $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ we have $v_k \to v_{\infty}$ in $C^{0,\alpha}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\|\nabla v_{\infty}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C(n)$ (in fact, v_{∞} is 1-Lipschitz by Lemma 3.2). Also, since v_k is subharmonic, so is v_{∞} and we have

$$\nabla v_k \to \nabla v_\infty$$
 strongly in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

(see for instance [15, Lemma A.1(b1)]). Hence, thanks to the bound $\|\nabla(v_k - v_\infty)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{k/2})} \leq C$, it follows by interpolation that $v_k \to v_\infty$ strongly in $H^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

(2) We now prove the Hausdorff convergence of the different sets.

• Hausdorff convergence of free boundaries.

Thanks to (4.4), given $x_k \in FB(v_k)$ with $x_k \to z_\infty$ we have

$$\|v_k\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_k))} \ge c(n)r \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \|v_{\infty}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_{\infty}))} \ge c(n)r.$$

In particular, since $v_{\infty}(x_{\infty}) = \lim_{k \to \infty} v_k(x_k) = 0$, it follows that $x_{\infty} \in FB(v_{\infty})$.

Conversely, let $x_{\infty} \in FB(v_{\infty})$ and assume by contradiction that there is no free boundary point for v_k in a neighborhood, for all k large. Then the functions v_k are all harmonic around x_{\circ} (they are either identically zero, or positive and harmonic), and thus v_{∞} would be harmonic in a uniform neighborhood around x_{\circ} ; impossible.

• Hausdorff convergence of $\overline{\{v_k = 0\}}$ to $\overline{\{v_\infty = 0\}}$.

If $x_k \in \{v_k = 0\}$ and $x_k \to x_\infty$, then $v_\infty(x_\infty) = 0$. Conversely, if $v_\infty(x_\infty) = 0$, we want to prove that there exist points $x_k \in \{v_k = 0\}$ such that $x_k \to x_\infty$. This is the main part of the proof.

Let $C \subset \{v_{\infty} = 0\}$ denote the set of zero points of v_{∞} that are also accumulation points of convergent sequences x_k with $v_k(x_k) > 0$. Note that C is closed and that, by the Hausdorff convergence of the free boundaries, $\partial C \subset FB(v_{\infty})$. We need to prove that the interior of C is empty.

If not, by contradiction, there exists $x_{\circ} \in \partial C$ such that the open sets int $C \cap B_{\varrho}(x_{\circ})$ and $\{v_{\infty} > 0\} \cap B_{\varrho}(x_{\circ})$ are both nonempty. By Lemma 3.3 and Lemma 4.2, the sets $FB(v_k)$ are "equi-uniformly" Alfohrs–David regular: namely, there exists a dimensional constant $C_1 > 1$ such that, for all k,

$$\frac{1}{C_1}r^{n-1} \le \mathcal{H}^{n-1}(\operatorname{FB}(v_k) \cap B_r(y)) \le C_1r^{n-1} \quad \text{for all} \quad y \in \operatorname{FB}(v_k), \ r > 0$$

This implies, by standard covering arguments using Besicovitch theorem,

$$\mathcal{H}^n((\mathrm{FB}(v_k) + B_t) \cap B_r(y)) \le C_2 r^{n-1} t \quad \text{for all} \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ r > 0, \ t \in (0, r)$$

This last inequality is stable under Hausdorff convergence, giving

$$\mathcal{H}^n((\mathrm{FB}(v_\infty) + B_t) \cap B_r(y)) \le C_2 r^{n-1} t \quad \text{for all} \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ r > 0, \ t \in (0, r).$$

This proves that the (n-1)-dimensional upper Minkowski content of the boundary

$$\partial \mathcal{C} \cap B_{\rho}(x_{\circ}) = \operatorname{FB}(v_{\infty}) \cap B_{\rho}(x_{\circ})$$

is finite, and therefore the set $\{v_{\infty} > 0\} \cap B_{\varrho}(x_{\circ})$ has finite (relative) perimeter in $B_{\varrho}(x_{\circ})$. Thus, as a consequence of De Giorgi's structure theorem, [67, Chapter 15], there is a point y_{\circ} belonging to the reduced boundary of \mathcal{C} in $B_{\rho/2}(x_{\circ}), y_{\circ} \in \partial^* \mathcal{C} \cap B_{\rho/2}(x_{\circ})$. Hence, by zooming enough around y_{\circ} , both \mathcal{C} and $\{v_{\infty} > 0\}$ look locally like half-spaces around y_{\circ} , and therefore we can apply Lemma C.1 to deduce that the functions v_k have to vanish somewhere near y_{\circ} , for k large enough. This provides a contradiction and concludes the proof.

• Hausdorff convergence of $\{v_k > 0\}$ to $\{v_{\infty} > 0\}$.

This follows from the convergence of the free boundaries and the closures of the contact sets.

(3) Given $u \in H^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and a smooth compactly supported vector field $\Psi \in C^{\infty}_c(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}^n)$, it is a direct computation to obtain the first and second inner variation of the energy in the direction Ψ :

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} (E(u(\cdot+t\Psi));\mathbb{R}^n) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left\{ -2\nabla u \, D\Psi(\nabla u)^\top + |\nabla u|^2 \mathrm{div}(D\Psi) \right\} \, dx + \int_{\{u>0\}} \mathrm{div}(\Psi) \, dx,$$

and

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}\Big|_{t=0} (E(u(\cdot+t\Psi));\mathbb{R}^n) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \nabla u \left[4(D\Psi)^2 + 2D\Psi(D\Psi)^\top - 4(\operatorname{div}\Psi)D\Psi + (\operatorname{div}\Psi)^2 \operatorname{Id} - \operatorname{tr}\left((D\Psi)^2\right)\right] (\nabla u)^\top dx + \int_{\{u>0\}} \left((\operatorname{div}\Psi)^2 - \operatorname{tr}\left((D\Psi)^2\right)\right) dx.$$

Thanks to the convergences proved in points (1) and (2) above, together with the fact that $\|\nabla v_k\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{k/2})} \leq C$, we can let $k \to \infty$ in the formulas for the first and second variation to deduce that v_{∞} is stationary and that

$$0 \le \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \Big|_{t=0} (E(v_k(\cdot + t\Psi)); \mathbb{R}^n) \to \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \Big|_{t=0} (E(v_\infty(\cdot + t\Psi)); \mathbb{R}^n) \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty,$$

for any $\Psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}^n)$ fixed. This proves that v_{∞} is a stable solution.

Appendix D. Estimates for positive harmonic functions in a flat-Lipschitz domain

Proof of Lemma 6.3. The statement is scale-invariant, so we can fix r = 1. Let $B_2^{+,t} := B_2 \cap \{x_n \ge t\}$, and consider $P_t(x,y) : B_2^{+,t} \times \partial B_2^{+,t} \to [0,\infty)$ the Poisson kernel for the domain $B_2^{+,t}$. We note that there exists some dimensional constant $c_n > 0$ such that $P_t\left(\frac{5}{4}e_n, y\right) \ge c_n > 0$ for any $t \in [0,1]$ and $y \in B_{3/2} \cap \{x_n = t\}$ (this can be seen, for example, by comparing P_t to the Poisson kernel of the half-space). Therefore,

$$w\left(\frac{5}{4}e_n\right) \ge \int_{|y'|\le 3/2} P_t\left(\frac{5}{4}e_n, (y', t)\right) w(y', t) \, dy' \ge c_n \int_{|y'|\le 3/2} w(y', t) \, dy'.$$

Since the values $w\left(\frac{5}{4}e_n\right)$ and $w(e_n)$ are comparable (by Harnack inequality), the result follows.

Proof of Lemma 6.4. We divide the proof into two steps.

Step 1: By scaling invariance, we fix r = 1. Let $r_k = 2^{-k}$ and split $B_1 \cap D = \bigcup_{k \ge 1} S_k$, where $S_k = \{x \in B_1 : r_k < \text{dist}(x, D^c) \le r_{k-1}\}$ can be covered by a union of balls $\bigcup_{i \in I_k} B_{r_{k+1}}(x_i)$ with bounded overlapping. In particular, $\#I_k \le Cr_k^{-(n-1)}$.

Now, using Harnack inequality and interior estimates, (6.6) holds in S_1 (in place of $B_1 \cap D$). Also, again by interior estimates, for $k \ge 2$ we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_1 \cap S_k} |D^2 w|^{\gamma'} \, dx &\leq \sum_{i \in I_k} \int_{B_{r_{k+2}}(x_i)} |D^2 w|^{\gamma'} \, dx \leq C \sum_{i \in I_k} r_k^{-2\gamma'} \int_{B_{r_{k+1}}(x_i)} w^{\gamma'} \, dx \\ &\leq C r_k^{-2\gamma'+n} \# I_k \, |B_{r_{k+1}}| \left(\frac{1}{\# I_k \, |B_{r_{k+1}}|} \sum_{i \in I_k} \int_{B_{r_{k+1}}(x_i)} w \, dx \right)^{\gamma} \\ &\leq C r_k^{-2\gamma'} \left(\# I_k \, |B_{r_{k+1}}| \right)^{1-\gamma'} \left(\int_{S_{k-1} \cup S_k \cup S_{k+1}} w \, dx \right)^{\gamma'} \\ &\leq C r_k^{1-3\gamma'} \left(\int_{S_{k-1} \cup S_k \cup S_{k+1}} w \, dx \right)^{\gamma'}, \end{split}$$

where, in the second line, we applied Jensen's inequality (note that $t \mapsto t^{\gamma}$ is concave). **Step 2:** Let $\tau \ll 1$ be universally small (to be fixed later) and assume that $c_{\circ} \ll \tau^2$. For $i \in \mathbb{N}$, consider the scales $\rho_i := \frac{1}{8}\tau^i$ and indices $j \in I^{(i)}$ so that the "graphical lattice" $p_j^{(i)} \in \partial D \cap B_{3/2}$ projects along e_n to $(p_i^{(i)})' \in \frac{1}{16}\rho_i \mathbb{Z}^{n-1} \subset \{x_n = 0\}.$ Then, consider the covering by spherical caps,

$$D \cap B_{3/2} \cap \left\{ x_n \le \frac{1}{16} \right\} \subset \bigcup_{i=0}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j \in I^{(i)}} D_j^{(i)}, \quad \text{for} \quad D_j^{(i)} := p_j^{(i)} + \left\{ x_n \ge \tau^2 \rho_i \right\} \cap B_{\rho_i} \subset D.$$
(D.1)

Using Lemma 6.3 at scale ρ_i and integrating over $t \in [0, 1]$, since $c_{\circ} \ll \tau^2$) we deduce that

$$\int_{D_j^{(i)}} w \, dx \le C \int_{\tilde{D}_j^{(i)}} w \, dx, \quad \text{for} \quad \tilde{D}_j^{(i)} := p_j^{(i)} + \left\{ x_n \ge \frac{1}{4} \rho_i \right\} \cap B_{2\rho_i}. \tag{D.2}$$

We now define the slabs

$$S_j^{(i)} := p_j^{(i)} + \left\{ \frac{\tau}{8} \rho_i \le x_n \le 4\tau \rho_i \right\} \cap B_{\rho_i/2}$$

and note that

$$S_j^{(i)} \supset \bigcup_{\ell \in I_j^{(i+1)}} \tilde{D}_{\ell}^{(i+1)} \quad \text{for some family of indices } I_j^{(i+1)} \text{ satisfying } \bigcup_{j \in I^{(i)}} I_j^{(i+1)} = I^{(i+1)}$$

Applying Lemma 6.3 again at scale ρ_i , but this time integrating over $t \in [0, 4\tau]$, we have

$$\sum_{\ell \in I_j^{(i+1)}} \int_{\tilde{D}_{\ell}^{(i+1)}} w \, dx \le C \int_{S_j^{(i)}} w \, dx \le \tilde{C} \tau \int_{\tilde{D}_j^{(i)}} w \, dx$$

so $\sum_{j \in I^{(i)}} \int_{\tilde{D}_i^{(i)}} w \, dx$ decays geometrically as long as $\tau < \frac{1}{\tilde{C}}$. Hence, recalling (D.2) we get

$$\int_{B_{3/2} \cap \tilde{S}_i^{\tau}} w \le \sum_{j \in I^{(i)}} \int_{D_J^{(i)}} w \, dx \le (\tilde{C}\tau)^{i+1} \int_{\tilde{D}_j^{(0)}} w \, dx \le C \int_{\{x_3 \ge 1/64\} \cap B_{7/4}} w \, dx \le C (\tilde{C}\tau)^{i+1} w(e_n),$$

where $\tilde{S}_i^{\tau} = \{\tau^{i+2}/8 < \text{dist}(\cdot, D^c) < \tau^i/16\}$, and where we have also used Harnack inequality. Observe now that $S_{k-1} \cup S_k \cup S_{k+1} \subset B_{3/2} \cap (\tilde{S}_i^{\tau} \cup \tilde{S}_{i+1}^{\tau})$ as long as $2^{-k-1} > \tau^{i+2}/8$ and $2^{-k+1} < \tau^{i-1}/16$. This holds, for instance, for $i = \lfloor k / \lfloor \log_2(\tau) \rfloor$ with τ universally small. Hence, by the previous inequality, we get

$$\int_{S_{k-1}\cup S_k\cup S_{k+1}} w\,dx \le \int_{B_{3/2}\cap(\tilde{S}_i^{\tau}\cup\tilde{S}_{i+1}^{\tau})} w\,dx \le C(\tilde{C}\tau)^{k/|\log_2(\tau)|} w(e_n) \le C2^{k\frac{C}{|\log \tau|}} 2^{-k} w(e_n).$$

Applying Step 1 and adding over k, we finally

$$\int_{B_1 \cap D} |D^2 w|^{\gamma'} \, dx \le C(w(e_n))^{\gamma'} \sum_{k \ge 1} r_k^{1 - 2\gamma' - \frac{C\gamma'}{|\log \tau|}}.$$

Note that previous sum is finite as long as $-2\gamma' + 1 - \frac{C\gamma'}{|\log \tau|} > 0$, which holds for any $\gamma' < \frac{1}{2}$ by choosing τ sufficiently small (depending on γ'). This concludes the proof. Proof of Lemma 8.9. By scale invariance, we fix r = 1. Proceeding exactly as in Step 2 of the proof of Lemma 6.4 (see above), by applying Lemma 8.8 instead of Lemma 6.3 (which is integrable in t as long as (n-1)(1-q) > -1) we obtain

$$\sum_{\ell \in I_j^{(i+1)}} \int_{\tilde{D}_{\ell}^{(i+1)}} |\nabla w|^q \, dx \le C \int_{S_j^{(i)}} |\nabla w|^q \, dx \le C_q \tau^{n-(n-1)q} \int_{\tilde{D}_j^{(i)}} |\nabla w|^q \, dx.$$

As before, $\sum_{j \in I^{(i)}} \int_{\tilde{D}_{i}^{(i)}} |\nabla w|^{q} dx$ decays geometrically (now for $q \in (1, \frac{n}{n-1})$ and $\tau = \tau(n, q)$ fixed). Thus,

$$\begin{split} \int_{D\cap B_{3/2}\cap\left\{x_{n}\leq\frac{1}{16}\right\}} |\nabla w|^{q} \, dx &\leq C \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j\in I^{(i)}} \int_{\tilde{D}_{j}^{(i)}} |\nabla w|^{q} \, dx \\ &\leq C \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(C_{q} \tau^{n-(n-1)q}\right)^{i} \sum_{j\in I^{(0)}} \int_{\tilde{D}_{j}^{(0)}} |\nabla w|^{q} \, dx \leq C_{q} \int_{B_{7/4}\cap\left\{x_{n}\geq\frac{1}{64}\right\}} |\nabla w|^{q} \, dx, \end{split}$$

from which it follows that

$$\int_{D \cap B_{3/2}} |\nabla w|^q \, dx \le C_q \int_{B_{7/4} \cap \left\{ x_n \ge \frac{1}{64} \right\}} |\nabla w|^q \, dx$$

Using again Lemma 8.8 (to replace $\{x_n \ge \frac{1}{64}\}\$ with $\{x_n \ge \frac{1}{4}\}$), the result follows.

References

- [1] R. A. Adams and J. Fournier, Cone conditions and properties of Sobolev spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 61 (1977), 713–734.
- [2] G. Alberti, L. Ambrosio, and X. Cabré, On a long-standing conjecture of E. De Giorgi: symmetry in 3D for general nonlinearities and a local minimality property, 2001, pp. 9–33. Special issue dedicated to Antonio Avantaggiati on the occasion of his 70th birthday.
- [3] S. Allen and J. Cahn, Ground state structures in ordered binary alloys with second neighbor interactions, Acta Metall. 20 (1972), 423–433.
- [4] H. Alt and L. Caffarelli, Existence and regularity for a minimum problem with free boundary, J. Reine Angew. Math. 325 (1981), 105–144.
- [5] H. Alt, L. Caffarelli, and A. Friedman, Asymmetric jet flows, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 35 (1982), 29-68.
- [6] _____, Jet flows with gravity, J. Reine Angew. Math. **331** (1982), 58–103.
- [7] _____, Axially symmetric jet flows, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 331 (1983), 97–149.
- [8] L. Ambrosio and X. Cabré, Entire solutions of semilinear elliptic equations in R³ and a conjecture of De Giorgi, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 13 (2000), 725–739.
- [9] J. An, Second order estimates for a free boundary phase transition. Forthcoming preprint.
- [10] G. R. Baker, P. G. Saffman, and J. S. Sheffield, Structure of a linear array of hollow vortices of finite cross-section, J. Fluid. Mech. 74 (1976), 469–476.
- [11] J. Basulto and N. Kamburov, One-phase free boundary solutions of finite Morse index. Preprint arXiv:2311.10185.
- [12] J. D. Buckmaster and G. S. Ludford, Theory of Laminar Flames, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1982.
- [13] D. Bucur, Minimization of the k-th eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplacian, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 206 (2012), 1073–1083.
- [14] X. Cabré, Regularity of minimizers of semilinear elliptic problems up to dimension 4, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 63 (2010), no. 10, 1362–1380.
- [15] X. Cabré, A. Figalli, X. Ros-Oton, and J. Serra, Stable solutions to semilinear elliptic equations are smooth up to dimension 9, Acta Math. 224 (2020), no. 2, 187–252.
- [16] L. Caffarelli, A Harnack inequality approach to the regularity of free boundaries. II. Flat free boundaries are Lipschitz, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 42 (1989), 55–78.
- [17] L. Caffarelli and A. Córdoba, Uniform convergence of a singular perturbation problem, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. XLVII (1995), 1–12.
- [18] _____, Phase transitions: Uniform regularity of the intermediate layers, J. Reine Angew. Math. 593 (2006), 209–235.
- [19] L. Caffarelli, D. Jerison, and C. E. Kenig, Global energy minimizers for free boundary problems and full regularity in three dimensions, Noncompact problems at the intersection of geometry, analysis, and topology, 2004, pp. 83–97.
- [20] L. Caffarelli and S. Salsa, A geometric approach to free boundary problems, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 68, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2005.
- [21] J. Cahn and J. Hilliard, Free energy of a nonuniform system. I. Interfacial free energy, J. Chem. Phys. 28 (1958), 258-267.
- [22] G. Catino, P. Mastrolia, and A. Roncoroni, Two rigidity results for stable minimal hypersurfaces, Geom. Funct. Anal. 34 (2024), no. 1, 1–18.
- [23] O. Chodosh, Lecture Notes on the Allen-Cahn Equation, 2019. Available at https://web.stanford.edu/~ochodosh/ AllenCahnSummerSchool2019.pdf.
- [24] O. Chodosh, N. Edelen, and C. Li, Improved regularity for minimizing capillary hypersurfaces. Preprint arXiv:2401.08028.
- [25] O. Chodosh and C. Li, Stable anisotropic minimal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^4 , Forum Math. Pi 11 (2023), Paper No. e3, 22.
- [26] _____, Stable minimal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^4 , Acta Math. 233 (2024), 1–31.
- [27] O. Chodosh, C. Li, P. Minter, and D. Stryker, Stable minimal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^5 . Preprint arXiv:2401.01492.
- [28] O. Chodosh and C. Mantoulidis, The multiplicity-one conjecture for min-max minimal surfaces, Ann. of Math. (2) 192 (2020), 767–820.

- [29] G. De Philippis, L. Spolaor, and B. Velichkov, Regularity of the free boundary for the two-phase Bernoulli problem, Invent. Math. 225 (2021), 347–394.
- [30] D. De Silva, Free boundary regularity for a problem with right hand side, Interfaces Free Bound. 13 (2011), no. 2, 223–238.
- [31] D. De Silva and D. Jerison, A singular energy minimizing free boundary, J. Reine Angew. Math. 635 (2009), 1–22.
- [32] D. De Silva, D. Jerison, and H. Shahgholian, Inhomogeneous global minimizers to the one-phase free boundary problem, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 47 (2022), 1193–1216.
- [33] M. del Pino, M. Kowalczyk, and J. Wei, A conjecture by De Giorgi in large dimensions, Ann. of Math. 174 (2011), 1485–1569.
- [34] M. do Carmo and C. K. Peng, Stable complete minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 are planes, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 1 (1979), 903–906.
- [35] Z. Du, C. Gui, and K. Wang, Four end solutions of a free boundary problem, Adv. Math. 404 (2022), 108395.
- [36] M. Engelstein, X. Fernández-Real, and H. Yu, Graphical solutions to one-phase free boundary problems, J. Reine Angew. Math. 804 (2023), 155–195.
- [37] M. Engelstein, L. Spolaor, and B. Velichkov, Uniqueness of the blowup at isolated singularities for the Alt-Caffarelli functional, Duke Math. J. 169 (2020), 1541–1601.
- [38] J. L. Ericksen, Conservation laws for liquid crystals, Trans. Soc. Rheology 5 (1961), 23–34.
- [39] A. Farina and E. Valdinoci, The state of the art for a conjecture of De Giorgi and related problems, Recent progress on reactiondiffusion systems and viscosity solutions, 2009, pp. 74—96.
- [40] X. Fernández-Real and X. Ros-Oton, On global solutions to semilinear elliptic equations related to the one-phase free boundary problem, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 39 (2019), no. 12, 6945–6959.
- [41] _____, Regularity Theory for Elliptic PDE, Zurich Lectures in Advanced Mathematics, European Mathematical Society Press, 2022.
- [42] X. Fernández-Real and H. Yu, Generic properties in free boundary problems. Preprint arXiv:2308.13209.
- [43] A. Figalli, A. Guerra, S. Kim, and H. Shahgholian, Constraint maps with free boundaries: the Bernoulli case, J. Eur. Math. Soc., to appear.
- [44] D. Fischer-Colbrie and R. Schoen, The structure of complete stable minimal surfaces in 3-manifolds of nonnegative scalar curvature, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 3 (1980), 199–211.
- [45] N. Ghoussoub and C. Gui, On a conjecture of De Giorgi and some related problems, Math. Ann. 311 (1998), 481-491.
- [46] V. Ginzburg and L. Landau, On the theory of superconductivity, On Superconductivity and Superfluidity, 2009.
- [47] E. De Giorgi, Convergence problems for functional and operators, Proc. int. meeting on recent methods in nonlinear analysis, 1978, pp. 131–188.
- [48] V. Guillemin and A. Pollack, Differential Topology, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1974.
- [49] F. Hamel, Y. Liu, P. Sicbaldi, K. Wang, and J. Wei, Half-space theorems for the Allen-Cahn equation and related problems, J. Reine Angew. Math. 767 (2021), 1–25.
- [50] L. Hauswirth, F. Hélein, and F. Pacard, On an overdetermined elliptic problem, Pacific J. Math. 250 (2011), 319-334.
- [51] J. E. Hutchinson and Y. Tonegawa, Convergence of phase interfaces in the van der Waals-Cahn-Hilliard theory, Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations 10 (2000), 49–84.
- [52] D. Jerison and N. Kamburov, Structure of one-phase free boundaries in the plane, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2016), 5922–5987.
- [53] _____, Free boundaries subject to topological constraints, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. **39** (2019), 7213–7248.
- [54] D. Jerison and R. Monneau, Towards a counter-example to a conjecture of De Giorgi in high dimensions, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 183 (2004), no. 4, 439–467.
- [55] D. Jerison and O. Savin, Some remarks on stability of cones for the one-phase free boundary problem, Geom. Funct. Anal. 25 (2015), no. 4, 1240–1257.
- [56] N. Kamburov, A free boundary problem inspired by a conjecture of De Giorgi, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 38 (2013), 477–528.
- [57] N. Kamburov and K. Wang, Nondegeneracy for stable solutions to the one-phase free boundary problem, Math. Ann. 388 (2024), 2705–2726.
- [58] D. Kinderlehrer and L. Nirenberg, Regularity in free boundary problems, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 4 (1977), no. 2, 373–391.
- [59] D. Kriventsov and F. Lin, Regularity for shape optimizers: The nondegenerate case, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 71 (2018), 1535– 1596.
- [60] _____, Regularity for shape optimizers: The degenerate case, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 72 (2019), 1678–1721.
- [61] D. Kriventsov and G. Weiss, Rectifiability, finite Hausdorff measure, and compactness for non-minimizing Bernoulli free boundaries, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., to appear.
- [62] F. M. Leslie, Some constitutive equations for liquid crystals, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 28 (1968), 265–283.
- [63] Y. Lian and K. Zhang, Boundary pointwise regularity and applications to the regularity of free boundaries, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 62 (2023), no. 8, Paper No. 230, 32.
- [64] Y. Liu, K. Wang, and J. Wei, Global minimizers of the Allen-Cahn equation in dimension n = 8, J. Math. Pures Appl. 108 (2017), 818–840.
- [65] _____, On a free boundary problem and minimal surfaces, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 35 (2017), 993–1017.
- [66] _____, On smooth solutions to one phase-free boundary problem in \mathbb{R}^n , Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2021), 15682–15732.
- [67] F. Maggi, Sets of Finite Perimeter and Geometric Variational Problems: An Introduction to Geometric Measure Theory, Cambridge studies in advanced mathematics, vol. 135, Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- [68] C. Mantegazza and A. C. Mennucci, Hamilton-Jacobi equations and distance functions on Riemannian manifolds, Appl. Math. Optim. 47 (2003), no. 1, 1–25.
- [69] C. Mantoulidis, Allen-Cahn min-max on surfaces, J. Differ. Geom. 117 (2021), no. 3, 411-461.
- [70] L. Mazet, Stable minimal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^6 . Preprint arXiv:2405.14676.
- [71] L. Modica, A gradient bound and a Liouville theorem for nonlinear Poisson equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 38 (1985), 679– 684.

- [72] _____, Monotonicity of the energy for entire solutions of semilinear elliptic equations, Partial differential equations and the calculus of variations, 1985, pp. 843–850.
- [73] L. Modica and S. Mortola, Un esempio di Γ-convergenza, Boll. Unione Mat. Ital., V. Ser. B. 14 (1977), 285–299.
- [74] F. Nabarro, Dislocations in a simple cubic lattice, Proc. Phys. Soc. 59 (1957), 256.
- [75] F. Pacard and J. Wei, Stable solutions of the Allen-Cahn equation in dimension 8 and minimal cones, J. Funct. Anal. 264 (2013), no. 5, 1131–1167.
- [76] R. Peierls, The size of a dislocation, Proc. Phys. Soc. 52 (1940), 34.
- [77] A. Pogorelov, On the stability of minimal surfaces, Soviet Math. Dokl. 24 (1981), 274–276.
- [78] O. Savin, Regularity of level sets in phase transitions, Ann. of Math. 169 (2009), 41–78.
- [79] _____, Phase transitions, minimal surfaces and a conjecture of De Giorgi, Current developments in mathematics, 2009, 2010, pp. 59–113.
- [80] _____, Some remarks on the classification of global solutions with asymptotically flat level sets, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 56 (2017), no. 5, Art. 141.
- [81] P. Sternberg and K. Zumbrun, Connectivity of phase boundaries in strictly convex domains, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 141 (1998), no. 4, 375–400.
- [82] Y. Tonegawa and N. Wickramasekera, Stable phase interfaces in the van der Waals-Cahn-Hilliard theory, J. Reine Angew. Math. 668 (2012), 191–210.
- [83] M. Traizet, Classification of the solutions to an overdetermined elliptic problem in the plane, Geom. Funct. Anal. 24 (2014), 690–720.
- [84] E. Valdinoci, Plane-like minimizers in periodic media: jet flows and Ginzburg-Landau-type functionals, J. Reine Angew. Math. 574 (2004), 147–185.
- [85] _____, Flatness of Bernoulli jets, Math. Z. **254** (2006), 257–298.
- [86] M. Vassilev, A perturbation of the area functional with non-flat stable critical points. Semester project, ETH Zurich.
- [87] B. Velichkov, Regularity of the one-phase free boundaries, Lecture Notes of the Unione Matematica Italiana, vol. 28, Springer Cham, 2023.
- [88] K. Wang, The structure of finite Morse index solutions to two free boundary problems in \mathbb{R}^2 . Preprint arXiv:1506.00491.
- [89] _____, A new proof of Savin's theorem on Allen-Cahn equations, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 19 (2017), 2997–3051.
- [90] K. Wang and J. Wei, Finite Morse index implies finite ends, Commun. Math. Phys. 361 (2018), 1–34.
- [91] _____, Second order estimate on transition layers, Adv. Math. **358** (2019), 106856, 85.
- [92] G. S. Weiss, Partial regularity for weak solutions of an elliptic free boundary problem, Communications in Partial Differential Equations 23 (1998), no. 3-4, 439–455.

UNIVERSITÄT BASEL, SPIEGELGASSE 1, 4051 BASEL, SWITZERLAND *Email address:* hardy.chan@unibas.ch

EPFL SB, STATION 8, 1015 LAUSANNE, SWITZERLAND Email address: xavier.fernandez-real@epfl.ch

ETH ZURICH, RÄMISTRASSE 101, 8092 ZURICH, SWITZERLAND *Email address*: alessio.figalli@math.ethz.ch

ETH ZURICH, RÄMISTRASSE 101, 8092 ZURICH, SWITZERLAND *Email address*: joaquim.serra@math.ethz.ch